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From JBJ to Jan, Tom, an d Soph i 

From CP to Mom, Dad , Kare n Ann, an d Nic k 

From JW to my Mom and Da d 





I'm no t i n th e moo d fo r th e toy s o r game s o r kidding , n o 
time. I' m no t i n th e moo d fo r clans . I' m no t i n th e moo d 
for gangs , I' m no t in the mood fo r none o f that stuff there . 
And this is gonna b e a Cosa Nostr a til l I  die. B e it an hou r 
from no w o r b e i t tonigh t o r a  hundre d year s fro m no w 
when I' m i n jail . It' s gonna be a Cosa Nostra . 

—John Gott i 
(intercepted conversation ) 

With instabilit y a t all level s and wit h continuing sociologi -
cal chang e inevitable , i f curren t la w enforcemen t effort s 
are maintaine d i n th e nex t five  t o te n years , th e mo b i s 
likely t o b e rendere d totall y unrecognizabl e fro m wha t i t 
has been for the last sixty years. 

—Ronald Goldstock , Director , 
New York State Organized Crime Task Force 
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Preface 

The purpos e o f this book i s to put th e extraordinar y la w enforcement attac k 
on Cos a Nostr a sinc e th e lat e 1970 s "on th e record " fo r presen t an d futur e 
generations of students, scholars , and others interested i n organized crime in 
America. Despite , o r perhap s becaus e of , th e magnitud e o f this attack , fe w 
scholars hav e immerse d themselve s i n th e mos t importan t perio d o f orga -
nized crim e contro l i n th e histor y o f th e Unite d States . Minin g th e tria l 
transcripts, affidavits , depositions , lega l briefs , an d cour t opinions generate d 
in th e hundred s o f mob trial s tha t hav e taken plac e i n th e pas t fifteen years 
could consum e th e full-tim e energie s o f a  platoo n o f researcher s fo r years . 
This massiv e data bas e has a  potential  t o revea l the history , structure , socia l 
organization, operations , conflicts , norms , economics , an d politic s o f th e 
mob. Moreover , i t contains ric h materia l o n th e organization an d operatio n 
of federal la w enforcement . 

We inten d thi s book t o be a  contribution t o the contemporar y histor y o f 
organized-crime contro l i n th e lat e twentieth century . * We hope tha t i t will 

*The leadin g tex t o n organize d crim e i s Howar d Abadinsky , Organized  Crime,  2 d ed . 
(Nelson-Hall, 1985) . Fo r the history of organized crime see Joseph Landesco, Organized Crime 
in Chicago (University of Chicago Press, 1968 ; originally published in 1929) ; Frederic Sondern, 
Jr., Brotherhood  of  Evil: The Mafia (Farrar , Straus , an d Cudahy , 1959) ; Humbert Nelli , The 
Business of  Crime (Oxfor d Universit y Press , 1976) ; and Donal d Cressey , Theft  of the  Nation 
(Harper and Row, 1969) . 

XI 
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stimulate other s t o tak e advantag e o f th e tremendou s opportunitie s fo r re -
search i n this area. There are hundreds of cases and major investigation s that 
have escape d th e attentio n o f scholars . Historians , sociologists , criminolo -
gists, lawyers, politica l scientists , and economists ought to bring their respec-
tive disciplines to bear on these data. 

A word o f caution—a histor y based upo n cour t documents , eve n deposi -
tions an d tria l testimony , i s a  stor y writte n fro m "above. " "Th e record " i s 
constructed b y th e governmen t throug h it s witnesses , experts , an d physica l 
evidence. T o be sure, som e of the mos t importan t governmen t witnesses are 
mobsters who chose to testify fo r the government i n exchange for promises of 
protection and/o r leniency . Thei r description s o f Cosa Nostra' s organizatio n 
and operations provide the best "data" we have ever had on the secret society 
of organize d crime . Nevertheless , thei r testimonie s hav e bee n extracte d 
through direc t questionin g b y governmen t prosecutor s ben t o n persuadin g 
juries o f a  definit e reality . W e d o no t mea n t o impl y tha t th e prosecutors ' 
view i s fals e o r inaccurate , onl y tha t i t i s constructe d fro m a  perspectiv e 
that emphasize s Cos a Nostra' s strength , power , wealth , ruthlessness , an d 
organizational efficiency . 

Part 1  provides a general overvie w of the law enforcement attac k on Cos a 
Nostra sinc e th e lat e 1970s . I t aim s t o provid e th e reade r wit h a  pictur e o f 
what took place during th e pas t fifteen years (1978-1993). I t documents th e 
number o f investigations , prosecutions , an d convictions , explain s th e lega l 
tools and organizationa l strategie s that the FB I and federa l prosecutor s used , 
and speculates on why the government's efforts cam e together at this point in 
history. Thi s chapte r doe s not purpor t t o provide a  comprehensive histor y of 
the massiv e la w enforcement effor t durin g th e contemporar y period ; such a 
history would requir e a  multivolume work . I n ou r view , thi s book wil l hav e 
achieved it s purpose i f i t makes a  significant star t o n th e formidabl e tas k of 
documenting wha t happened , ho w i t happened , an d wh y i t happened . W e 
do no t attemp t t o answer,  although w e do address , th e questio n o f whethe r 
this unprecedente d la w enforcemen t attac k o n Cos a Nostr a wa s "success -
ful"—it i s too soon to tell. 

Part 2  consist s o f five  chapters , eac h devote d t o on e o f th e followin g 
notorious organize d crim e cases—th e Teamster s Loca l 56 0 case , th e Pizz a 
Connection case , th e Commissio n case , th e Teamster s Internationa l case , 
and the John Gott i case. Eac h o f these cases was based upon months or years 
of investigation . Eac h ha s generate d a  mas s o f lega l materials , includin g 
pretrial motions , affidavits , depositions , tria l transcripts , appeals , an d reme -
dial-phase litigation . Eac h woul d justif y a  book-lon g cas e stud y i n it s ow n 
right; all except the Loca l 56 0 case have generated journalisti c o r true-crim e 
type books. 
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Each chapte r consist s of an introductor y essay and origina l source materi -
als drawn fro m th e indictment , trial , appeal , o r other stages of the litigation . 
These primar y sourc e document s ar e included no t onl y t o provide informa -
tion abou t th e cas e bu t als o t o acquain t th e reade r wit h th e divers e docu -
ments tha t constitut e th e publi c record . Suc h material s offe r a  wealt h o f 
opportunities fo r researcher s a t all levels . (I n presenting these primary docu -
ments, w e hav e take n th e libert y o f deletin g nonessentia l material . Onl y 
where substantia l portion s of the original documen t hav e been delete d i s the 
deletion indicate d b y asterisks.) 

Admittedly, ther e i s a n elemen t o f arbitrarines s i n ou r selectio n o f five 
cases. We could have selected many others that were extremely importan t for 
what the y revea l abou t Cos a Nostr a an d th e government' s abilit y t o investi -
gate and prosecut e organize d crime . Nevertheless , whil e some people migh t 
have differen t nominee s fo r inclusio n i n th e "to p five,"  w e thin k anyon e 
knowledgeable abou t organize d crim e woul d agre e that ou r choices  ar e rea -
sonable. 

Teamsters Loca l 56 0 fo r decade s ha d bee n on e o f th e most , i f no t th e 
most, notoriousl y mob-controlle d majo r unio n loca l i n th e Unite d States . 
United States  v . Local  560 , a  civi l racketeerin g suit , marke d th e govern -
ment's first effort t o place a  mobbed-up unio n unde r court-impose d trustee -
ship. Th e litigatio n ha s laste d a  decad e and , a t th e tim e o f thi s writing , i s 
still no t complete . United  States  v . Badalamenti  ("Th e Pizz a Connection" ) 
deserves its place in our book and i n American history , i f for no other reaso n 
than tha t i t was based o n a  massiv e worldwid e investigatio n an d involve d a 
seventeen-month-long megatria l o f twenty-two defendants . United  States  v . 
Salerno ("The Commission case" ) is extraordinary for its creativity and audac-
ity i n jointl y prosecutin g fou r Cos a Nostr a crime-famil y bosse s for conduct -
ing the affair s o f "the commission," a kind o f boaid o f directors for the mob. 
The cas e demonstrate d onc e an d fo r al l tha t th e Cos a Nostr a organized -
crime familie s hav e fo r decade s bee n joine d togethe r i n a  kin d o f loos e 
federation tha t relegate s t o a  commissio n o f family bosse s certai n (i f vague ) 
authority t o dea l wit h interfamil y dispute s an d othe r matter s o f commo n 
concern. United  States  v . International Brotherhood  of Teamsters i s the mos t 
ambitious labo r racketeering suit ever filed.  I t charged Cos a Nostr a member s 
and Teamste r official s wit h havin g entere d int o a  "devil' s pact " whereb y 
organized crim e woul d suppor t th e union' s leadershi p i n exchang e fo r th e 
leadership's grant of benefits and favors to organized crime. We chose United 
States v . Gotti  fo r inclusio n becaus e th e charismati c Gott i i s th e mos t 
notorious American mafios o o f this generation. Hi s success in defeating thre e 
previous prosecutions ha d created a n aura o f invincibility tha t was magnifie d 
by the publicity he attracted i n the national newspaper s and news magazines. 
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Part 3  consist s o f a  post-198 0 bibliograph y o f organized-crim e books , 
articles, an d prosecutions . W e hope that the availability o f this bibliography, 
especially th e cas e citations , wil l encourag e futur e research . I t i s surprisin g 
and unfortunat e tha t s o fe w criminologist s an d crimina l la w scholar s ar e 
significantly involve d i n studyin g organize d crime . I f this bibliograph y an d 
this book encourage jus t a few more, our efforts wil l have been rewarded . 
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1 
Introduction 

For mos t o f the twentiet h century , wha t ha s been calle d th e "Mafia, " "Cos a 
Nostra," or simply "organized crime " seemed a s inevitable as increased taxes . 
Some Mafi a chieftain s eve n attaine d widesprea d publi c notoriet y an d wer e 
treated lik e fol k heroe s i n thei r neighborhoods , cities , an d beyond . Peopl e 
who understoo d powe r and "th e way things worked" in Ne w York and othe r 
large cities recognize d organize d crim e a s a key player i n politics , vice , an d 
legitimate industr y rangin g fro m shippin g an d truckin g t o garbag e disposa l 
and the garment trade. 

Despite, o r perhap s becaus e of , it s powe r an d pervasiveness , wit h a  fe w 
notable exception s Cos a Nostr a face d relativel y littl e oppositio n fro m la w 
enforcement. Loca l polic e force s di d no t hav e th e resources , strategies , o r 
tools t o engag e i n long-ter m investigation s o f secre t societie s tha t carefull y 
covered thei r tracks and insulate d thei r leaders from scrutin y through hierar -
chical organizatio n an d a  code of silence. Sometime s loca l la w enforcemen t 
personnel, a s well as prosecutors and judges , were dissuaded from organized -
crime contro l initiative s b y potentially advers e politica l o r even professiona l 
consequences; sometimes the y were jus t bribed. Remarkably , unti l wel l int o 
the 1960 s th e FBI , unde r th e leadershi p o f J . Edga r Hoover , dispute d th e 
very existence of an American Mafia. 1 

Congressional attentio n t o organize d crim e date s bac k t o th e Kefauve r 

3 
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Committee hearing s i n 195 1 an d th e McClella n Committe e hearing s i n 
1957. Th e Departmen t o f Justice began t o focus o n organize d crim e durin g 
Robert Kennedy's tenure as attorney general in the early 1960s . He sponsored 
antiracketeering legislatio n i n th e earl y 1960s . B y th e en d o f th e decad e 
Congress ha d passe d th e Organize d Crim e Contro l Act ; Title II I provided a 
comprehensive regimen for electronic surveillance by federal, state , and local 
police. Afte r Hoover' s departure from th e FBI in 1972 , that agency began t o 
devote significan t resource s t o organized-crim e control . Variou s successe s 
can b e identifie d throughou t th e 1960 s an d 1970s, 2 bu t ther e ca n b e n o 
mistaking the proliferation o f achievements beginning in the late 1970s . 

From approximately 1978 , the federal governmen t mounted an extraordi -
nary effor t t o eradicat e Cos a Nostra . Utilizin g extensiv e electroni c surveil -
lance, undercove r governmen t agents , an d mo b turncoats , th e FBI , th e 
federal Organize d Crim e Strik e Forces , an d th e Unite d State s attorneys ' 
offices initiate d a  stead y strea m o f intensiv e investigation s an d produce d a 
regular flow of Cosa Nostra prosecutions throughout the country. The federa l 
effort wa s supplemented b y more limited, bu t not inconsequential , effort s b y 
state an d loca l investigativ e an d prosecutoria l agencies . Join t tas k force s 
involving federal , state , an d loca l agencies became routine . N o other period 
in America n histor y come s clos e i n term s o f th e numbe r o f investigation s 
and prosecutions . Ultimately , whethe r thi s effor t wil l prov e sufficien t t o 
destroy Cosa Nostr a o r whether, phoenixlike , organize d crim e wil l ris e fro m 
the ashes , remain s t o b e seen . Thi s introductor y chapte r seek s t o place th e 
government's organized-crim e contro l effort s i n perspectiv e b y examinin g 
what wa s accomplished, how , an d why , an d wit h wha t likel y consequence s 
for the future . 

The Scop e o f the Government' s Attac k 
on Cos a Nostr a 
There i s no exact figure on ho w many criminal an d civi l cases were brought 
by th e federa l governmen t (muc h les s stat e an d loca l prosecutors ) agains t 
organized crim e i n th e 1980s . However , i n 1988 , FB I Directo r Willia m 
Sessions reporte d t o th e Senat e Subcommitte e o n Investigation s tha t sinc e 
1981 ninetee n bosses , thirtee n underbosses , an d forty-thre e capo s (cre w 
chiefs) ha d bee n convicted. 3 Anothe r witness , Davi d Williams , directo r o f 
the GAO' s Offic e o f Specia l Investigations , state d tha t betwee n 198 3 an d 
1986, there had been twenty-five hundre d indictment s of Cosa Nostra mem -
bers and associates.4 

The magnitud e o f th e government' s attac k o n Cos a Nostr a i s nothin g 
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short o f incredible . Ther e wer e majo r prosecution s i n ever y cit y wher e 
organized-crime families hav e been identified . Th e following i s a list of Cosa 
Nostra bosse s who were convicte d betwee n 198 1 and 1992 . (Th e lis t show s 
that severa l Cos a Nostr a familie s hav e ha d mor e tha n on e bos s convicte d 
during this period.) 

1. Funz i Tieri—Genovese famil y i n New York City 
2. Anthon y Salerno—Genovese famil y 
3. Anthon y Corallo—Lucchese famil y i n New York City 
4. Carmin e Persico—Colombo famil y i n New York City 
5. Phili p Rastelli—Bonanno famil y i n New York City 
6. Carlo s Marcello—New Orlean s famil y 
7. Eugen e Smaldone—Denve r famil y 
8. Josep h Aiuppa—Chicago famil y 
9. Nic k Civella—Kansas City famil y 
10. Car l Civella—Kansas City famil y 
11. Dominic k Brooklier—Los Angeles family 
12. Fran k Balistrieri—Boston famil y 
13. Gennar o Anguilo—Boston famil y 
14. Russe l Buffalino—Pittston, Pa. , famil y 
15. Nicodem o Scarfo—Philadelphi a famil y 
16. Jame s Licavoli—Cleveland famil y 
17. Michae l Trupiano—St. Loui s family 
18. Sa m Russotti—Buffalo crim e famil y 
19. Joh n Gotti—Gambino famil y i n New York City 
20. Raymon d Patriarca—Patriarc a famil y i n Providence , R.I . 
21. Vittori o Amuso—Lucchese famil y 
22. Vicori o Orena—Colombo famil y 
23. Joh n Riggi—DeCavalcant e famil y i n New Jersey 

These federa l cases , supplemente d b y some stat e and loca l prosecutions , 
systematically decimated whol e organized-crime families . I n New York City, 
the leadershi p an d man y soldier s o f eac h o f th e five  Cos a Nostr a crim e 
families (Bonanno , Colombo , Gambino , Genovese , Lucchese ) wer e prose -
cuted i n separat e RIC O suit s o n th e theor y tha t th e defendant s conducte d 
the affair s o f a n "enterprise " (thei r respectiv e crim e families ) throug h a 
pattern o f racketeering activit y (thei r man y rackets , extortions , an d crime s of 
violence). I n United  States  v . Salerno,  the heads of four o f the five families, 
and severa l othe r ke y figures,  were prosecute d togethe r fo r constitutin g an d 
operating a  "commission," i n effec t a  regional an d perhap s nationa l boar d of 
directors for the mob.5 
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Some o f th e investigation s an d prosecution s ha d internationa l dimen -
sions, especiall y linkin g th e investigator y agencie s an d effort s o f the Unite d 
States an d Italy . Th e mos t famou s o f thes e case s wa s United  States  v . 
Badalamenti, i n whic h a  cooperativ e effor t o f American , Italian , Swiss , 
Brazilian, an d Spanis h la w enforcemen t agencie s close d dow n a  massiv e 
international dru g traffickin g an d mone y launderin g conspirac y involvin g 
American Cosa Nostra and Sicilia n Mafi a groups . 

The governmen t no t onl y pu t Cos a Nostr a bosses , capos , soldiers , an d 
associates i n prison , bu t i t also attacked mob-controlle d enterprises , suc h a s 
labor unions , constructio n companies , restaurants , an d mobbed-u p indus -
tries. Perhap s th e moder n er a i n th e government' s anti-organized-crim e 
war date s t o th e FBI' s massiv e UNIRA C investigatio n o f th e Internationa l 
Longshoremen's Association i n the late 1970s . This labor racketeering inves-
tigation, th e subjec t o f specia l Senat e hearing s i n 1981 , resulte d i n th e 
conviction o f 13 0 businessmen, unio n officials , an d Cos a Nostr a members , 
including Anthony Scotto. 6 

In 1982 , th e Newar k Strik e Forc e mad e histor y b y filing  th e first  civi l 
RICO sui t agains t a  labo r union , Loca l 560 , th e larges t Teamster s loca l i n 
the stat e and a  union tha t ha d bee n dominate d b y organized crim e throug h 
the Provenzano brothers and the Genovese crime family sinc e the 1950s ; the 
suit resulted i n a court-imposed trusteeship , whic h gave the trustee extensive 
powers to run th e union unti l the racketeering element could be purged an d 
fair election s held . Si x years later, th e Unite d State s Attorney's Office i n th e 
Southern Distric t o f Ne w Yor k filed a  civi l RIC O sui t agains t th e Interna -
tional Brotherhoo d o f Teamsters (IBT) , it s general executiv e board , an d th e 
board's incumbents ; unde r a  consen t decre e tha t settle d th e case , th e IB T 
agreed t o a  three-perso n trusteeshi p whos e goal s wer e t o purg e corruptio n 
and racketeerin g an d t o supervis e a  direc t electio n o f th e presiden t an d 
general executiv e board . I n Ne w Yor k City , a s a  resul t o f civi l RIC O suits , 
court-appointed trustee s and monitor s were appointed i n a half-dozen RIC O 
cases involving historically mobbed-up unions. 7 

The governmen t als o move d agains t mob-dominate d businesses . Ne w 
York City's largest concrete contractor, jointl y owned and operated by several 
organized-crime families, wa s put out of business. As part of a consent decree 
between th e Unite d State s Departmen t o f Justic e an d th e Genoves e crim e 
family, th e Fulto n Fis h Marke t was placed unde r th e supervision o f a court -
appointed trustee. 8 Similarly , mo b contro l o f the garmen t industr y wa s ad -
dressed b y a  plea bargai n betwee n th e Manhatta n Distric t Attorney' s Offic e 
and th e Gambin o brothers , whereb y the y promise d t o sel l of f a  substantia l 
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portion o f thei r garment-industr y truckin g interest s an d pa y a  $1 2 millio n 
fine; their truckin g companie s (whic h wer e als o defendants ) agree d t o with -
draw from a n industry they had dominated fo r decades.9 The Brooklyn Strik e 
Force's investigatio n o f th e Bonann o family' s 25-yea r dominatio n o f Ne w 
York City' s movin g an d storag e industr y le d t o conviction s o f th e family' s 
boss, Philli p Rastelli , an d fourtee n othe r defendants , includin g th e entir e 
leadership o f Teamste r Loca l 814 , an d a  numbe r o f executive s o f movin g 
and storage firms.10 

There were similar victories over mob-controlled enterprise s outside of the 
New Yor k Cit y metropolita n area . I n 1981 , Eugen e Boffa , owne r o f a 
nationwide labo r leasin g business , wa s convicte d an d sentence d t o twent y 
years' imprisonmen t an d ordere d t o forfei t asset s worth $250,00 0 a s wel l a s 
his interes t i n th e leasin g corporations. 11 Th e "roofers " case i n Philadelphi a 
resulted in a  notoriously mobbed-up union being placed in trusteeship. 12 

The prosecutorial attac k on Cosa Nostra was supplemented an d supporte d 
by high-visibilit y governmen t hearing s an d inquirie s tha t kep t th e spotligh t 
on organize d crim e throughou t th e decade . Fro m 198 3 to 1987 , th e Presi -
dent's Commissio n o n Organize d Crim e hel d publi c hearing s an d issue d 
twelve reports; among other things , i t laid ou t the structure o f the organized -
crime families , documente d thei r extensiv e involvemen t i n dru g traffickin g 
and labo r racketeering , an d recommende d tha t th e Departmen t o f Justic e 
bring a  civi l RIC O sui t agains t th e Internationa l Brotherhoo d o f Teamsters. 
The Unite d State s Senate' s Permanen t Subcommitte e o n Investigations , 
under th e leadershi p o f Senato r Sa m Nunn , hel d dramati c hearing s o n th e 
role of Cosa Nostra i n legitimate industry and illici t rackets.B The committe e 
called hundred s o f witnesses, includin g former Sicilia n Mafi a bos s Tomasso 
Buscetta and ex-Cosa Nostr a members Vincent Cafaro and Angelo Lonardo. 
They provide d testimon y o n th e history , customs , an d operation s o f Cos a 
Nostra. 

The unprecedented la w enforcement attac k and the intensive governmen t 
attention pai d t o Cos a Nostr a generate d seriou s instabilit y withi n th e fami -
lies. By the end of the decade, the inconceivable had become commonplace : 
Cosa Nostr a members , eve n leaders , wer e agreein g t o becom e cooperatin g 
government witnesse s i n exchang e fo r lenienc y an d admissio n int o the Wit -
ness Securit y Program . A  mob defecto r o f the statur e o f Salvator e ("Samm y 
the Bull" ) Gravano , underbos s o f th e Gambin o crim e family , woul d hav e 
seemed unimaginabl e jus t a decade earlier . Defection s adde d t o problems of 
leadership successio n an d le d t o man y intra - an d interfamil y assassinations . 
By the early 1990s , the accumulated prosecution s ha d been s o extensive and 
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the internal deterioration o f the families so severe that some law enforcemen t 
experts began to predict the end of Cosa Nostra . 

How the Governmen t Succeede d 
The government's success can be attributed to powerful lega l tools, personne l 
and structura l change s i n th e Departmen t o f Justice and th e FBI , th e initia -
tive o f president s an d attorne y general s durin g th e 1980s , an d th e interna l 
deterioration o f Cosa Nostra itself . 

Legal Weaponry 

The most important legal weapons deployed i n the government's attack on 
organized crim e hav e bee n electroni c surveillanc e authority , th e Racketee r 
Influenced an d Corrup t Organization s Ac t (RICO) , an d th e Witnes s Secu -
rity Program. 

Electronic Surveillance 

Title II I o f th e Omnibu s Crim e Contro l an d Saf e Street s Ac t o f 196 8 
provided comprehensiv e authorit y fo r electroni c surveillanc e b y federal , 
state, an d loca l la w enforcement agencies. 14 The tw o main justification s fo r 
the act, accordin g to its proponents, wer e the necessity for electronic surveil -
lance i n nationa l securit y an d i n organized-crim e investigations. 15 Titl e II I 
brought federal , state , an d loca l wir e tappin g withi n th e framewor k o f a 
comprehensive statute.  I t permits electroni c eavesdroppin g onl y with a  judi-
cial warrant issued upon a  showing of probable cause and of necessity due to 
the absenc e o f alternative means . Th e interceptio n i s limited t o thirty days, 
although extension s ca n b e obtained . Th e la w requires "minimization" ; th e 
eavesdropping device must be turned of f if , afte r a  brief period of listening, i t 
is apparent tha t the intercepte d conversatio n i s not relevan t to the subjec t o f 
the warrant . Amendment s i n 198 6 strengthene d th e la w and , fo r th e first 
time, authorize d "rovin g surveillance " t o cove r sophisticate d criminal s wh o 
use a number o f different phone s or sites to conduct business.16 

The shee r numbe r o f federa l electroni c eavesdroppin g order s increase d 
over th e cours e o f th e 1980s , peakin g i n 198 4 an d the n jumpin g t o a n 
apparently ne w platea u i n th e 1990s. 17 The absolut e numbe r o f authoriza -
tions, however , i s onl y a  roug h indicato r o f surveillanc e activity , becaus e 
some of the interceptions laste d many months , covere d multipl e phones and 
locations, and resulted i n the seizure of thousands of conversations. 
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Number of  Court Authorized 
Year 
1978 

1979 

1980 

1981 

1982 

1983 

1984 

1985 

1986 

1987 

1988 

1989 

1990 

1991 

1992 

Electronic Surveillance Orders 
570 
553 
564 
589 
578 
648 
801 
784 
754 
673 
749 
763 
897 
823 
991 

Electronic eavesdroppin g figured  prominently i n almos t ever y organized -
crime prosecutio n o f th e moder n period ; som e prosecution s wer e base d 
almost entirel y o n intercepte d conversations . Th e FB I an d stat e an d loca l 
agencies utilized bot h telephon e intercept s and hidde n microphone s i n cars, 
homes, restaurants , an d socia l clubs. I n some cases, the FBI was able to pick 
up conversation s o n th e street s wit h high-powe r surveillanc e microphones . 
By the en d o f the decade , ther e wa s n o plac e wher e Cos a Nostr a member s 
could converse without concern fo r government eavesdroppers . 

Some o f the majo r organized-crim e investigation s involve d thousand s o f 
conversations intercepte d ove r months. I n the Pizza Connection case , actor s 
were hire d t o rea d t o th e jur y fro m hundred s o f transcript s o f intercepte d 
conversations. Likewis e i n United  States  v . Gotti,  th e governmen t intro -
duced extremel y inculpator y conversation s betwee n Gott i an d hi s subordi -
nates that ha d take n plac e i n th e Ravenit e Socia l Club and i n a n apartmen t 
above the club. 

RICO 

The Racketee r Influenced an d Corrupt Organizations (RICO) Act, par t of 
the 197 0 Organized Crime Control Act, created the most important substan -
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tive an d procedura l la w too l i n th e histor y o f organized-crim e control . A 
brainchild o f Professo r G . Rober t Blake y (wh o worked o n Senato r McClel -
lan's organized-crime hearings in the late 1950 s and later with the Organized 
Crime an d Racketeerin g Sectio n o f the Departmen t o f Justice when Rober t 
F. Kenned y wa s attorney general ) brought int o existence a  new kind o f law 
punishing "enterpris e criminality. " RIC O wa s explicitl y aime d a t organize d 
crime, especiall y it s infiltration o f legitimate business. 18 I t took investigator s 
and prosecutors some years to become fully familia r and comfortable with the 
new law; after 1980 , almost every major organized-crim e case was brought as 
a RIC O prosecution. 19 Moreover , th e concep t o f enterpris e racketeerin g 
changed th e wa y organized-crim e investigation s wer e conceive d an d exe -
cuted. Th e FB I began to think i n terms of gathering evidence and obtainin g 
indictments agains t entire "enterprises" like each organized crime family an d 
the Cosa Nostra commission . 

RICO make s i t a crime t o infiltrate , participat e in , o r conduct th e affair s 
of a n enterpris e throug h a  patter n o f racketeerin g activity . A n enterpris e i s 
defined a s an y "associatio n i n fact " comprise d o f tw o o r mor e people . I n 
United States  v . Turkette, 20 th e Unite d State s Suprem e Cour t hel d tha t a n 
enterprise coul d b e a  wholly illegitimat e group . Thi s provide d a  green ligh t 
for prosecutin g individual s fo r participatin g i n crimina l syndicate s like Cosa 
Nostra crews, families, an d the commission . 

Having t o prov e a n "associatio n i n fact " i n a n organized-crim e cas e 
provides prosecutor s wit h a n excellen t opportunit y t o introduc e extensiv e 
evidence, complet e wit h chart s an d table s o f organization , depictin g th e 
structure o f a n organized-crim e family . I n th e Commissio n cas e an d othe r 
organized-crime prosecutions , th e governmen t ha s bee n abl e t o introduc e 
testimony abou t th e histor y o f organize d crim e i n orde r t o establis h th e 
enterprise's existenc e ove r time . Angel o Lonardo' s (forme r underbos s o f the 
Cleveland crim e family ) length y accoun t o f the histor y o f the Cos a Nostr a 
commission provided some of the most valuable evidence in the Commission 
case.21 I n th e Pizz a Connectio n case , th e prosecutio n use d Tomass o Bus -
cetta, a  forme r leade r o f th e Sicilia n Mafia , t o la y ou t th e histor y an d 
structure of both the Sicilian Mafi a an d the American Cos a Nostra . 

RICO require s th e governmen t t o prov e tha t a  defendan t conducte d o r 
participated i n th e affair s o f an enterpris e throug h " a pattern o f racketeerin g 
activity," defined a s at least two racketeering acts committed withi n te n year s 
of one another. A  racketeering act (also called a  "RICO predicate") is defined 
as virtuall y an y seriou s federa l felon y an d mos t stat e felonies . Thus , i n a 
RICO trial, the defendant ma y find himself charged with all sorts of differen t 
crimes, allegedl y committe d a t differen t time s an d places . Th e prosecutio n 
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need only prove that the defendant committe d al l these crimes in furtheranc e 
of the defendant' s participatio n i n conductin g th e affair s o f the sam e enter -
prise. Critic s complai n tha t thi s put s a  defendant a t an enormou s disadvan -
tage because th e judg e o r jur y ca n hardl y hel p concludin g tha t h e mus t b e 
guilty o f at leas t som e o f the divers e offense s bein g alleged , especiall y give n 
his connectio n t o a  racketeerin g enterpris e lik e Cosa Nostra . Proponent s o f 
RICO argu e tha t i t simpl y allow s th e governmen t t o presen t a  complet e 
picture of what the defendant wa s doing and why—instead o f the artificiall y 
fragmented pictur e that traditional crimina l la w demands. 

From the prosecutor's standpoint , anothe r o f RICO's advantageous proce-
dural feature s i s its ability to join al l the members of a criminal enterpris e i n 
a singl e trial , eve n thoug h the y ar e no t al l charge d wit h th e sam e predicat e 
offenses. Fo r example, i n a single trial some defendants ma y be charged with 
participating i n th e affair s o f th e enterpris e (e.g. , a  Cos a Nostr a crim e 
family) throug h murder s an d loansharking , whil e other s ar e charge d wit h 
participating i n th e affair s o f th e sam e enterpris e throug h dru g trafficking . 
Moreover, wher e tw o o r mor e defendant s ar e charge d wit h racketeerin g 
related to the same enterprise, a  RICO conspiracy count can also be brought. 
The consequence i s the potential  fo r "megatrials" (like the Pizza Connectio n 
case) in whic h al l th e member s an d associate s o f a crime syndicat e ar e tried 
together because two predicate offenses ar e alleged agains t each one of them. 
The advantage s t o th e governmen t ar e obvious ; i t ca n pou r int o th e tria l 
masses of evidence about murders , drug deals, extortions, labo r racketeering , 
and s o forth , allegedl y committe d b y each defendant . Th e prosecutio n ca n 
present a  complete pictur e o f a large-scale , ongoing , organized-crim e grou p 
engaged i n diverse rackets and episodi c explosions of violence. A t the end of 
the trial , th e juror s wil l b e admonishe d no t t o allo w evidenc e agains t on e 
defendant t o affect thei r judgmen t about the guilt of the others, but i t is hard 
to believe that "guilt by association" is not a danger in such megatrials . 

RICO also provides for very severe sentences: twenty years on each RIC O 
violation an d twent y year s mor e fo r a  RICO conspiracy . Th e defendan t ca n 
also be sentenced for each of the predicate offenses. Thi s sentencing structure 
made Cosa Nostr a bosses in United  States  v . Salerno,  the Commission case , 
liable t o thre e hundre d years ' imprisonmen t fo r takin g kickback s fro m con -
crete contractors , althoug h thei r actua l sentence s wer e a  mere on e hundre d 
years each. I n addition , RIC O provide s fo r sever e fines ($250,000, o r twice 
the loss/gain ) an d fo r th e forfeitur e o f propert y (broadl y define d t o includ e 
businesses, offices , jobs , persona l property , cars , boats , planes , an d rea l 
estate) tha t has * been acquire d wit h th e proceed s o f racketeerin g activity . 
While i t is by no means clear that Cosa Nostra bosses or families can actually 
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be "bankrupted, " th e combinatio n o f forfeitures , fines  an d million-dolla r 
lawyers' fee s mus t caus e problem s fo r organize d crime' s financial  bas e an d 
cash flow. 

In additio n t o it s criminal provisions , RIC O contain s powerfu l civi l pro -
visions. On e o f them allow s RICO victims to sue for treble damages but, fo r 
obvious reasons , privat e partie s hav e no t opte d t o su e th e mob . However , 
another provision has proven extremely important: it gives the federal govern -
ment the righ t to sue civilly for wide-ranging injunctiv e remedie s in order to 
prevent a RICO offense fro m continuing. 22 I n some labor racketeering cases, 
like th e Teamster s Loca l 56 0 cas e an d th e Teamster s Internationa l case , 
government prosecutor s electe d t o us e civi l rathe r tha n crimina l RICO . 
Proceeding civilly, the government first has to prove that the defendant unio n 
officials an d mo b figures have been participatin g i n th e affair s o f the unio n 
enterprise. The n i t must show the pattern o f racketeering activity by entering 
into evidenc e th e defendants ' pas t crimina l conviction s (i f relate d t o labo r 
racketeering), o r by proving that the defendants ha d committe d o r conspired 
to commi t variou s labo r racketeerin g offenses , includin g solicitin g bribes , 
extortion, embezzlemen t o f pensio n an d welfar e funds , an d multifariou s 
frauds. I n som e cases , th e defendants ' liabilit y ha s been predicate d o n thei r 
aiding and abetting labor racketeering and othe r crimes by failing to take any 
action agains t officials who m they knew to be victimizing their unions . 

Civil RIC O suit s ar e governe d b y civi l procedure , whic h include s th e 
opportunity for wide-ranging pretrial discovery. The government has the right 
to tak e affidavit s fro m ke y defendant s an d defens e witnesse s an d t o loo k 
through masse s o f unio n o r compan y book s an d records . Perhap s t o avoi d 
being exposed i n this way, or simply to minimize thei r exposure at and afte r 
trial, unio n leader s hav e settle d a  numbe r o f civi l RIC O labo r racketeerin g 
cases, lik e th e Teamster s Internationa l case , resultin g i n comple x court -
approved consent agreements. 

Civil RICO' s focu s i s future oriente d an d preventative , no t punitive . I n 
effect, th e judg e can issu e whatever injunctio n o r other remedia l order s ar e 
necessary t o preven t furthe r racketeerin g b y th e defendants . I n th e RIC O 
labor racketeerin g cases , th e governmen t ha s sough t t o hav e court s appoin t 
trustees t o purg e mobbed-u p union s o f the essentia l condition s tha t cause d 
the racketeerin g proble m and , i n furtheranc e o f tha t end , t o hel p affecte d 
unions mak e th e transitio n fro m a  mob-dominate d dictatorshi p t o a  demo-
cratic organization. 

The RIC O unio n trusteeship s represen t a n evolutionar y ste p i n society' s 
ability t o cope with organize d crime . I n contras t t o a successful prosecutio n 
that ends when the defendant i s sent to prison, th e court can pu t a trustee in 
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place for month s o r years to purge mo b influence , roo t and branch . Durin g 
the remedia l phase , som e trustee s hav e vigorousl y continue d t o investigat e 
mob influence i n th e union s tha t they supervise and hav e remove d busines s 
agents an d othe r official s tainte d b y organized-crime tie s (even thoug h the y 
haven't been convicted o f a crime). Other trustees have been less aggressive. 

The succes s o f court-appointe d o r court-approve d trustee s i n purgin g 
organized crime from traditionall y mob-dominated union s i s mixed. I n these 
cases, th e truste e face s enormou s problem s i n dealin g wit h a  deepl y en -
trenched powe r structure tha t yields it s power and privilege s reluctantly , i f at 
all. Typically , an d the Teamsters Local 56 0 case is an excellen t example, th e 
government an d th e trustee find themselves repeatedl y back in cour t seeking 
further relie f agains t obstructionis t unio n tactic s o r defendin g themselve s 
against harassin g litigatio n brough t b y th e racketee r elemen t withi n th e 
union. Th e result s ar e no t ye t i n o n whethe r th e trusteeship s ca n brea k 
organized crime' s hol d o n mobbed-u p unions , bu t they are the bes t mecha -
nism yet devised. 

The Witness  Security  Program 

Historically, th e unwillingnes s o f victim s an d othe r witnesse s t o testif y 
posed a  majo r impedimen t t o successful organized-crim e prosecutions . Fea r 
of retribution wa s well founded sinc e there were many examples of potential 
witnesses' having been murdere d o r beaten. Th e Witnes s Securit y Program , 
authorized i n the Organized Crim e Control Act of 1970 , sought to guarantee 
the safety o f witnesses who agreed to testify fo r the government i n organized -
crime cases.23 

Run b y th e Unite d State s Marshall s Service , th e Witnes s Securit y Pro -
gram applie s t o witnesse s before , during , an d afte r trial . I t protect s the m 
during thei r priso n term s and , i f they ar e release d provide s the m wit h ne w 
identities, jobs , an d home s i n ne w locations . Thi s protectio n make s i t feasi -
ble to testify agains t Cosa Nostra and survive. 

The Witnes s Securit y Progra m ha s encouraged , o r a t leas t facilitated , a 
number o f major defection s fro m organize d crime . Up  unti l th e trials of the 
1980s, n o membe r o f organized crime , wit h th e singl e exceptio n o f Joseph 
Valachi i n 1963 , ha d eve r broke n th e cod e o f "omerta"  and gon e public , 
much les s testified a t a criminal tria l against fellow Cosa Nostra members . I n 
the 1980s , facing th e prospect of long prison terms , a  number o f mob figures 
"flipped," agreein g to testify fo r th e governmen t i n exchang e fo r concession s 
in th e charge s agains t the m an d admissio n int o th e Witnes s Securit y 
Program.24 

One o f the first  Cosa Nostr a member s t o flip  was Aladema ("Jimm y th e 
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Weasel") Fratianno, actin g boss of the Los Angeles crime family; he testifie d 
for the government i n the first RICO prosecution agains t a Cosa Nostr a boss 
(United States  v . Tieri)  and late r in the Commission case. 25 Shortly thereaf -
ter, Angelo Lonardo, the one-time underboss of the Cleveland crim e family , 
became a  government witness , and also provided importan t testimony i n th e 
Commission case . The prosecution in the Pizza Connection case was assisted 
by the testimony of Tomasso Buscetta, a  former high-rankin g member o f the 
Sicilian Mafi a wh o agree d t o testif y fo r th e Italia n an d America n govern -
ments afte r hi s tw o son s an d son-in-la w wer e murdere d b y a  riva l Sicilia n 
Mafia faction . Probabl y th e mos t notoriou s Cos a Nostr a membe r turne d 
government witnes s i s Samm y Gravano , Gambin o crim e famil y underbos s 
and John Gottf s long-tim e comrade . A s part o f his plea agreemen t wit h th e 
government, Gravan o admitte d t o havin g carrie d ou t ninetee n ganglan d 
murders on orders from Gott i and other superiors. 

Structural Changes  in  the  Department  of  Justice 

The Organize d Crim e an d Racketeerin g sectio n o f th e Departmen t o f 
Justice was formed i n 1954-55 . Rober t Kenned y (wh o ha d bee n counse l t o 
the McClella n Committe e i n th e lat e 1950s ) reactivate d thi s uni t whe n h e 
became attorne y genera l i n 1961 , making organized crim e a  top priority. I n 
1967, th e Justic e Departmen t forme d th e Organize d Crim e Strik e Forces , 
comprised of prosecutors and representatives of the federal investigativ e agen-
cies in fourteen cities . Over the years they came to be led by seasoned federa l 
prosecutors. Th e strik e force s wer e separat e an d distinc t fro m th e Unite d 
States attorneys ; thei r attorney s i n charg e o f eac h field  uni t reporte d t o 
the hea d o f th e Organize d Crim e an d Racketeerin g Sectio n o f th e Justic e 
Department. The y concentrate d mor e attentio n an d resource s o n organize d 
crime than ever before. Accordin g to their supporters, the strike force lawyers 
stayed i n thei r job s longe r tha n th e typica l Unite d State s attorney s an d 
assistant Unite d State s attorneys , develope d mor e specialize d expertis e i n 
organized-crime control , and were more successful i n gaining the confidenc e 
of the FBI and other law enforcement agencies . 

Nevertheless, u p to the lat e 1970 s and earl y 1980s , th e strike forces wer e 
criticized fo r thei r inabilit y t o defin e organize d crime , fo r pursuin g low -
priority targets , an d fo r lackin g th e authorit y t o contro l th e activitie s o f th e 
investigative agencie s upo n whic h the y depended. 26 Soon , however , th e 
strike force s bega n functionin g mor e effectively , an d th e FB I significantl y 
elevated it s commitment t o organized-crim e control. 27 Th e payof f soo n be -
came evident as success followed success . Fo r example, UNIRA C (the inves-
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tigation o f racketeerin g i n th e Longshoremen' s Association ) starte d a s a 
Miami Strik e Forc e projec t an d sprea d t o New York City an d ultimatel y u p 
and dow n th e Eas t Coast . Operatio n BRILA B wa s directe d b y th e Ne w 
Orleans Strike Force and involve d strike force attorneys in New Orleans, Lo s 
Angeles, and Washington , D.C . I t resulted i n the conviction o f Cosa Nostr a 
boss Carlos Marcello and numerou s other organized-crime member s and as-
sociates.28 

From th e outset , th e strik e forces wer e anathema t o man y o f the Unite d 
States attorneys in whose jurisdictions they operated. Historically , th e Unite d 
States attorneys decided ho w prosecutorial resource s were deployed an d wh o 
would prosecut e wha t cases . Man y Unite d State s attorneys , therefore , ob -
jected t o th e strik e forces ' independence . Whe n Richar d Thornburgh , a 
former Unite d State s attorne y i n Pittsburg h an d a  strik e forc e opponent , 
became attorne y genera l i n 1988 , h e move d immediatel y t o disban d th e 
strike force s an d transfe r thei r missio n an d personne l bac k t o th e Unite d 
States attorneys . Althoug h ther e wa s som e oppositio n i n Congress , whic h 
held hearing s on th e issue , the strike forces were disbanded i n 1989. 29 Many 
experienced strik e forc e prosecutor s resigne d fro m th e Justic e Department . 
Whether thi s will mean a  diminution o f effort agains t Cosa Nostra or a more 
efficient deploymen t of resources remains to be seen. 

Developments in  the  FBI 

One reaso n fo r th e succes s o f the FBI' s organized-crim e progra m wa s its 
ability t o develop an intelligenc e bas e on th e structure , makeup , an d activi -
ties o f Cos a Nostr a ove r man y year s an d t o disseminat e intelligenc e fro m 
one field  divisio n t o another . Thi s wa s facilitate d b y th e developmen t an d 
implementation o f th e Organize d Crim e Informatio n Syste m (OCIS) , a 
computer network (initiated i n 1980 ) designed to collect, evaluate , store , and 
disseminate organized-crime intelligenc e information . 

Given th e concentratio n o f Cos a Nostr a familie s an d member s i n Ne w 
York City , th e Ne w Yor k Cit y FB I offic e was , no t surprisingly , th e Burea u 
office mos t involved i n organized-crime investigation s throughout the 1980s . 
In 1979 , tha t office' s coordinato r o f organized-crim e investigations , Jame s 
Kossler attended G . Rober t Blakey' s summer institut e o n organize d crim e a t 
Cornell University . Blake y explaine d ho w RIC O coul d b e use d t o attac k 
Cosa Nostr a an d argue d fo r th e targetin g o f organize d crimina l enterprises. 
Kossler, maintainin g clos e touch wit h Blakey , redeploye d resource s o n Ne w 
York City's five Cosa Nostra crime families. Unde r operation GENU S team s 
of FB I agent s wer e assigne d t o develo p intelligenc e o n eac h family . Eac h 
team's jo b was to develop a table of organization fo r each family , identif y al l 
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the members and their status in the organization, an d then determine which 
rackets and industrie s the family was involved in . Afte r that , th e prosecutions 
would fal l int o place.30 By the mid-1980s, th e New York FBI office ha d 16 5 
agents assigned to the organized-crime division . 

FBI agen t Josep h Pistone' s penetratio n o f th e Bonann o famil y i n Ne w 
York Cit y fro m 197 6 t o 198 2 constitute s on e o f th e mos t extraordinar y 
chapters i n th e moder n histor y o f law enforcement's attac k o n Cos a Nostra . 
No la w enforcement agen t ha d eve r before bee n able , throug h disguis e an d 
guile, t o ge t s o deepl y insid e a  Cos a Nostr a family . Indeed , tha t th e FB I 
would eve n attemp t t o plac e a  secre t agen t i n th e rank s o f organized crim e 
reveals ho w commited , confident , an d creativ e th e agenc y ha d become. 31 

Pistone hun g ou t a t the bar s and restaurant s frequente d b y organized-crim e 
members an d associates . Eventually , h e wa s notice d b y organized-crim e 
figures, whom h e cu t i n o n a  numbe r o f phony schemes . I n th e cours e o f 
some o f these "crimes, " he wa s able t o brin g othe r agent s int o contac t wit h 
members of Cosa Nostra . Pistone' s undercover operation laste d six years; just 
before he had to surface and break his cover, h e was promised inductio n int o 
the Bonann o family . Piston e provide d a  mountai n o f intelligenc e materia l 
and serve d a s a witness a t a number o f key Cosa Nostr a trials , especiall y th e 
Commission case. 32 N o doubt , thi s infiltratio n wa s a  blo w t o Cos a Nostr a 
morale, raisin g doubts about how many of its secrets had been revealed . 

Cooperation among Federal,  State,  and  Local  Law 
Enforcement Agencies 

Historically, effectiv e organized-crim e contro l wa s severely hampere d b y 
bitter rivalr y amon g th e federal , state , an d loca l la w enforcement agencies . 
Each agenc y distruste d th e others , eve n t o th e poin t o f chargin g tha t riva l 
agencies wer e neithe r secur e no r trustworthy ; frequently , eac h fel t tha t th e 
others wer e tryin g t o seiz e credi t unfairl y fo r successes . Th e histor y o f 
American la w enforcement , especiall y i n combattin g organize d crime , i s 
replete wit h los t opportunitie s du e t o inabilit y o r unwillingnes s t o reac h 
interagency agreements . 

Beginning in the 1970s , joint  federal, state , and loca l task forces began to 
make significant headwa y i n overcomin g agency parochialism. I n 1970 , th e 
National Counci l o n Organize d Crim e wa s established t o formulate a  strat -
egy t o eliminat e organize d crime . Whil e th e counci l faile d t o formulat e a 
national strategy , i t mobilize d attentio n t o th e proble m o f interagenc y rela -
tions. The federa l strik e forces mad e major stride s in coordinating the effort s 
of federal prosecutoria l an d investigativ e agencie s an d also , b y promising t o 
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cover costs of joint investigations , wer e very successful i n involving state and 
local agencie s i n thei r operations . I n 197 6 th e Nationa l Organize d Crim e 
Planning Counci l wa s forme d t o facilitat e plannin g an d coordinatio n be -
tween th e strik e force s an d th e federa l la w enforcemen t agencies . I n 1980 , 
the Executiv e Workin g Grou p fo r Federal-State-Loca l Prosecutoria l Rela -
tions wa s initiated . I t provide d th e first  formal liaiso n betwee n th e Depart -
ment o f Justice , th e Nationa l Distric t Attorney s Association , an d th e Na -
tional Associatio n o f Attorney s Genera l fo r th e purpos e o f improvin g 
relations between the federal, state , and loca l prosecutors . 

These formal institutiona l mechanism s of cooperation were supplemented 
and reinforce d b y man y informa l multiagenc y workin g arrangements . I n 
New Yor k City , FB I Agent-in-Charg e Jame s Kossle r worke d ou t a n im -
mensely valuabl e agreemen t wit h Deput y Ne w Yor k Cit y Polic e Commis -
sioner Patrick Murphy whereby the Bureau and the New York Police Depart-
ment agree d t o shar e resources , intelligence , an d coordinat e thei r 
investigations. Th e agreemen t marrie d th e Bureau' s substantia l budgetar y 
resources an d sophisticate d intelligenc e apparatu s wit h th e NYPD' s street -
level intelligenc e an d highl y develope d informan t system . NYP D detective s 
were abl e t o confir m FB I intelligenc e hypothese s an d provid e lead s fo r 
identifying crim e family members , thei r roles , and criminal activities . 

The organized-crim e squa d i n th e Ne w Yor k Cit y Polic e Departmen t 
began t o cooperat e muc h mor e harmoniousl y an d effectivel y wit h it s FB I 
counterparts an d wit h stat e agencie s lik e th e Ne w Yor k Stat e Organize d 
Crime Task Force . This kind of interagency cooperation  wa s instrumental i n 
initiatives lik e th e investigatio n o f th e Fulto n Fis h Market , th e massiv e 
investigation of the Pizza Connection, an d the preparation o f the Gotti prose-
cution. 

The practic e o f "cross-designating" prosecutors from on e agency to prose-
cute o n behal f o f another agenc y also proved t o be a  major breakthroug h i n 
interagency cooperation . Thi s practice allows state and local prosecutors who 
have worked o n a n investigatio n t o follow th e cas e i f it becomes federa l an d 
vice versa . Fo r example , afte r Pau l Castellan o wa s assassinated, Pa t Ryan o f 
the Manhatta n Distric t Attorney' s Office wa s cross-designated a s an assistan t 
United State s attorne y i n th e Souther n Distric t an d Walte r Mac k fro m th e 
Southern Distric t Unite d State s attorney' s offic e wa s cross-designated a s a n 
assistant distric t attorne y i n th e Manhatta n Distric t Attorney' s Office . Thi s 
proved t o be an enormousl y valuabl e mechanis m fo r investigatin g th e Gott i 
case tha t wa s eventuall y turne d ove r t o th e Unite d State s attorne y fo r th e 
Eastern Distric t of New York. 
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Why the  1980s? 

Why di d th e government' s attac k o n Cos a Nostr a reac h it s zenith i n th e 
1980s? Perhap s th e 1980s ' successe s wer e simpl y th e culminatio n o f a n 
organized-crime contro l proces s that began i n th e 1950 s and steadil y gaine d 
strength an d momentu m thereafter . Perhap s the 195 1 Senate hearings orga -
nized b y Senato r Kefauver , th e 195 7 revelation o f a secre t meetin g o f orga-
nized-crime bosse s fro m al l ove r th e countr y a t Apalachin , Ne w York , 
Kennedy's tenur e a s attorney general , th e Valach i revelations , an d th e pas -
sage o f organized-crim e contro l legislatio n provide d th e foundatio n fo r a 
gradual, sometime s halting , proces s tha t le d t o the investigation s an d prose -
cutions o f th e 1980s . Thi s "explanation, " however , doe s no t focu s o n ke y 
decisions o r decisionmaker s o r majo r shift s i n forma l policy . I t interpret s 
organized-crime contro l initiative s as having "evolved" or "matured," perhaps 
following thei r ow n interna l logi c o r tim e clock . Thos e wh o favo r suc h a n 
interpretation ten d t o speak in terms like the following: "I t took ten year s for 
federal prosecutor s to learn to use RICO." 

We believe tha t th e evidenc e wil l ultimatel y suppor t a  different hypothe -
sis, albei t on e tha t coul d b e reconcile d wit h th e evolutionar y hypothesis . 
While maturation , evolution , an d interna l logi c ar e certainl y par t o f th e 
story, ther e wer e als o ke y decision s an d decisionmaker s wh o consciousl y 
chose t o make organized-crim e contro l a n importan t priorit y despit e relent -
less pressure to accord preference t o other crime problems. 

The attitude , politics , priorities , an d policie s o f presidents an d th e attor -
neys genera l hav e surel y ha d a n impac t o n federa l organize d crime-contro l 
initiatives. The president can have a positive impact via his choice of attorney 
general an d FB I director , hi s suppor t fo r enhance d crime-contro l budgets , 
and hi s "jawboning " o n organized-crim e themes . O n th e othe r hand , a 
president ca n hav e a  negativ e impac t if , fo r politica l o r othe r reasons , h e 
chooses an attorne y genera l disincline d t o pursue organized crim e o r makes 
it clea r t o th e attorne y genera l an d othe r subordinate s eithe r tha t attackin g 
organized crime is not a priority or that some other goals are higher priorities. 

Likewise, th e attorne y genera l ca n hav e grea t impact  on organized-crim e 
control b y lobbyin g o r no t lobbyin g fo r legislatio n (e.g. , RICO , electroni c 
eavesdropping, Witnes s Security Program) and by allocating or not allocating 
substantial resource s t o th e Organize d Crim e an d Racketeerin g Section . 
While the Unite d State s attorneys have some independence from th e centra l 
Justice Department , ther e i s littl e doub t tha t th e attorne y genera l ha s th e 
power t o establis h prioritie s throug h persuasio n an d manipulatio n o f re -
sources. 
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Robert F . Kennedy , fo r example , wa s highl y committe d t o a  full-scal e 
attack o n organize d crime . H e ha d playe d a  key rol e during th e McClella n 
hearings and was extremely well informed abou t the Mafia, especiall y its role 
in th e Teamster s an d othe r labo r unions . Prosecutin g Jimm y Hoff a wa s a 
top priorit y o f hi s administration . Furthermore , Kenned y quadruple d th e 
Organized Crim e Sectio n an d encourage d i t t o mov e aggressivel y agains t 
organized crime. 33 By contrast his successor, Ramse y Clark, ha d little interest 
in organized-crime control and opposed electronic surveillance . 

The Reaga n administratio n seem s t o hav e bee n th e mos t aggressivel y 
anti-organized crim e sinc e th e Kenned y administration . I n on e speec h o n 
the subject , Reaga n announce d hi s commitmen t t o attackin g organize d 
crime and described a special cabinet session he called to address the problem 
on Septembe r 30 , 1982 . 

Attorney General William French Smith .  .  .  talked not only about the steady rise in 
street crime over two decades but the growth and increasing sophistication of regional 
and national networks of professional criminals. He described the alarmingly success-
ful attempts of these networks to corrupt legitimate business, unions, political figures 
and member s of law enforcement an d government agencies . H e made i t clear that 
career criminals had not only grown bolder in their activities but were continuing to 
extend thei r reac h eve r deeper int o law-abidin g sector s o f our society , buyin g and 
bribing their way to the kind of official protection and respectability that would permit 
them to operate their criminal undergrounds with impunity.34 

According t o Reagan , thi s specia l cabine t decide d tha t th e Justic e Depart -
ment woul d "mor e vigorousl y prosecut[e ] th e mob , includin g us e o f th e 
RICO statute to confiscate mor e of its financial  assets .  .  .  and [forge ] close r 
co-operation wit h stat e an d loca l la w enforcemen t agencies , includin g ne w 
training program s a t a  federal facilit y i n Glynco , Georgia , tha t woul d focu s 
on th e mob' s ne w an d mor e sophisticate d tactics. " Moreover , Reaga n ap -
pointed a  presidential commissio n t o determine wha t else migh t b e done t o 
further th e anti-organized-crime effort . 

Two Genera l Accountin g Offic e (GAO ) reports , i n 197 6 and 1981 , criti-
cized th e For d an d Carte r administrations ' Justic e Departments ' organized -
crime contro l effor t fo r failin g t o concentrate o n Cos a Nostr a an d fo r failin g 
to engag e i n strategi c plannin g an d cooperativ e venture s wit h othe r agen -
cies.35 There were no similar GAO criticisms thereafter, whic h lends support 
to th e hypothesi s tha t afte r 1981 , the Justic e Departmen t go t it s organized -
crime-control progra m on track . 

Policy is also made by each of the ninety-two United State s attorneys, who 
have historicall y enjoye d a  grea t dea l o f independenc e i n runnin g thei r 
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offices. I n 1983 , Rudolph Giulian i lef t a  top position i n th e Departmen t o f 
Justice t o becom e Unite d State s attorne y fo r th e Souther n Distric t o f Ne w 
York.36 Ultimately , i t wa s th e Souther n Distric t Unite d State s Attorney' s 
Office, unde r Giuliani , tha t brough t th e Commissio n case , fou r famil y 
RICO cases , th e Pizz a Connectio n case , an d th e Teamster s Internationa l 
case a s wel l a s man y others . Whateve r debat e ther e migh t b e abou t th e 
impact o f president s an d attorney s genera l i n makin g organize d crim e a 
higher priority, there is no doubt about Giuliani's importance . 

The FBI' s prioritie s wer e als o crucia l t o th e histor y o f organized-crim e 
control. Clearly , Hoove r was not interested i n taking on Cos a Nostra . How -
ever, a t least one, perhap s all , o f his successors mus t have seen an attac k on 
organized crime as consistent with and even central to the agency's mission.37 

The investigations that took place from th e late 1970 s onward could not have 
occurred withou t th e stron g suppor t o f th e FB I directors . Moreover , th e 
priorities an d decision s o f othe r FB I officials , especiall y i n Ne w Yor k City , 
are sure to figure prominently whe n th e ful l histor y o f this law enforcemen t 
effort i s finally written. 

Internal Weakening  of  Cosa  Nostra 

Ronald Goldstock , long-tim e directo r o f the Ne w Yor k Stat e Organize d 
Crime Tas k Force , echoin g th e thesi s o f mob-boss-turned-autho r Jo e Bo -
nanno,38 ha s argue d tha t Cos a Nostr a ha s bee n weakene d a s muc h b y 
internal force s a s b y externa l forces. 39 I n Goldstock' s opinion , th e moder n 
generation o f Cosa Nostr a leader s has different value s from it s predecessors. 
Honor, respect , an d famil y hav e give n wa y t o gree d an d th e fas t buck . 
Moreover, Goldstoc k argue s tha t wit h th e demis e o f "Littl e Italies " aroun d 
the Unite d States , th e mo b los t it s recruitmen t bas e an d di d not , perhap s 
could not , adequatel y replenis h itsel f wit h youn g members . H e conclude s 
that Cosa Nostr a became les s competent a t the very time when la w enforce -
ment was becoming more competent . 

Goldstock's thesis deserves serious consideration becaus e of its plausibility 
and th e author' s expertise . Al l organization s experienc e chang e resultin g 
from leadershi p transitions , alteration s i n environment , an d oscillation s i n 
the economy . Som e change s ar e merel y deviation s fro m long-ter m pattern s 
and other s permanen t change s i n goals , priorities , strategies , an d culture . 
Goldstock believes cultura l chang e ha s diminished organize d crime' s capac-
ity to carr y ou t it s goals and strategie s effectively . Th e stronges t evidenc e i n 
favor o f Goldstock's thesi s i s the apparen t breakdow n of  omerta,  th e code of 
silence, an d th e willingnes s o f score s o f mobster s t o cooperat e wit h th e 
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government. Thi s certainl y reflect s som e sor t o f change, eithe r muc h mor e 
powerful an d effective la w enforcement tha n ever before (including especially 
the draconian RIC O sentences) and the possibility of defecting without being 
killed (thanks to the Witness Securit y Program ) or a different attitud e amon g 
Cosa Nostra members about the importance o f loyalty to their organization . 

While plausible , Goldstock' s thesi s i s difficul t t o evaluat e becaus e i t i s 
hard t o compare th e "values " of yesterday's organized-crim e leaders , middl e 
managers, and soldier s with today's. There i s a tendency in many contexts to 
romanticize th e value s an d accomplishment s o f pas t generations . Jus t a s 
many o f u s d o no t believ e tha t thi s generation' s politica l leader s o r colleg e 
presidents measure up to their counterparts o f the past , s o it is not surprisin g 
that Jo e Bonann o believe s tha t today' s mo b leader s ar e les s capabl e an d 
worthy than he. 40 

This romanticizin g tendency i s compounded b y the methodologica l erro r 
of comparin g al l (o r th e average ) o f today' s leader s wit h onl y th e bes t o f 
yesterday's leaders . No t al l o f yesterday's mo b members and bosse s were like 
Marlon Brando' s depiction o f a man o f honor i n The Godfather. The Golds-
tock thesis is intriguing, bu t i t needs to be carefully an d critically examined . 

Organized-Crime Contro l an d Civi l Libertie s 
Whatever on e think s o f the event s examine d i n thi s book , United  States  v . 
Cosa Nostra is not a case of law enforcement agencies ' ignoring or taking the 
law int o thei r ow n hands ; rathe r i t i s a n exampl e o f ho w substantiv e an d 
procedural crimina l law s have been expansively amended an d recas t in order 
to provid e la w enforcemen t agencie s powerfu l mean s fo r defeatin g Cos a 
Nostra an d othe r organized-crim e groups . Whil e som e observer s ma y ap -
plaud th e government' s attac k o n Cos a Nostr a a s an impressiv e exampl e o f 
how a  democrati c governmen t ca n defea t a n immensel y powerfu l crim e 
syndicate whil e respectin g th e rul e o f la w an d du e proces s o f law , othe r 
observers ma y conclud e tha t th e rul e o f la w an d importan t principle s o f 
fairness, du e process , an d substantiv e justic e hav e bee n stretche d to o fa r i n 
the relentles s effor t t o pu t th e leader s o f Cos a Nostr a behin d bars . Suc h 
critics would poin t to the expansion o f accessorial an d conspiratoria l liabilit y 
under RICO , electroni c eavesdropping , gran d jur y supoenas , makin g deal s 
with dangerous and reprehensible criminals , mas s trials, and draconian pun -
ishments as too great a price to pay, even for the dismantling of Cosa Nostra . 

Politicians hav e show n n o concer n fo r th e privac y o f or justic e fo r orga -
nized-crime figures.  Senator s an d representative s hav e compete d wit h on e 
another t o b e toughes t o n organize d crime . Th e onl y doubt s raise d i n 
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congressional debate s ove r organized-crim e legislatio n hav e involve d th e 
possibility tha t organized-crime-contro l tactic s would b e used agains t peopl e 
other than organized-crime members , especiall y unpopular politica l groups. 

Cosa Nostr a member s hav e been demonize d i n Congres s an d define d a s 
social pariah s agains t who m extraordinar y rule s ough t t o apply . Thus , a 
system of substantive and procedura l la w has evolved so that once a person is 
identified a s hea d o f a n organized-crim e family , ther e i s usuall y probabl e 
cause t o bu g hi s hom e an d ca r an d ta p hi s phones . Unde r RIC O th e 
crime bos s can practicall y b e automatically charge d wit h participatin g i n a n 
enterprise (hi s crim e family ) throug h racketeerin g activit y (th e crime s com -
mitted b y hi s underlings) . N o matte r wha t th e underlyin g crime s prove d 
against him, th e sentencing la w is structured s o that the boss can b e impris -
oned for a very long time, probably for life . 

For the most part, th e appellate courts have not rejected th e government' s 
aggressive use of RICO and other anti-organized-crime tactics . The appellat e 
courts are loathe to reverse a conviction resultin g from man y months of trial 
against a  defendan t who m "everybod y knows " i s a  majo r organized-crim e 
figure. Eve n whe n the y ar e obviousl y trouble d b y such thing s a s megatrial s 
and statu s crimes, th e appellate judge s have upheld organized-crim e convic -
tions, while expressing their "doubts" and "concerns. " 

Civil libertarian s hav e rarel y chose n organized-crim e case s t o challeng e 
government over-reaching and abuse of authority. Indeed , fro m a  civil libert-
ies standpoint, majo r organized-crim e case s provide the worst set of facts o n 
which to test the propriety and constitutionalit y o f new law enforcement an d 
crime contro l tactics . Perhap s ther e i s an implici t assumptio n tha t th e rule s 
are differen t i n organized-crim e cases . Perhap s i t i s generally accepte d tha t 
Cosa Nostr a bosse s and member s assum e the risk of (and hav e no justifiabl e 
complaint about ) whateve r la w enforcemen t tactic s th e legislativ e an d th e 
executive branches come up with. 

Rather tha n defen d th e right s o f organized-crim e figures,  civi l libertie s 
groups hav e ofte n warne d agains t an d oppose d th e tactic s designe d fo r th e 
"war on organize d crime " on th e groun d tha t the y would inevitabl y b e used 
in othe r contexts , especiall y t o chil l bon a fide  politica l expression . I n fact , 
organized-crime-control devices , fro m conspirac y la w t o RICO , an d fro m 
electronic eavesdroppin g t o crimina l an d civi l forfeitures , hav e inexorabl y 
seeped int o othe r contexts . On e reaso n fo r thi s i s the plasticit y o f the ter m 
"organized crime. " Many kind s of criminality ca n plausibl y be labeled orga -
nized crime . Th e RIC O statute , fo r example , ha s frequentl y bee n use d 
against non-Cos a Nostr a defendant s who , unde r eve n th e broades t defini -
tion, coul d no t be linked to an organized-crime group. Furthermore , th e use 
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of civi l RIC O provision s i n dispute s amon g corporation s ha s triggere d re -
peated, albei t unsuccessful , effort s t o reig n i n th e reac h o f th e statute . I f 
anything, however , th e tactic s tha t hav e prove n s o successfu l agains t Cos a 
Nostra ar e bein g transplante d t o th e wa r agains t drugs , an d eve n t o "wars " 
against official corruption , violen t crime, and pornography . 

The Futur e o f Organized Crim e 
After eac h o f the majo r organized-crim e case s presented i n thi s book , som e 
law enforcement official s an d academic observers predicted tha t America was 
on th e threshol d o f defeating Cos a Nostra. 41 Whil e on e canno t hel p bein g 
impressed b y th e government' s overwhelmin g successe s i n organized-crim e 
prosecutions across the United State s since 1980 , one must also be impressed 
by Cosa Nostra' s power an d expansiv e reac h a s evidenced i n th e testimony , 
wiretaps, an d physica l evidence that have been adduce d i n these same trials. 
It i s soberin g t o conside r that , a t leas t unti l recently , Cos a Nostr a exerte d 
powerful influenc e ove r th e nation' s larges t unio n (th e Teamsters) , severa l 
other importan t nationa l union s (Longshoreman' s Association , Hote l Em -
ployees an d Restauran t Employee s Internationa l Union , an d th e Laborer s 
International Unio n o f Nort h America) , th e Ne w Yor k City/Ne w Jerse y 
waterfront, th e Fulton Fis h Market, the New York City construction industry , 
garment industry , an d trash-hauling industry , and numerous other businesses 
throughout th e country . Ove r th e las t severa l decades , Cos a Nostr a leader s 
have stoo d a t th e sid e o f mayors , governors , an d eve n presidents . Th e su m 
total o f this much influenc e an d powe r make s organized crim e a  significan t 
part of the political economy of the United States . 

Unfortunately, ther e is no systematic way to determine how successful th e 
government's organized-crime-contro l campaig n ha s been , muc h les s will 
be, i n weakenin g o r eliminatin g Cos a Nostr a o r i n reducin g th e amoun t o f 
racketeering an d har m associate d wit h Cos a Nostra. 42 Ther e ar e n o system -
atic and reliabl e dat a o n th e health , wealth , an d powe r o f Cosa Nostr a a s a 
whole or of its individual crime families. Hundred s o f Cosa Nostr a member s 
have bee n sentence d t o lon g priso n terms , bu t w e d o no t kno w whethe r 
replacements hav e or will mov e int o their vacated roles . Man y la w enforce -
ment professional s se e the Cos a Nostr a familie s a s being i n disarra y an d i n 
permanent decline . Bu t these observations are generally ad hoc and no t par t 
of systematic nationwide intelligence gathering and analysis effort. Electroni c 
monitoring, compute r systems, and the emergence of well-trained organized -
crime-control unit s an d specialist s mak e conceivabl e th e implementatio n o f 
an extensive intelligence operation . Bu t resources and technology hav e to be 
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supported b y politica l wil l an d organizationa l commitment . Th e dange r i s 
that attentio n wil l b e draw n awa y fro m organized-crim e contro l t o othe r 
pressing la w enforcemen t prioritie s an d that , whil e th e la w enforcemen t 
machinery sleeps , Cos a Nostr a wil l reconstitut e itself . Finally , eve n i f Cosa 
Nostra a s a n organizatio n ha s bee n substantiall y weakened , w e obviousl y 
cannot b e sur e tha t Cos a Nostra' s racketeerin g activitie s hav e no t bee n (o r 
will no t be ) take n ove r b y newl y emergin g crim e groups , thereb y negatin g 
any reduction i n racketeering or societal harm . 

Many o f the economi c an d socia l force s tha t allowe d organize d crim e t o 
achieve such immens e powe r are stil l operative . Th e citizenry' s deman d fo r 
illicit goods and service s remains strong. Man y unions remai n vulnerabl e t o 
labor racketeering , an d thos e tha t hav e bee n "liberated " fro m organize d 
crime hav e been ver y slow to repudiate thei r mo b ties , i f they hav e done so 
at all. Thus , i t may be premature t o predict that the investigations and trial s 
of th e 1980 s constitut e th e beginnin g o f th e las t chapte r i n th e histor y o f 
Cosa Nostra . Whateve r th e future ma y hold , th e period fro m th e late 1970 s 
to the early 1990 s has been marke d by the mos t concerted an d sophisticate d 
attack o n organize d crim e i n th e histor y o f th e Unite d States . Th e goa l o f 
this boo k i s t o begi n th e herculea n tas k o f documenting , explaining , an d 
critiquing thi s recen t histor y s o tha t i t wil l b e availabl e t o thi s an d futur e 
generations o f students, scholars , an d member s o f the publi c who are inter -
ested in organized crime in American society . 

Notes 

1. Hoover' s resistance to investigating or even recognizing the existence of orga-
nized crime has been very well documented. See , e.g., J . R. Nash, Citizen Hoover, 
chapter 6 , "Th e Organizatio n Tha t Didn' t Exist " (Hall , 1972) ; Arthur M . Schle -
singer, Jr., Robert Kennedy and His Times (Ballantine, 1978). 
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Section, Chronological History of la Cosa Nostra in the United States: January 1920-
August 1987  (Washington, D.C. , October 1987). 

3. Th e fact that these FBI statistics did not include consiglieri, advisors or counsel-
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4. Thi s coul d mea n twenty-fiv e hundre d separat e "counts " charge d agains t a 
much smalle r numbe r o f individual s (althoug h som e individual s wer e charged i n 
several different indictments) . I t seems implausible that twenty-five hundred differen t 
organized-crime members were charged in criminal cases, since this would constitute 
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Teamsters Loca l 560 : United 
States v.  Local  560 (IBT) 
(Filed Marc h 1982 ; Decided Februar y 1984 ) 

Introduction 
United States  v . Local  56 0 (IBT)  i s th e mos t importan t civi l labo r racke -
teering cas e eve r brough t b y the Justic e Departmen t agains t a  unio n local. 1 

Local 560 broke new ground becaus e i t was the first time the Department of 
Justice brough t a  civi l RIC O actio n agains t a  labo r union . Unlik e a  tradi -
tional organized-crim e crimina l prosecution , thi s sui t di d no t ai m fo r a 
criminal conviction . Instead , th e Justic e Departmen t sough t t o fre e Loca l 
560 from th e influenc e o f organized crim e by means of a wide-ranging civi l 
injunction. Th e litigatio n tha t bega n i n th e earl y 1980 s and continue s int o 
the earl y 1990 s reveal s th e pervasivenes s o f organize d crime' s rol e i n a 
"captive labor union," demonstrates the value of civil RICO as an anti-labor -
racketeering tool, and highlights the problems a court-appointed truste e faces 
in returning a mob-dominated unio n t o the rank and file. 

Local 560 , a n unincorporate d labo r associatio n chartere d b y the Interna -
tional Brotherhoo d o f Teamsters (IBT), i s one of the larges t Teamster Unio n 
locals in Ne w Jersey. I t was once one o f the mos t powerful IB T locals in th e 
United States , bu t year s o f mob exploitatio n draine d it s resources an d pres -
sured hones t member s to seek work elsewhere. I n May 1982 , i t had approxi -
mately ten thousan d member s employed b y about 425 companies locate d i n 
the metropolitan Ne w Jersey-New York area. 

31 

I 
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Background 
From th e earl y 1950s , Loca l 56 0 ha s bee n controlle d o r influence d b y 
Genovese crim e famil y cap o Anthon y ("Ton y Pro" ) Provenzano , hi s tw o 
brothers, an d thei r hand-picke d successors . Provenzan o joine d Loca l 56 0 in 
the late 1940s , became a business agent in 1952 , and muscled hi s way to the 
presidency i n 1960 . As president, h e appointed hi s brothers and enforcer s t o 
key positions a s trustees, busines s agents , an d sho p stewards. H e also placed 
family member s an d friend s i n well-pai d position s a s administrator s o f th e 
welfare an d benefi t fund s an d o n th e payroll s o f businesse s tha t employe d 
Local 56 0 members . Th e Provenzano s silence d dissident s an d rival s wh o 
dared t o challeng e thei r rul e b y having the m fired  an d blackliste d b y Loca l 
560 employer s (wh o wer e dependen t upo n th e union' s cooperatio n an d 
goodwill). Two union member s who opposed Provenzano were murdered . 

Provenzano's caree r i n organized crim e prospered alon g with his fortune s 
in Loca l 560 . At some point i n th e early 1960 s he became a  made membe r 
of the Genovese crime family an d turne d Loca l 56 0 into a  cash cow subsid-
iary o f Cos a Nostra . Provenzan o bega n b y organizin g thiever y a t th e Ne w 
Jersey docks . Ove r th e nex t decade , h e an d hi s associate s extorte d labo r 
peace payoff s fro m employers , sol d ou t th e rank-and-fil e member s throug h 
sweetheart contract s wit h truckin g firms,  force d employer s t o pu t no-sho w 
employees o n th e payroll , an d defraude d th e union' s benefi t fund s throug h 
phony loan s an d worthles s o r highl y overpai d contract s wit h variou s servic e 
providers. 

Criminal conviction s di d no t hampe r a  member' s advancemen t i n th e 
union. Fo r example , afte r Nunzi o Provenzan o wa s convicte d i n a  labo r 
peace extortio n schem e i n 1963 , hi s brothe r Ton y appointe d hi m a s a 
business agent . I n 1966 , Tony and Nunzi o Provenzan o were imprisoned o n 
separate conviction s an d Sa m Provenzan o assume d th e union' s presidency . 
While h e awaited trial , th e union pai d al l o f Tony Pro' s legal fees and voted 
him a  lucrativ e five-fold  salar y increas e tha t enable d hi m t o amas s som e 
$240,000 while he served his prison term. 

After releas e fro m prison , member s o f th e Provenzan o cliqu e routinel y 
returned t o positions in Loca l 56 0 (in violation o f federal labo r law). Indeed , 
after h e serve d five  year s i n prison , Ton y Pr o wa s appointe d secretary -
treasurer. However , i n 1978 , th e Manhatta n distric t attorne y successfull y 
prosecuted hi m fo r murde r o f a union rival , whic h le d t o a  sentence o f lif e 
imprisonment. I n 1979 , a t a  federal trial , h e an d Gab e Briguglio , hi s long-
time associate , wer e convicte d o f acceptin g payoff s fro m a  majo r shippin g 
firm i n exchang e fo r sweethear t contracts . Afte r hi s murde r conviction , 
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Provenzano's daughte r assume d hi s position o n Loca l 560' s executive boar d 
and hi s brothe r Sa m becam e president . I n 1981 , Nunzi o wa s convicte d 
federally o n a  simila r sweethear t schem e involvin g fou r interstat e truckin g 
companies, an d in 1983 , Sam was convicted federally o f dental-benefit-fun d 
kickbacks. I n 1984 , the Provenzanos designated long-tim e associate Michae l 
Sciarra a s thei r successor . Thus , despit e Ton y Pro' s an d hi s tw o brothers ' 
convictions an d incarceration , organize d crime' s gri p o n Loca l 56 0 re -
mained firm. 

The Civil RICO Suit 
March 198 2 marked th e beginnin g o f the government's protracte d attac k on 
organized crime' s labor racketeering in Local 560 . The Newark Strike Force, 
in conjunctio n wit h th e Unite d State s attorne y fo r Ne w Jersey , filed a  35 -
page civi l complain t wit h a  300-pag e appendi x documentin g a  quarter -
century of racketeering domination an d exploitation . Th e name d defendant s 
included Loca l 560 , it s pension an d welfar e funds , eac h curren t membe r o f 
its executiv e board , an d forme r executiv e boar d member s Anthon y an d 
Nunzio Provenzano , Stephe n an d Thomas Andretta , an d Gabrie l Briguglio , 
all o f whom ha d bee n convicte d i n individua l racketeerin g cases . Th e gov -
ernment announce d tha t i t ha d targete d Loca l 56 0 becaus e o f it s "luri d 
history of criminal activity. " 

The civi l complain t charge d tw o substantiv e violation s o f RIC O an d a 
RICO conspiracy . First , th e complain t allege d tha t the individua l convicte d 
racketeers, aide d an d abette d b y member s o f th e executiv e board , ha d ac -
quired an d maintaine d a n interes t i n Loca l 56 0 and it s pension an d welfar e 
funds throug h a  pattern o f racketeering activity , includin g murde r and extor -
tion. I n suppor t o f the allegation , th e government include d a  long list of the 
previous crimina l conviction s o f Loca l 56 0 officers an d members. 2 Second , 
the complain t charge d th e defendant s wit h operatin g Loca l 56 0 an d it s 
benefit plan s throug h a  pattern o f racketeering activity . I t alleged numerou s 
predicate offenses : mai l an d wir e fraud , extortion , embezzlemen t fro m th e 
union, hijackin g cargo , an d acceptin g kickbacks . Third , th e governmen t 
alleged a  conspiracy amon g th e defendant s t o acquire an d maintai n contro l 
of Local 56 0 through a  pattern o f racketeering activity. 

According to the government, wide-rangin g equitable relie f was necessary 
because decades of organized-crime domination ha d created an environmen t 
of intimidation an d terror . Purgin g the racketeer s through crimina l prosecu -
tion ha d prove n ineffectiv e agains t th e Provenzanos ' revolving-doo r policy . 
The governmen t therefor e sough t appointment o f a trustee to run th e unio n 
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until organized crime and the conditions fostering i t could be eliminated an d 
the union returne d to its members. 

Several importan t consequence s flowed  fro m th e decisio n t o us e civi l 
RICO. Pursuan t t o th e rule s o f civi l procedure , th e Unite d State s attorne y 
obtained a  goo d dea l o f informatio n abou t Loca l 560' s operation s throug h 
civil discovery. The threat of being deposed by government counsel may have 
convinced severa l defendant s t o settl e b y agreeing t o be forever barre d fro m 
participating in Loca l 56 0 affairs. I n addition, a  single federal judg e tried th e 
case, a s defendant s hav e n o righ t t o a  jur y tria l i n civi l suit s askin g fo r 
injunctive an d other equitable relief . Furthermore , th e government only had 
to mee t th e lesse r burde n o f proo f (preponderanc e o f th e evidence ) tha t 
applies to civil cases rather than the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standar d tha t 
applies in criminal cases. 

During th e five-month  trial , whic h too k plac e i n 1983 , Judg e Harol d 
Ackerman hear d fro m a  numbe r o f differen t witnesse s wh o occupie d ke y 
positions within th e union. Fo r example, h e listened t o testimony from Sa m 
Provenzano, th e presiden t o f Local 560 ; Joseph Sheridan , th e vice-presiden t 
of Local 560 ; Josephine Provenzano , Ton y Pro' s daughter an d th e secretary -
treasurer of Local 56 0 since 197 8 when she was elected to that position at the 
age o f twenty-three ; Michae l Sciarra ; an d J . W . Dildine , th e recordin g 
secretary o f Local 56 0 since 1968 . Judge Ackerman listene d a s the witnesse s 
expressed thei r loyaltie s t o Ton y Pr o an d th e othe r unio n leaders . Som e 
steadfastly refuse d t o concede that Tony or Nunzio Provenzano was guilty of 
the charges for which h e had been convicted. 3 Other witnesses testified that , 
if i t wer e possible , the y woul d retur n Ton y o r Nunzi o Provenzan o t o hi s 
old position. 

Salvatore Sinno , a  membe r o f th e Provenzan o cliqu e sinc e th e 1940s , 
became a  government witnes s and provide d invaluabl e testimony . H e linked 
Anthony an d Nunzi o Provenzan o t o th e Genoves e crim e famil y an d de -
scribed th e crimina l activit y an d intimidatio n tha t assure d th e Provenzan o 
group's dominance of Local 560 . 

The tria l resulte d i n a  spectacula r victor y fo r th e government . Judg e 
Ackerman foun d i n th e government' s favo r o n al l thre e RIC O charges . Al l 
members of the executive board were held to be accomplices on the grounds 
that the y ha d appointe d know n labo r racketeer s t o unio n position s an d ha d 
failed t o take any actio n t o attack racketeerin g i n Loca l 56 0 or to dispel th e 
aura of fear permeating the union. Specifically , Judg e Ackerman held ; 

Local 56 0 has been sinc e 1961 , and continue s t o be a captive labor organization , 
which the Provenzano Group has dominated through fear and intimidation and has 



Teamsters Local 560 /  3 5 

exploited throug h fea r and corruption . .  .  .  This victimization [o f individual unio n 
members and segments of the trucking industry] [is] likely to recur as long as Local 
560 remains a captive labor organization. 

In suppor t o f his finding  tha t th e unio n ha d bee n capture d b y organize d 
crime, Judg e Ackerma n pointe d t o th e murder s o f Anthon y Castellitto , a 
popular member o f Local 56 0 during the late 1950s , and Walter Glockner, a 
vocal criti c o f th e Provenzan o grou p i n th e earl y 1960s ; the extractio n o f 
labor peac e payoff s b y member s o f the Provenzan o group ; and th e appoint -
ments t o unio n offic e o f forme r member s wh o ha d bee n eithe r indicte d 
or convicted. 4 

The cour t staye d it s remedia l pla n pendin g appeal . I n Decembe r 1985 , 
the United State s Court of Appeals for the Third Circui t affirmed th e district 
court's judgment . Th e litigatio n entere d it s remedial phase , whic h ha s con -
tinued unti l the present time. 

The Remedia l Phas e 
Judge Ackerman temporarily suspended the executive board members of their 
offices during the active phase of the trusteeship. Hi s remedial order provided 
for a  court-appointe d truste e wit h power s including , bu t no t limite d to , (a ) 
all powers exercised by the executive board [o f the union] under the constitu-
tion and by-laws; (b) all powers of those removed from office ; (c) the power to 
negotiate and ente r int o contracts and t o engage i n collective bargaining; (d) 
the powe r t o institut e an d settl e litigation ; an d (e ) th e powe r t o hir e an d 
discharge unio n employee s an d t o se t wages , conditions , an d term s o f em -
ployment for union employees . 

Judge Ackerma n di d no t plac e an y limitatio n o n th e duratio n o f th e 
trusteeship; h e provide d fo r th e truste e t o serv e "fo r a  curativ e perio d o f 
sufficient lengt h . . . t o effectively dispe l the existing atmosphere of intimida-
tion withi n Loca l 560 , t o restor e unio n democracy , an d t o ensur e (t o th e 
extent possible ) tha t racketeer s d o no t obtai n position s o f trus t withi n th e 
local."5 

In Januar y 1986 , Judg e Ackerma n appointe d Joe l Jacobson , a n experi -
enced union leader , a s the court-appointed trustee . Upo n assuming responsi-
bility for the union , Jacobso n immediatel y note d thre e majo r problem s with 
Local 560 : the lack of union solidarit y (i.e., i t was not uncommon fo r a shop 
steward t o testif y against  a  unio n membe r i n a  grievanc e hearing , a n un -
heard-of practic e i n othe r America n unions) , th e disarra y o f the record s o f 
the pensio n an d welfar e funds , an d th e lac k o f educatio n an d trainin g 
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programs for the members. Thus, Jacobson decided that his main responsibil -
ity was to run th e union competentl y and openly . However , h e did not seem 
to dra w a  connectio n betwee n reformin g th e unio n an d rootin g ou t th e 
union's organized-crim e elements ; mos t o f th e busines s agent s wer e lef t i n 
place an d th e unio n continue d t o ru n muc h a s i t always had . Judg e Acker-
man di d no t agre e wit h thi s strateg y an d liltimatel y replace d Jacobso n i n 
May 1987. 6 

Edwin Stier , a  former federa l an d stat e prosecutor , succeede d Jacobson. 7 

Stier wa s dismayed t o find  tha t Ton y Pro' s pictur e stil l hun g o n th e wal l o f 
the Loca l 56 0 unio n hall , symbolizin g th e pervasiv e racketeerin g atmo -
sphere. H e immediatel y ordere d it s removal . Stie r an d hi s associat e truste e 
assumed the day-to-day manageria l function s o f the union's executive board , 
investigating suspiciou s collectiv e bargainin g agreement s an d th e operation s 
of the pension and welfare funds, an d nurturing union democracy by encour-
aging membership interes t and participation . 

Stier believed tha t ultimately unio n democrac y wa s the antidote fo r labo r 
racketeering. Onl y whe n th e ran k an d file  becam e committe d t o takin g 
control ove r thei r destin y woul d th e yok e of organized-crime dominanc e b e 
broken. Th e challenge , i n Stier' s view , wa s t o convinc e th e member s tha t 
they could participat e in the union withou t fear of retaliation. 

A free election , eventuall y schedule d fo r 1988 , wa s the critica l plan k i n 
his refor m agenda . H e ha d fou r goal s fo r th e election . First , h e sough t t o 
encourage th e formatio n o f party ticket s an d th e nominatio n o f candidates . 
Second, h e sought to assure that the members would vote , so he encourage d 
them to take an interes t in and become involved in union affair s an d politics. 
Third, h e aimed to guarantee both the perception an d the realit y of a secret-
ballot election. Fourth , h e endeavored t o assure that the election procedure s 
(voter eligibility, ballo t protection, tallyin g votes) guaranteed a  fair process.8 

However, th e Provenzan o force s thre w themselves int o the electora l fray , 
organizing a  ticke t calle d "Teamster s fo r Liberty " (TFL) , an d long-tim e 
Provenzano henchma n an d forme r 56 0 president , Michae l Sciarra , an -
nounced hi s candidac y fo r th e presidency . (Th e othe r tw o ticket s wer e th e 
United Ticket and Wise Choice.) 

The government , represente d b y the sam e indefatigabl e assistan t Unite d 
States attorne y wh o ha d filed  th e initia l suit , Rober t Stewart , returne d t o 
court t o disqualif y Sciarr a fro m runnin g fo r office . I n th e cours e o f tw o 
preliminary injunctio n hearing s (198 8 an d 1990 ) an d a  civi l RIC O tria l 
(1990), Stewar t presented testimon y and tape recordings to show that Sciarr a 
maintained regula r contact s wit h Genoves e crime-famil y member s an d tha t 
the Genoves e famil y chos e hi m t o contro l th e union . Sciarra' s associatio n 
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with th e Provenzan o grou p dated bac k a t leas t a s far a s the earl y 1960s . H e 
served th e unio n a s business agen t (1972-86) , a s an executiv e board truste e 
(1981-1984), a s presiden t o f th e Loca l (1984-86) , an d a s a  truste e o f th e 
benefit-plan syste m (1983-86) . Accordin g t o Stier , th e membershi p univer-
sally regarded Sciarr a as the Provenzanos' hand-picked successor . 

Judge Dickinso n Debevoise , wh o handle d th e Sciarr a litigation , agree d 
with the government that Sciarra had to be disqualified : 

The [lanniello-Andretta ] tape s constitute stron g evidence that the Genovese Crime 
Family intended t o maintain it s control over Local 56 0 during the pendency of the 
appeal from Judg e Ackerman's March 16 , 198 4 Judgement Order, durin g any pen-
dency o f trusteeship, an d thereafter . Th e tape s constitute stron g evidence tha t this 
control was to be exercised through Anthony Salerno's caporegime Mathew Ianniello, 
and that Ianniello, upon the advice of Stephen Andretta, selected Michael Sciarra to 
be th e ma n o n th e scen e a t Loca l 56 0 t o who m order s an d instruction s coul d 
be given.9 

Judge Debevoise concluded tha t "if Sciarra .  . .  were to become Presiden t 
. .  .  ther e woul d b e a  ver y rea l dange r tha t al l th e effort s expende d durin g 
the trusteeship to free the union from racketeerin g control would be undone." 
Thereupon, th e TF L substitute d Michae l Sciarra' s brothe r Danie l a s it s 
candidate fo r th e Loca l 56 0 presidency , presumabl y confiden t tha t Danie l 
would ensure the continuity of the Provenzano legacy in the union . 

The election , hel d i n Decembe r 1988 , resulte d i n a  resoundin g two-to -
one victory for Daniel Sciarr a and the TFL slate of executive board nominee s 
(62 percent t o 3 8 percent). Th e boar d immediatel y appointe d Michae l Sci -
arra a s busines s agent ; th e Provenzan o grou p seeme d t o hav e triumphe d 
despite all the government's effort t o remove them from th e union . 

According t o a  stud y b y Linda Kaboolia n o f Harvard' s Kenned y School , 
the TF L prevaile d fo r a  numbe r o f reasons . First , th e membershi p viewe d 
the former leadershi p of the union as the best-qualified an d most experienced 
candidates—not surprisin g give n tha t fo r decade s member s o f th e 
Provenzano grou p wer e th e onl y unio n member s allowe d t o participat e i n 
union management . Second , man y member s oppose d th e trusteeshi p an d 
voted fo r continuit y wit h th e ol d regime . Third , th e TF L wa s bette r orga -
nized and ran a stronger campaign than the opposition . 

After th e election, Stie r turned ove r day-to-day management to the newly 
elected executiv e boar d an d assume d th e rol e o f monitorin g an y renewe d 
racketeering. Stie r immediatel y determine d tha t Danie l Sciarra , th e ne w 
executive board , an d muc h o f the ran k and file  regarded Michae l Sciarr a a s 
the d e fact o bos s o f th e union . Indeed , th e boar d propose d t o appoin t 
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Michael Sciarr a t o th e additiona l positio n o f truste e o f th e benefi t plans . 
After thirtee n months , th e governmen t agai n wen t t o court , charging  tha t 
Michael Sciarr a continue d t o dominate the unio n despit e the district court' s 
injunction, an d alleging that as long as he continued t o have any role in th e 
union's governance , b y virtue o f hi s charismati c personalit y an d tie s t o th e 
Genovese crime family, h e would continue to exercise a dominant role . Th e 
evidence persuade d Judg e Debevois e t o expan d th e preliminar y injunctio n 
and remov e Sciarr a fro m hi s positio n a s business agent . A  year later , afte r 
trial, Judge Debevoise issued a permanent injunction barrin g Michael Sciarr a 
from holdin g any office o r position o f trust within Loca l 56 0 or from endeav -
oring to influence it s affairs . 

As long a s Michae l Sciarr a hold s an y positio n withi n Loca l 56 0 he wil l b e abl e 
through his forceful personalit y and through his hold on a large and vocal segment of 
the membership to dominate and control the Local and its pension and welfare funds. 
If he assumes power within the Union, i t is highly likely that upon termination of the 
court-appointed trustee' s oversight the Genovese Family would reasser t control over 
Local 560 , undoing all the efforts o f the past eight years. .  .  .  The return of Sciarra 
and, through him, Genovese Family influence, woul d crush the movement towards 
membership control and bring back the dark night of the strong arm and repression.10 

Thus, fo r th e first time i n th e histor y o f the America n labo r movement , a n 
individual wa s enjoined fro m holdin g any union positio n base d upo n a  civil 
adjudication tha t his continued involvemen t with a Cosa Nostra family posed 
a danger to the welfare o f the union . 

In Septembe r 1991 , th e union' s executiv e boar d petitione d th e distric t 
court fo r a n earl y terminatio n o f th e trusteeshi p o n th e ground s tha t it s 
remedial objective s ha d bee n achieve d wit h th e issuanc e o f th e permanen t 
injunction agains t Michae l Sciarr a si x month s earlier . Th e governmen t 
argued tha t the board ha d acte d irresponsibl y i n allowing Michael Sciarr a t o 
usurp it s powers and i n seekin g to appoint Michae l Sciarr a a s a benefit-fun d 
trustee. Accordin g t o th e government , th e boar d remaine d a  too l o f th e 
Provenzano grou p an d th e unio n coul d no t becom e fre e an d independen t 
while the executive board officer s remaine d i n office . 

In Februar y 1992 , after hearin g evidence for ove r seven days , the govern-
ment an d th e executiv e boar d reache d a n interi m settlement . Unde r th e 
terms o f thi s agreement , Danie l Sciarr a resigne d fro m th e presidenc y bu t 
remained eligibl e t o serv e a s sho p steward . Th e offic e o f presiden t woul d 
remain vacan t unti l th e cour t calle d fo r a  ne w election . Two  othe r Sciarr a 
loyalists on the executive board resigned and Stie r named thei r replacements . 
The agreement als o provided fo r an executive board comprise d o f three TF L 
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members an d thre e independen t unio n members , wit h th e power s o f th e 
union presidenc y shared between one member from eac h group. 

This settlemen t ha d t o b e revise d whe n a  TFL boar d membe r resigned . 
Under th e ne w agreement , th e executiv e boar d wa s comprised o f four inde -
pendent member s and two TFL member s (the seventh positio n o n the board 
remained vacant) . A s o f Februar y 1994 , A l Vallee , a  unio n membe r no t 
connected with the Provenzano-Sciarra legacy , served as the president. Valle e 
had been the independent unio n membe r who previously shared presidentia l 
powers. E d Stie r remaine d th e truste e an d als o retaine d hi s positio n a s 
chairman o f the Welfar e an d Pensio n Funds . Whil e h e n o longe r exercise d 
day-to-day manageria l authority , h e continue d t o monito r th e unio n an d 
worked closely with the executive board to investigate any wrongdoing. 

Conclusion 
United States  v . Local  560  i s a  highl y visibl e tes t cas e o f th e powe r an d 
ability o f federa l prosecutor s an d court s t o wres t contro l o f captiv e labo r 
unions awa y fro m Cos a Nostr a an d retur n the m t o thei r ran k an d file.  Te n 
years of litigation an d court-ordere d chang e have not yet guaranteed tha t the 
future o f Local 56 0 will be free o f organized-crime racketeering . Whil e some 
opposition t o th e Provenzan o grou p ha s surfaced , i t i s stil l no t clea r tha t a 
solid majorit y o f unio n member s i s i n favo r o f oustin g th e racketee r ele -
ment.11 Th e cas e demonstrates jus t ho w difficul t i t i s to defeat Cos a Nostr a 
once i t i s well entrenche d i n a  labor unio n an d ha s enjoyed th e advantage s 
of incumbency for decades, doling out favors to friends and imposing punish-
ments on dissidents. 

United States  v . Local 560 provides a valuable case study for determinin g 
the usefulnes s o f civi l RIC O i n th e labo r racketeerin g context . Crimina l 
prosecutions alone, which only resul t in the replacement o f one racketeer by 
another, canno t liberate a captive labor local such a s Local 560 . Civil RIC O 
gives the court authority t o issue wide-ranging equitable relief , includin g th e 
appointment o f a  truste e wh o ca n remai n o n th e jo b a s lon g a s i t take s t o 
transform th e corrupted organization . Whethe r eve n thi s extraordinary relie f 
will succeed i n achieving its objectives remains to be determined. 

In his testimony before the Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investiga-
tions, E d Stie r stated tha t a  trusteeship such a s the one established fo r Loca l 
560 aim s t o effec t structura l an d cultura l chang e withi n th e union . Stie r 
testified tha t i n futur e trusteeships , succes s ma y hing e o n thre e improve -
ments: funding trusteeship s fro m othe r than unio n treasurie s i n orde r no t to 
make th e membershi p resentfu l o f governmen t intervention , providin g a 



40 I  Teamsters  Local 560 

stronger an d large r investigativ e team , and , perhap s mos t importantly , in -
cluding organize d labo r i n an y solutio n t o th e problem s o f corruptio n an d 
racketeering. 

Finally, United  States  v . Local  56 0 demonstrate s th e importan t role s 
individuals pla y i n th e wa r agains t Cos a Nostra . Assistan t Unite d State s 
Attorney Rober t Stewar t has been th e driving force behind th e government' s 
efforts fo r almos t a  decade . H e ha s authore d o r coauthore d almos t al l th e 
government briefs , coordinate d communicatio n wit h th e court-appointe d 
trustee, an d give n th e cas e top priority . Withou t thi s kind o f continuity an d 
commitment i t i s unlikel y tha t suc h a  sui t an d remedia l effor t coul d b e 
sustained. However , becaus e of the typical tenure among federal prosecutor s 
(who usuall y serv e thre e t o fou r years) , thi s typ e o f continuit y i s unusual . 
Moreover, Judg e Ackerman an d Judge Debevoise have been steadfas t i n their 
determination tha t th e rul e o f la w ultimatel y prevai l i n Loca l 560 . Othe r 
judges, wh o migh t hav e been mor e war y o f involving the court s so actively 
in "runnin g a  union, " migh t hav e move d mor e cautiousl y an d thereb y 
doomed whatever chances of success inhere in the civil racketeering strategy. 

The court-appointe d trustee , E d Stier , ha s borne the brunt o f the day-to-
day wor k o f reconstructin g th e unio n an d standin g u p t o countles s threat s 
and intimidations. Withou t his courage and steadfastness, hi s vision in devel-
oping a  remedia l strategy , an d hi s energy , rea l chang e woul d no t eve n b e a 
possibility. I t i s a major challeng e t o find committe d an d competen t trustee s 
who hav e th e mi x o f experienc e an d skill s necessar y t o attac k corruption , 
promote union democracy , an d administer labor unions. 

The court' s effort t o purge racketeering and to restore union democracy in 
Local 56 0 might be likened t o previous effort s i n court-ordere d institutiona l 
reform i n th e school-desegregatio n an d prison-condition s contexts . Ther e i s 
no reason t o believe that changing corrupt unions will be easier than chang -
ing segregated school s o r improvin g jai l an d priso n conditions . Th e union s 
are larg e an d thei r membership s an d activitie s decentralize d an d fa r flung. 
The leaders of unions like Local 56 0 are even more defiant o f the rule of law 
and judicia l authorit y tha n th e mos t recalcitran t school , menta l hospital , 
and priso n personne l wh o wer e foun d t o b e operatin g thei r organization s 
unconstitutionally. Labo r union s ar e no t publi c institutions . Thei r leaders , 
being elected by the membership, ar e under no external pressure to abide by 
and facilitat e cour t orders . Indeed , th e labo r movemen t ha s staunchl y op -
posed the ide a o f RICO unio n trusteeships . I n a  recent poll , th e majority o f 
Local 560' s member s unfavorabl y compare d th e governmen t t o th e forme r 
leadership. Unti l th e tim e come s whe n a  clear majorit y o f union member s 
desires and  can  freely  and openly  support  clean candidates , th e struggl e t o 
purge unions of mob influence wil l continue to be exceedingly difficult . 
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The Local  560  cas e als o require s on e t o as k whethe r ther e ar e an y limit s 
on th e scop e o f governmen t interventio n int o th e affair s o f a  unio n i n th e 
name o f corruption control . Th e truste e o f Loca l 56 0 was empowered t o run 
the union ; h e ha d complet e contro l ove r al l unio n functions , includin g 
negotiating collectiv e bargainin g agreements , takin g th e unio n member s ou t 
on strike , an d handlin g grievances . Ca n a  court-appointed trustee , n o matte r 
how wel l meaning , adequatel y represen t th e interest s o f the unio n members ? 
Even i f h e can , i s thi s consisten t wit h th e nation' s commitmen t t o a  fre e 
and autonomou s labo r movement ? I f court-appointed trusteeship s becom e a 
regular too l o f governmen t crime-contro l policy , ho w d o w e develo p mea -
sures o f "success " tha t requir e thei r terminations ? I f succes s canno t b e 
achieved, doe s the trusteeshi p remai n indefinitely ? 

Chronology of the  United State s v . Loca l 56 0 (IBT) 
Litigation: Partial  List of  Most Important 
Reported Decisions 

United States  v  Local 560,  58 1 F Sup p 27 9 (DNJ 1984 ) (Judge Ackerman's opinio n 
reviewing racketeerin g i n Loca l 56 0 an d grantin g th e governmen t wide-rangin g 
injunctive relief) . 

United States  v  Local 560y 780 F2d 26 7 (3d Cir 1985 ) (criticizing the logic in part of 
the distric t court' s lega l theor y o n th e RIC O counts , bu t affirming i n al l respect s 
the district court judgment and remedy) . 

United States  v  Local 560, 694 F Supp 115 8 (DNJ 1988 ) (Judge Debevoise's opinio n 
disqualifying Michae l Sciarr a from runnin g for the presidency of Local 560) . 

United States  v  Local 560,  86 5 F2 d 25 2 (3d Ci r 1988 ) (affirming Judg e Debevoise' s 
disqualification o f Sciarra). 

United States  v  Local 560, 73 1 F  Supp 120 6 (DNJ 1990 ) (approving payment o f fees 
from unio n treasur y to the court-appointed trustee , E d Stier) . 

United States  v  Local 560,  73 6 F Sup p 601 (DNJ 1990 ) (Judge Debevoise' s opinio n 
granting temporar y injunctio n agains t Michae l Sciarra' s holdin g an y positio n 
within Loca l 560) . 

United States  v  Local 560,  75 4 F  Sup p 39 5 (DNJ 1991 ) (Judge Debevoise' s opinio n 
granting permanent injunction agains t Michael Sciarra' s participation i n union af -
fairs). 

Notes 

1. Organize d crime' s labo r racketeerin g ha s bee n th e subjec t o f severa l majo r 
congressional investigation s and nationa l commissions . The mos t recent is President's 
Commission o n Organized Crime , The  Edge: Organized Crime, Business,  and Labor 
Unions (Washington, D.C. , 1986) . 
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2. Eve n durin g the pendency o f the civi l RICO trial , Loca l 560-relate d crimina l 
cases continue d t o b e prosecuted . Fo r example , i n Decembe r 198 3 presiden t Sa m 
Provenzano and long-tim e fund administrato r Marvi n Zal k were convicted i n a frau d 
involving the union's dental benefi t plan . 

In mid-198 4 a  la w firm  wa s retaine d b y th e ne w Loca l 56 0 president , Michae l 
Sciarra, t o provid e prepai d lega l service s despit e th e convictio n o f an attorne y fro m 
the firm fo r frau d an d failur e t o account fo r five hundred thousan d dollar s from th e 
1-84 (IBT) "direct payment" plan. 

3. United  States  v  Local 560, 58 1 F Supp 279, 29 5 (1984). 
4. Id . a t 311. 
5. Id . a t 326. 
6. Se e Linda Kaboolian , Teamster s Loca l 560 : A Case Study of a Court-Imposed 

RICO Trusteeship (hereinafte r Kaboolia n Report) , unpublishe d report , Joh n F . Ken -
nedy Schoo l o f Public Affairs , Harvar d University , Jun e 1992 , 19 . Mr . Jacobso n di d 
not leav e quietly . H e remaine d a n outspoke n criti c o f Judg e Ackerman' s approac h 
until his death i n 1989 . 

7. Als o a t thi s time , Judg e Ackerma n provide d fo r appointmen t o f a n associat e 
trustee with the authority "to promote and enhance the spirit of participation i n trade 
union affair s amon g th e entir e membershi p o f Loca l 56 0 an d t o provid e effectiv e 
trade union representatio n i n all areas of the Local's activities." 

8. Kaboolia n Report , 25 . 
9. United  States v  Local 560, 694 F Supp 1158 , 117 8 (DNJ 1988) . 
10. United  States  v  Local 560, 754 F Supp 395 , 407 (DNJ 1991) . 
11. Se e generally Kaboolian Repor t 



Appendix A 

United States  v . Local 560 ; Opinio n o f Judge 
Harold A. Ackerman 
(February 8 , 1984) 

HAROLD A. ACKERMAN , Distric t Judge. 
John L . Lewis , forme r presiden t o f the Congres s o f Industrial Organization s and 

the United Min e Workers once said that "Labor, lik e Israel, has many sorrows." 
A careful revie w o f the evidenc e i n this unprecedente d cas e reveal s the verity of 

that observation . 
It is not a pretty story. Beneath the relatively sterile language of a dry legal opinion 

is a  harrowin g tal e o f how evil men , sponsored b y and part o f organized crimina l 
elements, infiltrate d an d ultimately capture d Loca l 56 0 of the Internationa l Brother -
hood of Teamsters, one of the largest local unions in the largest union in this country. 

This grou p o f gangsters , aide d an d abette d b y thei r relative s an d sycophants , 
engaged i n a  multifacete d org y o f criminal activity . Fo r those tha t enthusiasticall y 
followed thes e arrogant mobster s in their morally debased activity there were materia l 
rewards. Fo r those who accepted th e side benefit s o f this perverte d interpretatio n of 
business unionism , see  J. Hutchinson , The  Imperfect Union,  p . 371 , (1970), ther e 
was presumably the rationalization o f "I've got mine, wh y shouldn't h e get his." For 
those wh o attempted t o fight,  th e messag e wa s clear. Murde r an d othe r form s of 
intimidation woul d be utilized t o insure silence . To get along, on e had to go along, 
or else. 

It is important to state what the evidence in this case does and does not show. 
It shows that a trade union whic h i s by origin and nature a voluntary organizatio n 

is susceptibl e t o th e maliciou s machination s o f others , a s Congres s perceive d i n 
enacting the Landrum-Griffin an d RICO Acts. 

It does not demonstrate tha t union s o r union official s i n general are riddled wit h 
racketeering o r corruption . Mos t authoritie s ar e convinced tha t th e overwhelmin g 
number of unions and union official s ar e "untroubled by the problem of corruption." 
Id. Crook s an d racketeers ar e anathema t o a significan t portio n o f the trade unio n 
movement. 

* *  * 

43 
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I. Th e Partie s 
Defendant Loca l 56 0 i s a n unincorporate d labo r associatio n whic h wa s originall y 
chartered o n Ma y 11 , 191 1 b y th e Internationa l Brotherhoo d o f Teamsters . A s of 
May, 1982 , i t ha d approximatel y 10,00 0 member s employe d b y approximatel y 42 5 
companies i n th e metropolita n Ne w Jersey-Ne w Yor k area . A s suc h i t i s a  labo r 
organization engage d i n an industr y affectin g interstat e commerc e withi n th e mean -
ing of Section 402 of Title 29 of the United State s Code. 

Under it s constitution, seve n electiv e officer s ar e charged wit h managin g th e day 
to day affairs o f Local 560 . These officers are : a president, a  vice-president; recordin g 
secretary; secretary-treasurer; an d thre e trustees . Thes e seve n officer s togethe r consti -
tute Loca l 560' s Executiv e Board . Thi s Executiv e Boar d i s generall y authorize d 
and empowere d t o conduc t an d manag e th e affair s o f th e organizatio n betwee n 
membership meetings . 

Defendant Truckin g Employee s o f North Jerse y Welfare Fund , Inc . an d it s Pen -
sion Account ar e located i n Local 560' s building i n Unio n City . The funds wer e and 
are toda y welfar e an d pensio n benefi t plan s withi n th e meanin g o f Sectio n 100 2 of 
Title 29 of the United State s Code. 

The Fund s are controlled b y a governing body which i s composed o f four trustee s 
appointed b y th e Executiv e Boar d o f Loca l 56 0 and fou r trustee s appointe d b y two 
employer association s whos e membe r companie s hav e collectiv e bargainin g 
agreements with Loca l 560 . The curren t employe e trustees includ e defendan t Salva -
tore Provenzano, defendan t Stanle y Jaronko, and defendant Josep h Sheridan. 10 

The Loca l 56 0 Officers an d Employee s Severanc e Pay Plan i s also operated ou t of 
Local 560' s offices . I t i s a n employe e benefi t pla n withi n th e meanin g o f Sectio n 
1002 of Title 2 9 of the Unite d State s Code i n tha t i t provides severance pa y benefit s 
to th e employee s o f Loca l 560 . Th e curren t trustee s o f th e Pla n ar e Salvator e 
Provenzano and Josephine Provenzano . 

A brief descriptio n o f eac h o f the remainin g nin e individua l defendant s ma y b e 
useful a t thi s point . First , Salvator e "Sam " Provenzan o ha s bee n th e Presiden t o f 
Local 56 0 sinc e approximatel y Jul y o f 1981 , whe n th e Executiv e Boar d appointe d 
him t o tha t position. 11 Prio r t o tha t tim e h e ha d bee n employe d b y Loca l 56 0 a s a 
Business Agent between approximatel y Novembe r 10 , 195 9 and Augus t 8 , 1961 ; as a 
Trustee betwee n approximatel y Augus t 8 , 196 1 an d Novembe r o f 1965 , an d agai n 
between approximately January and May of 1966 ; as President between approximatel y 
May o f 196 6 an d Novembe r o f 1975 ; and a s th e Vice-Presiden t betwee n approxi -
mately December of 1975 and July of 1981. 

Joseph Sherida n ha s bee n th e Vice-Presiden t o f Loca l 56 0 sinc e approximatel y 

10. Thoma s Reynolds , Sr . wa s a  truste e o f th e Fun d a s o f th e tim e thi s litigatio n com -
menced an d fo r a  perio d afte r th e tria l began , bu t ha s sinc e resigned . [Footnot e numberin g 
retained fro m original] . 

11. Thi s appointment wa s presumably mad e pursuant t o the Executiv e Board's authority to 
fill officer vacancie s which occur during the term o f an office . 
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July of 1981 , when th e Executiv e Board appointed hi m t o that position. Prio r to that 
time he had been a  Business Agent between approximatel y July 7, 197 2 and Septem -
ber 1 , 1978 , and thereafte r a  Trustee between approximatel y Septembe r 1 , 197 8 and 
July of 1981. 

Josephine Provenzano has been the Secretary-Treasurer o f Local 56 0 since approx-
imately June of 1978 , when the Executive Board appointed he r to that position. Prio r 
to tha t time , sh e ha d bee n employe d b y Loca l 56 0 a s a n offic e worke r fro m 197 6 
until the time of her appointment. Josephin e Provenzano is the daughter of defendant 
Anthony Provenzano and the niece of defendants Salvator e and Nunzio Provenzano . 

J. W . Dildin e has been the Recording Secretar y of Local 56 0 since approximately 
1968, when the Executive Board appointed hi m to that position. Prio r to that time he 
had bee n employe d b y Loca l 56 0 as a  Busines s Agen t betwee n approximatel y 196 3 
and 1968 . 

Thomas Reynolds , Sr . ha s bee n a  Trustee o f Loca l 56 0 since Februar y 9 , 1977 . 
Before tha t time , h e wa s employed b y Loca l 56 0 as a Busines s Agent between Sep -
tember 24 , 197 0 and Februar y 9 , 1977 . H e i s the brother-in-law o f defendant Nun -
zio Provenzano an d th e fathe r o f former Busines s Agent Andrew Reynolds . 

Michael Sciarr a ha s bee n a  Truste e o f Loca l 56 0 sinc e Ma y 28 , 1981 . Prio r t o 
that tim e h e wa s employed b y Loca l 56 0 as a Busines s Agen t betwee n Jul y 7 , 197 2 
and Septembe r 30 , 1976 , and agai n betwee n Decembe r o f 197 7 and Ma y 28 , 1981. 
Sciarra ha s been a  member o f Local 56 0 since approximately 1954 . 

Stanley Jaronko has been a  Trustee o f Local 56 0 since July 13 , 1981 . Before tha t 
time, h e serve d Loca l 56 0 i n th e capacit y o f Busines s Agen t betwee n Decembe r 
12, 197 7 an d Februar y 19 , 1981 , and a s a  Truste e betwee n Februar y 1 9 and Ma y 
28, 1981 . 

Stephen Andretta , wh o testified a t trial pursuan t t o a  grant o f use immunity , wa s 
a Busines s Agent for Loca l 56 0 between approximatel y Augus t o f 197 3 and Octobe r 
of 1976 . Hi s membership i n Loca l 56 0 dates from th e early 1950's , and h e held th e 
position o f shop steward fo r Loca l 56 0 at Eazor Expres s Co. betwee n th e mid-1960' s 
and Augus t o f 1973 , and agai n betwee n approximatel y Octobe r o f 197 6 and 1980 . 

The evidence at trial indicated that Stephen Andretta had known Salvatore Brigug-
lio for ove r twenty years as of the early 1970's . Eithe r through Salvator e Briguglio or 
his brother Thomas, Stephe n Andrett a met Armand Faugn o sometime during the lat-
ter 1960's . Aroun d 1971 , notwithstanding hi s positio n a s a shop steward wit h Loca l 
560, Stephe n Andrett a ha d a n ownershi p interes t i n Wes t En d Truckin g Company , 
which wa s controlled a t leas t in par t by Armand Faugno . Further , durin g the period 
between approximately 197 1 and late 1972 , Stephen Andretta and Salvatore Briguglio 
would no t infrequently visi t Armand Faugn o at the latter' s place of business in Jersey 
City, New Jersey. During the early 1970's , Stephen Andretta also knew Frederick Salva-
tore Furino, and was friendly with Ralph Pellechia and Ralph Michael Picardo. 

On Februar y 22 , 1979 , Stephe n Andrett a wa s indicte d i n th e Distric t o f Ne w 
Jersey, alon g wit h Anthon y Provenzano , Thoma s Andretta , Gabrie l Brigugli o an d 
Ralph Pelleccia , o n RIC O charge s (specificall y 1 8 U.S.C . $  1962(c ) and (d) ) stem-
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ming inter  alia  fro m th e deman d fo r an d receip t o f "labo r peace " payment s fro m 
trucking companie s whic h service d Seatrai n Line s between 196 9 and 197 7 (Seatrain 
Labor Peac e Payoffs) . O n Jul y 10 , 1979 , following hi s conviction, Stephe n Andrett a 
was sentence d t o a  ten-yea r ter m o f imprisonment , whic h h e i s currently serving . 
See United States  v . Provenzano,  620 F.2 d 985 , 98 9 (3d Cir . 1980). 

Gabriel Brigugli o wa s a  membe r an d office r o f Loca l 8 4 o f th e Internationa l 
Brotherhood o f Teamsters unti l Marc h 31 , 1980 . Loca l 8 4 merge d wit h Loca l 56 0 
in Ma y o f 1980. 12 

Gabriel Brigugli o wa s indicte d o n Februar y 22 , 1979 , i n th e Distric t o f Ne w 
Jersey, alon g wit h Anthon y Provenzan o an d others , i n th e Seatrai n Labo r Peac e 
Payoffs case . O n Ma y 25 , 1979 , h e was convicted o f those charges , an d o n Jul y 10 , 
1979 he was sentenced t o seven years of imprisonment. United  States  v . Provenzano, 
620 F.2 d 985 , 98 9 (3d Cir . 1980). 

As to the three individua l defendant s wh o have entered int o consent judgment s in 
this matter, Anthon y Provenzan o was employed by Local 56 0 as a Business Agent be-
tween approximately 194 8 and 1958 , as the President between approximately 195 8 and 
May o f 1966 , an d a s Secretary-Treasure r betwee n November  24 , 197 5 an d Jun e o f 
1978. 

Anthony "Ton y Pro " Provenzano's histor y i s a long one. O n November  15 , 196 0 
he wa s indicte d i n th e Distric t o f New Jersey o n on e coun t o f Hobbs Ac t Extortio n 
(18 U.S.C. $  1951) relating to the demand an d receip t of what i s commonly know n 
as "labor peace " payoffs fro m th e Dor n Transportatio n Compan y betwee n 195 2 and 
1959. O n Jul y 12 , 1963 , having been convicte d o n thi s count, Anthon y Provenzan o 
was sentence d t o a  ter m o f seve n years . Betwee n approximatel y Ma y o f 196 6 an d 
1970 he wa s incarcerated o n tha t sentence . 

During 1962 , Anthon y Provenzan o wa s indicte d agai n i n th e Distric t o f Ne w 
Jersey fo r Taft-Hartle y violation s (2 9 U.S.C . §  186 ) relating t o th e wrongfu l receip t 
of a  hous e fro m Easter n Freightway s Company . Thes e charge s were , however , dis -
missed durin g 1967 . 

In 1975 , Anthony Provenzan o was indicted i n the Southern Distric t of New York 
for conspirac y t o violate th e anti-kickback statut e (18 U.S.C . jj $ 371 , 1954 ) relatin g 
to a  proposed loa n fro m th e Utic a Teamster s Benefi t Fun d fo r th e renovatio n o f the 
Woodstock Hotel . Durin g Jul y o f 197 8 h e wa s convicte d o f thes e charge s an d 
sentenced t o a four-year ter m of imprisonment . 

On Jun e 23 , 1976 , Provenzan o wa s indicted i n Ulste r County , Ne w York , alon g 
with Salvatore Briguglio and Harold "K.O." Konigsberg, on charges of conspiracy and 
murder (pursuan t t o Ne w Yor k Pena l La w §  580-a an d §  1044 ) relating t o the 196 1 
death o f Anthon y Castellitto . O n Jun e 14 , 1978 , h e wa s convicte d o n th e murde r 
count, whil e th e conspirac y t o commi t murde r coun t wa s dismissed . O n Jun e 21 , 
1978, Anthony Provenzan o was sentenced t o life imprisonment . 

12. I t should be noted that Gabriel Briguglio has as of yet not become a member of Local 
560 by virtue of or following the merger of these two Locals. 
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Finally, o n Februar y 22 , 1979 , Anthon y Provenzan o wa s indicted i n th e Distric t 
of Ne w Jersey , alon g wit h Gabrie l Briguglio , Stephe n an d Thoma s Andrett a an d 
Ralph Pellecchia o n RICO charges in the Seatrain Labo r Peace Payoffs case . On Ma y 
25, 1977 , he was convicted o f these charges, and, o n July 10 , 1979 , he was sentenced 
to a  twenty-yea r ter m o f imprisonmen t an d remanded . H e remain s incarcerate d o n 
that conviction today . See  United States  v . Provenzano,  605 F.2d 8 5 (3d Cir. 1979). 

Nunzio Provenzano , th e brothe r o f Anthon y an d Salvator e Provenzano , wa s 
employed b y Local 56 0 as a Business Agent between approximatel y 196 3 and Augus t 
6, 1966 , as a clerk between approximatel y 196 9 and 1970 , again as a Business Agent 
between approximatel y 197 0 an d Januar y 25 , 1973 , a s Secretary-Treasure r betwee n 
approximately Januar y 25 , 197 3 and November  24 , 1975 , and a s President betwee n 
approximately November  24 , 197 5 and July of 1981. 

On Decembe r 26 , 1961 , Nunzio Provenzan o wa s indicted i n Ne w York County, 
New York , alon g wit h Salvator e Brigugli o an d a  thir d defendant , o n charge s o f 
conspiracy an d Attempte d Gran d Larcen y (Ne w Yor k Pena l La w $  580-a an d 1294 ) 
flowing fro m a  schem e t o deman d wha t migh t b e characterize d a s "labo r peace " 
payments fro m th e Brau n Compan y an d Huber t J . Braun , Jr . durin g Decembe r o f 
1961 (Braun Payof f Demand) . O n Januar y 29 , 1963 , he wa s convicted o f attempted 
grand larceny , and , o n Marc h 5 , 1963 , h e wa s sentence d t o a  ter m o f tw o t o fou r 
years. H e serve d thi s sentenc e i n Ne w Yor k betwee n approximatel y Augus t o f 196 6 
and Februar y of 1969. 

On Septembe r 4 , 1980 , Nunzi o Provenzan o wa s indicted i n th e Distric t o f New 
Jersey, alon g wit h Irvin g Cotler , Salvator e Provenzano , an d Michae l Sciarra , fo r 
RICO violation s (specificall y 1 8 U.S.C . §  1962(c ) an d (d) ) stemmin g fro m th e 
wrongful deman d an d receip t o f "labor peace " payments fro m fou r truckin g compa -
nies between 197 1 and 1980 , a  series of incidents ofte n referre d t o as the "City-Ma n 
Labor Peac e Payoffs. " On Ma y 5 , 1981 , Nunzio Provenzan o wa s convicted o n thes e 
charges, and , o n July 7, 1981 , he was sentenced t o a ten-year term o f imprisonment . 
He is presently incarcerated o n this conviction . 

Finally, Thoma s Andretta , th e brothe r o f Stephe n Andretta , ha s been a  membe r 
of Local 56 0 during several periods since 1955 , including from approximatel y Augus t 
30, 195 5 through November  30 , 1956 ; from Octobe r 29 , 195 9 through Januar y 15 , 
1960; from Januar y 10 , 196 2 throug h Novembe r 29 , 1965 ; and fro m Februar y 27 , 
1978 through July of 1979. 

On Marc h 31 , 1967 , Thoma s Andrett a wa s indicte d i n Middlese x County , Ne w 
Jersey, along with Armand Faugno , fo r having used threat s to injure i n the collection 
of a  loa n betwee n Marc h 1 3 an d 23 , 1967 , i n violatio n o f N.J.S.A . 2A:105- 4 
(Middlesex Count y Loansharkin g Transaction) . See  State v . Andretta,  6 1 N.J . 544 , 
545, 29 6 A.2 d 64 4 (1972) . O n Ma y 17 , 1973 , Thoma s Andrett a pleade d guilt y t o 
that charge . O n Jul y 10 , 1973 , he was sentenced t o serve from on e to two and a  half 
years in prison . 

During earl y 1968 , whil e fre e o n bai l i n th e Middlese x Count y Loansharkin g 
Transaction case , Thomas Andrett a wa s indicted i n th e Distric t o f New Jersey, alon g 
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with Frederic k Salvator e Furino , o n charge s o f Thef t fro m Interstat e Shipment , i n 
violation of 18 U.S.C. $  659, relating to the theft o f Skil Tools at the Canny Trucking 
terminal durin g Januar y o f 196 8 (Skil Tools theft) . Followin g hi s guilty ple a i n tha t 
case he was , o n o r about Apri l 17 , 1969 , sentenced t o a one-year ter m o f imprison -
ment and remanded . 

On Jul y 22 , 1971 , Thomas Andrett a wa s indicte d i n th e Distric t o f Ne w Jersey , 
along with Salvator e Briguglio , Armand  Faugn o an d thre e others , o n counterfeitin g 
charges unde r 1 8 U.S.C. $ $ 371 , 472 an d 47 4 (Counterfeiting case) . H e late r ple d 
guilty and, o n July 10 , 1973 , was sentenced to fourteen month s of imprisonment . 

During th e earl y 1970' s excep t whe n h e wa s incarcerated , Thoma s Andretta , 
along with Ralp h Picardo , wa s a regula r an d no t infrequen t visito r to the Loca l 56 0 
offices, wher e h e an d Ralp h Picard o wer e hoste d b y Salvator e Briguglio . Durin g 
roughly thi s period—between approximatel y 197 0 and lat e 1972 , Thomas Andrett a 
was apparently employed by Armand Faugno . 

On Februar y 22 , 1979 , Thoma s Andrett a wa s indicte d i n th e Distric t o f Ne w 
Jersey, alon g wit h Anthon y Provenzan o an d others , i n th e Seatrai n Labo r Peac e 
Payoffs case . Followin g hi s convictio n i n tha t matter , h e wa s sentenced o n Jul y 10 , 
1979 to a twenty-year term o f imprisonment. United  States  v . Provenzano,  620 F.2 d 
985, 989 (3d Cir. 1980). He is currently incarcerated on this sentence. 

The othe r individual s wh o figure  i n thi s matter , bu t wh o ar e not  name d a s 
defendants, includ e Rober t A. Luizzi , wh o has been a  Business Agent for Loca l 56 0 
since September o f 1978. 

* *  * 

Credibility Finding s 
Salvatore (Sam) Provenzano 

During the course of his direct testimony Salvator e Sinn o was asked about Salva -
tore Provenzano: 

Q. Di d you ever engage in any illegal activity with Salvatore Provenzano ? 
A. No . 
Q. Di d you ever talk to Salvatore Provenzano about illegal activity? 
A. No . 
Q. Mr . Sinno , did you ever receive any instruction from Anthony Provenzano about 

what you could o r should talk to Salvatore Provenzano about? 
A. Yeah , they—h e neve r wanted Salvator e Provenzano, t o get involved i n anythin g 

illegal. We discussed that many a times, yes. 
Q. Ca n yo u tel l u s specificall y wha t Mr . Anthon y Provenzano' s instruction s t o 

you were? 
A. H e wanted to keep him mor e or less clean. H e didn't want to get him involve d in 

any way or other in illega l activities. 
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Q. Di d h e giv e yo u th e reaso n that , a s yo u pu t it , h e wante d t o kee p Salvator e 
Provenzano clean? 

A. Well , I  imagine— 
MR. WEISSBARD : Objection . 
THE COURT : Don' t imagine . Objectio n sustained . Answe r the question . 
A. Yes . H e mentione d tha t quit e often , i n regard , h e didn' t wan t Salvator e 

Provenzano with any kind of a record or anything, but , fo r the Union' s sake. 

Sam Provenzan o presentl y i s a n Internationa l Vic e Presiden t o f th e Teamster s 
Union, Presiden t o f Joint Counci l #73 , an d Presiden t o f Local 560 . H e thus wield s 
great power on a  national a s well as local level. 

He i s intelligent , affabl e an d likeable . Ha d Sa m Provenzan o decide d t o shed th e 
company h e ha s kep t fo r a t leas t 2 5 years , ther e i s littl e doub t i n m y min d tha t h e 
would occupy a prominent place on labor' s scene today. 

The evidence is highly persuasive that from th e late 50' s on into the 70's, Anthony 
(Tony Pro) Provenzano ra n thi s union wit h an iro n han d whethe r i n or out of prison 
or office . Sa m an d Nunzi o playe d musica l chair s i n mindin g th e stor e fo r Ton y t o 
satisfy the technical requirement s of the law. 

At some poin t i n th e 70' s Sa m cam e int o hi s own . Wit h powe r a t hi s fingertips, 
he ran the show and still does. Did he stay "more or less" clean as Sinno had testified ? 
He did not . Mos t of the time he helped t o steer the ship the way Tony wanted i t and 
made sure the same crew remained o n board . 

I listened i n amazemen t t o him persistentl y proclai m hi s belief i n th e innocenc e 
of his brothers and othe r member s o f this crimina l syndicat e wit h respec t to various 
crimes that they had been convicted o f or pled guilty to. 

Was he naive , blin d o r deaf? No . Salvator e Provenzano , i n m y judgment , know s 
the truth and i s oblivious to it. 

Why? A revealing answer wa s provided o n Apri l 27 , 198 3 when h e was asked o n 
cross examination: 

Q. Today , give n al l tha t ha s happene d wit h Loca l 56 0 and al l th e indictment s an d 
this civi l complain t an d everythin g lik e that , i f anothe r indictmen t cam e dow n 
like th e Seatrai n indictment , woul d you , today , thin k i t a  pruden t thin g a s th e 
president o f the unio n t o mak e a n inquir y t o tr y an d find  ou t wha t th e circum -
stances wer e wit h respec t t o th e unio n contrac t an d th e allege d violatio n o f 
the contract? 

A. T o answer your question , yes . I f I would hav e done i t by reading the indictmen t 
is something else . I  think i t i s prudent . I  thought I  answered tha t before , tha t I 
started to check out what was going on. 

Q. Okay . 
A. I  never denied that . Wha t I  am sayin g i s I didn't bothe r t o read the indictments . 

But I was interested i n what took place. 
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Q. Al l right, sir . 
Now, I  think I  understand you . Yo u were interested then—you wer e interested 

at the time of Seatrain i n what was going on? 
A. Yes . Because my brother was involved, an d I  couldn't see how he was involved i n 

the situation. Tha t was my main concern . 
Q. You r brother? 
A. Yes , sir. 
Q. A s opposed to the union ? 
A. He  comes first. I will say that, (emphasi s supplied) 

He stil l does . Fo r Sa m Provenzan o inherite d a  legac y o f corruptio n whic h ha s 
been preserve d b y him t o this very day. I n speaking of Tony i n partial respons e to my 
question he said: "He would neve r do anything to hurt this membership. " 

The record i s otherwise. 

Josephine Provenzano 

Miss Provenzano , daughte r o f Anthon y Provenzano , ha s bee n th e Secretary -
Treasurer of Local 56 0 since 197 8 when she was elected to that office a t the age of 23 
to succeed her father who had been convicted o f murder. Sh e presently earns $64,000 
per year plus perks. 

She has an engaging personality and has no illusions as to why she was appointed. 
She said: 

A. .  .  .  what motivate d the m t o do that, I  have to say i t i s because—not onl y that I 
was a Provenzano, tha t counts for weight, bu t I  was Tony's daughter. See , there is 
only one Tony to them. Now , there was a big issue in this case as to what members 
believe, what they read i n papers or don't they believe, were they influenced b y it? 
I have to tell yo u the truth. I  dorit think  they would have cared if it was  true or 
not true.  Because they know what he did for them. T o them, i n their minds, wha t 
did the press ever do for me? What did the government ever do for me? They take 
my taxes and the y g o on abou t a  whole platform o f things the y disagree with th e 
government. Loo k wha t Ton y di d fo r me . H e gav e m e pensions , eyeglasses , h e 
gave me dental. I  have welfare payments . H e saw me on the street and took me in 
the bar. W e had a  drink. H e remembered m y wife's name . H e asked me how my 
daughter was , tha t ha d th e concussion i n th e hospital . Ther e i s something abou t 
my father , sir,—no t tha t yo u can' t ge t ma d a t him . Yo u ca n ge t ma d a t him . 
There i s something about the man . I  mean yo u can' t understand unti l you'r e like 
one o f the guys from 560 . They just— I woul d hav e never believed it , i f I wasn't 
in those meetings and I  didn't hea r thos e people go wild abou t him . I  mean the y 
liked him , bu t i t i s jus t incredibl e t o me . I t i s jus t absolutel y incredibl e t o me . 
And to them, I  am Tony's daughter. .  .  . 

There ca n be , t o th e member s o f Loca l 560 , n o highe r recommendatio n i n 
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this entir e world . An d i f I  don't believ e that , well , I  wouldn't b e her e righ t no w 
because I  wouldn't be a member of the executive board of Local 560 . 

It is— I don' t kno w ho w to pu t i t int o words . I t i s more lik e a n emotio n yo u 
feel. H e ha s an uncann y abilit y o f making people relax , an d makin g them kno w 
he cares. H e i s not a big deal. H e i s not very well-educated, book-wise . H e migh t 
have gone to the fourth o r fifth grade. Bu t you give him a  contract, h e can read it . 
I don't kno w how h e ca n rea d it . H e jus t can . Yo u pu t hi m i n a  roo m wit h 50 0 
truck drivers . Nobod y i n thi s worl d i s goin g t o tal k t o the m tha t the y wil l 
understand mor e tha n m y father . Yo u pu t hi m i n a  roo m wit h ladies , an d yo u 
never se e him . M y girlfriends—whe n m y father—there i s articles i n th e paper s 
or—they cry . They cal l me on the phone in tears. 'Ho w could they say that abou t 
your father? ' 

I tell them, 'Hey , listen , everyon e is entitled t o their opinion. Yo u know better. 
Don't cry. Don' t get upset. Don' t read it . That' s all. ' 

He just commands such love and respect , an d admiration and loyalty , no t only 
from hi s family , bu t fro m th e member s o f Loca l 560 . Anyon e tha t come s int o 
contact with him . I  don't know what else to say, your Honor. I  mean. I  don't even 
know i f I expressed mysel f properly or adequately, bu t that i s just how I  feel. I  am 
so proud t o be my father's daughter . [Emphasi s supplied]. 

Whatever experience Mis s Provenzano lacks , she makes up in candor. He r under -
standable love for her father transcend s everything else. 

Stanley Jaronko 

As pointe d ou t previously , Mr . Jaronk o ha s bee n a  membe r o f th e Loca l sinc e 
1949 and a  busines s agen t sinc e 1977 . H e wa s a shop steward fo r 1 7 years. H e i s a 
trustee of the unio n an d a  union representativ e t o the Trucking Employee s o f North 
Jersey Fund (TENJ) . 

He was asked: 

Q. Hav e you , t o th e bes t o f you r knowledge , eve r don e anythin g tha t a  membe r 
might think was designed t o intimidate hi m fro m comin g to meetings or speaking 
out his mind? 

A. Nope , neve r did it . Neve r will. 

He was asked: 

Q. Mr . Jaronko , i f Nunzio Provenzan o wa s able t o come back to the unio n tomor -
row, you a s one member o f the Executiv e Board woul d vot e him o n i n a  minute , 
I take it, right ? 

A. Yeah . I  believe there i s a law that he cannot come back. Bu t after h e does what is 
he supposed to do? Yes, I would. 

Q. An d i f that la w didn' t exis t an d h e coul d com e bac k tomorrow , yo u woul d tak e 
him back tomorrow, right ? 
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A. Yes . And I  believe the members will, too. 
Q. An d you would do the same thing with Anthony Provenzano , assumin g he could 

come back tomorrow, you would take him back tomorrow? 
A. Yes . 

With respec t t o th e Maisli n Termina l inciden t involvin g Loca l 56 0 membe r 
August Muller , describe d infra,  I  find Mr. Jaronko' s testimony unconvincin g and hi s 
version of the story unbelievable. 

A careful revie w o f Mr . Jaronko' s testimon y reveal s that , wit h on e exception , h e 
steadfastly refuse d t o accept a  verdict o f guilty involvin g the Provenzanos . Hi s ratio -
nale—they were convicted on the testimony of an informer . 

Overall, I  found Mr . Jaronk o to be fiercely loyal to the Provenzanos , completel y 
indifferent t o th e histor y o f crimina l activit y o n th e par t o f variou s individuals , 
including Anthon y an d Nunzi o Provenzano . Mr . Jaronko' s fealt y t o th e presen t 
regime is steadfast beyond question . Hi s testimony left much to be desired. 

* *  * 

Joseph Sheridan 

Shop Stewar d sinc e 1965 , Busines s Agen t sinc e 1972 , Truste e sinc e 1978 , an d 
Vice Presiden t o f 56 0 since 1981 , Mr. Sherida n presente d a  picture o f an individua l 
whose family ha d taken an active role in the union i n the pre-Provenzano period an d 
who had inherite d th e mantle . Th e othe r business agents , Mr . Sherida n appeare d t o 
me t o fee l ver y comfortabl e wit h hi s earning s o f $99 5 pe r week . H e i s no t a  boa t 
rocker. When asked about Nunzio Provenzano he said: 

A. Sir , i f you kno w Mr . Provenzano , Nunzi o Provenzan o lik e I  know him , an d I 
know him quite a few years, I  don't believe those allegations. 

I kno w hi m t o b e a n excellen t labo r leade r fo r hi s people , a  goo d famil y 
man an d a  ma n I  woul d b e ver y prou d t o recogniz e i n th e morning . I  don' t 
believe them. 

Q. An d i f he wer e eligibl e t o serv e tomorrow, you , a s trustee an d vice-presiden t o f 
the Local, would bring him back tomorrow? 

A. I  would be happy to. 

When asked about Anthony Provenzano he said: 

A. Sir , let me go back. I  only served a couple of years with Mr. Anthony Provenzano. 
I believe h e cam e bac k in '7 5 to '78 . When I  was on i n '72 , h e wasn' t there. S o 
my experienc e wit h Anthon y Provenzan o i s only a s a  membe r o f Loca l 56 0 fo r 
that period o f time. 

I know the me n idolize d hi m an d I  can se e why they idolize d him . H e was a 
man, h e come off the trucks the hard way. I  don't think that is something, I  think 
I said in my testimony, I  said the man has charisma tha t I wish I had. I  don't have 
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it. He is the type of man tha t can walk in a room with 5,00 0 hard hats could be in 
there, an d he is well-respected n o matter wher e h e goes, becaus e I  don't thin k 
there i s a man in our union, o r in the labor movement , tha t ca n say anything 
against him, abou t this man. 

He is a fighter.  He fights hard. An d I will giv e you an example lik e I respect 
him for. I think he just was incarcerated and he come out for a short time. I  think 
it was a two-week period. 

Q. Whic h incarceration ? 
A. I  think, I  don't know if it is on the murder one or on the Seatrain. H e was out for 

about—a coupl e o f weeks. An d with al l that wa s on that man' s mind , th e only 
conversation I  had wit h Mr . Provenzan o wa s hello, ho w are you, and nothing 
other than that . 

I am telling this Court today, your Honor , jus t the way I feel about this man. I 
am choke d u p about it , that i s the type of guy he was. H e would com e dow n to 
my desk. H e says 'Joey, how are you? I am sorry to hear your wife has cancer.' He 
says, 'Anythin g I  can do to help you , let me know' I  said, ' I appreciate it , Mr . 
Provenzano.' He says, 'Hang in there and do the best you can.' 

That's the type of guy he is, with all that is on his mind, somebod y else might 
not eve n thin k o f it, but he thought, jus t a  little somethin g lik e that , tha t littl e 
charisma lik e tha t ma n has . Tomorrow morning , i f you let him out of jail he 
would win the election overwhelmingly , wit h all the supervision yo u want to put 
up, h e would walk away with the election. 

THE COURT : I f you fel t he murdered Castellitto , woul d you still feel the same way? 
THE WITNESS : No , I  wouldn't . 
THE COURT : Why ? 
THE WITNESS : I f anyone take s anybody' s life , I  wouldn' t eve n car e i f it was a n 

animal, I  certainly wouldn't respec t him or want any part of him or have anything 
to do with him. 

THE COURT : I f you fel t that he extorted Dorn's , how would you feel abou t it? 
THE WITNESS : I  certainly wouldn' t respect him or admire him. 
THE COURT : Woul d you vote for him? 
THE WITNESS : Excus e me? 
THE COURT: Would you vote for him? 
THE WITNESS : I  would hav e to weigh tha t one , sir, because if he was convicted in 

my conscience, he did something wrong like that, no , I don't think I would. 
THE COURT : Wha t abou t Nunzio' s convictio n i n 1981 , if you fel t h e was truly 

guilty? 
THE WITNESS : I f I thought Mr . Nunzi o Provenzan o was truly guilty of the crime, I 

know I wouldn't. 
THE COURT : You know what? 
THE WITNESS : I  would no t vote for him . 
THE COURT : All right. 

Let m e ask you this. Mr . Dildine testifie d i n this courtroo m tha t he felt the 
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government ha s pursued a vendetta. I  think tha t was the word he used originally , 
and then I picked up on it, against Local 560. 

THE WITNESS : Yes. 
THE COURT : Yo u were in the Courtroom fo r that? 
THE WITNESS : Yes. 
THE COURT : Okay . Wha t doe s the government hav e t o do, in your mind , I  a m 

talking abou t Josep h Sheridan' s mind , i f I may use the shopworn phrase , t o pu t 
the bal l acros s the line, t o convince yo u that thes e individual s wh o Mr. Laufe r 
has bee n talkin g abou t th e last fe w minutes , wer e guilt y o f crimes. What—i n 
other words—let me back up a moment. 

Like all of us, I  am sure you read the newspapers, right ? 
THE WITNESS : Yes , sir. 
THE COURT : Ever y da y we pick u p the paper, w e read Jo e Smith convicte d of 

murder or robbery in some hamlet in the United States ; right? 
THE WITNESS : Yes , your Honor . 
THE COURT : Okay . You read that article, you don't know Joe Smith, I  am assuming 

that. Wha t reaction do you have, as a normal huma n being ? 
THE WITNESS : As reading that in the article, I certainly wouldn' t think much of the 

individual who caused that crime. 
THE COURT : D o you think the man has had a trial by a jury? 
THE WITNESS : Yes. 
THE COURT : Th e jur y ha s deliberated an d found hi m guilty beyon d a  reasonable 

doubt. 
THE WITNESS : Yes , sir. 
THE COURT : Woul d i t be fair to conclude that , o n the basis of what you read, the 

man i s guilty? He has been found guilty ; right? 
THE WITNESS : Yes , sir. 
THE COURT : Al l right. Now , all these case s tha t we have bee n talkin g about , wit h 

one exception , I  think, I  mentioned to Mr. Dildine the plea of guilty by Mr. Sa l 
Briguglio, the counterfeiting case , there were verdicts handed down. Why, in your 
mind, Josep h Sheridan' s mind , d o you have a different reaction ? 

THE WITNESS : Sir , I guess, like you say, if you read something in the paper and you 
don't kno w somebody , yo u are fas t t o judge an opinion, whic h w e all do. I d o 
it, myself. 

THE COURT : Right . 
THE WITNESS : Bu t I got to tell i t to you the way I know it , is that I  didn't reall y 

know the Provenzanos. I  just knew of them bein g our leaders in the union an d I 
personally, a s Joe Sheridan, neve r reall y got to know them unti l I  became par t of 
an organization . I  can speak for my family, m y wife, an d I am not just saying that 
in here , I  consider mysel f a  very devou t man , a religious man , and I  bring my 
family u p this way . I have bee n i n their compan y on not many occasions . The y 
are respecte d peopl e i n thei r community . The y hav e lovel y children . The y 
brought them u p to respect their parents , an d I don't se e this aura of, you know, 
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what we are talking about, becaus e I  am there almost—I a m there 1 1 years, and I 
can say that, a s God i s my judge, al l I  know these people to be is, no one ever, i n 
the 1 1 years I am up there, said to me, Joe Sheridan, thi s is the contract . 

Your Honor , I  believe yo u aske d m e th e questio n yesterday , whe n yo u said , 
can you , a s Joe Sheridan , mak e a  decision withou t pickin g th e phon e up ? I  can 
tell you companies where—and thi s is not done in all unions, where if I go out to 
negotiate a  contrac t an d i f I  know I  got the bes t tha t I  can, I  don't hav e to go to 
that phone, sir , and I  never have. 

I will jus t say, that's the contract. I f the people ratify it , I  will come in the nex t 
day and I  will tel l whoeve r th e presiden t i s at the time , sir , thi s i s our contract . I 
got this and I  got that. Tha t i s how I know these people, sir . 

THE COURT : I  understand that . Bu t as a devout individual , an d tha t i s the way you 
have described yourself . 

THE WITNESS : Yes , sir . 

THE COURT : Haven' t you ever questioned, tha t i s my—haven't you ever questioned 
in you r ow n mind , I  mean asid e from th e fac t tha t yo u ar e on th e payroll , an d I 
am being real up front wit h you — 

« *  * 

THEWiTNESS:Iam sittin g in the courtroom whe n Mr . Sinn o was here, and we are 
going through testimony , an d they are talking about the Mafia , an d the 'hi t men, ' 
and all these here people, your Honor, like I said, unless I am the most naive person 
in the world , I  am u p there 1 1 years, I  never me t tha t type of individual, I  never 
come in contact with them, an d I  don't know these people to be anything but good 
labor leaders, and responsible family men. I  will go to my grave saying that. 

They ar e goo d fighting  peopl e fo r th e peopl e the y represent . Sure , th e thing s 
that wen t o n i n th e past , yo u ca n sa y quarterbackin g o n a  Monda y morning , 
maybe this or that should hav e been done , bu t they try, even to the membership , 
Sam sai d t o me , h e says , w e hav e th e contrac t fo r th e Meadowlands , h e sai d 
Joey, d o yo u thin k yo u ca n ge t th e Brenda n Bryn e Arena , h e says , I  go t t o tr y 
something an d se e i f we can't ge t this membershi p out . 

* *  * 

THE WITNESS : You r Honor , yo u kno w the hardes t thin g I  think you hav e to fight, 
being a  membe r o f our Local , yo u ca n b e invite d ou t fo r a  party , ha s nothing t o 
do with unions or any union official s there , and i t has happened t o me quite a lot. 
The conversation , wha t d o you d o fo r a  living . Busines s agen t fo r 560 . Oh , boy . 
You know, i t is that type of stuff where , I  think the papers have done a  job, and i t 
is a  househol d word , a s fa r as , yo u know , I  thin k everyon e think s tha t thi s i s a 
racketeer local, and i t is a dominated local . 

Joseph Sheridan : decent, devout , blin d and bought . 
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II. 
[1,2] Continuously betwee n approximatel y th e late 1940' s and the present, Anthon y 
Provenzano ha s been th e leade r o f a  group o f individuals wh o have been associate d 
together i n fac t a s a n enterpris e withi n th e meanin g o f 1 8 U.S.C . §  1961(4) , th e 
activities o f which hav e affected interstat e commerce . Thi s group of individuals, th e 
"Provenzano Group, " ha s include d (i n additio n t o Anthon y Provenzano) , Nunzi o 
Provenzano, Stephe n Andretta , Thoma s Andretta , Gabrie l Briguglio , Andre w Reyn -
olds, Salvator e Brigugli o (unti l hi s murde r i n 1968) , Salvator e Sinn o (unti l hi s 
defection i n 1961) , Harol d "K.O. " Konigsber g (until  hi s incarceratio n i n th e mid -
1960's), Armand Faugn o (until hi s "disappearance" in 1972) , Ralph Michae l Picard o 
(until hi s defection i n 1975) , Ralph Pellecchi a (unti l hi s imprisonment) , an d Freder -
ick Salvatore Furino (until hi s murder in 1982) . The evidence adduced a t trial clearly 
demonstrates tha t thes e individual s conspire d t o and actuall y di d conduc t th e affair s 
of th e Provenzan o Grou p Enterpris e throug h a  patter n o f racketeerin g activity , i n 
violation o f 1 8 U.S.C . §  1962(c ) an d (d) , involvin g murde r an d labo r racketeerin g 
offenses o n a  protracted an d continuing basi s so as to enrich themselve s and perpetu -
ate the existence of their criminal association. The evidence further demonstrate s that 
the Provenzan o Grou p ha s maintaine d a n ongoin g organizationa l structur e i n th e 
form o f a hierarchy and protocol , whic h ha s controlled th e affairs an d conduct of the 
Provenzano Group's associates during approximately the past thirty-five years . Finally , 
it ha s als o bee n conclusivel y demonstrate d tha t th e Provenzan o Grou p ha s ha d 
an existenc e separat e an d apar t fro m simpl y th e patter n o f activit y i n whic h i t 
has engaged. 

A. 

Sometime during the late 1940's , Anthony Provenzan o invited Salvator e Sinno to 
become associate d wit h hi m an d other s i n a  crimina l organization , th e Provenzan o 
Group herein . Sinn o accepte d thi s invitation . Fro m thi s association , Sinn o learne d 
that th e Provenzan o Grou p operate d a s a n organize d racketeerin g enterprise , and , 
through it s leader, wa s a faction o f a  larger Ne w York-based crimina l organization . 
This large r organization wa s at that time headed b y Mike Miranda , wh o was serving 
as "acting boss " while it s former hea d Vit o Genoves e wa s imprisoned . Prio r theret o 
the organization was led by an individual whom Sinn o identified a s "Lucky" Luciano. 

The large r crimina l organizatio n o f which th e Provenzan o Grou p wa s a  factio n 
had a  settle d hierarchy . Th e position s whic h constitute d thi s hierarch y wer e "boss," 
"underboss," "captains," and "soldiers, " which wer e als o know n a s "made members " 
or "butto n men. " Anthon y Provenzan o wa s a  par t o f thi s hierarch y an d hel d th e 
position o f "mad e member " withi n th e large r organization . Other s wh o hel d suc h 
positions durin g Sinno' s perio d o f association wit h th e Provenzan o Grou p include d 
Toby D'Amico , Mik e Sabella , Ear l Collucio , Ton y Salerno , Pete r LaPlaca , Bobb y 
Manna, Gy p DeCarlo , Nic k Perry , Pet e DiFe o an d Jerr y Caten a (th e latte r fou r o f 
whom were "captains"). 
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The associate s o r members o f this larger crimina l organizatio n wer e then permit -
ted b y it s protoco l t o engag e i n a  variet y o f crimina l activities , suc h a s gambling , 
extortion, trafficking i n stolen property and the corruption o f law enforcement author -
ities to ignore criminal violations , but were prohibited from involvemen t in narcotics, 
prostitution an d counterfeiting . Pursuan t t o th e direction s o f Anthony Provenzano , 
and apparentl y i n accordanc e wit h th e large r organization' s protocol , Sinn o an d 
others participated i n th e commissio n o f a number o f criminal offense s indicativ e of 
the relationship between the larger criminal organization and the Provenzano Group. 
One such criminal offense wa s the operation by Sinno and others of an illega l mont e 
card gam e i n Ne w Yor k Cit y ove r a  perio d o f severa l years , fro m whic h th e large r 
organization receive d a  "tribute " paymen t o f thre e percen t fo r havin g allowe d th e 
game t o operate . A n illega l mont e car d gam e wa s also operated i n Hoboke n ove r a 
period o f time which involve d th e payment o f money to law enforcement authoritie s 
for "protection." Jersey City was the situs for the operation o f an illega l dice game over 
a severa l yea r perio d prio r t o 1961 , another crimina l offense . Anthon y Provenzan o 
provided Sinn o with $5,00 0 i n operating capital for the Jersey City game in exchange 
for a ten percent share in the profits. 1S 

In September of 1961 , Salvatore Sinno disassociated himsel f from th e Provenzan o 
Group. A t that time, Nunzi o Provenzan o was an associat e of the Provenzano Grou p 
and, lik e Sinno , ha d bee n propose d fo r ful l membershi p i n th e large r crimina l 
organization. Nunzi o Provenzano' s involvemen t i n both organization s i s highlighted 
by his presence at the "drop" where, by prearrangement, Sinn o "gave up" his truck to 
be "hijacked. " 

Following the period described by Salvatore Sinno, the Provenzano Group contin-
ued to exist as a racketeering enterprise, notwithstandin g the incarceration o f Anthony 
Provenzano between approximately the mid-1960's and 197 0 and the incarceration of 
Nunzio Provenzan o (a s well as Salvatore Briguglio) between approximatel y 196 6 and 
1969. First , I  find that between approximatel y 196 9 and 1977 , Anthony Provenzano , 
Gabriel Briguglio , Stephe n Andrett a an d Thoma s Andrett a unlawfull y conspire d t o 
and did conduct the affairs o f an enterprise (the Provenzano Group) through a  pattern 
of racketeerin g activity , consistin g o f multipl e violation s o f the Taft-Hartle y Act , 2 9 
U.S.C. $  186 , and involvin g both Loca l 56 0 and severa l carrier s for Seatrai n Lines . 
Further, betwee n approximatel y 197 1 an d 1980 , Nunzi o Provenzan o an d other s 
conspired t o and di d conduc t th e affair s o f an enterpris e throug h a  pattern o f racke-
teering activity , agai n consistin g o f multipl e violation s o f th e Taft-Hartle y Act , an d 
involving four interstat e carriers. 

* *  * 

15. Anthon y Provenzan o also caused an employer to place Salvatore Sinno' s name on its 
payroll s o that Sinno' s ta x records would reflec t a  legitimate sourc e for hi s income from th e 
various gambling activities seemingly undertaken at Anthony Provenzano's behest. This provides 
another example of an act consistent with and reinforcing of the organizational structure of the 
enterprise and which promoted both organizational and individual well-being. 
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B. 

During th e pas t thirt y years , Anthon y Provenzan o an d othe r member s o f th e 
Provenzano Grou p hav e engage d i n a  patter n o f crimina l an d othe r imprope r acts , 
the object o f which was to gain control  over and to exploit the Local 56 0 Enterprise. 

First, betwee n approximatel y Januar y 1 , 195 2 an d Jun e 1 , 1959 , withi n th e 
District of New Jersey and elsewhere, Anthony Provenzano, whil e an official o f Local 
560, extorte d "labo r peace " payoff s fro m Walte r Dor n an d hi s company , Dor n 
Transport, Inc . o f Rensselaer , Ne w York . Durin g thi s period , Anthon y Provenzan o 
held th e position s o f Business Agent , an d later , o f President , an d obtaine d a  total o f 
$17,100 from Dorn. 18 

Next, a t th e tim e o f hi s nominatio n an d appointmen t a s a  Busines s Agen t fo r 
Local 560 , Anthon y Provenzan o directe d Salvator e Sinn o an d Ear l Colucci o t o 
attend th e membershi p meetin g i n questio n i n orde r t o intimidat e an d i f necessar y 
discipline any "rambunctious people"—meaning thos e members who might presume 
to voice opposition t o his appointment. Simila r tactic s were employed b y the Grou p 
in preparation fo r Loca l 560' s January 10 , 196 0 election, whic h wa s hotly contested . 
As one such step , Anthony Provenzan o directed Nunzi o Provenzano , Thomas Reyn -
olds an d Rober t Luizz i t o "sig n up " ineligibl e member s i n orde r t o increas e th e 
Group's voting strength. Salvator e Sinno, at Anthony Provenzano's behest, persuade d 
some six of his friends to vote for the Provenzano slate in that election, althoug h each 
of them was , i n fact , ineligibl e t o so vote. Salvator e Sinn o himsel f wa s able t o (and 
did) vot e i n th e 196 0 electio n becaus e Anthon y Provenzan o ha d brough t Sinno' s 
membership "book" up to date by falsifying entrie s to show that Sinno was a member 
of Local 56 0 in good standing. 

Third, i n orde r t o enhanc e hi s ow n powe r an d tha t o f th e Provenzan o Grou p 
within Loca l 560 , an d apparentl y t o punis h wha t h e regarde d a s a  breac h o f th e 
Group's protocol , Anthon y Provenzan o recruite d Harol d "K.O. " Konigsber g an d 
Salvatore Brigugli o t o kil l Anthon y Castellitto—whic h they , togethe r wit h Salvator e 
Sinno an d others , di d o n Jun e 6 , 1961 . Prio r t o hi s "disappearance, " Anthon y 
Castellitto wa s on e o f th e mos t popula r member s o f Loca l 560 . H e ha d been , fo r 
example, the only candidate to run unoppose d i n Local 560' s 196 0 election. Anthon y 
Provenzano considere d Anthon y Castellitt o t o be a  serious threa t to hi s control ove r 
Local 56 0 an d fel t tha t Anthon y Castellitt o migh t b e assistin g th e oppositio n part y 
within Loca l 560 . 

To carry ou t Anthony Provenzano' s directive , Harol d "K.O. " Konigsberg enliste d 
Salvatore Sinn o an d other s sometim e shortl y befor e Jun e 6 , 196 1 to assis t him wit h 
the planne d murder . O n Jun e 6 , 1961 , i n Ulste r County , Ne w York , Konigsberg , 
Sinno, Salvator e Brigugli o an d other s kille d Anthon y Castellitt o b y striking hi m o n 
the hea d wit h a  blun t objec t an d stranglin g hi m abou t th e nec k wit h a  cord . 

18. Thi s pattern was to some extent repeated when, between November 30 and December 
12, 1961 , Salvatore Briguglio and Nunzio Provenzano attempted to extort labor peace payments 
(attempted grand larceny) in the Braun Payoff Demand case, discussed infra. 
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Thereafter, Anthon y Provenzan o rewarde d Konigsber g fo r hi s par t i n th e Castellitt o 
murder by paying him th e sum o f $15,000. Anthon y Provenzan o rewarded Salvator e 
Briguglio fo r hi s par t i n th e Castellitt o murde r b y makin g hi m a  Busines s Agen t i n 
Local 560 . 

On o r abou t Decembe r 20 , 1962 , approximatel y on e mont h afte r Anthon y 
Provenzano ha d bee n indicte d i n th e Easter n Freightway s case , th e membershi p o f 
Local 56 0 voted , upo n th e motio n o f Michae l Sciarra , t o increas e th e salar y o f it s 
President, Anthon y Provenzano , fro m approximatel y $20,80 0 t o approximatel y 
$45,800 annually . Sciarr a testifie d tha t hi s motivation i n makin g the motion wa s the 
common knowledg e withi n th e Loca l tha t Anthon y Provenzan o face d substantia l 
legal expense s i n connectio n wit h hi s defens e o n th e Dor n charges . Hi s salar y wa s 
again increase d o n Februar y 14 , 1963 , an d upo n th e motio n o f Stephe n Andretta , 
from approximatel y $45,80 0 t o approximatel y $95,80 0 annually . Andrett a testified , 
in turn , tha t h e wa s prompte d t o mak e th e motio n becaus e o f th e feelin g tha t 
Anthony Provenzan o shoul d mak e a s much mone y a s Jimmy Hoffa , wh o was at the 
time President of the International Union . Hoff a disappeare d o n July 30 , 1975 . 

On o r abou t Marc h 13 , 1963 , Anthony Provenzan o announce d t o the attendee s 
of a  membershi p meetin g o f Loca l 56 0 tha t h e wa s no t takin g thes e tw o salar y 
increases an d woul d no t d o anythin g t o impoveris h th e Local . Thi s wa s agai n 
confirmed a t the October 13 , 1963 membership meeting, whe n Anthony Provenzan o 
told thos e attending that , "a s of today, I  have no t take n eithe r o f the salar y increase s 
granted me. " On o r about July 21 , 1966 , th e membershi p o f Local 56 0 voted, upo n 
the motion o f Michael Sciarra , a s seconded by Stephen Andretta , t o reduce the salary 
for th e offic e o f th e Presiden t fro m $95,00 0 t o $20,800 , t o b e effectiv e wit h th e 
appointment of Salvatore Provenzano as President on Ma y 6, 1966 . 

On o r abou t Januar y 30 , 1969 , Anthon y Provenzan o (the n i n prison ) cause d hi s 
attorney, Josep h F . Walsh , t o mai l a  lette r t o Loca l 56 0 requestin g tha t i t issu e a 
check to Anthony Provenzano in the amount of $25,000 (less appropriate deductions ) 
"on accoun t o f bac k salar y du e an d owin g t o him. " Thi s lette r wa s subsequentl y 
received b y the Loca l 56 0 Executive Board . A s a result of this request, th e Loca l 56 0 
Executive Board paid to Anthony Provenzano the sum o f $25,000 annually each year 
between 196 9 and 1976 . Thes e payment s togethe r represente d al l bu t approximatel y 
$48,785 o f the amount accumulate d throug h hi s salary increases . Durin g the perio d 
encompassed b y these payments , Anthon y Provenzan o di d no t hol d offic e i n Loca l 
560, being in fact disqualified unti l November of 1975 from holdin g any union office . 

Local 56 0 receive d n o benefi t i n exchang e fo r th e paymen t o f thes e fund s t o 
Anthony Provenzano . Contrar y t o hi s representatio n t o th e membershi p o n Marc h 
13, 1963 , the payment s (totallin g $223,785 ) di d i n fac t "impoverish " the Local . Hi s 
ability t o exac t thes e payment s fro m Loca l 56 0 provide s furthe r evidenc e o f th e 
strength an d dominanc e o f the Provenzan o Grou p an d it s exploitation o f Local 56 0 
for it s own purposes . 

Next, o n Ma y 24 , 1963 , i n Hudso n County , Ne w Jersey , Walte r Glockne r wa s 
murdered. Prio r to hi s death, Glockne r ha d bee n a  vocal criti c and opponen t o f the 
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Provenzano brothers . I n particular , o n th e evenin g befor e hi s death , durin g th e 
course of a Local 56 0 meeting chaired by Salvatore Provenzano, Glockner had voiced 
opposition t o th e appointmen t o f J . W . Dildin e a s a  Busines s Agent . Afte r th e 
meeting, Glockne r attempte d t o approac h Salvator e Provenzan o i n orde r t o furthe r 
vent hi s feeling s o n th e matter . A s h e di d so , h e becam e embroile d i n a  heate d 
exchange an d shovin g matc h wit h Thoma s Reynolds . Ralp h Pellechia , Loca l 560' s 
Sergeant-at-Arms a t th e time , restraine d Glockne r an d forceabl y evicte d hi m fro m 
the premises . Th e followin g morning , Glockne r wa s sho t t o deat h i n fron t o f hi s 
residence in Hoboken. 

* *  * 

During the mid-1960's , Anthon y Provenzan o consolidate d hi s power and control 
over Loca l 560 . Shortl y afte r hi s electio n victor y i n 1965 , he , Nunzi o Provenzan o 
and Salvator e Briguglio commenced servin g prison terms resulting from thei r respec-
tive convictions in the Dorn Extortion and Braun Payoff Demand cases. Nevertheless, 
the Provenzan o Grou p remaine d strong , an d ne w associate s cam e t o prominence . 
The ne w associates—Stephe n Andrerta , Thoma s Andretta , Armand  Faugno , Ralp h 
Michael Picard o an d Frederic k Salvator e Furino—wer e "tie d in " t o th e Grou p 
principally throug h Salvator e Briguglio . Andre w Reynold s wa s also late r brough t i n 
through Nunzi o Provenzano . Certai n o f these ne w associate s joine d force s wit h th e 
other member s o f the Provenzan o Grou p i n continuing t o further acquire , maintai n 
and exploi t control ove r Local 560 . 

Between approximatel y Decembe r o f 196 9 an d Jun e o f 1977 , Anthon y 
Provenzano, Stephe n Andrerta , Thoma s Andrett a an d Gabrie l Briguglio , togethe r 
with other s unlawfull y accepte d "labo r peace " payments fro m certai n employers — 
namely, Interocea n Services , Inc . (betwee n approximatel y mid-196 9 an d mid-1974 ) 
and Di-Jub Leasing, Inc . (between late 197 4 and early 1977) . 

Between approximately early 197 4 and late 1977 , Anthony Provenzano, aided and 
abetted b y th e othe r associate s o f th e Provenzan o Grou p (an d i n particula r b y 
Salvatore Brigugli o an d Stephe n Andretta) , di d receiv e an d agre e t o receiv e certai n 
fees, kickbacks , gift s an d thing s of value because o f and wit h inten t to be influence d 
with respec t t o hi s action s an d decision s relatin g t o certai n question s an d matter s 
concerning th e Loca l 56 0 Benefi t Pla n (th e Truckin g Employee s o f Passai c an d 
Bergen Countie s Welfar e an d Pensio n Fund) , i n violation o f Sections 195 4 and 2  of 
Title 1 8 of the United State s Code. 

* *  * 

Further, I  find  tha t th e circumstantia l evidenc e i s stron g an d convincin g tha t 
Anthony Provenzano, aide d and abetted by Salvatore Briguglio and Stephen Andrert a 
(whose involvemen t i s clear despit e the government' s specifi c failur e t o includ e hi m 
as to this incident in the complaint) engineered the entire Romano loan/kickback deal 
for thei r gai n an d a t th e membership' s expense . Salvator e Provenzan o testifie d tha t 
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he remonstrate d wit h hi s brothe r whe n h e (Salvatore ) learne d o f th e first  propert y 
sale. While his instincts were correct, hi s fervor to protect the union membershi p was 
subordinated t o his brother's will . Hi s brother came first. 

Next, continuousl y betwee n approximatel y Januar y o f 197 1 an d Jul y o f 1980 , 
Nunzio Provenzano , Irvin g Cotler and others , unlawfull y receive d an d accepte d an d 
agreed t o receiv e an d accep t certai n payments , loan s an d deliverie s o f mone y an d 
other things of value from certai n employers—namely, Pacifi c Intermountain Expres s 
Company (betwee n approximatel y Januar y o f 197 1 an d Jul y o f 1980) , Maso n an d 
Dixon Lines , Inc . (betwee n approximatel y November  o f 197 6 an d Jun e o f 1979) , 
T.I.M.E.-DC, Inc . (betwee n approximatel y Novembe r o f 197 5 an d Apri l o f 1979 ) 
and Helm s Expres s (between approximatel y Januar y o f 197 7 and Apri l o f 1979) , th e 
employees o f which companie s wer e employe d i n a n industr y affectin g commerce . 
Specifically, i t wa s foun d tha t (a ) Nunzi o Provenzan o an d other s wer e officer s an d 
employees of Local 560 ; (b) Local 56 0 did represen t and would admi t to membershi p 
certain employee s o f the sai d employe r companies , an d (c ) the sai d payments , loan s 
and deliverie s were made with the inten t on the part of the said employer companie s 
to secure "labor peace" from Loca l 56 0 by influencing th e officer s an d employee s of 
Local 56 0 with respec t t o thei r officia l action s an d duties—al l o f which violate d 2 9 
U.S.C. J  186(b ) and 18U.S.C . $2 . 

The powe r o f th e Provenzan o Grou p an d it s abilit y t o exploi t Loca l 56 0 fo r it s 
own purpose s wa s again apparen t i n 1979 . O n o r about Novembe r 9t h o f that year , 
the membershi p o f Local 56 0 voted t o award Anthon y Provenzan o a n annua l "pen -
sion" which would equal one-hal f of his salary at the time of his retirement. Thi s step 
had bee n necessitated , i n th e vie w o f the Group , b y the fac t tha t a  break i n servic e 
(resulting fro m hi s imprisonmen t betwee n 196 6 an d 197 0 i n th e Dorn  case ) ha d 
disqualified hi m from receivin g a pension from th e Teamsters. 

Thereafter, o n Jun e 21 , 1978 , Anthony Provenzan o wa s sentenced t o life impris -
onment fo r th e murde r o f Anthony Castellirto . A s a result , h e was forced t o "retire" 
from Loca l 560 . On Novembe r 21 , 1978 , Nunzio Provenzan o told the attendees at a 
Local 56 0 membership meetin g that the Executive Board ha d acte d on th e member -
ship's vote to grant Anthony Provenzan o a  pension, an d h e thanked th e membershi p 
for havin g supporte d th e motion . Pursuan t t o thi s action , Anthon y Provenzan o 
received th e followin g amount s a s hi s "pension " fro m Loca l 560 : 1979—$27,612 ; 
1980—$27,612; 1981—$28,143. 

In hi s testimony , Salvator e Provenzan o state d tha t h e ha d "n o idea " ho w Loca l 
560 woul d benefi t fro m th e paymen t o f thi s one-hal f pension . Truste e Michae l 
Sciarra also knows of no benefit t o Local 56 0 which flows from thes e payments othe r 
than t o keep "the member s happy—the y vote d fo r it. " The abilit y of the Provenzan o 
Group to exact these payments i s clearly demonstrative o f its strength, influenc e an d 
continuing abilit y t o contro l an d exploi t Loca l 56 0 fo r it s ow n purposes—a t th e 
expense o f the membership . Th e audacit y o f these payment s i n the face o f Anthony 
Provenzano's convictio n (an d sentenc e o f lif e imprisonment ) fo r murde r i s re -
markable. 

As par t o f th e effor t t o gai n contro l ove r an d exploi t Loca l 560 , continuousl y 
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throughout th e perio d betwee n Jun e of 196 1 an d the present , Anthon y Provenzan o 
and other associates of the Provenzano Group—aided and abetted by various past and 
present members of the Local 56 0 Executive Board—systematically use d extortion in 
order t o induc e a  significan t portio n o r segmen t o f Loca l 560' s membershi p t o 
surrender certain property . Specifically , thi s extortion too k the form o f the wrongfu l 
use of actual and threatened force, violenc e and fear of physical and economic harm, 
particularly th e los s of the ability to earn a  livelihood, an d i t was used to induce or 
coerce the membership into surrendering their federally protected rights to participate 
in the affairs of Local 56 0 in a democratic manner . Thi s extortion affected interstat e 
commerce and the movement of articles and commodities in such commerce. 

The extortio n o f thes e intangibl e propert y right s occurre d throug h a  serie s o f 
actions committed b y the Provenzan o Group . Th e first of these wa s the "disappear-
ance" of Anthony Castellitto in 1961. 

The extortionate effec t o f the Castellitto "disappearance" was further amplified or 
highlighted by the ambush slaying of Walter Glockner in 1963 . Again the pattern was 
repeated: As previously noted, Glockne r had, on the night before his murder, spoken 
out a t a  Loca l 56 0 membershi p meetin g i n oppositio n t o a  Provenzan o Grou p 
proposal—even mor e critically , a  proposal t o mov e a  Provenzan o Grou p associat e 
into the position of Business Agent. Almos t immediately after the murder took place, 
Thomas Reynolds , Sr . wa s arrested an d hel d fo r a  number o f weeks as a "material 
witness." This prompted widespread speculatio n amon g the membership that Glock-
ner's murder had been th e direct resul t of , an d was in retaliation for , hi s outspoken 
criticism at the meeting. 

One ca n hav e a  grav e suspicio n tha t Glockner' s deat h wa s cause d b y th e 
Provenzano Group. As I have previously found, however , the record will not support 
a finding to that effect, eve n by a preponderance of the evidence. Bu t it is clear from 
a revie w o f th e entir e recor d tha t Glockner' s violen t demis e ha s bee n use d b y the 
Provenzano Grou p eithe r directl y o r subtl y a s a  mechanis m o f intimidation . Fo r 
example, i t i s apparent from th e testimon y o f August Mulle r tha t two decades later 
the members o f the Loca l stil l hav e a perception that the Group annihilated Glock -
ner. Eve n i f they did not , thi s perception ha s been exploite d b y the defendants a s a 
means of instilling fear and stifling opposition. 

The degre e t o which perception s linge r that the Glockne r murde r was an act of 
retaliation b y the Provenzan o Grou p and the dramatic effec t tha t such a  perception 
can hav e a t th e presen t tim e i s illustrate d b y th e Augus t Mulle r incident , whic h 
developed during the course of the trial in this matter. 

* *  * 

The perceptio n whic h initiall y flowed from th e Castellitt o "disappearance " and 
the Glockne r murde r graduall y develope d int o a  pervasiv e climat e o f intimidatio n 
within Loca l 560 . A n important factor i n the process of generating and maintainin g 
this climate of intimidation ha s been the systematic appointment and reappointment 
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of associate s o f th e Provenzan o Group , particularl y o f thos e associate s wh o ha d 
serious an d extende d crimina l record s o r whos e propensit y fo r violenc e o r crimina l 
activity wa s otherwis e know n t o thos e wh o wer e principall y responsibl e fo r th e 
particular appointment as well as the membership . 

* *  « 

This pattern o f appointments and reappointments following convictions and incar -
ceration, a s well as the related pattern o f criminal offenses committe d whil e in office , 
is, accordin g to testimony I  deem credible , uniqu e t o Local 56 0 and unparallele d i n 
the history of United State s labor organizations. I  find it to be a shameful horro r story, 
the effec t o f whic h ha s bee n th e extortio n o f th e membership' s LMRDA-create d 
property right s t o unio n democracy , an d th e creation , a s a  result , o f a  Provenzan o 
Group "fiefdom" withi n Loca l 560 . 

Another factor i n the process of generating and maintaining the climate of intimi-
dation withi n th e membershi p o f Loca l 56 0 ha s bee n th e conspicuou s an d studie d 
indifference o f th e Provenzan o Group , an d particularl y o f it s associate s wh o hel d 
officer position s in Local 560 , to the frequent presenc e of known or reputed criminal s 
and "undesirables " aroun d th e Local' s offices . Th e fac t o f thi s presenc e tende d t o 
foster a  perceptio n amon g th e membershi p tha t th e incumben t officer s an d th e 
Provenzano Grou p ha d availabl e t o them th e suppor t an d resource s o f persons wh o 
were no t advers e t o th e us e o f crimina l method s i n attainin g thei r desire d results . 
These visitors included : 

(a) Thoma s Andretta , th e brothe r o f Business Agen t Stephe n Andretta , wh o ha d 
been convicted o f the use of extortionate means in the collection of debt in Middlese x 
County i n 196 7 (indicted togethe r with Armand Faugno) , the theft o f Skil Tools fro m 
the Cann y termina l durin g 196 8 (convicte d togethe r wit h Frederic k Salvator e Fur -
ino), an d counterfeitin g durin g 197 1 (convicte d alon g wit h Salvator e Briguglio , 
Armand Faugn o and three others). In addition, Thomas Andretta had been convicte d 
in o r around 196 0 for thef t fro m Interstat e Shipment . Notwithstandin g these convic-
tions, Thoma s Andrett a wa s a frequen t visito r a t th e offic e o f Loca l 56 0 during th e 
late 1960' s and early 1970's . 

(b) Arman d Faugn o ha d bee n convicte d i n 196 7 wit h Thoma s Andrett a i n th e 
Middlesex Count y Loansharkin g Transactio n an d wit h variou s othe r i n th e 197 1 
Counterfeiting case . I n spit e o f thi s record , Faugn o sometime s visite d th e office s o f 
Local 56 0 before hi s disappearance i n December o f 1972 . While there is no evidence 
introduced a t trial that Faugno was known t o any rank and file member o f Local 56 0 
who migh t hav e bee n visitin g the offic e a t th e sam e time , wor d o f his relationship s 
with Provenzan o Grou p associate s mos t certainl y sprea d amon g certai n segment s o f 
the membershi p followin g hi s disappearanc e whil e unde r indictmen t togethe r wit h 
Thomas Andretta and Salvator e Briguglio. 

* *  * 
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The pervasivenes s o f the climate o f intimidation withi n Loca l 56 0 and th e inten -
sity of its impact upon the membership's ability or willingness to exercise their "union 
democracy" right s unde r th e LMRD A ar e evince d b y th e complet e absenc e o f 
publicly voice d oppositio n to , disagreemen t wit h o r critica l discussio n o f th e (non -
contract related ) policies , proposals , decision s and action s o f the Provenzan o Grou p 
incumbents. Accordin g t o th e testimon y o f Professo r Clyd e Summers , whic h testi -
mony I  credit, th e tru e tes t of union democrac y i s whether th e member s fee l fre e t o 
openly criticize the policies and practices of the incumbents , an d no t merely whether 
there are any opposition candidates . There have been a  large number o f occasions in 
the recen t histor y o f Loca l 56 0 durin g whic h a n objectiv e observe r migh t hav e 
expected t o hear such criticis m o r discussion a t membership meetings . Fo r example, 
the murder o f Walter Glockner o n the morning after hi s public display of opposition 
at a  unio n meeting , an d th e subsequen t arres t an d detentio n (fo r severa l weeks ) of 
Thomas Reynolds as a material witness in the murder, shoul d hav e been "fodder" fo r 
the oppositio n i n 196 3 and shoul d stil l be "fodder" today , particularl y i n ligh t of the 
Local's history . Th e evidenc e suggest s tha t th e questio n o f Glockner' s murde r ha s 
never been raise d at a membership meeting, a t least not since 1965 . 

Further, Professo r Summer s als o testifie d tha t th e convictio n o f an officia l o n a 
union-related offens e wil l normally trigger criticism o r even encourage the opposition 
to come fort h an d mak e a  challenge. Th e failur e o f an Executiv e Boar d t o take any 
remedial action whe n a  responsible officia l i s indicted o r convicted ca n only add fue l 
to such a  situation. Professo r Summer s note d tha t i t would matte r littl e tha t such a n 
offense relate d t o a union othe r tha n th e one i n which th e defendan t wa s an officia l 
(such as was true in the Braun Payof f Demand case) . To have appointed person s who 
are prepare d t o rai d a  unio n i s "t o brin g foxe s int o th e henhouse. " Consequently , 
anyone wh o i s appointed b y a  perso n wh o wa s himsel f sen t t o jai l fo r sellin g labo r 
peace shoul d normall y b e a  targe t o f criticism. Ther e has , o f course , bee n n o suc h 
criticism within Loca l 56 0 since the emergence of the Provenzano Group . 

* *  # 

m. 
In orde r t o preven t futur e racketeerin g violation s b y th e Provenzan o Grou p an d it s 
aiders and abettors , i t i s necessary t o enjoin Stephe n Andrett a an d Gabrie l Brigugli o 
from an y future dealing s with Loca l 56 0 and t o remove the current Executiv e Boar d 
members fro m thei r positions , appointin g i n thei r plac e on e o r mor e trustee s t o 
administer th e Loca l durin g a  curativ e perio d o f appropriate length . Followin g thi s 
period, th e trustee s woul d conduc t a  carefull y supervise d electio n t o restor e unio n 
democracy within Loca l 560 . 

Stephen Andrett a an d Gabrie l Briguglio , whil e holdin g position s o f trus t withi n 
their respectiv e labo r organizations , committe d seriou s an d protracte d labo r racke -
teering violation s a s associate s o f th e Provenzan o Group . I f given th e opportunity , 
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they ar e likel y to do so again. Stephe n Andrett a wa s given a n opportunit y a t tria l t o 
make expiatio n fo r hi s conduct , particularl y includin g tha t involve d i n th e Seatrai n 
Case. Instead , hi s testimony , which , a t best , lacke d cando r an d straine d credibility , 
demonstrated n o hin t o f atonement. Gabrie l Brigugli o presente d n o evidenc e i n hi s 
defense, an d hi s silence unde r th e circumstance s support s a n inferenc e tha t hi s own 
evidence would be unfavorable t o his cause. 

The curren t Executiv e Boar d member s mus t b e remove d a s a  predicat e t o th e 
restoration o f union democrac y withi n Loca l 56 0 and t o ameliorate an d remed y th e 
conditions whic h hav e enabled th e associates o f the Provenzan o Grou p t o dominat e 
and exploi t the Loca l fo r th e pas t thirty years . The evidenc e clearly points to the fac t 
that th e member s vie w th e leadershi p o f th e Loca l a s a  single , monolithi c contro l 
organization. S o lon g a s it , o r an y portio n o f it , remain s i n actua l control  o f Loca l 
560, Professo r Summers ' testimon y indicate s tha t i t wil l b e ver y difficul t t o remov e 
the sens e o f fear whic h th e member s no w experience.  Thi s sens e o f fear withi n th e 
Local—causing member s t o believ e tha t i t i s no t saf e t o protes t o r organize—i s s o 
overwhelming that i t is not likely to correct itself in the foreseeable future . 

Removal o f each Executiv e Boar d membe r i s also necessar y becaus e eac h on e i s 
either unwillin g o r unabl e t o evaluat e objectivel y th e crimina l conduc t o f fello w 
officers o r business agents, or to institute prophylactic measures to ensure as much as 
possible tha t pas t crimina l conduc t wil l no t b e repeated . Moreover , th e pervasiv e 
attitude o f arrogance an d insolenc e i n th e fac e o f these circumstance s continue s t o 
impress upo n th e membershi p tha t th e Local' s leadershi p a t the ver y leas t condone s 
criminal conduct . This , too , serves to perpetuate th e atmosphere of intimidation an d 
to suppress any dissent. 

* *  * 

Continuously throughou t approximatel y th e las t quarter o f a century , th e associ -
ates of the Provenzano Grou p have dominated Loca l 56 0 through fea r an d intimida -
tion, extortin g th e membership' s unio n democrac y rights , an d hav e exploite d i t 
through frau d an d corruption . Becaus e th e condition s withi n Loca l 56 0 which hav e 
been the sine qua non for the reported commission o f acts of these defendants remain , 
I must conclude that future [RICO ] violations are likely to occur, thereb y resulting in 
irreparable har m t o th e membershi p o f Loca l 560 , it s contrac t employers , an d th e 
public. I n order to prevent and restrain such future violation s of § 1962, it is necessary 
to enjoin defendant s Stephe n Andretta and Gabriel Briguglio from an y future contact s 
with Loca l 560 , an d t o remov e th e curren t member s o f th e Loca l 56 0 Executiv e 
Board i n favo r o f the impositio n o f a  trusteeshi p fo r a n appropriat e perio d o f time , 
which wil l terminate following the completion o f supervised elections . 

I hav e additionall y determine d t o exculpat e th e institutiona l defendant s herein , 
specifically Loca l 56 0 itself and it s Funds and Plan . I n orde r to attribute the miscon -
duct of the individual defendants t o these institutional defendants , I  must find (1) that 
the individua l defendant s committe d th e act s o f racketeerin g i n th e scop e o f thei r 
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employment, an d (2) that they thereby intended to advance the affairs of the institu-
tional defendants. 

While i t i s clea r tha t th e individua l defendant s acte d withi n th e scop e o f their 
employment i n committing the various criminal act s previously recited , i t is equally 
obvious tha t thei r inten t wa s no t t o advanc e th e affair s o f thei r employers . T o th e 
contrary, th e institutiona l defendant s i n this action wer e the victims . Th e associate s 
of the Provenzano Group, aided and abetted by the other defendants herein, intended 
by their actions to control and exploit Local 56 0 to its detriment. I  therefore conclude 
that ther e i s n o basi s fo r retainin g eithe r Loca l 560 , th e Fund s o r th e Pla n a s a 
defendant i n thi s action , excep t insofa r a s i t i s necessar y t o retai n Loca l 56 0 a s a 
nominal defendan t t o effectuate th e equitable relie f heretofore specifie d an d as may 
be ordered in the future. 

VI. 

In sum , I  have determine d tha t th e individua l defendant s herei n hav e violate d 1 8 
U.S.C. §  1962(b) , (c ) and (d) . Becaus e o f the likelihoo d o f continued violations , I 
have determined t o enjoin defendant s Stephe n Andrett a and Gabriel Briguglio from 
any future contacts of any kind with Local 560 , and to remove the current members 
of th e Loca l 56 0 Executiv e Boar d i n favo r o f a  trusteeship . Thi s trusteeshi p shal l 
continue for such time as is necessary to foster the conditions under which reasonably 
free supervise d election s ca n b e held , presumptivel y fo r eightee n months . I  have, 
however, decide d to stay the effect o f this injunctive relie f pending appeal, an d have 
also decided t o defer th e namin g o f the trustee(s ) unti l th e completio n o f any such 
appellate proceedings . Finally , I  have decide d t o dismiss Loca l 560 , th e Fund s and 
the Pla n from thi s action, excep t insofa r a s I  must maintai n jurisdictio n ove r Local 
560 a s a  nomina l defendan t i n orde r t o effectuat e th e equitabl e relie f heretofor e 
specified or as may be ordered in the future. 

Plaintiff shal l submi t a n orde r i n conformanc e wit h thi s opinio n withi n seve n 
(7) days. 
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United States  v . Local  560 and Michael  Sciarra, 
Opinion o f Judge Dickinso n Debevois e 
(January 7 , 1991 ) 

In thi s proceedin g th e governmen t seek s a  permanen t injunctio n agains t Michae l 
Sciarra prohibitin g hi m fro m furthe r participatio n i n th e affair s o f Loca l 560 . Th e 
trial was conducted o n July 16 , 1990 , but only two witnesses were presented, an d th e 
bulk o f th e evidenc e upo n whic h a  decisio n mus t b e base d wa s introduce d upo n 
applications fo r preliminar y injunctiv e relief . Fed . R.Civ.P. 65(a)(2) . Thi s opinio n 
constitutes my findings of fact and conclusions o f law. 

Judge Ackerman staye d hi s Marc h 16 , 198 4 Judgment Orde r pendin g appeal . I n 
consequence Sciarr a an d th e othe r member s o f th e Executiv e Boar d o f Loca l 56 0 
remained i n office . 

On Decembe r 26 , 198 5 the Cour t o f Appeals fo r th e Thir d Circui t affirme d th e 
judgment of the district court, and the Supreme Court denied a  petition for certiorari. 
On Jun e 23 , 198 6 Judge Ackerman lifte d th e sta y and implemente d th e Trusteeshi p 
provided fo r i n th e Judgmen t Order . Thus , ther e wa s a period o f approximately tw o 
years, fou r an d one-hal f month s betwee n Judg e Ackerman' s Februar y 198 4 opinio n 
detailing the racketeering activity and the 198 6 appointment o f the trustee and ouste r 
of th e Executiv e Board . Durin g tha t period , o n Octobe r 19 , 198 4 t o b e precise , 
Sciarra succeede d Salvator e Provenzan o (wh o had bee n convicte d o f defrauding th e 
welfare benefi t fun d an d o f receivin g kickbacks ) a s Presiden t o f Loca l 560 . Wha t 
transpired during that period i s one of the principal subjects of the present proceeding. 

Judge Ackerman appointe d Joe l Jacobson Trustee o f Local 56 0 on June 23 , 1986 . 
On Ma y 12 , 198 7 Judg e Ackerma n appointe d Edwi n H . Stier , Esq. , i n plac e o f 
Jacobson, an d h e appointe d a s Associat e Truste e Fran k Jackiewicz . Stie r undertoo k 
numerous measure s t o achiev e hi s thre e principa l objectives : (a ) conductin g th e 
day-to-day operation s o f th e unio n s o a s t o provid e effectiv e representatio n t o th e 
membership, (b ) using hi s own backgroun d i n conductin g investigation s t o organiz e 
and overse e inquirie s int o th e affair s o f th e unio n an d o f th e pensio n an d welfar e 
funds, an d (c ) encouraging th e member s o f Local 56 0 to throw of f year s of passivity 
in the face of Provenzano domination an d to participate in the affairs o f the union . 

In early 198 8 Stier concluded tha t although th e forces conducive to an uncoerce d 
atmosphere withi n Loca l 56 0 wer e stil l fragil e an d stil l threatene d wit h organize d 
crime efforts t o regain control , an election wit h suitable controls was feasible. 

67 
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On Februar y 11 , 1988 Judge Ackerman extende d th e Trusteeship unti l Decembe r 
6, 198 8 an d ordere d tha t genera l election s b e hel d prio r t o tha t date . Nomination s 
were t o b e mad e a t a  membershi p meetin g calle d fo r October  9 , 198 8 an d th e 
election b y secre t ballo t wa s scheduled fo r November , ballot s t o b e maile d t o eac h 
member's home to reduce the opportunities for undue pressure . 

Certain development s cam e t o th e attentio n o f th e governmen t whic h le d i t t o 
believe that unless injunctive relie f were obtained, th e result of the election would be 
to retur n Loca l 56 0 t o th e contro l o f organize d crime , specificall y th e Genoves e 
Family. Th e stronges t factio n competin g fo r control  o f Loca l 56 0 was Teamsters fo r 
Liberty, a  group which ha d neve r evidence d a  critica l vie w of the forme r leadershi p 
and whic h wa s dedicated t o termination o f the Trusteeship. Tha t stanc e o f itself was 
no reason t o interfere wit h th e effort s o f Teamsters for Liberty . However , th e govern-
ment had come into possession o f evidence which le d i t to believe that the Genoves e 
Family ha d determine d t o regai n contro l o f Loca l 56 0 an d tha t i t ha d designate d 
Michael Sciarr a a s the person through who m i t would exercise control. Sciarr a was a 
dominant forc e i n Teamsters fo r Liberty , an d h e an d Josep h Sheridan , als o a forme r 
Executive Boar d membe r whe n th e Provenzan o Grou p wa s in control , wer e Team -
sters for Liberty' s candidates for President and Vice-President , respectively . 

Faced wit h tha t situatio n an d wit h th e fragil e natur e o f Loca l 560' s democrati c 
forces th e Governmen t institute d th e presen t proceedings , seekin g a n orde r prohib -
iting Sciarra and Sherida n fro m furthe r participatio n i n the affairs o f Local 560 . 

On Septembe r 14 , 1988 , after a  six-day hearing, I  granted preliminar y injunctiv e 
relief, barring Sciarra and Sheridan from seekin g elective office. Teamster s for Liberty 
substituted a s its candidates fo r Presiden t and Vice-President Sciarra' s brother Danie l 
Sciarra and Sheridan' s nephew Mark Sheridan . 

The electio n wa s carefully monitore d an d fairl y conducted , an d o n Decembe r 6 , 
1988 i t wa s announce d tha t th e Teamster s fo r Libert y slat e ha d won . A s a  resul t 
Daniel Sciarr a an d Mar k Sherida n assume d th e office s fo r whic h the y ran . Othe r 
Teamsters for Libert y candidate s ha d bee n electe d t o complete the Executiv e Board . 
Stier, th e Trustee , turne d ove r th e day-to-da y administratio n o f Loca l 56 0 t o th e 
newly electe d officer s an d Executiv e Boar d bu t continue d t o serv e i n a  monitorin g 
role. 

On Januar y 9 , 198 9 the newly elected Boar d appointed bot h Michae l Sciarr a and 
Joseph Sherida n t o fill business agent positions. Thereupon th e government obtaine d 
an order to show cause why they should no t be immediately barred from holdin g any 
appointed positio n withi n Loca l 56 0 pending the outcome o f the tria l i n th e matter . 
The government urge d tha t Sciarr a and Sherida n gav e the appearance o f acting as de 
facto officer s o f th e Loca l an d o f exercisin g actua l powe r consisten t wit h tha t o f 
incumbent Executiv e Boar d members , thu s creatin g th e ris k o f reemergenc e o f 
Genovese Family control of the Union . 

At a hearing on January 30 , 198 9 I concluded tha t the development was troubling 
but that I  should no t assume without more that the new officers an d Executive Board 
would not exercise full contro l o f the Union o r that they would be subject to Sciarra's 
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domination an d influence . Consequentl y I  denie d th e government' s applicatio n a t 
that time. 

The Trustee, pursuan t to orders of Judge Ackerman, continue d t o monitor closel y 
the managemen t o f th e Union . Th e ne w officer s an d Executiv e Boar d member s 
entered upo n thei r duties. Subsequently , Sherida n entere d int o a settlement with th e 
government, resignin g a s business agen t an d agreein g no t t o involv e himsel f i n th e 
future i n the management o f Local 560 . Michae l Sciarra , however , remaine d highl y 
involved in the Union' s affairs . 

On Februar y 6 , 199 0 th e governmen t move d onc e agai n t o ba r Sciarr a fro m 
holding an y positio n o f trust i n th e Union , assertin g tha t evidenc e relatin g t o events 
during the previous 1 3 months showed tha t Sciarr a ha d use d hi s hold o n a  large and 
vocal segmen t o f th e Loca l 56 0 membershi p an d hi s positio n a s busines s agen t t o 
acquire control  o f the Union . A  second preliminar y injunctio n hearin g was held o n 
March 2 0 and 21 , and I  concluded tha t Sciarr a had indee d become virtually de facto 
President o f Loca l 560 . O n Ma y 8 , 199 0 I  signed a n orde r preliminaril y enjoinin g 
Sciarra fro m holdin g an y positio n o f trus t withi n Loca l 56 0 and fro m attemptin g t o 
influence it s affairs . 

I scheduled a  trial on an expedited basis . The tria l began on July 16 , 1990 . 

* *  * 

On thre e occasions in the las t two years I have held evidentiary hearings concern -
ing Sciarra' s continuin g rol e i n Loca l 560 . M y findings  upon th e conclusio n o f th e 
first applicatio n fo r a preliminary injunctio n ar e set forth i n 694 F.Supp. 115 8 {Local 
560 No. 2) ; my findings upon conclusio n o f the second applicatio n fo r a  preliminary 
injunction ar e set forth i n 73 6 F.Supp. 60 1 (Local  560 No. 3) . The evidenc e whic h 
was submitted a t th e tria l o f the matte r consiste d o f the testimon y o f Specia l Agen t 
Mark Dowd o f the Federa l Bureau o f Investigation, th e testimony of Michael Sciarr a 
and certai n documents . Nothin g tha t develope d a t th e tria l lead s m e t o alte r th e 
findings set forth i n Local  560  No. 2  or Local 560 No. 3 . I n fac t the evidence a t the 
trial fortifies thos e findings. 

The totality of the evidence establishes that: (i) Since March 16 , 198 4 when Judge 
Ackerman signe d th e orde r granting relie f the Genovese Famil y ha s sought to main -
tain o r reestablis h it s control  ove r Loca l 560 ; (ii ) Michae l Sciarr a wa s th e perso n 
through who m th e Genoves e Famil y sough t t o effectuat e it s control ; (iii ) Sciarr a 
accepted thi s role ; (iv) Sciarr a ha s a  dominatin g an d forcefu l personality , an d ther e 
are no leaders or factions withi n Loca l 56 0 who are able to resis t him an d th e force s 
within th e Unio n whic h h e controls;  an d (v ) unles s Sciarr a i s remove d fro m an y 
position within Loca l 56 0 he will assume control o f the Union , directl y or indirectly, 
and thereby subjugate Loca l 56 0 once again to the control of the Genovese organized 
crime family . 

[2] The continuin g determinatio n o f the Genovese Famil y to maintain control  o f 
Local 56 0 i s evidence d b y th e tap e recording s o f thre e conversation s hel d i n a 
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construction she d in Edgewater, Ne w Jersey and by one tape recording of a conversa -
tion held at the Palma Boy Social Club in East Harlem. When viewed in conjunction 
with th e findings  i n Local  560  No. 1 ; they demonstrat e tha t th e effort s o f thi s 
organized crim e grou p t o control Loca l 56 0 did not cease wit h th e entry o f Judge 
Ackerman's order . The personnel change d somewhat , bu t many old faces continue d 
to appear. 

I quoted extensivel y fro m thos e tap e recording s i n my opinion i n Local 560  No . 
2, a t pp. 1170-1178 . I  incorporate my earlier findings with respect to the tapes herein 
and at this point will only summarize them. 

The first  conversatio n too k plac e o n Novembe r 1 , 198 4 and involve d Milto n 
Parness, Matthew Ianniello (a captain in the Genovese Family), Stanley Jaronko (who 
served o n Loca l 560' s Executiv e Boar d wit h Sciarra ) an d a n unidentifie d male . 
Ianniello an d Jaronko discussed continue d contro l o f Local 560 . Jaronko state d tha t 
he would "jus t lay low for eighteen months " (the period during which i t was expected 
a court-appointed truste e would be in office). I t was in that conversation that Ianniello 
directed Jaronko to "let Mike run the show." The reference wa s to "Mikey Sciarra. " 

The second tap e records a November 6, 198 4 conversation betwee n Ianniell o and 
Stephen Andrett a (on e of the defendant s wh o was a membe r o f the Provenzan o 
Group). I t was a lengthy conversation concernin g numerous persons in the Genovese 
Family, pas t and pending crimina l endeavors , an d the Local 56 0 RICO case . A s to 
the situatio n a t Local 560 , Ianniello stated , " I think Mik e Sciarr a shoul d tak e ove r 
there. Wh o can you trust there , anybod y else? " Andretta responded , "Mik e an d I 
were bor n an d raise d together. " Late r Ianniell o stated , "I'l l send wor d t o [Mike] . 
1*11 make sur e tha t h e know s tha t yo u can tal k t o hi m a s one." There followe d 
this interchange: 

IANNIELLO: No , no, I'll send word to Mike (unintelligible). 
ANDRETTA: I  can see Mike any time you want me to. 
IANNIELLO: YOU ? 

ANDRETTA: Yeah . 

The thir d tap e record s a  Decembe r 7 , 198 4 conversation betwee n Ianniello , 
Stephen Andrett a an d an unidentifie d male . Tha t to o was a length y conversatio n 
which deal t wit h a  number o f subjects o f significance i n this case , on e of the mor e 
important subject s bein g the New England Moto r Freigh t ("NEMF") contract . A s to 
the role which Sciarr a was to play, the following is illustrative: 
ANDRETTA: I  understan d a t thi s point . Bu t with Mike y an d then you , you have 

direct control of Mikey. 
IANNIELLO: Yeah . 
ANDRETTA: N o question . 
IANNIELLO: Yeah , he does what I tell him. 

A fourth tap e recorde d conversatio n ha d taken plac e o n November  28 , 1984 i n 
the Palm a Boy Social Clu b in New York City. The participants were then Genoves e 
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Family boss Anthony Salerno , Loui s Gatto, one of his caporegimes, Giuseppe Sabat o 
and Cirin o Salerno . Th e conversatio n turne d t o Local 560 , and the following ex-
change took place: 

A. SALERNO : Bu t they threw everybody out of office there . 
SABATO: Yeah , they'r e al l out . 
A. SALERNO : Everybody' s out . 
SABATO: They're al l out . 
A. SALERNO : S o how can you contro l it ? 
SABATO: Wha t do you mean? They got the control in there. 
A. SALERNO : Wh o i s that now? 
SABATO: Matt y (Ianniello) . 
A. SALERNO : Oh , w e got a guy in there? 
SABATO: Sure . 

These taped conversations mus t be viewed in the light of the facts disclosed in the 
1984 Local  560  No. 1  opinion. Whe n s o viewed ther e ca n be no doubt tha t the 
Genovese Organize d Crim e Famil y intende d to maintain it s control ove r Loca l 560 
during the pendency of the appeal from Judg e Ackerman's March 16 , 1984 Judgment 
Order, durin g an y period o f trusteeship an d thereafter. I  concluded afte r th e first 
preliminary injunctio n hearin g an d I conclude no w that th e tapes constitut e stron g 
evidence that this control was to be exercised through Anthon y Salerno' s caporegim e 
Matthew Ianniell o and that Ianniello , upo n the advice of Stephen Andretta , selecte d 
Michael Sciarr a t o be the man on the scene a t Loca l 56 0 to whom order s and 
instructions could be given. 

Thus, notwithstandin g th e issuance of the March 16 , 1984 Judgment Orde r and 
the appointment o f a trustee on June 23, 1986 the Provenzano Group as it existed in 
1984 and as its personnel change d somewha t durin g th e years tha t followed , neve r 
ceased th e unlawful conduc t describe d i n Judge Ackerman' s opinio n i n Local 560 
No. 1 . 

* *  * 

After Marc h 16 , 198 4 Sciarra continue d t o profes s hi s loyalt y t o Anthon y 
Provenzano and could no t bring himsel f t o disavow the criminal an d other unlawfu l 
tactics of the Provenzano Group nor to admit the existence of the Provenzano Grou p 
conspiracy and Genovese Famil y involvemen t in the affairs o f Local 560 . As recently 
as September 24 , 1989 , Sciarra, the n a  Local 56 0 business agent , proclaime d t o an 
enthusiastic Loca l 56 0 membership hi s love for Provenzano. I  do not take seriousl y 
Sciarra's belated me a culpa delivere d on July 17 , 1990 at the conclusion o f the trial 
in thi s matter . Tha t declaration , lik e so many of Sciarra's statement s ove r the years, 
was designed to meet his needs of the moment . 

Most of the evidence in this case was introduced a t the 1988 preliminary injunc -
tion hearing . Tha t evidenc e disclose d action s o n Sciarra' s pas t whic h tie d him 



72 I  Teamsters  Local 560 

personally to the taped conversations and the continuing conspiracy. Neithe r Sciarra' s 
testimony a t th e tria l no r th e argument s advance d i n hi s post-tria l brief s lea d m e t o 
change the findings and conclusions with respect to these actions set forth i n my 198 8 
opinion, Local  S60 No. 2 . I  incorporate those findings and conclusions herein . 

The evidenc e an d findings  wit h respec t t o th e Ne w Englan d Moto r Freigh t 
("NEMF") sweethear t arrangement s ar e se t fort h a t 69 4 F.Supp . a t 1173-1177 , 
1179-1181. 

# *  # 

I cite d tw o othe r circumstance s i n m y 198 8 opinio n whic h tende d t o confir m 
Sciarra's continue d participatio n i n th e Genovese Famil y effort s t o maintain control 
over Local 560 . 

The first  was the failur e t o tak e steps to remov e Marvi n Zal k a s administrator o f 
the Local 56 0 Welfare Plan s after h e had been convicted o f obstruction o f justice in a 
case involvin g frau d upo n th e [Pensio n an d Welfare ] Plans . Th e secon d wa s th e 
failure t o terminate a  contract with a  provider of legal services to Local 56 0 members 
under circumstances so eggregious to defy belief. 

* *  * 

I probabl y shoul d hav e grante d th e government' s applicatio n t o enjoi n Michae l 
Sciarra from assumin g the position o f business agent, bu t perhaps it is fortunate tha t I 
did no t d o so . Permittin g Sciarr a t o serv e a s business agen t durin g th e Januar y 12 , 
1989 t o Ma y 8 , 199 0 perio d whe n h e wa s supposedl y unde r th e contro l o f th e 
Executive Board , provide d a  demonstration o f what woul d happe n i f he wer e given 
any positio n withi n Loca l 560 . H e immediatel y becam e d e fact o Presiden t o f th e 
Union, pushin g hi s brothe r aside , figuratively  an d literally , wheneve r i t suite d hi s 
purpose t o do so. Wer e i t not for th e continuing interventio n o f the cour t appointe d 
Trustee h e woul d hav e ha d himsel f appointe d a  truste e o f two pension an d welfar e 
funds maintaine d fo r the benefit o f Local 56 0 members. These funds had been grossly 
misused durin g th e Provenzan o years , an d on e o f th e principa l task s o f th e cour t 
appointed truste e was to ensure their honest and effective administration . 

I issued th e 198 8 order enjoinin g Sciarr a fro m becomin g Presiden t o f Loca l 56 0 
because were he to assume that office ther e was a strong likelihood that he would lead 
Local 56 0 bac k int o th e control  o f th e Genoves e Organize d Crim e Family . Th e 
evidence submitte d a t th e 199 0 secon d preliminar y injunctio n hearin g showe d tha t 
Sciarra, throug h hi s positio n a s busines s agent , ha d assume d th e powe r whic h th e 
first preliminary injunctio n wa s intende d t o kee p fro m him . Therefor e o n Ma y 8 , 
1990 I  issued a  new order preliminarily enjoinin g Sciarr a fro m holdin g any office i n 
Local 560 . 

At the tria l o f thi s matte r tw o additiona l item s o f evidence furthe r demonstrate d 
Sciarra's continuin g tie s t o th e Genoves e Famil y I t wil l b e recalle d tha t Matthe w 
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Ianniello an d Stephe n Andrett a wer e the principa l participant s i n th e tap e recorde d 
conversations whic h establishe d th e Genoves e Family' s continuin g pla n t o control 
Local 56 0 and the decision to use Sciarra as the person through whom contro l woul d 
be exercised. 

At the tria l Specia l Agen t Mark Dow d o f the F.B.I , testifie d tha t o n th e mornin g 
of June 4, 199 0 (less than a  month afte r I  had enjoine d Sciarr a from participatin g i n 
Local 56 0 affairs ) h e an d Specia l Agen t Thoma s Brown e conducte d a  physica l 
surveillance of Sciarra. Thi s led them to a diner on Route 46 near Little Falls. Whe n 
the tw o agent s entered , Sciarr a wa s usin g th e pa y telephon e i n th e vestibule . The y 
proceeded b y hi m t o a  boot h jus t insid e th e dinin g area . Abou t te n minute s late r 
Sciarra entere d thi s area fro m th e vestibul e an d walke d acros s the roo m t o two me n 
who occupied a  table. The Agen t identified on e of these men, wh o was seated i n the 
courtroom, a s Local 56 0 business agen t Davi d Keitt . Sciarr a converse d wit h th e two 
men fo r som e minutes . A t tha t point , a  fourt h individua l entere d th e dinin g area . 
Sciarra immediatel y lef t Keit t an d hi s companio n an d walke d bac k toward s th e 
entrance wher e th e othe r ma n ha d paused . The y exchange d greeting s an d sa t down 
together a t the first booth insid e the dining area . Agen t Dow d identifie d thi s man a s 
Stephen Andretta . Afte r approximatel y twenty-fiv e minutes , th e agent s lef t th e dine r 
and waite d outside . Keit t an d hi s companio n lef t th e dine r moment s afte r th e tw o 
agents. Approximatel y forty-fiv e minute s thereafter , Michae l Sciarr a an d Stephe n 
Andretta lef t th e dine r together . The y converse d i n th e parkin g lo t fo r a  fe w mor e 
minutes, an d then departed from th e area in their respective vehicles. 

The othe r ite m o f evidenc e showin g Sciarra' s continuin g associatio n wit h th e 
Genovese Famil y wa s elicite d o n cross-examinatio n o f Sciarra . Th e Governmen t 
asked about Jimmy Ida, who had been identified durin g the August, 198 8 proceedings 
as "Matty" Ianniello' s chauffeu r an d a s one o f his designated messenger s to Michae l 
Sciarra o n Loca l 56 0 matters . I n th e monitore d conversatio n o f Decembe r 7 , 198 4 
Ianniello had tol d Andretta tha t Id a coul d serv e as a contact wit h Sciarr a i f Andretta 
were havin g difficult y wit h th e assignment . O n cross-examinatio n Sciarr a admitte d 
that he had met with Ida on some seven occasions since 198 7 in a cafe in Manhattan' s 
"Little Italy" Section. 

Sciarra's explanatio n o f th e meeting s wit h Andrett a an d wit h Id a wa s tha t ther e 
was a need t o discuss Sciarra' s being a defense witnes s in an upcomin g crimina l tria l 
at which Andrett a an d Id a would b e defendants . I  have littl e confidence i n Sciarra' s 
explanations o f event s an d circumstance s generally . A t th e ver y leas t thi s evidenc e 
shows Sciarra' s continuin g associatio n wit h th e Genoves e Famil y member s wh o 
devised the plan to exercise control o f Local 56 0 through him . 

* *  * 

As long as Sciarra holds any position within Loca l 56 0 he will be able through hi s 
forceful personalit y an d throug h hi s hol d o n a  larg e an d voca l segmen t o f th e 
membership to dominate and contro l the Local and it s pension an d welfar e funds . I f 
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he assume s powe r withi n th e Unio n i t i s highly likel y tha t upo n terminatio n o f th e 
court appointe d trustee' s oversigh t th e Genoves e Famil y woul d reasser t control  ove r 
Local 560 , undoin g al l th e effort s o f th e pas t eigh t years . Grea t stride s toward s th e 
establishment o f union democrac y hav e been mad e during the period o f the trustee -
ship. Th e retur n o f Sciarr a and , throug h him , Genoves e Famil y influence , woul d 
crush th e movemen t toward s membershi p contro l an d brin g bac k th e dar k nigh t o f 
the strong arm and repression . 

Control b y Sciarr a an d throug h hi m b y th e Genoves e Famil y woul d plac e th e 
welfare an d pensio n fund s a t great risk . They wer e looted befor e th e cour t appointe d 
trustee assume d offic e an d i f Genoves e Famil y influenc e wer e reestablishe d i t i s 
almost a  foregone conclusio n tha t they would b e looted agai n upo n th e departure of 
the Trustee. 

In sum, Sciarra' s presence within Loca l 56 0 would subject the union, it s members 
and it s pensio n an d welfar e fund s t o irreparabl e injury . Thi s injur y ca n b e avoide d 
only b y injunctiv e relie f whic h woul d preven t Sciarra' s retur n t o an y leadershi p 
capacity in Local 560 . 

* *  * 

For all the foregoing reason s I conclude that additional relie f is required. A n order 
will b e entere d permanentl y enjoinin g Michae l Sciarr a fro m holdin g an y offic e o r 
position o f trust within o r otherwise endeavoring to influence th e affairs o f Local 56 0 
or any of its benefit plans . The government i s requested to submit a form o f order. 
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Interim Settlemen t Agreemen t and 
Consent Decre e 
(February 6 , 1992) * 

3. OBJECTIVE S AN D INTENT : The parties recognize that Local 56 0 has historically 
suffered fro m a  serious labo r racketeerin g proble m whic h ha s been associate d wit h 
the destructio n o f unio n democrac y an d intimidatio n o f the individua l members . 
Accordingly, th e objective and purpose of this Interim Settlemen t i s to create withi n 
Local 56 0 remedial condition s whic h will—t o th e extent possibl e bu t in the least 
intrusive manner—eliminat e th e vestiges of the documente d racketeerin g problem , 
forestall th e reemergence of any such racketeerin g proble m i n the future, an d other-
wise ensure that any incipient racketeering problem is quickly detected and effectively 
eradicated. T o that end, the remedial effor t structure d herein seeks (a) to promote and 
protect unio n democracy ; (b) to protect all union member s from invidiou s economi c 
discrimination; and (c) to foster the existence of an Executiv e Board which i s respon-
sive t o the legitimate interest s o f the entire membership , whic h i s vigilant i n the 
protection o f their economic and political rights , which i s dedicated to the principles 
of hones t trad e unionism , an d which wil l serv e a s an effective bulwar k agains t the 
reemergence of an externally induce d racketeerin g problem . 

4. TH E EXECUTIVE BOARD : Effective upo n the first working day after the entry of 
this Interim Settlemen t Decree, the Executive Board of Local 56 0 shall be reconstitu-
ted as follows: 

a. DANIE L SCIARR A shal l resig n from the position of President. Thereafter , 
he shal l b e eligibl e t o serv e i n th e capacity o f shop steward . Th e office o f 
President shal l remai n vacan t unti l suc h tim e as the District Court shal l direc t 
that an election be held to fill the position. 

b. Secretary-Treasure r ROBER T MARRA , Recordin g Secretar y ALFRE D 
VALLEE and Trustee PETE R GRANELL O shall continue to serve in their presen t 
positions and discharge all obligations and responsibilities thereof . 

c. Fro m among the remaining three Executive Board positions (Vice Presi-
dent and two Trustees), th e current Executiv e Boar d shal l befor e th e entry of 

*[The interim settlement was amended on February 6, 1992. The changes primarily affec t 
the size and composition o f the executive board (paragrap h 4  of this interim settlement ) and 
permit the board to appoint Alfred Vallee as president of Local 560.] 
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this Decree select one incumbent to continue in the position of Union Trustee. 
The two incumbents who are not selected by the process specified herei n shal l 
nevertheless remain eligibl e to serve in any and all positions of trust within the 
union—including, bu t not limited to , the position of business agent. 

d. Upo n entr y o f thi s Consen t Decree , th e Court' s Trustee , Edwi n H . 
Stier, shal l promptl y appoin t fro m amon g the members of Local 56 0 in good 
standing tw o suitable member s eac h o f whom shal l serv e i n the capacity of 
Union Truste e upo n the Executive Board and shall exercis e all powers, dutie s 
and responsibilitie s thereof as specifie d i n the Constitution and By-laws. Those 
appointees shal l serv e fo r the same ter m an d under th e same economi c and 
working conditions as pertain to the four remainin g incumbents . 

e. Thereafter , th e Executiv e Boar d wil l functio n wit h si x member s a s 
aforesaid unti l further orde r of the Court . 

f. Th e incumbents of the Executive Board acknowledge and the new mem-
bers o f the Executiv e Boar d shal l acknowledg e tha t the y hav e a  heightene d 
awareness o f thei r fiduciary  dut y t o the membershi p becaus e o f the seriou s 
racketeering problem withi n Loca l 56 0 as discussed i n the five published cour t 
opinions whic h ar e centra l t o the litigation . I n ligh t o f the specia l circum -
stances discussed therein , eac h such Executive Board member shal l be diligent 
with respec t t o discharging th e said fiduciary  duty and in implementing bot h 
in lette r an d spiri t th e term s an d condition s o f thi s Agreemen t i n orde r t o 
achieve the remedial objectives of the Court Opinions. Eac h such member has 
an affirmativ e an d continuin g obligatio n t o be vigilan t wit h respec t t o pre -
venting or otherwise detecting and remedying the types of derelictions, abuse s 
and corrup t practice s whic h th e variou s cour t opinion s hav e identifie d a s 
having contribute d t o the racketeerin g proble m o f the past . An y incumben t 
who shal l hereafte r violat e th e fiduciary  duty i n a  manne r whic h materiall y 
endangers the remedial objective s o f the Cour t Trusteeshi p or whose conduc t 
shall otherwis e brin g discredi t upo n Loca l 56 0 or the International Brother -
hood of Teamsters under the standards established by the Independent Admin -
istrator of the I.B.T. o r who otherwise engages in a course of conduct which is 
inimical t o o r obstructiv e o f the remedia l proces s o f the Cour t Trusteeshi p 
shall, i n additio n t o interna l remedies , b e subjec t t o remova l fro m offic e 
upon a  finding  o f suc h misconduc t afte r notic e an d a  hearin g befor e th e 
District Court . 

g. ROBER T MARRA, PETE R GRANELL O and the third incumben t name d by 
the Executiv e Boar d pursuan t to subparagraph "c " above shal l promptly selec t 
and designat e a  Co-Chair o f the Executive Board . ALFRE D VALLE E an d the 
two Unio n Trustee s appointe d pursuan t t o subparagraph "d " above shal l als o 
promptly select and designate a Co-Chair of the Executive Board. The designa-
tion o f the two Co-Chairs shal l be subject t o approval b y the Court Trustees . 
The Co-Chairs of the Executive Board shall jointly perform the responsibilities 
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and functions o f the Presiden t as long as that position remain s vacant pursuan t 
to the provision o f subparagraph "a " above. 
5. TH E CONSTRUCTIO N FIELD : Th e followin g specia l provision s shal l appl y t o 

the area of construction withi n the jurisdiction o f Local 560 : 
a. Th e Executiv e Boar d an d it s successors shal l no t i n th e futur e appoin t 

former Busines s Agen t Onofri o Mezzin a t o an y positio n o f trus t (includin g 
particularly "sho p steward " o r "busines s agent") . I n th e even t tha t Onofri o 
Mezzina, is , i n accordanc e wit h th e then-existin g unio n practices , employe d 
as the sol e unio n membe r upo n a  construction sit e o r a t some othe r plac e o f 
employment, h e shal l no t thereb y gai n th e position o f "steward" nor shal l th e 
Executive Boar d permi t hi m t o exercis e th e responsibilitie s o f no r otherwis e 
hold himsel f ou t t o b e a  "steward " no r t o deriv e an y statu s o r benefi t o f th e 
steward's positio n thereby . Moreover , Mezzin a shal l no t b e employe d a s no r 
otherwise permitte d t o ac t i n th e capacit y o f a  servic e provide r fo r Loca l 56 0 
unless specifically authorize d by this Court after notic e to the Government and 
an evidentiary hearin g upon hi s suitability. Notwithstandin g the foregoing, th e 
Executive Boar d ma y compensat e Mezzin a a t th e hourl y rat e o f a  busines s 
agent fo r service s rendere d durin g an y brie f perio d whic h i s necessar y t o 
accomplish a n orderl y transition , an d i t may otherwise compensat e hi m fro m 
time to time for lost wages and benefits necessitate d by his services as a witness. 

* *  * 

b. Th e Court' s Trustee shal l promptl y appoin t t o the Busines s Agent posi-
tion whic h Mezzin a ha s jus t vacate d a  suitabl e candidat e fro m amon g th e 
eligible members of Local 560 . 

c. Th e Busines s Agen t thereby appointe d shal l als o hold th e titl e o f Loca l 
560 Constructio n Referra l Administrato r an d shal l administe r th e Loca l 56 0 
construction referra l syste m referred t o in subparagraph "d " below. 

d. Withi n thirt y days of the entry of this Decree, the Executive Board shal l 
present to the Trustee and the Government fo r their approval a  comprehensive 
plan for a  fair system for jo b referrals i n the construction field.  The new system 
will hav e a s it s primar y objectiv e th e allocatio n o f th e availabl e wor k base d 
upon rationa l principle s and fundamental  fairness . Th e syste m shal l ensure t o 
the exten t possibl e tha t th e membershi p i s abl e t o ascertai n withou t undu e 
difficulty th e actua l operatio n o f th e syste m wit h respec t t o particula r jo b 
referrals. Th e syste m shal l incorporat e safeguard s reasonabl y availabl e t o pro-
tect its integrity. 
6. TH E COUR T TRUSTEE : Nothing contained herein shal l be construed as limiting 

the powers, duties and responsibilitie s presently assigned to the Court's Trustee. 
a. Incidenta l t o th e discharg e o f th e Cour t Trustee' s genera l oversigh t 

responsibility, th e Executiv e Boar d shal l o n a  weekl y basi s provid e th e Cour t 
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Trustee with a  certified repor t or minutes o f all Executiv e Board meeting s and 
of all othe r decisions o f the Executiv e Board , whethe r o r not made within th e 
confines o f a  forma l meeting . Thes e certifie d minute s o r report s shal l b e 
detailed and complete . 

b. Th e Executiv e Board shal l infor m th e Court Trustee in particular detai l 
about it s propose d action s wit h respec t t o th e appointmen t o r remova l o f al l 
subordinate officials , th e retention , performanc e and/o r termination o f service 
providers an d vendor s (whe n th e aggregat e cos t exceed s $5,00 0 pe r annum) , 
and the hiring or dismissal of employees. 

c. Th e Trustee shal l have plenary powers to investigate and to report to the 
Court upo n th e operation s o f th e unio n an d th e progres s o f th e remedia l 
effort o f th e Cour t Trusteeship—particularl y wit h respec t t o th e potential 
reemergence o f the racketeerin g proble m an d th e variou s condition s affectin g 
union democracy . I n conductin g an y suc h investigation , th e Cour t Truste e 
shall hav e complete an d unfettere d acces s to all records , official s an d employ -
ees of Local 560 . 

d. Loca l 56 0 shal l provid e reasonabl e compensatio n fo r suc h auditor s o r 
investigative accountants and support personnel as the Trustee deems necessary 
to discharge his investigative duties and responsibility . 
7. REMEDIES : An y part y herei n an d th e Truste e may , upo n notic e t o other s 

concerned, mak e applicatio n t o th e Cour t fo r enforcement  o f o r relie f fro m an y o f 
the term s an d provision s containe d herein ; an d th e Cour t ma y gran t suc h relie f a s 
shall b e equitabl e an d just , havin g du e regar d fo r th e purpos e o f th e underlyin g 
litigation, th e remedia l objective s o f the Cour t Trusteeship an d th e Opinion s relate d 
thereto, an d circumstance s existin g a t the time o f the application . An y willful viola -
tion o f any restrictio n o r prohibition containe d herein , o r other disobedienc e o f any 
mandate of this Decree shall be punishable as a contempt of court. 



The Commission : 
United States  v.  Salerno 
(Trial: September-November 1986 ) 

Introduction 
United States  v . Salerno  aimed t o fel l al l o f Ne w Yor k City' s Cos a Nostr a 
leaders with a  single stroke. The indictmen t charge d th e bosses of New York 
City's Cos a Nostr a crim e familie s an d severa l o f thei r subordinate s wit h 
constituting and operatin g a "commission" that served as a board o f directors 
and suprem e cour t fo r th e mob . I n provin g it s case, th e government sough t 
to place the defendants withi n the history of Cosa Nostra . I n a real sense, the 
case wa s abou t whethe r i t i s a  crime , meritin g lif e imprisonment , t o b e a 
Cosa Nostr a boss . Ultimately , th e jury , th e judge , an d th e appellat e cour t 
answered tha t question i n the affirmative . 

Background 
The background o f the Commission cas e is the history of Cosa Nostr a itself . 
For man y years , la w enforcemen t personne l asserte d th e existenc e o f a 
commission tha t coordinate d th e activitie s o f the mob . Thi s theor y seeme d 
to b e confirme d whe n Josep h Bonanno , th e forme r bos s o f th e Bonann o 
crime family, publishe d A  Man of  Honor.1 

According t o Bonanno' s romanticize d account , th e commissio n wa s 
founded i n 193 1 as a mechanis m fo r resolvin g interfamil y conflict s rangin g 
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from economi c disputes to bloody struggles such as the Castellammarese War 
of the late 1920s. 2 The commissio n wa s comprised o f prominent bosses who 
were electe d t o five-year terms a t nationa l meeting s o f Cosa Nostr a leader s 
from aroun d th e country . Th e las t suc h meeting , accordin g t o Bonanno , 
occurred i n Apalachin, Ne w York, i n 1956 ; since then, th e commission ha s 
been compose d o f the five New Yor k bosses. Rudolp h Giuliani , the n U.S . 
attorney fo r th e Souther n Distric t o f New York , ha s been quote d a s saying, 
"If Bonanno can write about a Commission, I  can indict it." 

Investigation 
United States  v . Salerno  bega n i n 1980 , whe n th e FBP s Ne w Yor k Cit y 
office initiate d operatio n GENUS , assignin g team s t o buil d RIC O case s 
against eac h o f th e five  Ne w Yor k crim e families . Ultimately , ove r tw o 
hundred agent s wer e involve d i n thi s operation , aide d b y a  numbe r o f 
assistant U.S. attorneys. 

Operation GENU S coordinate d federal , state , an d loca l agencies : FB I 
agents, Ne w Yor k Cit y detective s an d officers , assistan t U.S . attorneys , a s 
well as New York State Organized Crim e Task Force attorneys and investiga -
tors. I t utilized electronic surveillance on a scale previously unknown. Inves -
tigators gathered ove r fou r thousan d hour s o f conversations pursuan t t o 17 1 
court-authorized bug s and wiretaps. 3 Agents planted bug s in location s rang -
ing fro m Genoves e crim e famil y bos s Anthony Salerno' s headquarters , th e 
Palma Boy Social Club in East Harlem, t o automobiles driven by defendants 
Ralph Scop o an d Anthon y Corallo , t o the hom e o f Paul Castellano , Gam -
bino famil y bos s an d repute d hea d o f th e commission . Thes e bug s wer e 
extraordinarily productive . Ove r th e Castellan o bug , tw o agent s listene d 
around th e cloc k fo r fou r month s t o discussion s o f crimina l activity , Gam -
bino famil y interna l politics , Cos a Nostr a intervention s i n th e constructio n 
industry, an d tur f dispute s amon g th e familie s involve d i n garmen t industr y 
racketeering. Ove r the Corallo bug, agent s of the New York State Organized 
Crime Tas k Forc e listene d fo r fou r month s t o sensitiv e discussion s o f Luc -
chese crime family an d commission activities . 

Infiltration an d intensiv e surveillanc e o f the Bonann o famil y prove d par -
ticularly fruitful . FB I Agen t Josep h Piston e passe d alon g extensiv e informa -
tion abou t th e disorde r withi n tha t family , whic h ha d cause d it s earlie r 
takeover by the commission . 

Over five years, the investigator s obtained sufficien t informatio n t o fill in 
the structure , hierarchy , an d activitie s o f each o f the crim e families . Whil e 
law enforcement official s ha d previousl y obtaine d glimpse s o f Cosa Nostra' s 
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organization, th e informatio n ha d neve r befor e bee n a s thoroughl y an d 
systematically collected , assembled , an d analyzed . 

The intelligenc e informatio n generate d b y operation GENU S resulte d i n 
separate RIC O prosecution s o f eac h o f th e five  Ne w Yor k crim e families 4 

and i n the Commission case . Eac h family RIC O case indicted th e leaders of 
a crim e family , chargin g tha t the y ha d participate d i n th e affair s o f a n 
enterprise (thei r mo b family ) throug h a  patter n o f racketeerin g activity . 
United States  v . Salerno  indicted i n on e cas e the bosses and underbosse s o f 
the four Ne w York families represente d o n the commission, alon g with thei r 
key underlings , fo r runnin g th e commission . (Th e Bonann o famil y wa s no t 
represented o n th e commissio n a t thi s tim e becaus e i t was i n th e throe s o f 
civil war.) According to Giuliani, "Th e [Commission ] case should be seen as 
the ape x o f th e famil y cases . . . . I t i s a n attempt , i f w e ca n prov e ou r 
charges, t o dismantle the structure that has been use d since the beginning of 
organized crim e in the United States. " 

The Indictmen t 
The indictment , unseale d o n Februar y 26 , 1985 , named a s defendants mor e 
Cosa Nostra leaders than had ever before been indicted at one time.5 The de-
fendants wer e Paul Castellano, bos s of the Gambino family (droppe d afte r h e 
was murdere d o n Decembe r 16 , 1985) ; Aniello Dellacroce , Gambin o un -
derboss; Anthony Salerno , bos s o f th e Genoves e family ; Anthon y Corallo , 
boss of the Lucches e family ; Carmin e Persico , bos s of the Colomb o family ; 
Gennaro Langella, Colomb o underboss; Ralph Scopo , Colombo soldier; Sal-
vatore Santoro , Lucches e underboss ; Christopher Furnari , Lucches e consig-
liere; and Anthony Indelicato , Bonann o capo.6 Although they had never rep-
resented thei r respectiv e familie s o n th e commission , Scop o an d Indelicat o 
were named as defendants because they executed the commission's orders. 

The theory of the government's case was that the Cosa Nostra commissio n 
constituted a  crimina l enterprise ; tha t eac h defendan t wa s a  membe r o r 
functionary o f the commission; and tha t each defendan t ha d committed tw o 
or mor e racketeerin g act s i n furtheranc e o f th e commission' s goals . Ac -
cording t o th e prosecution , th e defendants ' predicat e racketeerin g act s fel l 
into thre e categories : first,  managemen t o f a  multifamil y bid-riggin g an d 
extortion schem e i n th e Ne w Yor k concrete industry ; second , conspirac y t o 
organize loansharking territorie s i n State n Island ; and, third , th e murders of 
Bonanno famil y bos s Carmine Galant e an d tw o of his associates i n further -
ance o f th e commission' s effor t t o resolv e a  Bonann o famil y leadershi p 
dispute. 
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The indictmen t charge d thes e defendant s bot h wit h operatin g th e com -
mission throug h a  pattern  o f racketeerin g activit y an d wit h conspirin g t o 
operate i t a s a  racketeerin g enterprise . Th e governmen t allege d tha t th e 
commission's raiso n d'etr e wa s t o "regulat e an d facilitat e th e relationship s 
between an d amon g L a Cos a Nostr a families. " Through th e enterprise , th e 
defendants wer e alleged t o have engage d i n o r aided an d abette d authoriza -
tion o f murders, narcotic s trafficking , loansharking , an d infiltratio n o f labor 
unions. Th e indictmen t als o charge d tha t th e commissio n "maintaine d it s 
authority by identifying itsel f with threats and violence." 

In suppor t o f th e commission' s existence , th e indictmen t include d a 
history o f the commission' s membershi p and activities . I t named th e leader s 
of th e five  familie s tha t ha d bee n represente d o n th e commissio n sinc e 
its formatio n i n 1931 , including , amon g others , Vit o Genovese , Thoma s 
Lucchese, Joseph Colombo, Carl o Gambino, an d Albert Anastasia. 

The indictmen t charge d al l o f th e defendant s excep t Indelicat o wit h 
utilizing thei r dominanc e ove r th e Distric t Counci l o f th e Concret e an d 
Cement Worker s Unio n t o organiz e an d overse e a  "concrete club, " a carte l 
of concrete contractors . Th e operatio n o f the concrete club was the basis for 
thirteen count s o f extortin g mone y fro m contractor s an d si x labo r briber y 
counts. I n addition , Corall o an d Santor o were charged wit h participating i n 
a State n Islan d loansharkin g conspiracy , an d Indelicat o wa s charge d wit h 
furthering th e purpose s o f the commissio n b y murdering Carmin e Galante , 
Leonard Coppola , an d Giusepp e Turano , thre e mo b figures  wh o oppose d 
the commission's chosen candidat e during it s reorganization o f the Bonann o 
crime family . 

Thus, th e governmen t painte d organize d crim e a s a  sprawlin g crimina l 
conglomerate whos e activitie s range d fro m garden-variet y vic e racket s t o 
murder, labo r racketeering , bi d rigging , an d unfai r competitio n i n th e con -
struction industry . I t also presente d a  vague pictur e o f the commissio n a s a 
Cosa Nostra cour t and as a board o f managers pursuing it s own criminal en -
terprises. 

The Prosecutio n 
The tria l bega n o n Septembe r 8 , 1986. 7 Assistant U.S . Attorney s Michae l 
Chertoff, Joh n Savarese , an d Joh n Childer s conducte d th e prosecution . 
Federal distric t judg e Richar d Owe n preside d a t th e trial . Carmin e Persic o 
represented himself , a  strategy tha t enable d hi m t o addres s the jur y directl y 
without exposin g himsel f t o cross-examination ; som e o f th e nine-week -
long trial' s mos t dramati c moment s involve d Persico' s cross-examination s 
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of forme r mo b associate s an d member s wh o wer e testifyin g fo r th e gov -
ernment. 

The prosecutio n too k advantag e o f th e requiremen t unde r RIC O tha t i t 
prove th e existenc e o f a n organizatio n i n fact . Th e prosecutor s pu t int o 
evidence a  histor y o f organized crim e an d o f th e commission . The y bega n 
their cas e wit h evidenc e o f the Apalachi n meetin g tha t ha d occurre d thirt y 
years previously an d the y adduce d testimon y abou t infamou s mobster s wh o 
had die d lon g befor e th e event s charge d i n th e case . No t surprisingly , th e 
defendants strenuously , bu t unsuccessfully , objecte d t o th e recitatio n o f th e 
history o f Cosa Nostr a an d it s commission , arguin g tha t suc h evidenc e wa s 
irrelevant and prejudicial . 

The government' s first  witnesse s wer e severa l stat e trooper s wh o ha d 
conducted th e famou s 195 9 Apalachin raid . Th e prosecution' s bes t witnes s 
on Cos a Nostr a histor y an d custom s wa s Angel o Lonardo , th e underbos s 
defector from th e Cleveland crime family. Hi s testimony touched on the lives 
and career s o f legendar y gangsters—Vit o Genovese , Thoma s Lucchese , 
Joseph Colombo , Carl o Gambino , Alber t Anastasia . Hi s vivi d testimon y 
provided exquisit e detai l o n th e Mafia' s traditions , codes , structure , an d 
activities. Further , Lonard o identifie d eac h o f the defendants an d name d hi s 
organizational statu s within the Cosa Nostra hierarchy . 

In additio n t o Angel o Lonardo , th e governmen t calle d Fre d DeChris -
topher, a  cousi n wit h who m Carmin e Persic o ha d live d whil e h e wa s a 
fugitive fro m Novembe r 198 4 to February 1985 ; Joseph Cantalupo, a  forme r 
Colombo famil y member ; and Josep h Pistone , th e FB I agen t who had infil -
trated th e Bonann o family . The y als o testified a s to the traditions and meth -
ods of Cosa Nostra and it s commission, th e Mafia's initiatio n rituals , and the 
intrafamily politic s o f th e Ne w Yor k families . Thes e rule s an d custom s o f 
Cosa Nostra , whic h traditionall y insulate d th e bosses from prosecution , no w 
were offered a s evidence proving the existence of an enterprise that passed on 
its structure , rules , an d crimina l franchise s fro m generatio n t o generation . 
Assistant U.S . Attorne y Joh n Savares e describe d th e defendant s a s "[t]h e 
board of directors of a vast criminal enterprise"; 8 the jury cannot have helped 
being impressed by such reference s an d testimony . 

Moving fro m a  historica l expos e o f Cos a Nostra , th e prosecutio n pro -
ceeded t o establis h th e defendants ' violation s o f RIC O b y provin g thei r 
membership on the commission and thei r predicate acts: the authorization of 
the 197 8 murder s o f Carmin e Galante , Giusepp e Turano , an d Leonar d 
Coppola; th e aidin g an d abettin g o f State n Islan d loansharking ; an d th e 
management o f a cartel tha t controlled th e New York concrete industry . Th e 
case agains t Scop o wa s prove d b y showin g hi s collectio n o f "extortionate " 
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payments o n behal f o f the commission fro m concret e contractors . Th e gov -
ernment's case against Indelicate hinged upo n evidence that the commission 
had authorized hi s murder of Carmine Galante . 

The prosecutors sought to prove that the concrete cartel permitted onl y its 
seven member s t o bi d o n concret e contract s i n Ne w Yor k Cit y tha t wer e 
worth mor e tha n $ 2 million . Th e Distric t Counci l o f th e Concret e an d 
Cement Worker s Unio n enforce d th e carte l b y refusin g t o carr y ou t (o r by 
subverting) unauthorize d contracts . Thi s enable d th e clu b t o allocat e con -
tracts amon g it s members , contract s tha t wer e especiall y profitabl e becaus e 
the carte l coul d nam e it s own price . I n exchang e fo r thi s lucrative opportu -
nity, th e contractor s ha d t o kic k bac k t o th e commissio n 2  percen t o f th e 
contract prices . Fo r purpose s o f federa l crimina l law , th e governmen t cas t 
this scheme as an extortion o f contractors. A s the New York State Organized 
Crime Tas k Forc e reported , i n realit y th e contractor s wer e willin g partici -
pants who passed the 2-percent surcharge on to their customers.9 

The club' s operation s wer e extensivel y detaile d throug h direc t testimon y 
and dozens of taped conversations . Stanle y Sterncho s of Technical Concret e 
Construction Compan y an d Jame s Costigan o f X.L.O. Concret e Company , 
contractors wh o ha d bot h bee n charge d wit h Taft-Hartle y Ac t violation s 
(making payoffs t o a labor official , Ralp h Scopo , bagma n fo r the cartel ) and 
had bee n grante d immunit y i n exchang e fo r thei r testimony , describe d th e 
operation o f the club.10 

In makin g it s cas e agains t Corall o an d Santoro , th e governmen t argue d 
that the y ha d facilitate d loansharkin g b y resolvin g a  territoria l disput e be -
tween th e Lucches e an d Gambin o families . Thi s wa s a RICO predicat e ac t 
because i t (1 ) constitute d aidin g an d abettin g o f loansharking , an d (2 ) fur -
thered the goals of the commission a s an enterprise . 

The government argued that the Carmine Galante murder was ordered by 
the commissio n i n orde r t o resolv e a  powe r struggl e withi n th e Bonann o 
family. Fre d DeChristopher , Carmin e Persico' s cousin b y marriage, testifie d 
that Persico had told him tha t he had voted against the murder i n a commis-
sion meeting. Fro m this , the jury was asked to infer tha t the commission ha d 
voted to kill Galante. 

Joseph Piston e als o testifie d o n th e commission' s involvemen t i n th e 
Galante murder . H e had bee n informed , whil e undercove r i n th e Bonann o 
family, tha t the family ha d been take n unde r commissio n contro l because of 
instability resultin g from a  leadership dispute between Carmine Galant e and 
Philip Rastelli . Afte r th e murder , h e wa s tol d tha t th e commissio n ha d 
reorganized th e family unde r Rastelli , returnin g i t to autonomous control fo r 
the first time in a decade. 
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Indelicato's palm prin t was found o n the Galante murderers ' getaway car , 
firmly linking hi m t o the crime . Further , th e prosecutio n showe d a  surveil-
lance vide o o f Indelicat o bein g congratulate d a t th e Gambin o famil y head -
quarters, th e Ravenit e Socia l Club , b y Bonann o famil y consigliere  Stefano 
Canone and Gambino family underbos s Aniello Dellacroce less than hal f an 
hour afte r th e murders . Th e governmen t offere d thi s after-the-fac t approva l 
to show that the commission ha d authorized Indelicat o to kill Galante. 

The Defens e Cas e 
The scope and depth o f the prosecution cas e confronted th e defendants wit h 
a difficult task . The defendants' primary trial strategy was to attempt, throug h 
cross-examination, t o discredit the witnesses who testified agains t them, an d 
to argue that the government's electronic surveillance demonstrated onl y the 
existence o f an organization , no t it s involvement i n an y crimina l activities . 
The defens e concede d th e existenc e o f a  concret e club , bu t argue d tha t it s 
members were contractors. 

Corallo's attorney admitte d th e existenc e of Cosa Nostr a an d it s commis-
sion, the first such admission i n the history of Mafia defendants . Th e defens e 
argued, however , tha t th e commissio n wa s no t involve d i n an y crimina l 
activity and tha t membership i n either Cosa Nostra o r the commission alon e 
was no t proo f o f criminality . Th e defendant s argue d tha t th e commission' s 
only role s wer e th e mediatio n o f interna l Cos a Nostr a famil y conflict s an d 
the approval of new members; they denied any involvement in loansharking , 
murder, o r extortion . Further , the y denie d an y connectio n betwee n th e 
commission an d th e concret e club , arguing  tha t th e latte r wa s a n industr y 
cartel operating on it s own. 

Ralph Scopo' s attorney , Joh n Jacobs , admitte d i n hi s closin g argument s 
that hi s client had accepte d payoff s fro m employers , bu t he denied tha t they 
were extortionat e o r collecte d o n th e commission' s behalf . Th e defendant s 
argued tha t th e contractor s wer e willing participant s i n a n extremel y profit -
able carte l an d shoul d themselve s hav e bee n prosecute d fo r bi d rigging . 
According to Anthony Cardinale , th e lawyer for Anthony Salerno , 

It i s a club o f contractors , no t o f commission member s .  .  .  th e commissio n ha d 
nothing to do with the concrete payments. .  .  .  Listen to the words that are actually 
being spoken, the y do not contain an y threats o r any pressure . .  . .  The concret e 
companies gladly paid to gain an advantage in the industry.11 

Further, th e defendant s argue d tha t ther e was a long tradition o f bid riggin g 
in Ne w York' s constructio n industry , predatin g th e allege d influenc e o f a 
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Cosa Nostra commission. Later , i n their appeals, the defendants would argue 
that life sentences for bid rigging were cruel and unusual . 

The defendant s attempte d t o discredi t Lonard o an d th e government' s 
other Cos a Nostr a witnesse s a s traitor s lookin g t o eve n ol d score s an d sav e 
themselves fro m lon g priso n terms . Lonard o wa s brande d a  turncoa t wh o 
had promised t o serve the government i n any way possible to get himself ou t 
of prison . Persico , representin g himself , argue d tha t Josep h Cantalupo , a 
former Colomb o associate , ha d a  grudge against him because of a beating by 
Persico's brother ove r an unpai d loansharkin g debt . "Yo u was angry becaus e 
you wa s bea t up , an d yo u wa s bea t u p becaus e yo u didn' t pa y bac k th e 
money," argued Persico . Thi s argumentativ e "question " ma y hav e backfire d 
by revealing Persico's own involvement in loansharking , rathe r than discred -
iting Cantalupo. Persic o ran int o similar difficulties i n hi s cross-examinatio n 
of Sternchos, who, according to Persico, had demonstrated his untrustworthi-
ness by failing t o make necessar y payoff s t o Ralph Scopo , a n argumen t tha t 
the jury may have found mor e inculpatory than exculpatory . 

Unfortunately fo r th e defense , th e multitud e o f government photograph s 
of gathering s o f th e Cos a Nostr a defendants , combine d wit h intercepte d 
references t o commissio n meetings , provide d convincin g evidenc e o f th e 
commission's activities . Recording s o f Scop o explainin g th e commission' s 
rules fo r th e concret e clu b an d o f Corall o discussin g hi s plans  t o murde r 
Cosa Nostr a dru g dealers , wer e equall y har d fo r th e defendant s t o rebut . 
Ultimately, th e prosecution' s overwhelmin g evidenc e wa s too muc h fo r th e 
defense to overcome. 

The Verdic t an d Sentenc e 
On Novembe r 19 , 1986 , afte r si x day s o f deliberation , th e jur y foun d th e 
Salerno defendants guilty of all seventeen racketeerin g acts and twenty related 
charges of extortion, labo r payoffs, an d loansharking . Th e verdic t was hailed 
by la w enforcemen t official s an d commentators : Rudolp h Giulian i an -
nounced, "Th e verdic t reache d toda y ha s resulted i n dismantlin g th e rulin g 
council o f La Cosa Nostra. " 

In pronouncin g sentenc e o n th e Salerno  defendants, Judg e Owe n state d 
that "th e sentenc e ha s t o b e fashione d t o spea k t o [futur e crim e bosses]. " 
Despite th e fac t tha t Salerno' s predicat e crime s wer e "extortion " (i n reality , 
bid rigging), Judge Owen excoriated him at sentencing: "You have spent your 
lifetime terrorizin g you r community. " H e the n sentence d al l o f th e defen -
dants, excep t Anthony Indelicato , t o one hundred year s in prison; Indelicat e 
received fort y years . I n addition , h e impose d fines  o n Corall o an d Santor o 
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of $250,000 , o n Indelicat o o f $50,000 , an d o n th e othe r defendant s o f 
$240,000 each . 

Although som e organized-crim e bosse s i n th e pas t hav e retaine d thei r 
leadership position s whil e imprisoned , runnin g famil y busines s throug h 
trusted subordinates , th e lif e sentence s i n Salerno  hav e almos t certainl y 
ended these defendants' careers. 12 

The Appeal 
The defendant s appeale d thei r conviction s o n numerou s grounds . Amon g 
their man y arguments, 13 the y claime d tha t th e evidenc e wa s insufficien t t o 
prove (1 ) the extortio n o f five concrete companie s whos e principle s di d no t 
testify; (2 ) Corallo's involvemen t i n th e concret e club ; (3) the existenc e o f a 
loansharking conspiracy ; and (4 ) the commission' s involvemen t i n th e mur -
ders of Carmine Galante, Giuseppe Turano, and Leonard Coppola. Anthon y 
Indelicato appeale d hi s RIC O convictio n fo r participatio n i n th e 197 8 Ga -
lante murde r o n th e groun d tha t th e five-year  RIC O statut e o f limitation s 
had expired. 14 Al l o f th e defendant s challenge d th e admissibilit y o f th e 
extensive evidence on the history of Cosa Nostra , an d al l of them challenge d 
the severity of their sentences. 

The Secon d Circui t Cour t o f Appeals rejecte d al l o f the insufficiency-of -
evidence arguments. 15 I t held tha t there was sufficient evidenc e to prove the 
existence o f th e concret e club , a s wel l a s systemati c briber y an d extortio n 
in th e concret e industry . Whil e ther e wa s n o direc t evidenc e o f Corallo' s 
participation i n th e cartel , th e cour t foun d hi m t o b e a  carte l membe r 
because h e wa s a  membe r o f th e commissio n tha t manage d th e carte l an d 
because hi s subordinate , Lucches e famil y consigliere  Christopher Furnari , 
had participated i n the cartel's allocations of concrete contracts. 

The Secon d Circui t also rejected th e argument tha t there was insufficien t 
evidence to prove that the defendants' loansharkin g and murde r conspiracie s 
were carried ou t i n furtherance o f the commission' s objectives . Wit h respec t 
to the loansharking charge, the court held tha t 

[t]he jury could reasonably conclude that the efforts of Corallo and Santoro were not 
only related to the Commission's activities, but actually furthered th e Commission's 
goal o f arbitrating interfamil y dispute s an d coordinatin g crimina l activitie s among 
the families.16 

Similarly, wit h respec t t o th e relationshi p betwee n th e commissio n an d th e 
Galante murders , the Second Circui t held tha t 
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[t]here was evidence at trial that the Commission ha d established a  "death penalty" 
for anyone who might murder a boss without prior Commission approval . After the 
Galante murders, however, Indelicat o was not eliminated, bu t was promoted by the 
Commission. .  . .  The murders were a product of multifamily coordination , which 
is one of the functions o f the Commission. .  . .  The jury could reasonably conclude 
that the Commission approved the murder of Galante in order to resolve the Rastelli-
Galante dispute and to restore order and autonomy to the Bonanno family.17 

The Secon d Circuit' s opinio n coul d b e interprete d t o mea n tha t al l th e 
commission member s are responsible for crimes that fall within the commis-
sion's jurisdiction , broadl y defined , withou t proo f o f direc t participatio n o r 
even aidin g an d abetting . I f so , Cos a Nostr a leader s woul d fac e expansiv e 
RICO liabilit y simpl y fo r thei r statu s i n organize d crime . A s th e Salerno 
dissent argued, 

That th e Commission' s rol e as peace-keeper amon g the families shoul d subjec t it s 
officers t o crimina l liabilit y fo r al l crime s engage d i n b y any individua l o r famil y 
member o f the Mafi a woul d eviscerat e th e requiremen t o f improper inten t i n our 
conspiracy laws.18 

It is not clear , indee d i t is unlikely, tha t the commission enforce s it s rules 
so automatically tha t crimina l liabilit y shoul d follo w withou t specifi c proo f 
of commission actio n i n particula r instances . A s the dissent observed, "testi -
mony that the 'common law ' of La Cosa Nostra requires Commission autho -
rization befor e a  famil y bos s ca n b e kille d doe s no t prov e tha t th e la w was 
observed i n Galante' s case." 19 I n severa l othe r case s wher e bosse s hav e 
been killed , includin g Pau l Castellano , a  prio r commissio n vot e ha s no t 
been shown. 

The defendant s furthe r argue d tha t th e admissio n o f evidenc e o f Cos a 
Nostra's histor y wa s reversibl e erro r becaus e i t ha d n o relevanc e t o th e 
charges an d wa s highl y prejudicial . Th e appellat e cour t disagreed , holdin g 
that Cosa Nostra' s history and traditions were relevant because they tended to 
show the purposes the commission serve d for Cosa Nostra : 

[Djiscussions o f Commission rule s and structures .  . .  served the Commission con-
spiracy by educating famil y member s concerning Commissio n polic y an d control , 
thus insuring obedience and knowledgeable participation within the highly structured 
and secretive criminal network.20 

Cosa Nostra' s traditions and methods , which had served as means of insulat-
ing th e bosse s fro m prosecution , wer e her e use d a s proo f o f bot h Cos a 
Nostra's existence and the commission's manageria l role . 

Finally, th e Secon d Circui t acknowledge d th e severit y o f th e 100-yea r 
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sentences bu t conclude d tha t th e judg e acte d wel l withi n hi s discretio n i n 
handing them down . Judg e Owen's "message to future bosses " was affirmed . 

Conclusion 
As lat e a s 1983 , defendant s i n a  majo r Chicag o organized-crim e tria l ha d 
dismissed "Cos a Nostra " a s a  fictional  constructio n o f medi a an d govern -
ment.21 Man y sociologist s an d othe r academic s continue d t o deny th e exis -
tence o f a  coordinate d organized-crim e grou p i n th e Unite d States. 22 I n 
Salerno, th e governmen t conclusivel y rebutte d thes e denials . A s Giulian i 
stated, "I f w e ca n prov e th e existenc e o f th e Mafi a i n cour t beyon d a 
reasonable doubt , w e ca n en d thi s debat e abou t whethe r th e Mafi a exists . 
We ca n prov e tha t th e Mafi a i s as touchable an d convictabl e a s anyone." 23 

After nearl y five decades, U.S . la w enforcement ha d addresse d a  phenome-
non lon g take n fo r grante d b y Hollywoo d an d popula r folklore . Salerno 
exhaustively prove d Cos a Nostra' s existence , organization , rules , an d 
involvement i n crimina l activitie s a s divers e a s loansharking , murder , an d 
labor and corporate racketeering . 

In provin g th e concret e clu b cartel , th e governmen t reveale d ho w en -
trenched an d sophisticate d Cos a Nostr a ha s become in exploiting opportuni -
ties i n th e legitimat e economy . Afte r th e commissio n case , Cos a Nostra' s 
control o f mor e tha n a  doze n trad e union s i n th e Ne w Yor k constructio n 
industry wa s expose d i n th e Ne w Yor k Stat e Organize d Crim e Tas k Forc e 
report Corruption  and  Racketeering  in  the  New  York  City  Construction 
Industry1* and in many criminal and civi l RICO cases. The upper tier of the 
concrete cartel , controllin g concret e contract s i n exces s o f $ 5 million , wa s 
later targete d i n a  prosecutio n o f S  &  A  Concret e an d it s chie f operatin g 
officer,25 an d severa l subsequen t governmen t racketeerin g suit s and crimina l 
prosecutions hav e attempted t o break Cosa Nostra' s control ove r New York's 
construction unions . 

However, whil e Salerno undoubtedly prove d the existence of Cosa Nostr a 
and som e sor t o f commissio n mad e u p o f th e bosse s o f th e Ne w Yor k 
families, i t raised as many questions as it answered. A t times, the prosecution 
referred t o the commission a s a national  boar d o f directors for the mob , bu t 
its membership wa s said t o be limited t o the Ne w York City crime families , 
and all of the predicate acts charged i n the case involved New York mobsters. 
The prosecutio n offere d testimon y concernin g commissio n influenc e i n 
Cleveland an d Buffal o an d historica l evidenc e o f commission representatio n 
for familie s outsid e o f Ne w York , bu t i t di d littl e t o develo p a  thoroug h 
picture o f Cosa Nostr a a s a national organizatio n o r of the commission a s a 
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nationwide court and/or board of directors. I n our view, there is not sufficien t 
evidence t o conclud e tha t ther e exist s a  nationa l decisionmakin g bod y wit h 
authority t o adjudicate dispute s among al l of the Cosa Nostr a familie s i n the 
United States , much les s direct their criminal activities . 

The mechanism s o f commissio n an d Cos a Nostr a decisionmakin g ar e 
similarly obscure . Th e cas e leave s u s i n doub t abou t ho w th e commissio n 
makes decisions—fo r example , b y unanimit y o r majorit y rule—an d ho w 
the commission enforce s it s judgments . W e are also lef t wonderin g ho w the 
commission goe s abou t votin g (i f i t does ) t o assassinat e on e o f it s ow n 
members. Did John Gotti obtain approval from the commission to assassinate 
Paul Castellano ? I f so , ho w wa s i t tha t thre e member s o f th e commissio n 
would hav e voted , i f the y did , t o kil l a  fourth ? I f Gott i di d g o t o th e 
commission, ho w coul d h e hav e bee n confiden t tha t hi s intention s woul d 
not hav e bee n communicate d t o Pau l Castellano? 26 An d wha t abou t th e 
plot b y member s o f th e Genoves e famil y t o kil l Joh n Gotti , whic h th e 
FBI overheard? 

Neither the authority no r the power of the commission wa s made clear in 
Salerno. Can th e commission tak e jurisdiction ove r disputes on it s own or is 
its jurisdiction conferre d b y parties (families) to a dispute? Does the commis-
sion act on it s own initiative to "punish" rule violations or conduct not in the 
best interes t o f Cos a Nostr a a s a  whole , o r doe s i t wai t fo r a  complaint ? 
When does the commission interven e in intrafamily disputes ? In cases where 
rival faction s vi e for contro l o f a family, o n wha t basi s does the commissio n 
decide which party to support? 

Taken a t it s broadest, Salerno  stands for the proposition tha t Cosa Nostr a 
leaders ca n b e convicte d o f committin g RIC O offense s a t an y time . Th e 
government nee d onl y sho w (1) that th e defendan t participate d i n a n enter -
prise, namel y a  crime family, th e commission, o r Cosa Nostra generally, an d 
(2) that h e di d s o through a  pattern o f racketeerin g activity—i n effect , an y 
two crimes committed (a ) by himself or (b) by his underlings if he "conspired" 
in, "authorized, " or "aided an d abetted " those crimes. Proo f of this "authori-
zation" ca n b e satisfie d b y proo f o f th e defendant' s statu s i n th e hierarchy . 
The us e o f RICO i n thi s cas e an d i n th e famil y RIC O case s came clos e t o 
convicting mobster s simpl y fo r bein g mobsters , i f i t di d no t actuall y cros s 
that line. 

Despite th e question s i t lef t unanswered , Salerno's  expansion o f RIC O 
liability—and th e prominenc e o f its defendants—supports th e clai m tha t i t 
was the mos t ambitious, an d amon g the mos t successful, o f the hundreds of 
federal Cos a Nostr a prosecution s durin g th e 1980s . Professo r G . Rober t 
Blakey, the principle draftsman o f RICO, summed i t up well: 
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The Commissio n cas e i s to RIC O wha t th e Standar d Oi l cas e wa s to th e Sherma n 
Act. Th e Sherma n Ac t was written i n 189 0 to get at the Standar d Oi l trust , an d tha t 
case wasn't brought unti l twenty years later. S o we're five years ahead.27 
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and tha t i t ha d faile d t o prov e th e connectio n betwee n th e commissio n an d th e 
Gallante murders . 

16. United  States  v  Salerno, 86 8 F2d 524 , 53 2 (2d Cir 1989) . 
17. Id . a t 533. 
18. Id . a t 545. 
19. Id . 
20. Id . a t 537. 
21. U.S.-Italian  Teamwork  Bringing Organized-Crime Chiefs to Trial, New York 

Times, 1 8 October 1985 , Al . 
22. Se e Josep h Albini , The  American  Mafia:  Genesis  of  a  Legend  (Irvington, 

1979); Norval Morri s and Gordo n Hawkins , The  Honest  Politicians  Guide  to  Crime 
Control (University o f Chicago Press , 1979) ; Dwight C . Smith , The  Mafia Mystique 
(Basic Books, 1975) . 

23. Michae l Winerip , High-Profile  Prosecutor, New Yor k Times , 9  Jun e 1985 , 
sec. 6 , p . 37 . 

24. Ronal d Goldstock , Marti n Marcus , Thoma s Thacher , an d Jame s Jacobs , 
Corruption and Racketeering in  the New York City Construction  Industry: The Final 
Report of  the  New  York  State Organized  Crime  Task  Force (Ne w Yor k Universit y 
Press, 1990) . 

25. Se e United  States v  Salerno, supra note 9. 
26. Se e Howar d Blum , Gangland:  How  the  FBI  Broke the Mob  (Simo n an d 

Schuster, 1993) . 
27. U.S.-Italian  Teamwork  Bringing Organized-Crime Chiefs to Trial, New York 

Times, 1 8 October 1985 , Al. (Thi s quote appears in several sources. ) 



Appendix A 

United States  v. Salerno, Indictment 

Count On e 

The Grand Jury charges: 
That at all times material to this Indictment : 

The Enterprise 

1. ANTHON Y SALERNO , a/k/ a "Fat Tony," PAUL CASTELLANO , a/k/ a "Paulie," a/k/a 

"Mr. Paul, " a/k/a "Big Paul," ANIELL O DELLACROCE , a/k/ a "Neil," a/k/a "O'Neil," 
GENNARO LANGELLA , a/k/ a "Gerr y Lang," ANTHONY CORALLO , a/k/ a "Tony Ducks," 
SALVATORE SANTORO , a/k/ a "To m Mix, " CHRISTOPHE R FURNARI , a/k/ a "Christi e 

Tick," PHILI P RASTELLI , a/k/ a "Rusty," and RALP H SCOPO , th e defendants, an d others 
known and unknown to the Grand Jury who are not named as defendants in this Indict-
ment, constitute d an enterprise a s defined i n Title 18 , United State s Code , Sectio n 
1961(4), that is , a group of individuals associated in fact, whic h enterprise is often de-
scribed as the "Commission" of La Cosa Nostra ("The Commission"), and which oper-
ated in New York and other locations in the United States and other countries. 

2. Fro m i n or about 190 0 up to and including th e date o f the filing  of this 
Indictment, ther e existe d i n the United State s a criminal societ y know n b y various 
names, includin g "La Cosa Nostra " and "the Mafia, " which societ y operated throug h 
entities know n as "Families." Each suc h Famil y had as its leader a person know n as 
"Boss," or "Father," or "Acting Boss," a deputy leader known as "Underboss" or "Sec-
ond," and a high rankin g officia l know n as "Consigliere." Each Famil y further oper -
ated throug h th e participation o f officers know n as "Capos" or "Group Leaders, " and 
members know n a s "Soldiers" and "Associates." 

3. Th e Boss of each Family , wit h th e assistance o f the Underboss an d Consig-
liere, supervised , promoted , an d protected th e criminal activitie s of the Capos , Sol -
diers an d Associates o f the Family , and , in return , receive d a  par t o f the illega l 
earnings of those Capos, Soldier s and Associates. 

4. Fiv e of the La Cosa Nostr a Familie s had their principa l headquarter s in Ne w 
York City , althoug h the y operate d throughou t th e Unite d State s an d abroad. The 
Families wer e ofte n identifie d b y the name o f their Bos s or of a former Boss . Fro m 
1931 up to and including the date of the filing of this Indictmen t th e succession of 
Bosses or Acting Bosses of the five New York City La Cosa Nostr a Familie s include d 
the following individuals : 

94 
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/ III 

Charles Lucian o 
a/k/a "Charli e Lucky" 

Frank Costello 

Vito Genovese 
Frank Tieri, 
a/k/a "Funzi " 

Anthony Salern o 
a/k/a "Fa t Tony" 

IV 

Gaetano Gaglian o 

Thomas Lucches e 
a/k/a "Tommy Brown" 

Anthony Corall o 
a/k/a "Tony Ducks" 

Frank Scalis e 

Vincent Mangan o 

Albert Anastasia 
a/k/a "The Earthquake " 
Carlo Gambin o 
a/k/a "Carl " 

Paul Castellano 
a/k/a "Paulie " 
a/k/a "Mr . Paul " 
a/k/a "Big Paul" 

Angelo Caruso 

Joseph Bonann o 

Carmine Galant e 

Philip Rastell i 
a/k/a "Rusty " 

Joseph Profac i 

Salvatore Magliocco 

Joseph Colomb o 

Carmine Persic o 
a/k/a "Junior " 

Thomas DiBell a 

Gennaro Langell a 
a/k/a "Gerry Lang" 

Throughout thi s Indictment , th e five  Familie s headquartere d i n Ne w Yor k wil l b e 
described respectivel y a s th e Genoves e Organize d Crim e Famil y ("Th e Genoves e 
Family"), th e Gambin o Organize d Crim e Famil y ("Th e Gambin o Family") , th e 
Colombo Organize d Crim e Famil y ("Th e Colomb o Family") , th e Lucches e Orga -
nized Crim e Famil y ("Th e Lucches e Family") , an d th e Bonann o Organize d Crim e 
Family ("The Bonann o Family") . 

5. Eac h L a Cos a Nostr a Famil y wa s a separate organization . Normally , th e Boss 
and rulin g officer s o f each Famil y possesse d th e ful l authorit y t o supervise, regulate , 
and direc t al l illega l activitie s which involve d o r affected th e interest s o f officers an d 
members of that particular Famil y exclusively. However , illega l activities involving or 
affecting th e interest s of officers o r members o f two or more La Cosa Nostr a Familie s 
exceeded th e jurisdictio n o f an y singl e Family . T o avoi d "wars " between Families , 
disputes betwee n an d amon g Familie s ove r th e control  o f illega l activitie s ha d t o be 
resolved b y a supreme leade r o r body. I n o r about 1931 , the Bosses of the New York 
and othe r L a Cosa Nostr a Familie s associate d t o form th e "Commission " to serve as 
the council fo r La Cosa Nostr a Families . Fro m 193 1 up to and includin g the date of 
the filing of this Indictment , th e Commission ha d th e powe r to resolve disputes an d 
to regulat e relation s betwee n an d amon g L a Cos a Nostr a Families . Furthermore , 
from i n or about the mid-WO's u p to and includin g the filing of the Indictment, th e 
Commission occasionall y assume d th e powe r t o interven e i n Famil y leadershi p dis -
putes that could no t be resolved within a  particular Family . 

II 

V 
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6. Th e Commissio n wa s an enterpris e distinc t fro m th e individua l Families , bu t 
it wa s comprise d o f Bosse s an d Actin g Bosses—actin g i n concer t wit h othe r hig h 
ranking officers—from th e five La Cosa Nostr a Familie s whic h ha d thei r headquar -
ters i n Ne w Yor k City . A t differen t time s th e Commissio n als o include d influentia l 
Bosses from a  number o f La Cosa Nostr a Familie s with thei r headquarter s elsewher e 
in th e Unite d States , including , bu t no t limite d to , Familie s i n Chicago , Illinois , 
Buffalo, Ne w York, Detroit , Michigan , Philadelphia , Pennsylvani a and New Jersey. 

7. Th e Commissio n reache d decision s an d issue d order s throug h vote s o f al l o r 
some of the Commission members , o r through the action o r decisions of an individ -
ual Commissio n membe r o r members . Fro m tim e t o time , a n individua l Commis -
sion membe r o r Commission member s (or delegates) adjudicated dispute s or acted as 
spokesman i n authorizing action o n behalf of the Commission . 

Purposes of  the Enterprise 

8. Th e genera l purpos e o f the Commissio n enterpris e wa s to regulat e an d facili -
tate the relationships between and among La Cosa Nostra Families . Specifi c purpose s 
of the Commission include d th e following : 

a. Promotin g and carryin g out join t ventures between an d amon g La Cosa 
Nostra Familie s to obtain mone y through illega l activities . These Commissio n 
joint ventures included a  joint venture among several La Cosa Nostra Familie s 
which controlle d an d dominate d certai n concret e contractor s an d allocate d 
payoffs o n certain concret e contracts in New York City. 

b. Resolvin g actual and potential disputes and regulating among the several 
La Cos a Nostr a Familie s regardin g th e operation , conduct , an d contro l o f 
illegal activities . Thes e illega l activitie s include d interferenc e wit h interstat e 
commerce throug h extortion ; extortionat e extention s o f credit , commonl y 
called "loansharking " o r "shylocking" ; gambling o r "bookmaking" ; infiltratio n 
and control o f labor unions and labor organizations; and narcotics trafficking . 

c. Extendin g formal recognitio n t o newly elected Bosse s of La Cosa Nostr a 
Families, and , fro m tim e t o time , resolvin g leadershi p dispute s withi n a 
Family. 

d. Takin g suc h step s a s were necessar y t o preserv e orde r in , betwee n an d 
among th e L a Cos a Nostr a Families , includin g authorizin g act s of murder o f 
certain La Cosa Nostra Famil y members . 

e. Approvin g the initiatio n o r "making" of new members o r soldiers in th e 
several La Cosa Nostra Families . 

f. Controllin g relations between L a Cosa Nostra and members of the Sicil -
ian L a Cosa Nostra , als o variously described a s the "Sicilian Mafia/ ' a n enter -
prise distinct from L a Cosa Nostra of the United States . 

g. Establishin g certai n rule s governing the Families , officer s an d member s 
of La Cosa Nostra . 
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h. Keepin g person s insid e an d outsid e L a Cos a Nostr a i n fea r o f th e 
Commission b y identifyin g th e Commissio n wit h threats , violence , an d 
murder. 

Means and  Methods  of  the  Enterprise 

9. Amon g th e mean s an d method s whereb y th e sai d defendant s an d other s con -
ducted an d participate d i n th e conduc t o f the enterprise' s affair s a t all times relevan t 
to the Indictment were the following : 

a. Th e Commissio n establishe d a  "Club " of certain constructio n contrac -
tors who poured concrete . Th e Commissio n controlle d th e allocatio n o f con-
tracts to pour concrete on construction job s where concrete costs exceeded two 
million dollars . Th e Commissio n an d it s co-conspirator s an d agent s woul d 
designate which contracto r would be permitted t o make the successful bi d on a 
particular contract . Ofte n othe r concret e contractor s woul d b e directe d t o 
submit bid s highe r tha n tha t o f th e designate d winner . Th e Commissio n 
enforced th e rule s o f th e "Club " wit h th e threa t o f punishin g disobedien t 
contractors, by causing the contractors ' supplies of cement to be stopped, o r by 
causing certain labo r union leader s to create "labor problems" for th e contrac -
tors. Th e Commissio n exploite d it s control  ove r thes e concret e pourin g con -
tracts i n orde r t o deman d an d receiv e payoff s fro m concret e contractors . 
Among the illega l ways in which th e Commission implemente d an d exploite d 
its control over these concrete pouring contracts were the following : 

(1) Th e defendant s an d thei r co-racketeer s an d agent s woul d an d di d 
extort, an d conspir e an d attemp t t o extor t mone y an d propert y fro m certai n 
concrete contractor s wh o sough t t o bi d for , wh o bi d for , an d wh o obtaine d 
concrete pouring contracts in connection wit h certain constructio n projects . 

(2) Th e defendant s an d thei r co-racketeer s an d agent s woul d an d di d 
exercise control  ove r an d influenc e th e decision s o f th e Concret e Worker s 
District Counci l an d woul d an d di d agre e t o th e paymen t o f bribe s t o a n 
official thereo f to wit, defendan t RALP H SCOPO . 

b. Th e Commissio n resolve d a  leadershi p disput e withi n th e Bonann o 
Family, and between th e Bonanno Family and othe r La Cosa Nostr a Families , 
by authorizing the murders o f Carmine Galante , a/k/ a "Lilo, " who was Boss of 
the Bonann o Family , an d Leonar d Coppola , an d b y late r authorizin g th e 
murders o f Bonann o Famil y Capo s Alphons e Indelicato , a/k/ a "Sonn y Red, " 
Dominic Trinchera , a/k/ a "Trin, " Phili p Giaccone , a/k/ a "Phill y Lucky, " and 
the attempte d murde r o f Bonann o Famil y Soldie r Anthon y Indelicato , 
a/k/a "Bruno. " 

c. Th e Commission authorize d certai n othe r murders . 
d. Th e Commissio n participate d i n th e selectio n o f a new Boss for th e La 

Cosa Nostra Famil y in Buffalo, Ne w York. 
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e. Th e Commissio n approve d th e admissio n o f ne w member s t o th e L a 
Cosa Nostra society of criminals. 

f. Th e Commission promote d an d encouraged a  climate of fear to enhance 
the ability of the Commission an d it s members to control L a Cosa Nostra an d 
to obstruct justice . 

Roles of the Defendants 

10. Th e defendant s playe d th e followin g roles , amon g others , i n furtherin g th e 
affairs o f the enterprise: 

a. A t times relevant to this Indictment, th e defendant ANTHON Y SALERNO , 
a/k/a "Fa t Tony, " wa s Consigliere , Actin g Bos s an d Bos s o f th e Genoves e 
Family, and was associated i n fact with and a  member of the Commission . 
[Similar statements about each of the other defendants hav e been omitted. ] 

The Racketeering Conspiracy 

11. Fro m i n o r abou t 197 0 u p t o an d includin g th e dat e o f th e filing  o f thi s 
Indictment, i n th e Souther n Distric t o f Ne w Yor k an d elsewhere , ANTHON Y 
SALERNO [an d th e othe r defendants ] di d combine , confederate , conspire , an d 
agree together and with each other to conduct and participate , directly and indirectly , 
in th e conduc t o f the affair s o f tha t enterpris e throug h a  patter n o f racketeering ac -
tivity. 

a. Th e defendant s eac h participate d i n th e conduc t o f th e affair s o f th e 
enterprise through th e commission o f multiple racketeering acts, as set forth i n 
Paragraphs 1 2 through 2 1 below. 

The Pattern of Racketeering 

12. Th e pattern o f racketeering activity consisted o f the following acts: 

Conspiracy to  Extort  Payoffs  From  Certain  Concrete  Companies 

Racketeering Act  #  J 

13. I t was a part of the pattern o f racketeering activity that from i n o r about 198 1 
up to the dat e o f the filing of this Indictment , i n the Souther n Distric t o f New York 
and elsewhere , th e defendant s an d other s know n an d unknow n t o th e Gran d Jury , 

, unlawfully, wilfully , an d knowingl y woul d an d di d combine , conspire , confederate , 
and agre e togethe r an d wit h eac h othe r t o obstruct , delay , an d affec t commerc e b y 
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extortion, i n tha t the y woul d an d di d combine , conspire , confederate , an d agre e 
together an d wit h eac h othe r t o obtai n property , t o wit , sum s o f money , fro m an d 
with th e consen t o f certain Ne w Yor k City are a constructio n companie s engage d i n 
interstate commerc e i n th e concrete-pourin g business , t o wit , member s o f a  grou p 
called th e "Club, " an d others , an d thei r officers , employee s an d representatives , 
which consen t ha d bee n induce d b y th e defendants ' wrongfu l us e o f actua l an d 
threatened force , violence , and fear of economic loss, in violation of Title 18 , United 
States Code, Sectio n 1951 . 

Concrete Extortions  and  Payoffs 

Racketeering Act  #  2 

A. 

14. I t was a part of the pattern o f racketeering activity that in or about May, 1983 , 
in th e Souther n Distric t o f Ne w Yor k an d elsewhere , th e defendant s an d other s 
known an d unknow n t o th e Gran d Jury , unlawfully , wilfully , an d knowingl y woul d 
and did obstruct , delay , and affect commerc e by extortion and would and did attempt 
to d o so , i n tha t the y woul d an d di d obtai n an d attemp t t o obtai n property , t o wit , 
money i n th e approximat e amoun t o f $326,00 0 fro m an d wit h th e consen t o f th e 
X.L.O. Concret e Corporation , whic h compan y was engaged i n interstate commerce , 
and it s officers , employee s an d representatives , whic h consen t ha d bee n induce d b y 
the defendants ' wrongfu l us e o f actua l an d threatene d force , violence , an d fea r o f 
economic loss , i n violation o f Title 18 , United State s Code, Sectio n 1951 . 

B. 

15. I t was a part of the pattern of racketeering activity that in or about May, 1983 , 
in th e Souther n Distric t o f New Yor k an d elsewhere , th e defendan t RALP H SCOPO , 
president an d busines s manage r o f th e Concret e Worker s Distric t Council , bein g a 
representative of , an d bein g a n office r o f a  labo r organizatio n whic h represent s an d 
would admi t t o membershi p th e employee s o f th e X.L.O . Concret e Corporation , 
who ar e employe d i n a n industr y affectin g commerce , aide d an d abette d b y th e 
[other] defendant s an d other s know n an d unknow n t o th e Gran d Jury , unlawfully , 
wilfully, an d knowingl y woul d an d di d request , demand , receive , an d accept , an d 
agree t o receiv e an d accep t th e paymen t o f mone y i n th e approximat e amoun t o f 
$326,000 fro m th e X.L.O . Concret e Corporatio n i n violatio n o f Titl e 29 , Unite d 
States Code, Sectio n 186(b)(1 ) and Title 18 , United State s Code, Sectio n 2 . 

[Racketeering Acts 3-1 0 paralle l Racketeerin g Ac t 2  except tha t differen t compa -
nies are named a s the victims of the alleged extortion. ] 
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Murder of  Carmine Galante 

Racketeering Act  #  J  J 

26. I t was a part of the pattern of racketeering that from i n or about January 1979 
up t o an d includin g Jul y 31 , 1979 , in th e Souther n Distric t o f Ne w York and 
elsewhere, th e defendant s ANIELL O DELLACROCE , a/k/ a "Neil, " a/k/ a "O'Neil, " 
PHILIP RASTELLI , a/k/ a "Rusty," and others know n and unknown t o the Grand Jur y 
did unlawfully , wilfully , an d knowingly conspir e to murder and solicited, facilitated , 
and aided and abetted the murder of Carmine Galante , a/k/a "Lilo." 

Murder of  Leonard Coppola 

Racketeering Act  #12 

27. I t was a part of the pattern of racketeering that from i n or about January 1979 
up t o an d includin g Jul y 31 , 1979 , in th e Souther n Distric t o f Ne w York and 
elsewhere, th e defendant s ANIELL O DELLACROCE , a/k/ a "Neil, " a/k/ a "O'Neil, " 
PHILIP RASTELLI , a/k/ a "Rusty," and others know n and unknown t o the Grand Jur y 
did unlawfully , wilfully , an d knowingly conspir e to murder and solicited, facilitated , 
and aided and abetted the murder of Leonard Coppola . 

Murder of  Alphonse Indelicato 

Racketeering Act  #  J  3 

28. I t was a part o f the pattern o f racketeering tha t i n or about Apri l an d May , 
1981, i n th e Souther n Distric t o f New York an d elsewhere , th e defendants PAU L 
CASTELLANO, a/k/ a "Paulie, " a/k/a "Mr . Paul, " a/k/a "Bi g Paul," ANTHON Y CORALLO , 
a/k/a "Tony Ducks," PHILIP RASTELLI , a/k/ a "Rusty," and others known and unknown 
to th e Grand Jur y di d unlawfully, wilfully , an d knowingly conspir e t o murder and 
solicited, facilitated , an d aided and abetted the murder of Alphonse Indelicato , a/k/a 
"Sonny Red. " 

[In Racketeerin g Act s 14-16 , th e government allege d tha t th e defendants con -
spired to murder Domini c Trinchera, Phili p Giaccone, and Anthony Indelicato . 

[Counts 2-15 realleged the extortions having to do with the concrete club. ] 
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Genovese Famil y 

Boss 
Anthony Salern o 

"Fat Tony " 

"The Commission " 
of 

La Cosa Nostr a 

Gambino Famil y 

Boss 
Paul Castellan o 

"Paul" 

Underboss 
Aniello Dellacroc e 

"O'Neil" 

Lucchese Famil v 

Boss 
Antonio Corall o 

"Tony Ducks " 

Underboss 
Salvatore Santor o 

"Tom Mix " 

Consigliere 
Christopher Furnar i 

"Christy Tick " 

Colombo Famil y 

Acting Bos s 
Gennaro Langell a 

"Jerry Lang " 

Soldier 
Ralph Scop o 

"Ralph" 

Bonanno Famil y 

Boss 
Phillip Rastell i 

"Rusty" 



Appendix B 

Testimony o f FBI Agent Joseph Piston e 

[By Mr. Savarese ] 

Q. Di d h e [Benjami n Ruggiero , Bonann o family] tel l yo u anything about a process 
that would go on concerning what he would tell you about the Bonanno family? 

A. Yes , he said that from this point on that he would, as I said, start schooling me in 
things that I  would hav e to do and things that I  would hav e to know now that I 
was associated with the family. 

Q. An d that phrase that you jus t used, "schooling, " was that one that Mr. Ruggier o 
used on any other occasions? 

A. H e used that phrase right up until the end of the operation. 
Q. I n the course of Mr. Ruggiero' s explaining to you his having gone on record, did 

he tell you anything with respect to his being responsible for you? 
A. Yes , he said that since he had gone on record with me, o r with the family, tha t I 

was going to be under him, that he was now responsible for any actions that I took 
and tha t I  ha d a  responsibilit y t o hi m t o sho w tha t I  conducted mysel f i n th e 
proper manner. 

Q. Di d h e explai n anythin g t o yo u furthe r abou t you r responsibilitie s an d abou t 
your conduct? 

A. Well , h e said that there were certain things that I would have to know regarding 
individuals in the family and who to treat with respect and that how to act around 
a made guy and how to act around individuals that had status in the family. 

Q. An d what did Ruggiero tell you in conversation when he was schooling you about 
the Bonanno family? 

A. Well , h e told me that the first thing I  had to learn i s that, again , th e respect for 
made guys. H e said, i f you ever get in an argument with a  made guy, don' t ever 
raise your hand to him. H e said don't ever get in a argument with a made guy. 
Also said that anything—any monie s that I made from any activities I would have 
to share with him and then also again with whoever the captain was at that time. 

Q. Di d he discuss with you anything concerning the operations of the family business 
and how you should conduct yourself with respect to that? 

A. Yes . 
Q. Wha t did he tell you? 
A. Well , h e said one thing that I should lear n not to get involved in any businesses 

or don't worry about business that another family member's involved in and if you 
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don't hav e an y stak e i n it . H e sai d jus t min d you r ow n busines s i f i t doesn' t 
concern you . 

Q. What , i f anything, did Lefty Ruggier o tell you about the manner in which peopl e 
would be introduced to other individuals within the family ? 

A. Well , h e sai d tha t whe n there' s tw o mad e guy s an d on e o f th e mad e guy s i s 
making an introductio n o f an individual , tha t i f the individual being introduced i s 
a made guy, he says he's a friend o f ours. And what that does is clues in the person 
that he is being introduced t o another made guy. 

Q. Wa s ther e an y othe r wa y o f introducin g tha t h e tol d yo u abou t wit h respec t t o 
someone who is not a made guy? 

A. I f he's no t a  made guy , the way you introduc e hi m i s he's a  friend o f mine. Tha t 
means he's jus t a friend o f mine, no t a friend o f ours, no t a made guy. 

Q. Di d h e explai n anythin g els e t o yo u abou t th e significanc e o f saying somebod y 
was a friend o f mine? 

A. Tha t clues the other individual i n that not to be talking about any kind of business 
if you don't want, yo u know, family busines s because this individual isn' t made. 

Q. An d did you have any conversations with Mr . Ruggier o about the general respon -
sibility to share the proceeds that you would get from you r various activities? 

A. Yes , he said that I  would have to share with him an d he would have to share with 
Mike an d i n realit y Mik e a s a  captain , o r an y captain , would—i s suppose d t o 
share with the boss of the family . 

Q. Di d Left y Ruggier o eve r discus s wit h yo u th e consequence s o f no t followin g 
the rules? 

A. Yes , he did. 
Q. Wha t did he tell you about that? 
A. Well , h e sai d i f I  ever messe d up—h e pu t i t i n othe r words—bu t wha t woul d 

happen was that we'd both be killed. 
Q. Di d he have any particular phrase that he used? 
A. Yes ; the phrase that he liked was that we'd be going bye-bye. 
Q. Di d yo u understan d fro m th e contex t o f you r conversation s wha t h e mean t b y 

going bye-bye? 
A. H e meant that we'd be killed. 
Q. Di d Mr . Ruggier o eve r personall y discus s wit h yo u you r chance s o f actuall y 

becoming a made member within the Bonanno Family ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wha t did he tell you? 
A. Again , i f I  kep t m y nos e clean , di d wha t I  wa s suppose d t o do , continue d t o 

demonstrate that I  was an earner , an d loyal-type guy, that I  had a  good shot at it. 
Q. A s part o f your undercove r activitie s fo r th e FBI , di d yo u tak e any step s to show 

that you were a good earner i n this period? 
A. Yes , I did. 
Q. An d coul d yo u jus t briefl y describ e t o u s i n genera l ho w yo u wen t abou t doin g 

that. 
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A. Well , on e o f th e method s wa s b y showin g Ruggier o tha t I  wa s involve d i n 
obtaining stolen property ; by becoming involved i n Ruggiero's bookmaking opera -
tion, an d als o durin g th e cours e o f the whol e undercove r operation , introduce d 
Ruggiero an d othe r member s o f th e Bonann o Famil y int o a  coupl e o f othe r 
FBI undercove r operation s tha t the y wer e abl e t o ear n som e mone y from , an d 
they though t tha t I  ha d move d i n o n thes e operation s an d too k the m ove r 
for them. 

* *  * 

Q. Now , sir , le t me direc t you r attention t o the mont h o f July, 1979 . D o you recal l 
having a telephone conversation wit h Lefty Ruggier o during that month ? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. An d what was said in the first conversation? 
A. Well , i n the first conversation Ruggier o had asked me i f I had rea d the New York 

papers, an d I  told hi m no , I  didn't. I  had no t at that point . An d he instructed m e 
to go buy a New York paper, h e said "You'll be in for a surprise." 

Q. Wha t did you do after tha t first conversation? 
A. I  went and I  bought the New York paper. 
Q. An d di d yo u com e t o hav e a  secon d telephon e conversatio n wit h Mr . Ruggier o 

soon after that ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Woul d you tell us what you said and what he said? 
A. I  told him I  had bought the paper and I  was surprised. 
Q. Wha t i f anything did he tell you? 
A. H e said he wanted to see me in New York. 
Q. Followin g that conversation di d you go to New York? 
A. Yes , I did. 
Q. Whe n was that? 
A. I t was the latter part of July of 79, caus e those conversations were the middle part 

of July. 
Q. An d did you meet with Ruggiero when you got to New York? 
A. Yes , I did. 
Q. An d where did that meeting take place? 
A. I  went down to his club on Madison Street . 
Q. Wh o was present for this conversation? 
A. Mysel f and Ruggiero . 
Q. Woul d yo u pleas e tel l th e ladie s an d gentleme n o f th e jur y wha t yo u ha d an d 

what Mr. Ruggier o told you in that conversation ? 
A. I  told Lefty that I was really surprised tha t Carmine Galante had gotten murdered . 

That wa s why h e ha d instructe d m e t o buy th e newspape r becaus e i t was in th e 
newspaper abou t Galant e gettin g murdered , an d h e sai d tha t du e t o Galant e 
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getting murdere d ther e wer e som e change s i n th e Family , tha t h e wa s goin g t o 
make me aware of that I  should know of . 

Q. Wha t wer e th e change s tha t h e specificall y tol d yo u abou t i n th e Bonann o 
Family? 

A. Well , h e sai d no w tha t Galant e ha d gotte n whacke d ou t tha t Rust y Rastell i wa s 
going t o b e th e bos s o f th e Famil y an d h e sai d tha t Nichola s Marangell o an d 
Sabella wer e du e t o ge t hi t wit h Galante , bu t individual s intervene d o n thei r 
behalf an d instea d o f gettin g kille d tha t Mik e wa s knocke d dow n a s captain , 
reduced t o th e ran k o f soldie r an d Marangell o wa s knocke d down , h e wa s n o 
longer the underboss . 

Q. Yo u jus t used tw o phrases that Mr . Ruggier o tol d you , "whacke d out " and "hit. " 
What did those phrases mean? 

A. Go t killed. 
Q. Now , wha t i f anythin g els e di d Ruggier o tel l yo u i n thi s conversatio n a s h e 

was explainin g wha t woul d happe n i n th e Bonann o Famil y afte r Galant e ha d 
been killed? 

A. Well , h e told m e that Sonn y Blac k Napolitano was now a captain an d that' s who 
Ruggiero was—and mysel f were going to be under . Tha t Joey Messino had bee n 
elevated t o th e ran k o f a  captai n an d tha t Cesar e ha d bee n mad e a  captai n an d 
that he said at the time that Cesare was the youngest captain i n the Family . 

Q. Whe n yo u say Cesare, who are you referring to? 
A. Cesar e Bonventre. 
Q. Tha t same individual tha t you identified i n the photograph ? 
A. That' s correct . 
Q. Di d he tell you anything else? 
A. H e told m e tha t Sa l Catalano—he sai d Sa l ha d bee n elevate d t o the positio n o f 

street boss of the Zips. 
Q. Whe n h e said street boss of the Zips, what did you understand tha t to mean? 
A. Well , tha t he was the boss of the Sicilian faction withi n the Bonanno Family . 

* #  * 

Q. Whe n Ruggier o cam e dow n t o [Tampa , Florida , to ] discus s th e situatio n wit h 
Rossi, what happened ? 

A. Well , w e went ou t t o dinner an d ove r dinner I  told Ross i t o explain t o Ruggier o 
what his problems were with these wise guys from Chicag o and New York, and h e 
did, an d the n w e went to the club, showe d Ruggier o around th e club, introduce d 
him to some of the individuals tha t were from Ne w York and were from Chicago , 
and— 

Q. Woul d you describe, please , what you mean b y the phrase "wise guy"? 
A. Wis e guy is another term for made guy. 
Q. An d these were other made guys from Ne w York or Chicago who were in Florid a 

and you were meeting with Ruggiero , correct ? 
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A. Individual s who claimed they were wise guys, that's correct . 
Q. Now , what happened a s a result of these discussions? 
A. Well , a s a  resul t o f on-goin g discussion s betwee n Ruggier o an d Rossi , wha t i t 

came dow n i s that Ruggier o mad e himsel f a  5 0 percent partne r i n King s Court , 
being that this was going to be Rossi's protection from th e other wise guys moving 
in and taking over the Kings Court. 

Q. Now , yo u testifie d befor e tha t yo u me t Sonn y Blac k Napolitan o i n Florid a i n 
April of 1980 , correct? 

A. Correct . 
Q. An d how was it that he came to Florida on that occasion? 
A. Well , sinc e he was our captain a t the time , an d tha t the King s Court was a club 

that wa s supposedly makin g money , a  lot of money, Sonn y cam e down t o look i t 
over and help us engage in other activities in the area. 

Q. Whe n Mr . Napolitan o came down t o speak with you a t the club, did you have a 
specific conversation wit h him? 

A. Yes , I did. 
Q. An d where did that occur? 
A. Well , that occurred insid e the nightclub. Myself , Ruggiero , Napolitano and Rossi 

and a  couple o f other individual s were at the club that evening, an d a t one poin t 
during the conversation we were having, Sonn y Black said that he wanted to speak 
to me in private. 
So we moved to another table and held a  discussion i n private. 

Q. I n that private discussion with Napolitano what did he tell you? 
A. Well , Sonn y sai d tha t h e ha d bee n talkin g t o Ruggier o abou t m e an d Ruggier o 

had given him a  good rundown abou t me. H e had been talking to other people in 
New York that kne w m e an d h e like d wha t h e ha d hear d fro m thes e peopl e an d 
the fac t tha t I  wa s a  goo d earner , I  was always ou t hustling , I  minded m y ow n 
business, I  stayed out of people's way if I didn't have to get—wasn't involve d with 
them, an d that I  was basically an al l right guy. 
He wen t o n t o inquir e wha t w e wanted t o ge t starte d dow n there , s o I  told hi m 
that I think we should get possibly some gambling, shyloc k going, and he said that 
that was a good idea because gambling was a good source of income. 
He said tha t h e woul d have—w e woul d hav e al l the backin g from hi s people i n 
New York that we needed and tha t I  should star t in righ t away and get a gambling 
operation, bookmakin g and shylock operation going. 

Q. An d thos e operations woul d b e working out o f the club that you ha d establishe d 
with the FBI down there, correct ? 

* *  * 

Q. Durin g that dinner conversation o n Decembe r 18 , 1980 , did you have a conver-
sation with Mr . Napolitano ? 
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A. Yes . 
Q. Woul d yo u pleas e tel l u s what h e told yo u during the course o f that dinner con -

versation? 
A. Well , durin g on e portio n o f th e conversatio n Sonn y mentione d tha t h e wa s 

pleased wit h th e wa y I  was handling thing s i n Florida , tha t I  was earning mone y 
and wasn' t always running to him fo r money like other members of his crew. And 
he sai d tha t shortl y tha t th e Commissio n wa s goin g t o ope n u p th e book s fo r 
membership i n th e famil y an d tha t h e was—h e coul d nominat e five  individual s 
and th e numbe r on e gu y wa s goin g t o b e Joh n Sarisant e an d th e othe r fou r 
slots h e wa s obligate d t o eithe r son s o r relative s o f members , othe r member s i n 
the family . 

Q. Di d h e tel l yo u anythin g els e wit h respec t t o yo u an d you r chance s fo r mem -
bership? 

A. H e sai d tha t th e book s would ope n u p again , wer e goin g t o ope n u p agai n nex t 
year and tha t he was going to propose me for membership in the family . 

Q. Whe n h e used the phrase "the Commission i s going to open u p the books," what 
did he mean ? 

A. Tha t the Commission ha d given permission fo r families t o induct members . 
Q. Wa s he referring to families i n the New York area? 
A. That' s what I  understood hi m to mean, yes . 
Q. Wha t i f anything else did Sonny Black Napolitano say to you about your possible 

membership in the Family? 
A. H e sai d tha t whe n th e book s opene d u p nex t yea r h e wa s going t o propos e m e 

for membership . 
Q. Di d he ask you any information abou t yourself in connection wit h that? 
A. Yes , he asked me i f I had had any drug arrest, an d I  told him no , I  didn't. 
Q. Wha t i f anythin g di d h e sa y i n respons e whe n yo u tol d hi m tha t yo u ha d n o 

drug arrests? 
A. Well , h e sai d tha t wa s goo d an d th e reaso n bein g tha t th e cops , yo u know — 

would be less heat I  would take , les s heat from th e cops, they wouldn't be looking 
at me as strong if I didn't have any drug arrests. 

Q. Yo u remained i n the New York City area through December , i s that correct? 
A. Throug h th e new year, that' s correct . 
Q. An d did you continue to meet with Mr . Ruggier o and Mr . Napolitan o during the 

time that you were there? 
A. Yes , we would mee t every day at the Motion Lounge . 
Q. I n particular, le t me direct your attention t o December 2 4 of that year, 1980 , did 

you have occasion t o have any conversations on that day? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wit h whom did you speak? 
A. Well , o n the 24t h w e were at the Motio n Loung e and i t was myself, Napolitano , 

Ruggiero, Santura , Sarisant e and other individuals who were—who hung out and 
were members of Sonny's crew. 
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Q. I n the course of that conversation di d the subject of Neil Dellacroce come up? 
A. Yes , i t did. 
Q. Wha t was said? 
A. Ther e was a lot of conversation going on about different activitie s and at one point 

Napolitano sai d tha t Nei l Dellacroc e wa s a  powe r an d that—o n th e Commis -
sion—and tha t h e wa s th e on e tha t wa s designate d t o settl e dispute s amon g 
the families . 

Q. Directin g you r attentio n t o thre e day s later , Decembe r 27 , 1980 , di d yo u hav e 
occasion to have any conversation o n that day? 

A. Yes , I did. 
Q. Again , would you tell us where that conversation too k place? 
A. Well , again , we were at the Motion Lounge doing what we normally did, hangin g 

out, playin g cards , discussin g the variou s activities tha t we are currently involve d 
in o r activities that we had participate d i n i n the past . An d a t one poin t Ruggier o 
was relating a story about Milwaukee, back in 78 . 

* *  * 

A. W e wer e involve d i n a  vendin g machin e busines s i n Milwaukee , Wisconsin , 
and w e were partner s wit h Fran k Balistrier i wh o wa s the bos s o f the Milwauke e 
family. 

Q. Le t m e as k you this . Th e discussio n tha t h e wa s referring t o i n Milwaukee , ha d 
that also been a  part of your ongoing undercover operation ? 

A. That' s correct . 
Q. An d what was the operation tha t was going on out in Milwaukee, jus t briefly? 
A. I t was a vending machine business that we had. 
Q. Wha t wa s the arrangemen t tha t wa s attempting t o be made with Mr . Balistrieri , 

the boss of Milwaukee? 
A. T o becom e partner s wit h Balistrier i i n thi s vendin g machin e busines s i n whic h 

Ruggiero succeeded i n doing. 
Q. Goin g bac k t o thi s conversatio n i n Decembe r o f 1980 , wha t di d Mr . Ruggier o 

tell you? 
A. A s he was relaying this conversation a t one poin t he said tha t the initia l sit-dow n 

that we had with Balistrier i regarding the vendings machine business was arranged 
by Tony Ducks , the New York end of it. 

Q. Whe n h e said Tony Ducks , did you know who he was referring to? 
A. Ton y Ducks Corallo. 
Q. Ha d you at any point ever met Mr. Corallo in the course of your undercover oper-

ation? 
A. Sur e did. 
Q. Wh o did you understand Mr . Corall o to be at that time? 
A. A t that time I  understood hi m to be a boss. 
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Q. Di d you know then whic h specific family ? 
A. Lucches e family . 

Q. I n th e cours e o f you r visit s an d meeting s di d yo u eve r hav e hi m pointe d ou t 
to yo u b y an y o f th e peopl e tha t yo u wer e meetin g with , suc h a s Ruggier o 
or Napolitano? 

A. No t that I  can recall . 
Q. Le t m e bac k u p fo r on e moment , sir , an d direc t you r attentio n bac k t o th e 

conversation tha t you had i n July of 197 9 after Carmin e Galante had been killed . 
Do yo u recal l yo u testifie d tha t yo u ha d bee n tol d tha t Salvator e Catalan o ha d 
been promote d t o b e th e stree t bos s o f wha t yo u describe d a s th e Zips , d o yo u 
recall that? 

A. Yes . 
Q. D o you recal l whethe r ther e was any further conversatio n concernin g the rol e of 

the Zips within the Bonanno family ? 
A. Yes , I had had conversation regardin g their role within the Family . 
Q. Wha t was their role, what was the— 
A. Tha t prio r t o that, tha t they were close with Galant e and tha t they were involved 

with drug traffic wit h Galante . 
Q. Directin g your attention bac k again to March o f 198 1 did you have any conversa-

tion o r furthe r discussio n wit h Mr . Ruggier o concernin g bot h th e Zip s an d an y 
factions tha t were developing within the Bonanno family a t the time? 

A. Durin g March o f when? 
Q. Marc h o f 1981 . Or jus t simply with respec t to any factions tha t were developin g 

in that period o f time. 
A. Yes , he had discussion with me regarding a split that had developed i n the Family 

regarding Sonn y Blac k Napolitan o an d Rust y Rastell i an d othe r individual s i n 
the Family . 

Q. Durin g these discussions concerning th e factions withi n th e Bonann o famil y di d 
Mr. Ruggier o ever describe to you who the principal person s were on each side of 
that factional dispute ? 

A. Yes . 
Q. Wa s there a  particular side that Lefty Ruggier o identified himsel f with? 
A. Well , he had identified himsel f of course with Napolitano and Napolitano was on 

the side of Rusty Rastelli . 
Q. Di d he describe to you who was on the other side of the factional dispute ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wh o was that? 
A. Well , Sonn y Red Indelicato , Domini c Trinchera an d Philip Giaccone. 

* *  * 
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Q. Wha t position did those three persons, Indelicato , Trinchera and Giaccone, hav e 
at that time? 

A. I  was told they were captains. 

* *  * 

Q. Now , Mr . Pistone , agai n I  had asked you about a conversation that you had with 
Lefty Ruggier o o n Apri l 2 , 1981 . Coul d yo u tel l u s what that conversation wa s 
about, i n substance? 

A. Well , basicall y Ruggier o wa s discussin g a  confrontatio n o r sit-down s tha t ha d 
occurred regarding whether I  belonged to him or Tony Mirra. Mirr a had brought 
up this problem with the Family and other individuals, and Ruggiero was relating 
the outcome of the sit-down and also relating Sonny Black's position, ho w he had 
risen in the Family. 

Q. Di d you have any conversation concerning Rusty Rastelli at that point? 
A. Well , h e said that everything—as long as Rusty was in jail we'd have to wait until 

Rusty got out of jail and that there had been orders that nobody starts any trouble 
or any problems until—while Rusty' s away. 

Q. Di d he explain to you who it was that had made that order? 
A. Th e Commission. 

Q. Di d you meet with Mr. Napolitano ? 
A. Yes , I did. 
Q. Di d you have occasion at that time to speak with Mr. Napolitano, agai n concern-

ing the same issues of resolving the factional disputes within the Bonanno Family. 
A. Yes , I did. 
Q. Wha t if anything did Mr. Napolitano tell you at that time? 
A. Well , afte r ou r discussion regardin g the situatio n tha t he wante d m e to handle , 

Napolitano made the statement that it's the first time in ten years that the Bonanno 
Family is running itself and not the Commission runnin g it. 

* *  * 
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Q. Wha t does "button" mean? 
A. H e is a member o f the Mafia . 
Q. Wha t about the term "made guy?" 
A. Tha t he i s a member . 
Q. Wha t about the term "wiseguy" ? 
A. Tha t he i s a member . 
Q. Ca n yo u tel l us how decisions are made within a  La Cosa Nostra family ? 
A. I n the city you belong to? 
Q. Yes . 
A. Well , the boss, the underboss , they get together— 
Q. Yo u say the boss and the underboss within a  family? 
A. Right , capo s and consiglieri , counselor . 
Q. Wh o has the final authority within a  family t o make a decision? 
A. Th e boss has. 
Q. Wha t i s the job of the consiglieri o r counselor? 
A. Well , whe n a  soldie r doe s somethin g wron g h e usuall y bring s i t u p t o th e 

underboss o r th e bos s an d h e kin d o f defend s him , straighten s everythin g ou t 
for him . 

Q. Whe n you say he brings it up, yo u mean the consiglieri brings it up? 
A. Yes , he does. 
Q. Ho w does the soldier get orders? 
A. Throug h th e capo. 
Q. Now , you testified ther e are families i n a number of cities. I s it possible to transfer 

from on e family t o another? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Ca n yo u explain ho w that i s done? 
A. Well , yo u g o to your bos s and yo u tel l hi m tha t I  am movin g away from here . I 

am goin g to , say , Sa n Francisc o an d ca n I  have permissio n t o leave . S o the boss 
says it's okay but a s long as you kno w somebody there . G o mee t the boss and tel l 
them wha t you ar e doing there and tha t you are going to live there and become a 
soldier in his family . 

Q. Now , you indicate d ther e are 5  families i n Ne w York. Ca n yo u tel l u s the name s 
of those families ? 

Ill 

Appendix C 
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A. Yes . 
Q. Wha t are they? 
A. Well , ther e i s the Lucches e family , Colomb o family , th e Gambin o family , th e 

Genovese family and the Bonanno family . 
Q. O f which o f these families do you know Anthony Salern o to be the boss? 
A. Genoves e family . 
Q. Wh o is the Genovese family name d after ? 
A. Vit o Genovese. 
Q. I s there any body which controls the Cosa Nostra families i n many cities? 
A. Yes , there is. 
Q. Wha t i s that called? 
A. Th e Commission . 
Q. Wh o sits on The Commission ? 
A. Th e 5  bosses of New York. 
Q. D o yo u kno w o f any othe r peopl e wh o hav e sa t on Th e Commissio n wh o hav e 

not been bosses of New York? 
A. Well , year s ago I know Frank Milano was, Al Polizzi, Angelo Bruno. 
Q. Wh o were Frank Milano and Angelo Polizzi? 
A. The y were the ex-bosses of Cleveland. 
Q. Wh o is Angelo Bruno? 
A. H e was a boss of Philadelphia. 
Q. Wha t are The Commission's functions withi n L a Cosa Nostra ? 
A. Well , i f there is a dispute about anything they get together and iron i t out. 
Q. Ar e there any other functions Th e Commission performs ? 
A. Well — 
Q. Ar e there any other functions Th e Commission performs ? 
A. The y make all the rules and regulations , wha t you can do, what you can't do. 
Q. Ca n yo u tel l u s any rule s or regulations , a s you si t here now ; that you ar e aware 

of The Commission havin g made concerning La Cosa Nostra ? 
A. Tha t they have made? 
Q. Yes . 
A. Fo r instance, nobod y can sell narcotics. 
Q. Wha t was the reason for that rule? 
A. Tha t would bring too much hea t on everybody. 
Q. I s there another rule you are familiar with ? 
A. Well , you always have to do the right thing. You can't have no prostitutes. 

* *  * 

A. Well , th e rule s are that the y can' t kil l a  boss in othe r citie s or i n Ne w York City 
without them knowin g anything about it . 

Q. Whe n yo u say "without them knowin g anything about it, " who is the "them" you 
are referring to? 
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A. Th e Commission . 
Q. Incidentally , yo u mentione d earlie r tha t member s mus t do the righ t thing. Wha t 

do you mean by "the right thing' ? 
A. Well , before they do anything they got to get permission. 
Q. Fro m whom do they have to get permission? 
A. Fro m their capo and the capo takes it up with the underboss and the boss. 
Q. Now , sir , whe n yo u were the underbos s o r acting boss in Cleveland di d you ever 

personally sit with The Commission ? 
A. I  never did. 
Q. Di d you ever meet the entire Commission ? 
A. No , I  never did. 
Q. Ho w did the Cleveland famil y communicat e wit h The Commission ? 
A. W e used to communicate with the Genovese family . 
Q. An d wa s there anybod y i n thi s courtroo m tha t yo u communicate d wit h i n orde r 

to be in touch wit h The Commission ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wh o i s that? 
A. Ton y Salerno . 
Q. I  am sorry, you said Anthony Salerno ? 
A. Anthon y Salerno . 
Q. An d what was his position on The Commission, i f you know? 
A. H e was a member . 
Q. Now , sir , I  would lik e to direc t you r attentio n bac k to the 1920' s when yo u first 

became associated with La Cosa Nostra . 
Who was the boss at that time? 

A. M y father . 
Q. Wha t was his name? 
A. Josep h Lonardo. 
Q. Di d there come a time something happened t o him? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wha t was that? 
A. M y father go t killed. 
Q. A s a result of that did you do something? 
A. Yes , I did. 
Q. Wha t did you do? 
A. I  killed the man tha t was responsible for killing my father . 
Q. An d what was that man's name ? 
A. Sa m Todaro. 
Q. Wha t position, i f any, did he have in the Cosa Nostra ? 
A. I  found ou t he was the counselor . 
Q. Ca n yo u describe how you killed him ? 
A. Well , on e day my cousin sai d to me "the best way to get Sam Todaro i s to talk to 

your mother and tell her that we need—that you r family need s money and i f Sam 
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Todaro woul d hel p he r wit h som e money , bu t don' t tel l he r wh y yo u ar e goin g 
down ther e to talk to him." So I said, "okay , I  will talk to my mother an d tel l he r 
that." So I told my mother. I  said, "Ma , w e have to go see—" 

Q. Wha t did you tell your mother? 
A. I  tol d m y mothe r "let' s g o se e Sa m Todaro , mayb e h e ca n hel p u s wit h som e 

money," and I  said, "woul d you come along," and so she said "yes." And we got in 
the ca r an d w e drov e dow n t o 110t h Stree t an d I  tol d somebod y ther e o n th e 
corner i f he would cal l Sam Todaro, tha t my mother would like to talk to him. S o 
he said , "yes , I  will." So h e went , go t Sa m Todaro , an d Sa m Todar o cam e ove r 
and as he got close to the car I pulled ou t a gun and shot him. 

Q. Wer e you arrested? 
A. No , I  was not at the time. 
Q. Di d there come a time you wound u p getting tried fo r that murder ? 
A. I  gave myself up, yes. 
Q. Wer e you involve d i n planning this murder with any other people? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wh o were you involved with? 
A. Wit h my cousins. 
Q. Wha t were your cousins' names? 
A. Joh n DeMarco , Domini c DeMarco , Domini c Esprado . 
Q. Wha t position i f any did John DeMarco have in the Cosa Nostra? 
A. H e was a member. 
Q. Now , sir , were you tried for killing Sam Todaro? 
A. Yes , I was. 
Q. Di d you testify ? 
A. Yes , I did. 
Q. Di d you deny killing him on the witness stand? 
A. Yes , I did. 
Q. Wer e you convicted ? 
A. Yes , I was. 
Q. Wa s your conviction reversed ? 
A. Yes , it was. 
Q. Ho w long during this period were you in jail? 
A. 2 3 months. 
Q. Durin g thi s perio d di d th e othe r peopl e wh o yo u ha d agree d wit h t o kil l Sa m 

Todaro, did they kill any other people? 
A. Whil e I  was in the county jai l 2  others died, yes. 
Q. Ha d you agreed to have those people killed? 
A. Yes . 
Q. An d had you agreed with these people to have other people killed? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Ho w many other people? 
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A. Well , there was the 5  Pirello brothers and Sa m Tolocca . 
Q. O f those 6 two of them wer e killed while you were in the county jail ? 
A. That' s right . 
Q. Di d you personally participate in any of these other killings? 
A. No , I  did not . 
Q. Bu t you did agree to them? 
A. Yes , I did. 
Q. How , i f at all, were these killings related to the matter of your father's death ? 
A. The y were responsible for my father's death , al l of them. 
Q. Now , sir , di d there come a time in the early to mid-1930's that you were familia r 

with a man by the name of Dr. Romano ? 
A. Yes , he was also involved i n my father's death . 
Q. Ha d he at one point occupied a  position i n La Cosa Nostra? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wha t had tha t position been ? 
A. H e had been the boss. 
Q. O f which city? 
A. Cleveland . 
Q. Di d he retire at one point? 
A. Yes , he did retire . 
Q. Di d there come a time you were involved i n his death? 
A. I  didn't get the question . 
Q. Di d there come a time you were involved i n his death? 
A. Yes , I was. 
Q. Ca n you explain wha t happened? 
A. Well , m y cousin Domini c DeMarc o go t sick. H e ha d a n appendiciti s attac k an d 

his brother wanted to rush hi m to the hospital and m y cousin Domini c said to his 
brother, h e said , "le t Dr . Roman o operat e o n me . I  wan t t o sho w hi m tha t w e 
want to be friends wit h him," and so there would be peace. 

* *  * 

A. An d my cousin Johnny insisted that he didn't want Dr. Roman o to operate on hi s 
brother but his brother Dominic insisted and he said, "okay, I  will let Dr. Roman o 
operate o n you. " S o h e calle d u p Dr . Roman o an d Dr . Roman o says , "w e wil l 
rush him to St. John's hospital." And he operated on him and he died. 

Q. A s a result of that did you and John DeMarco agree to do something? 
A. Yes , we did. 
Q. Woul d you tell us what you did? 
A. W e decided tha t Dr . Roman o ha d kille d m y cousin an d h e wa s also responsibl e 

in the death of my father an d we decided to kill him. 
Q. Di d you in fact do that? 
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A. Yes , I did. 
Q. Now , di d ther e com e a  time afte r yo u kille d Dr . Roman o tha t yo u hear d some -

thing from a  man by the name of Al Polizzi? 
A. Yes , I did. 
Q. Wh o was Al Polizzi? 
A. H e was the boss of Cleveland. 
Q. D o you recal l approximately when this conversation wit h Al Polizzi was? 
A. I t was the next day or 2. 
Q. Afte r the killing of Dr. Romano ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. D o you remember where the conversation too k place? 
A. Tha t I  don't remember now. 
Q. D o you know the year that Dr. Roman o was killed? 
A. I  know it was in the early 30's , '34 , 33 , something like that. I  don't remember . 
Q. Now , wil l you tel l us what Al Polizzi told you a  couple of days after Dr . Roman o 

was killed? 
A. "Jeez , you should hav e said something to me about this before you did anything. " 

He said , "y° u go t u s i n a  spo t now , yo u know, " bu t A l Polizz i didn' t kno w a t 
the time— 

Q. Le t me stop you there. What else did Al Polizzi tell you? 
A. Tha t we shouldn't have done i t the way we did it . 
Q. Wha t reason, i f any, did he give you for that? 
A. H e says , "th e wa y yo u di d it , th e wa y yo u guy s di d it , th e sam e thin g coul d 

happen to us." 
Q. An d did he have any other conversation wit h you concerning John DeMarco and 

your situation? 
A. Well , yes , there was. 
Q. Tel l us about that . 
A. Ther e was a fellow by the name of Jim Mangano. H e raised hell  about it . 
Q. Wh o was Jim Mangano? 
A. H e was a boss of a family her e in New York. 
Q. Tel l us what Al Polizzi told you about Jim Mangano. 
A. Tha t h e didn' t lik e i t and A l Polizz i ha d t o go to Ne w Yor k and tel l the m wha t 

happened an d why it happened and they met with other people there. 
Q. Whe n yo u say other people, whom do you mean? 
A. Th e Commission . 
Q. I s this from A l Polizzi? 
A. Yes . 
Q. A l Polizzi was then the boss or acting boss of Cleveland? 
A. That' s right . 
Q. Woul d yo u tel l us what Al Polizzi told you about this meeting in New York with 

Mangano and The Commission ? 
A. Ji m Mangano raised hell  about it and he wanted John DeMarco to be condemned 
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to death. An d as far as for me he says, "Angelo didn't know any better because h e 
is not a member so he listened to his cousins, s o we will exonerate him. " 

Q. Di d there come a time after thi s conversation wit h Al Polizzi tha t John DeMarc o 
left the area? 

A. Yes , he did. 
Q. The n di d there come a time he returned ? 
A. Yes , he did. 
Q. Di d you have any conversation wit h Al Polizzi concerning that return ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Tel l us what he said to you. 
A. Tha t he had straightened Johnn y DeMarco out to come back to Cleveland. 
Q. An d what i f anything did he tell you about who he had straightened i t out with? 
A. Well , ther e wa s a  meetin g betwee n Ne w Yor k an d Chicag o an d betwee n the m 

they decided to exonerate him . 
Q. Whe n yo u sa y a  meetin g betwee n Ne w Yor k an d Chicago , ca n yo u b e mor e 

specific a s to what you mean ? 
A. Well , there were different fellow s from Chicag o and also from Ne w York and they 

met in Miami Beach . 
Q. I n fact, wer e you present in Miami Beach a t such a  meeting? 
A. I  was but I  was not in the meeting . 
Q. Ca n yo u tel l us where you were and what you saw? 
A. I  was in the living room and they were out in the backyard. 
Q. Wh o was out in the backyard? 
A. Fellow s from Ne w York and fellows from Chicag o plus Al Polizzi. 
Q. Whe n yo u say fellows from Ne w York, wha t positions, if any, did they hold i n La 

Cosa Nostra ? 
A. The y were some of the higher-ups from bot h cities. 
Q. Whe n yo u say higher-up, wha t do you mean ? 
A. Lik e the bosses or maybe underboss . 
Q. Now , sir , di d ther e com e a  tim e whe n yo u wer e propose d t o become a n actua l 

member? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Whe n were you proposed ? 
A. I  remember I  was proposed somebod y told m e i n the 30's , lat e 30' s but there was 

a freeze o n after that . Yo u couldn't make any members . 
Q. Whe n yo u say a freeze, wer e you told who had impose d the freeze ? 
A. Th e Commission . 
Q. D o you remember who i t is that proposed you ? 
A. Propose d me ? 
Q. Yes . 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wh o was that? 
A. Thoma s Agenti. 
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Q. Wha t position i f any did he hold in the La Cosa Nostra ? 
A. A t that time I  believe he was the counselor . 
Q. Di d yo u have conversations wit h any member o f La Cosa Nostr a concerning th e 

freeze a t that time? 
A. Well , they told me that "right now we can't make you. There i s a freeze on. " 
Q. Whe n yo u say "they" who are you referring to? 
A. Lik e my cousin , cousins , an d eve n A l Polizzi tol d me . H e says "but i n due tim e 

you will be made/ ' 
Q. Di d you r cousin s o r Al Polizz i describ e t o you o r tel l yo u th e reaso n wh y ther e 

was a freeze on ? 
A. I  know on e o f the reason s wa s tha t the y wer e makin g to o man y fellow s i n Ne w 

York City and som e of them weren' t the righ t fellows t o be made and ther e were 
fellows buyin g thei r wa y int o th e Mafia , payin g mone y ou t t o an underbos s o r a 
counselor and they wanted to put a stop to it. 

Q. Di d there come a time that you actually were made as a member? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Whe n wa s that? 
A. Th e late 40's. 
Q. Wa s there a ceremony? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wher e did i t take place? 
A. A t the Statle r Hotel i n Cleveland . 
Q. Wha t location i n the Statle r Hotel ? 
A. Th e location ? 
Q. Wher e in the Statle r Hotel ? 
A. I n a suite. 
Q. Wa s it a private suite? 
A. Yes , it was. 
Q. Ca n yo u tell us who was present that you remember ? 
A. A t tha t tim e Joh n Scalish , wh o wa s actin g boss ; Ton y Milano , h e wa s th e 

underboss; my cousin Johnn y DeMarco . I  don't remember i f he was a capo or the 
counselor at the time. 

Q. An d were there other people being made along with you? 
A. Yes , there were. 
Q. Ca n you physically describe the setting of the ceremony? 
A. Well , yo u wal k int o a  room an d the y tel l you t o si t down an d the y as k you, "d o 

you kno w wha t yo u ar e doing here, " and naturall y yo u sa y no . S o then the y tel l 
you. They say, "we want to make you a member of this family but before we make 
you a  famil y w e wan t t o tel l yo u differen t thing s abou t it. " H e said , "d o yo u 
understand that, " and I  said "yes." 
So they wen t o n an d spok e an d says , "yo u know , i f you becom e a  membe r yo u 
can't sel l no narcotics . Yo u can' t have no girls working for you on the street . Yo u 
can't be a pimp. Befor e yo u do anything you always got to get permission, tal k to 
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your capo and ge t permission fo r what you want to do, and i f we ever need you to 
do something , n o matte r wha t tim e o f th e day , night , tha t w e cal l you , eve n i f 
there is somebody dying in your family yo u got to leave and do it." 

Q. Di d he tell you the kind of thing you might be asked to do? 
A. Well , t o give you a contract to kill somebody. 
Q. Wa s anything said concerning secrecy? 
A. H e said, "you can' t tell nobody anything about this to anyone." 
Q. A s you were sitting there listening to this was there anything placed before you? 
A. Ther e was a table with a cloth ove r it . 
Q. Afte r yo u wer e tol d thes e rule s an d regulation s wha t happene d wit h respec t t o 

the cloth? 
A. Well , the y sa y t o yo u "d o yo u understan d wha t w e ar e talkin g about ? D o yo u 

want t o becom e a  member ? Yo u stil l hav e a  chanc e t o refus e o r t o becom e a 
member." S o naturally I  said, "yes , I  will becom e a  member. " Then the y flippe d 
the cloth ove r and there is a gun there with a  dagger and they say, "that is the way 
you live from no w on, wit h the gun and the dagger, and you die with the gun and 
the dagger, do you understand that, " and I  said "yes." 

Q. The n wha t happened ? 
A. The n the y giv e you a  card wit h a  picture o f a saint an d the y ligh t i t up and yo u 

let it burn t o ashes. 
Q. The n wha t happens? 
A. The n the y pinc h you r finge r an d yo u kin d o f suck th e bloo d an d the y al l shak e 

your hand s an d kis s yo u o n you r chee k an d the y say , "yo u ar e a  membe r fro m 
now on." 

Q. Wer e yo u tol d b y an y membe r o f L a Cos a Nostr a wha t th e reaso n wa s fo r no t 
being able to be involved with drugs? 

A. The y said i t would bring too much heat . 
Q. A t the ceremony were you told what the penalty was for breaking those rules? 
A. Yes , you could die. 
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Q. Durin g th e cours e o f thes e meeting s di d Mr . Scop o infor m yo u an d giv e yo u 
more of the details about the Club? 

A. A  little bit more, yes. 
Q. An d did he explain the operation o f the Club to you? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Tel l us what he told you during the course of these meetings about the operations 

of the Club and who ran i t and anything else he told you about the Club. 
A. H e sai d that , lik e I  said , th e Clu b wa s ru n b y thes e heads—no t th e heads , 

representatives of the four families; that the work was going to be whacked up, that 
the contractors were in it . 

Q. Di d yo u hav e conversation s wit h hi m durin g thi s serie s of meetings concernin g 
what he meant by "families"? 

A. I  knew what he was talking about. 
Q. Di d you—di d h e us e th e wor d an d yo u woul d respon d an d yo u woul d us e th e 

word and he would respond ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. An d based on that you had an understanding o f what he meant, correct ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wha t did you understand him to mean by "families' ? 
A. Th e Mafi a familie s i n New York. 
Q. Now , sir , yo u mentione d a  two percent fee had t o be paid. Wha t i f anything did 

he tell you about who it would go to? 
A. H e said i t was going into a pot and i t would be divided up amongst the families . 
Q. An d wha t i f anything did h e tel l you abou t the category o f jobs that was covered 

by this arrangement ? 
A. The y were jobs over two million i n price. 
Q. Wha t i f anything did he tell you about jobs under two million dollars in price? 
A. The y were not allowed to sought by Club members . 
Q. Wha t i f anything did he tell you about — 
A. A s to what? 
Q. Wh y people in the Club would not be or shouldn't be bidding below two million. 
A. Well , there was a lot of small contractors, and he said they had to eat too. 
Q. Wha t i f anything di d h e tel l yo u abou t th e geographica l are a withi n whic h th e 

Club arrangement functioned ? 
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A. Manhattan . 
Q. Wha t i f anything did he tell you about who would actually decide the allocation s 

on a job by job basis? 
A. I  don't know if he ever articulated that . M y understanding was that these— 
Q. Wa s you r understandin g base d o n wha t Mr . Scop o tol d yo u durin g thes e 

meetings? 
A. Prett y much . 
Q. Tel l us what your understanding was? 
A. I t was that these four guys would mee t and decide who was going to get what jobs. 
Q. Incidentally , yo u mentioned tw o percent. Ar e you familiar wit h the term points ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. An d i n you r understandin g what—i n th e industry , wha t doe s th e ter m poin t 

mean? 
A. A  point? A percentage point . 
Q. S o two points would be two percent? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Now , sir , agai n directin g your attention t o this entire serie s of meetings, what , i f 

anything, di d Mr . Scop o tell you concerning how a company that was allocated a 
job would go about setting the price on the job? 

A. Th e guy would figur e ou t what his cost was. He would add 1 5 percent, a  markup, 
and two percent for the Club. 

Q. An d what , i f anything, di d h e tel l yo u abou t th e biddin g proces s tha t woul d b e 
followed b y those companies that had no t been allocated a  particular job? 

A. Well , they would put in inflated numbers . 
Q. An d what, i f anything, di d he tell you about the reason for that? 
A. I  don' t kno w i f h e eve r specificall y outline d th e reason . H e jus t sai d tha t the y 

would pu t i n a  highe r numbe r an d I  understood , yo u know , t o hel p th e gu y ge t 
the job that was supposed to get it. 

Q. What , i f anything , di d h e tel l yo u abou t ho w th e contractor s woul d ge t thos e 
inflated numbers ? 

A. They' d ge t their information throug h Al Chartin. H e was like the line of commu-
nication wit h the thing. 

Q. Now , sir , wha t i f anythin g durin g thes e conversation s di d Mr . Scop o tel l yo u 
about what would happen i f a company took a job that i t wasn't allocated? 

A. They' d hav e to pay a penalty. 
Q. Woul d tha t penalty be in addition t o the two percent? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Durin g thes e conversation s what , i f anything, di d Ralp h Scop o sa y to yo u con -

cerning his own role or his own activities concerning the Club? 
A. A s to what? 
Q. I n othe r words , wha t di d Ralp h Scop o tel l yo u wa s hi s ow n rol e i n th e clu b 

arrangement, wha t was his function, i f any? 
A. Well , he' d go to the meetings, he' d speak for the people he represented . 
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Q. Di d he tell you who he represented a t these meetings? 
A. H e represented us , I  believe he represented Century . 
Q. An d when you mentioned meetings , what , i f anything, did he tell you about who 

attended these meetings he would go to? 
A. Th e other three guys that were making, you know, the allocations and Chattin . 
Q. Whe n yo u sa y the othe r thre e guy s makin g allocations , ar e yo u referrin g t o th e 

three guys from th e families ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. What , i f anything, di d Mr . Scop o ever tell yo u concernin g hi s power to affect a 

contractor's ability to work on a job? 
A. That' s a tough question t o answer, yo u know. 
Q. Le t m e rephras e th e questio n thi s way . Directin g you r attentio n t o sometim e 

later, lik e 198 3 o r 1984 , di d yo u eve r hav e a  conversatio n wit h Ralp h Scop o 
concerning a strike at that point? 

A. Yes . 
Q. Wha t did he tell you on that occasion? 
A. I  think on e of his union wa s involved i n the strike and ther e was talk of someone 

getting concret e o n thei r jo b fro m a  non-unio n supplie r an d h e said , m y guy s 
won't handle the concrete i f it comes. That's all, tha t is what I mean. 

Q. Incidentally , ca n yo u tel l us , sir , base d o n you r experience , wha t th e dail y cos t 
would be—woul d hav e bee n t o XLO durin g th e perio d fro m 198 1 to 198 4 had 
you had one day of stoppage on a job due to a labor dispute? 

A. Yo u mean wha t the overhead would be? 
Q. Yes , what would be the cost to XLO of a one day stoppage? 
A. Well , you mean on one job? 
Q. O n on e job , one dispute, one day stoppage. 
A. Coul d be any job. 
Q. Tel l us what would be the cost to the company, th e loss. 
A. I' d say in that time, from tha t five-year pull? 
Q. Yes , during that time period . 
A. Anywher e from five to ten thousand . 
Q. An d can you explain how it is that a company would sustain tha t kind of a cost? 
A. Wher e that cost came from ? 
Q. Yes , how do you figure that cost? 
A. There' s about 20 odd people that get carried on a job. 
Q. Whe n yo u say "get carried" what do you mean ? 
A. The y get paid no matter what . 
Q. The y are paid no matter what? 
A. Yes . There' s rental s tha t g o on, lik e the cran e rentals . The n there' s som e trade s 

where the job stops they get paid the day anyhow. Yo u know, i t adds up. 
Q. Yo u indicated tha t until approximately May or June of 198 1 you said no to Ralph 

Scopo's invitatio n t o yo u t o joi n th e Club . Wha t wa s your stat e o f mind befor e 
May or June of 198 1 concerning that invitation t o join the Club? 
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A. Yo u mean — 
Q. Wha t was your thinking? 
A. Wha t was my inclination ? 
Q. Yes . 
A. I  didn't want to join it . 
Q. Wh y not? 
A. I  didn't want to do it, that' s all. I  didn't want to be controlled. 
Q. An d di d ther e com e a  time i n Ma y o r June o f 198 1 when yo u sai d ye s to Ralp h 

Scopo about the Club? 
A. Yes . 
Q. An d d o you remember , wher e did yo u mee t wit h Mr . Ralp h Scop o on tha t oc -

casion? 
A. I n his office . 
Q. Di d he call you or did you call him? 
A. Probabl y he called me . 
Q. Woul d you tell us what he said to you and what you said to him on that occasion? 
A. A s to my decision to join the Club? 
Q. Yes . What did he say to you? 
A. H e said , yo u know , like , — I'm tryin g t o think . H e said , look , I  can' t hol d thes e 

guys back any more , you'r e goin g to have t o make u p your mind , eithe r yo u ar e 
in or you are out. An d I  had discussed that with my partners, you know, all along, 
you know, i f we were put up against the wall, we didn't want to go out of business. 

Q. Whe n h e said he couldn't hol d thes e guys back any more, what , i f anything, di d 
you understand hi m to mean about "these guys," who these guys were? 

A. Wha t I  understood? 
Q. Yes , what did you understand ? 
A. I  understoo d hi m t o mea n tha t eve n i f he didn' t wan t to , he' d hav e t o giv e m e 

labor problems, i f I didn't go along. 
Q. Wha t di d yo u understan d th e effec t tha t thos e labo r problem s woul d hav e o n 

your business? 
A. Sa y it again. 
Q. Wha t di d yo u understan d woul d b e th e effec t o f labo r problem s lik e tha t o n 

your business? 
A. Cos t a  lo t o f money , yo u know , t o th e poin t wher e yo u ma y a s wel l no t b e 

in business. 
Q. Ho w long did you remain a  member of the Club after yo u joine d i n Ma y or June 

of 1981? 
A. Til l Septembe r of'84 . 
Q. Wha t happened the n to change the situation? 
A. Tw o FBI guys came into my office wit h a carton ful l o f tapes and played them fo r 

six or eight hours. 
Q. Now , sir , durin g you r tim e i n th e Club , di d yo u hav e furthe r meeting s wit h 

Ralnh fsrnnn ? 



124 I  The  Commission 

A. Yes . 
Q. An d did you meet Al Chattin? 
A. Yes . 
Q. An d did you have numerous meetings with him ? 
A. Uh-huh . 
Q. An d di d yo u hav e discussion s wit h Mr . Scop o an d Mr . Chatti n concernin g 

the Club? 
A. Yeah . 
Q. Di d you learn from thes e conversations who the members of the Club were? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wh o were they besides XLO? 
Q. S  & A, Cedar Park , Northberry , Centur y Maxi m and G & G, tha t is as I recall. 
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Prosecution Rebutta l Summation , Assistan t 
U.S. Attorne y Michae l Chertof f 

Mr. Gaudell i sai d yesterday tha t the government threw i n this Mafia stuf f i n orde r to 
prejudice yo u and inflam e yo u and ge t you to thinking about things that you are no t 
supposed t o think about . Well , yo u know, the word "prejudice" means prejudge, an d 
when yo u cam e int o thi s courtroo m eigh t week s ago , almos t t o the day , an d I  gave 
you my opening statement, I  said to you put out of your mind al l the baggage, al l the 
media stuff , everythin g yo u thin k yo u hav e hear d abou t th e Mafia , becaus e tha t 
doesn't belong here. An d tha t was before yo u came int o the courtroom, becaus e you 
had t o listen t o the evidence i n the case and mak e up your mind base d o n wha t you 
heard here. 

But yo u hav e listene d t o evidenc e fo r eigh t weeks , s o i t i s no t a  questio n o f 
prejudging anymor e o r preconceptions. I t is a question o f what you learned fro m th e 
tapes, fro m th e surveillances , fro m wha t thes e defendant s sai d an d di d a s you hear d 
about i t in this courtroom. 

This isn' t somethin g tha t wa s designed b y th e government , a s yo u hear d i n th e 
opening. Th e governmen t didn' t mak e u p th e wor d "L a Cos a Nostra " o r th e wor d 
"boss" o r "captain " o r al l o f th e thing s yo u hear d abou t tha t th e Mafi a does . Th e 
defendants di d that . Th e defendant s designe d that . Wha t th e governmen t di d wa s 
present you with the evidence about that . 

What di d th e evidence show you? The evidenc e showe d yo u tha t because o f this 
organization calle d L a Cos a Nostra , thes e me n wer e abl e t o direc t an d t o commi t 
crimes on a  vast scale, nationwide in scope. 

You know, you have sat here for eight weeks and you have heard people talk about 
the Mafi a an d yo u hav e heard abou t killing and yo u hav e heard abou t extortion an d 
you have heard about loan-sharking, an d i t is hard not to get a little numb. Yo u sit in 
a courtroom and everything is nice and calm here. We all sit around tables . Generall y 
speaking, w e talk in lo w voices. But , remember , wha t the proof i n thi s case i s about 
is what happen s o n th e street , ou t there , outsid e o f the wall s of this courtroom. Yo u 
have t o kee p tha t sens e o f realit y wit h yo u whe n yo u thin k abou t th e evidenc e tha t 
you have seen and you have heard i n this case, because that is what the case is about. 

These crime s yo u hav e hear d abou t here , whateve r defens e counse l woul d lik e 
you t o think , wer e no t isolate d crime s tha t ha d nothin g t o do with eac h other . I t is 
not jus t abou t a n extortio n her e o r a n extortio n there , o r a  killin g her e o r a  loan -
sharking there. These crimes were connected. An d they were connected to something 
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called the Commission o f La Cosa Nostra , whic h i s the enterprise in this case. These 
crimes wer e interdependent . Th e patter n o f thi s crimina l activit y whic h yo u hear d 
about was made possible only because of the organization o f the Mafia, wha t that rep-
resents. 

Mr. LaRoss a tol d you , an d thi s wa s true, h e reminde d yo u tha t whe n yo u cam e 
in t o be swor n a s jurors , yo u wer e aske d whethe r yo u coul d accep t th e propositio n 
that jus t because a  person i s a member o f the Mafia , tha t alon e does no t make hi m 
guilty o f th e crime s here , an d tha t i s correct . Merel y th e fac t tha t a  perso n i s a 
member o f the Mafi a doe s not make him guilt y of the crimes. But , par t of the crime 
charged her e i s bein g par t o f th e Mafi a an d par t o f th e Commissio n o f L a Cos a 
Nostra. Tha t i s one of the elements , tha t i s one hal f of the crime, becaus e the crim e 
that i s charge d her e i s racketeerin g an d wha t racketeerin g i s abou t i s settin g up , 
joining, associatin g with a  criminal enterprise , organize d crimina l activity , an d usin g 
that organization t o commit crimes like extortion and murder and loan-sharking . 

So it is not true to say that this case has nothing to do with the Mafia o r the Mafi a 
is irrelevant. Th e Mafi a i s very relevant in this case. The Mafi a i s relevant because i t 
is the Mafia tha t makes possible this kind of concerted crimina l activity . The Mafi a i s 
relevant becaus e wha t racketeerin g is , the evi l tha t racketeerin g law s are designed t o 
prevent, i s people bandin g togethe r i n a n organize d an d discipline d fashio n fo r on e 
purpose; to commit crimes. 

You know that the organization w e are talking about her e was not the Kiwanis , i t 
wasn't th e Elk s Club , an d tha t i s importan t too , becaus e thes e me n weren' t jus t 
thrown togethe r i n this organization. N o one jus t scooped the m u p off the street and 
labeled them Mafi a an d then sen t them of f on their way. They took oaths to join this 
organization. The y joine d a n organizatio n whic h wa s disciplined , whic h ha d rule s 
that were enforceable b y punishment, includin g the punishment o f death. 

You know something about the secret society and the rules and the principles that 
these me n voluntaril y adopted , tha t the y embraced , becaus e yo u hear d the m tal k 
about it . You have heard a conversation, fo r example, i n a Jaguar on June 1 4 of 1983, 
with thre e o f the defendant s here—Mr . Furnar i sittin g over there, Mr . Santor o an d 
Mr. Corallo—an d the y wer e talkin g abou t th e membershi p requirement s fo r th e 
Mafia, fo r L a Cosa Nostra . Wha t was one of the cardinal principles , th e main rules , 
that they wer e intereste d in ? You can' t testify . I f you testify , yo u can' t b e a  member ; 
in fact , yo u are lucky to be alive. Tha t was the word tha t Mr . Furnar i use d an d Mr . 
Corallo used. H e is lucky to be alive because he testified . 

What i s the reason fo r having that rule ? The reaso n fo r having that rul e i s so that 
the people who run thi s criminal organizatio n ca n count on their subordinates.  The y 
know if they tell someone to go out and do something, h e i s going to do it , and h e is 
going to keep his mouth shut . An d that increases their power, becaus e you could no t 
take ove r a n industry , yo u coul d no t tak e ove r labo r unions , i f you didn' t hav e th e 
power to direct others to help you. 

One man , eve n a  conspirac y o f shor t duration , a  fe w men , the y couldn' t hav e 
taken ove r th e concret e industr y i n Ne w York , an d yo u kno w that , ladie s an d 
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gentlemen. The y couldn't have approved the selection o f the president of the Interna -
tional Teamster s Union . The y coul d no t be making decisions about delegates for th e 
Masons Union. The y couldn't be getting $200,000 from th e Carpenters Union . The y 
couldn't be running the Concrete Workers Union. On e man, a  few men, couldn' t do 
that. A  disciplined crimina l organizatio n i s what is necessary to do that. 





The Pizz a Connection : 
United States  v.  Badalamenti 
(Trial: October 1985^Februar y 1987 ) 

Introduction 
United States  v . Badalamenti  expose d a  heroin-traffickin g conspirac y tha t 
emerged i n th e aftermat h o f th e breaku p o f the Frenc h Connectio n i n th e 
early 1970s. 1 Th e cas e cam e t o b e know n a s th e "Pizz a Connectio n case " 
because severa l o f th e defendant s use d pizzeria s a s front s fo r engagin g i n 
heroin distribution . I t was the longes t organized-crime tria l an d culminate d 
the larges t and mos t complex o f the decade's organized-crime investigations . 
Badalamenti expose d organize d crime' s involvemen t i n dru g trafficking an d 
the extensive cooperatio n betwee n th e American Cos a Nostr a an d th e Sicil -
ian Mafia . Th e cas e als o demonstrate d th e extraordinar y effort s America n 
and foreig n la w enforcemen t agencie s ar e capabl e o f i n thei r pursui t o f 
organized crime . 

The Indictmen t 
The final  supersedin g indictment , filed  o n Februar y 19 , 1985 , charge d 
thirty-five defendant s wit h conspirac y t o impor t drug s an d t o evad e bank -
ing and money-launderin g statutes . Th e entir e traffickin g networ k allegedl y 
involved ove r tw o hundre d additiona l participants . I n additio n t o th e 
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Badalamenti defendants , som e conspirator s wer e prosecute d i n Ital y an d 
Switzerland; others were later prosecuted i n United  States  v . Adamita. 2 

The indictmen t charge d numerou s specifi c violation s o f currency impor -
tation and transaction reportin g statutes;3 thirty-one defendants wer e charged 
with participatin g i n a  RICO conspiracy, an d te n were charged wit h manag -
ing a "continuing criminal enterprise." 4 

The indictmen t name d a s defendant s senio r Mafi a figures,  includin g 
Gaetano Badalamenti and Salvatore Catalano, along with lower-level partici-
pants i n th e dru g traffic , suc h a s investors , dru g couriers , an d messenger s 
responsible fo r coordinatin g th e conspiracy' s far-flun g factions . I n effect , 
United States  v . Badalamenti  brough t t o tria l a n internationa l Cos a Nostr a 
drug-trafficking operation . 

Twenty o f the defendants wer e connected t o two groups: eight relatives of 
Gaetano Badalamenti , onc e hea d o f th e Sicilia n Mafi a commission , an d 
twelve member s an d associate s o f th e Sicilia n Mafia , som e o f who m 
had becom e importan t figures  i n Ne w York' s Bonann o crim e family . Two 
defendants, courier s o f mone y an d messages , belonge d t o neithe r o f thes e 
factions. 

Gaetano Badalament i wa s the mos t prominen t defendant . A s a resul t o f 
the Sicilia n Mafi a war s of the early 1970s , the Corleonese crim e family ha d 
driven him out of Italy and murdered numerous members of his family.5 The 
indictment charge d tha t h e ha d conspire d t o expor t narcotic s fro m Brazil , 
where h e wa s living , t o th e Unite d States . Seve n o f hi s relative s wer e als o 
named a s defendants: Salvator e Evola , a  contractor i n Temperance , Michi -
gan, accused of being an investo r and distributor in the operation; Emanuele 
Palazzolo an d Pietr o Alfano , pizzeri a owner s i n Wisconsi n an d Michigan , 
accused o f being investors and organizer s o f the trafficking ; Giusepp e Trupi -
ano, Giusepp e Vitale , an d Vincenz o Randazzo , accuse d o f participating a s 
couriers; and Vito Badalamenti, Gaetano' s son, accused of assisting his father 
in the conspiracy. 

Salvatore Catalano , a  cap o i n th e Bonann o family , wa s th e highest -
ranking Cosa Nostra member of the trial's New York defendants. H e was also 
allegedly a  membe r o f th e Sicilia n Mafi a an d wa s accuse d o f runnin g 
the Bonann o dru g importatio n business , whic h purchase d drug s fro m th e 
Corleonese organizatio n i n Sicil y an d fro m Badalamenti' s organizatio n i n 
Brazil. Th e indictmen t charge d Giusepp e Ganc i wit h being a  key organize r 
of the drug importation an d distribution join t venture in America. Salvator e 
Lamberti, a  membe r o f th e Sicilia n Mafia' s Borgett o family , hi s cousi n 
Giuseppe Lamberti , a  partne r o f Catalan o an d Ganci , an d Giuseppe' s 
brother-in-law Salvator e Mazzurco , anothe r Catalano/Ganc i partner , wer e 
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named a s investor s i n th e dru g busines s an d charge d wit h negotiatin g pur -
chases o f drug s i n Sicil y fo r th e Catalano/Ganc i group . Th e indictmen t 
charged Gaetan o Mazzar a an d Fran k Castronov o wit h storin g dru g mone y 
for th e consortiu m i n thei r Ne w Jerse y restaurant . Salvator e Greco , a  Ne w 
Jersey pizzeria owne r and the brother o f Sicilian Mafi a bos s Leonardo Grec o 
of Bagheri a (Sicily) , wa s charge d wit h mone y laundering . Th e indictmen t 
charged Francesc o Polizz i wit h bein g a n "investor " i n an d custome r o f th e 
Catalano/Ganci join t venture . Defendant s Baldassar e Amat o an d Cesar e 
Bonventre wer e charge d wit h bein g investor s i n an d wholesal e distributor s 
for th e operation , whil e Filipp o Casament o wa s accuse d o f bein g Ganci' s 
wholesale drug customer . 

The indictmen t charge d Giovann i Cangiolosi , a  representativ e o f th e 
Corleonese family, wit h participation i n the conspiracy. I t alleged that he had 
been sent to the United State s to resolve disputes among the traffickers . 

The Investigatio n 
The investigatio n whic h le d to the Pizza Connection tria l was different fro m 
the investigation s tha t le d t o the othe r prosecutions considere d i n thi s book . 
Those bega n wit h th e targetin g o f known Cos a Nostr a leader s an d involve d 
gathering enough evidence to make a case. In the Pizza Connection, th e FBI 
built a  massiv e cas e fro m th e groun d up . Severa l Burea u office s bega n b y 
responding to bits and piece s of information abou t differen t crimina l group s 
and crimes . Onl y afte r year s o f followin g differen t trail s di d a  coheren t 
picture of the Pizza Connection emerge . Mor e than any other prosecution of 
the 1980s , thi s case demonstrated th e FBI' s ability to conduct a  massive and 
complex investigation int o organized crime . 

The case 6 bega n wit h th e FBI' s Ne w Yor k Cit y office' s investigatio n 
into th e 197 9 murde r o f Carmine Galante , th e Bonann o famil y boss . La w 
enforcement official s believe d tha t h e wa s assassinate d b y a  riva l Bonann o 
family factio n competin g fo r contro l o f th e Ne w Yor k Cos a Nostr a heroi n 
trade. Eventually , the y identifie d th e riva l factio n a s th e "Zips, " a  cadr e o f 
Sicilian immigrant s wh o resente d Galante' s contro l ove r th e Ne w York -
Sicilian heroi n trade . Th e investigatio n initiall y focuse d o n Salvator e Cata -
lano, a  Bonann o cap o an d leade r o f th e Zips , an d o n Cesar e Bonventre , 
Galante's bodyguard . 

Over the next five years, the Galante investigation intersecte d with Buffal o 
and Detroit FBI drug investigations; a New Rochelle (New York) FBI interna-
tional money-launderin g investigation ; a DEA undercove r dru g operation i n 
Philadelphia; an d Italia n investigation s directe d b y th e Palerm o magistrate , 
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Giovanni Falcone. 7 The Swis s police became involved whe n Swis s financial 
institutions wer e implicate d i n th e conspiracy' s money-launderin g schemes . 
The Spanis h an d Brazilia n polic e assiste d th e Unite d State s i n trackin g 
conspirators whom the FBI traced to their countries. 

As the scope of the activities of the Zips suspected of assassinating Galante 
became apparent, th e FBI expanded it s operation into a massive investigation 
of internationa l dru g trafficking . Thi s evolutio n bega n i n Octobe r 1980 , 
when a  white-colla r crimina l investigatio n conducte d b y th e FBI' s Ne w 
Rochelle office, tracin g a rumored overseas transfer o f more than $6 0 million 
through a  variety of money-laundering channels , identifie d severa l member s 
of th e Zip s a s th e sourc e o f th e funds . Ove r eightee n month s later , th e 
FBI uncovere d a  differen t money-launderin g metho d usin g internationa l 
brokerage house s i n Ne w Yor k an d Zuric h t o transfe r som e $2 0 million . 
Discovery o f th e Swis s connectio n prove d particularl y fruitful . Wit h th e 
cooperation o f the Swiss government, th e FBI eventually interrogated severa l 
Swiss mone y launderer s wh o ha d extensiv e contact s i n Italia n bankin g an d 
Turkish morphine smuggling . 

The money-launderin g investigation s le d th e FB I t o a  vas t networ k o f 
New Yor k an d Ne w Jerse y organized-crim e figures  a s th e source s o f th e 
money, an d th e money-laundering route s all led to Sicily , which , i n the late 
1970s, had become the leading European cente r for heroin processing . 

Shared intelligence enabled parallel investigations to progress in both Italy 
and th e Unite d States . I n Octobe r 1982 , Unite d State s an d Italia n official s 
gathered a t Quantico , Virginia , fo r a  join t conferenc e o n organize d crime . 
These meetings were valuable for both governments. They contributed to the 
Italian arrests , three months later , o f 15 3 mafiosi throughou t Italy , while the 
Italians provide d th e FB I wit h surveillanc e photograph s tha t confirme d th e 
identities of several New York conspirators and were extremely useful a t trial. 

In spring 1983 , the FBI launched a  massive electronic surveillance opera -
tion i n suppor t o f th e expandin g investigation . Ove r th e nex t thirtee n 
months, th e cas e develope d int o th e larges t wir e tappin g operatio n eve r 
mounted b y the FBI . Th e FB I tappe d th e hom e phone s o f dozens o f Eas t 
Coast an d Midwes t conspirators , a s wel l a s numerou s pa y phones . Th e 
seventy-five authorize d wiretap s led t o the interceptio n o f over one hundre d 
thousand conversations. One year after the wiretaps began, over one hundred 
of the 16 5 agents assigned t o the organized-crime divisio n o f the FBI' s Ne w 
York offic e wer e workin g ful l tim e o n th e case ; i n addition , severa l doze n 
FBI and DEA agents in other states were involved. 

The electroni c surveillanc e provide d th e agents with ne w insight into th e 
dynamics an d structur e o f th e dru g network . Investigator s wer e abl e t o 
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identify th e role s playe d b y th e conspirator s o n bot h side s o f th e Atlantic . 
Initially, Sicil y appeare d t o b e th e sol e sourc e o f the drug s acquire d b y th e 
New York-New Jersey-based joint  venture heade d b y Catalano. However , a s 
the exhaustiv e surveillanc e continued , agent s realize d tha t th e Catalan o 
organization wa s dealin g wit h a  Brazilia n contac t wh o ha d bot h cocain e 
sources in Latin America an d heroin source s in Italy. 

By early 1984 , the FBI had tentatively identified th e Brazilian drug source 
for Catalano's group as Gaetano Badalamenti , a  surprise because the Sicilia n 
Mafia ha d declare d hi m a n outcast . Th e hypothesi s wa s al l bu t confirme d 
when Tommas o Buscetta , a  senio r Mafi a figure,  lon g wante d i n bot h Ital y 
and the United State s for his role in the French Connection, wa s captured i n 
Brazil and , afte r agreein g t o cooperat e wit h th e authorities , confirme d tha t 
Badalamenti wa s living in that country . 

Beginning i n th e fal l o f 1983 , investigator s monitore d negotiation s be -
tween Badalament i an d th e Catalan o joint  ventur e member s i n Ne w York . 
The conspirator s encode d thei r dru g conversation s i n languag e involvin g 
purchase an d sal e o f garments, fo r example , "twenty-tw o containers " of "10 
percent acryli c shirts, " which th e investigator s interprete d t o mea n twenty -
two kilo s o f a  90-percent-pur e illici t drug , eithe r cocain e o r heroin , whic h 
would b e shippe d t o th e For t Lauderdal e area . A s th e dea l developed , 
communication betwee n the Illinois, Rio de Janeiro, and New York branches 
of th e dru g networ k intensified . I n Marc h 198 4 th e FB I sen t a  five-agent 
team t o Brazil , whil e th e Ne w Yor k offic e worke d feverishl y t o identif y th e 
Rio pay phones use d b y Badalamenti. Thoug h th e traces were successful o n 
several occasions , th e agents were never quick enough t o catch Badalament i 
himself at a phone. 

As the delivery date approached, th e FBI was confronted wit h a  dilemma: 
either t o intercep t th e drugs , exposin g th e investigation , o r t o le t th e ship -
ment throug h an d wait , holdin g ou t fo r Badalament i t o surface . Fran k 
Storey, hea d o f th e Ne w Yor k FBI' s organized-crim e division , balke d a t 
letting th e drug s int o th e countr y bu t wa s overrule d b y Assistan t Unite d 
States Attorney Loui s Freeh , Unite d State s Attorney Rudolp h Giuliani , an d 
FBI Director William Webster , wh o decided tha t apprehending Badalament i 
and shuttin g dow n th e whol e narcotic s pipelin e wa s wort h th e har m tha t 
would be caused by permitting one more drug shipment to enter the country. 
The issu e became moot , however , whe n th e shipment wa s delayed. Shortl y 
thereafter, throug h intercepte d calls , th e FB I learne d tha t Badalament i 
planned t o mee t wit h a  coconspirato r i n Madri d an d decide d t o arres t hi m 
in Spain . 

DEA agent s an d Spanis h polic e arreste d Gaetan o Badalament i an d hi s 



J 34 /  The  Pizza Connection 

son Vito in Madri d o n Apri l 8 , 1984 . The nex t day, while officials fro m th e 
FBI, DEA , Custom' s Service , police , an d th e Manhatta n Unite d State s 
Attorney's Offic e coordinate d operation s fro m th e FB I comman d pos t i n 
Manhattan, ove r fou r hundre d federa l an d loca l la w enforcement agent s i n 
Illinois, Ne w Jersey , Philadelphia , Wisconsin , Michigan , an d Ne w Yor k 
simultaneously raide d th e home s an d businesse s o f th e Pizz a Connectio n 
conspirators. Incredibly , whil e agent s discovere d numerou s illega l weapon s 
and significant cache s of money, they found virtuall y no drugs. Nonetheless , 
four year s o f investigatio n ha d provide d massiv e evidenc e o f internationa l 
drug trafficking an d money laundering . 

The Trial 
Of th e thirty-fiv e defendant s name d i n th e indictment , onl y twenty-tw o 
appeared fo r trial ; th e remainde r eithe r ha d fled,  died , bee n prosecute d 
in Europe , ple d guilty , o r entere d int o cooperatio n agreement s wit h th e 
government. O f these twenty-two defendants, ninetee n remaine d at the trial's 
end; Gaetan o Mazzar a wa s murdere d i n Decembe r 1986 , whil e Vincenz o 
Randazzo an d Lorenz o DeVard o ple d guilt y t o lesse r charge s durin g th e 
course of the trial. 

Federal Distric t Judge Pierre Leval presided; Assistant United State s Attor-
neys Loui s Freeh , Richar d Martin , Rober t Stewart , an d Rober t Buckna m 
represented th e government . Selectio n o f the trial' s twenty-four anonymou s 
jurors and alternate s too k one month ; ultimately , th e financial  an d persona l 
hardship o f servin g o n a  seventeen-mont h tria l whittle d thei r numbe r t o 
sixteen. 

Before trial , th e defendant s move d t o seve r th e prosecutio n int o severa l 
smaller conspirac y cases. 8 Judg e Leva l rule d tha t wit h th e exceptio n o f 
one defendant , th e government' s indictmen t properl y charge d a  single dru g 
importation an d RIC O conspiracy . Th e resul t was a trial o f staggering com -
plexity fo r juror s an d lawyer s alike . I t brough t th e ter m "megatrial " int o 
American jurisprudenc e an d sparke d a  debate on th e fairnes s o f such prose -
cutions. 

Four rows of seating in the fifth-floor courtroom a t the Southern District' s 
Foley Square  courthouse were converted int o seating for the defendants an d 
their attorneys . Th e courtroo m ha d t o b e wire d fo r simultaneou s Italia n 
translation. Th e tria l als o require d thre e translator s an d a  hos t o f Unite d 
States marshalls for security. 

The Souther n Distric t ha d see n larg e RIC O prosecution s before , bu t 
Badalamenti wa s Foley Square's longest criminal trial . I t generated over forty 
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thousand page s o f transcrip t an d occupie d dozen s o f lawyer s fo r th e thre e 
years betwee n indictmen t an d verdict . Th e twent y openin g defens e state -
ments urge d differin g an d ofte n contradictor y interpretation s o f th e case' s 
complex fact s upo n th e jury . Th e tria l wa s similarl y marke d b y multipl e 
cross-examinations, motions , objections , an d affirmativ e defense s fro m th e 
disparate defense team. The juror s faced th e herculean challenge of compart-
mentalizing th e evidenc e agains t eac h o f th e defendant s whos e role s w e 
sketched briefly above. 9 

Two dramati c incident s durin g th e tria l exacerbate d th e conflict s withi n 
the defense camp . Th e murde r o f Gaetano Mazzar a i n Decembe r 198 6 and 
the shootin g o f Pietro Alfano i n Februar y 198 7 both sparke d speculatio n b y 
journalists and la w enforcement official s o f conflict amon g the defendants. I t 
was widely theorize d tha t Mazzara' s murder , whic h occurre d th e weeken d 
before hi s defens e wa s to begin , wa s ordered b y codefendants afrai d tha t h e 
would implicat e them . Afte r th e Alfan o shooting , th e Badalament i famil y 
members requeste d tha t the y b e place d i n protectiv e custody . Thi s cause d 
tensions betwee n th e Catalan o an d Badalament i defendant s t o ris e t o th e 
point tha t Iva n Fisher , attorne y fo r Salvator e Catalano , fel t compelle d t o 
publicly deny that his client was involved i n the Alfano shooting . 

The Prosecutio n 
The prosecution' s challeng e was to present a massively complex case , highl y 
dependent upo n tape s o f intercepte d code d conversations , i n a  wa y tha t 
would b e comprehensibl e an d plausibl e t o th e jury ; thi s ha d t o b e don e 
without the aid of piles of drugs that are usually put in evidence in traffickin g 
trials. Whil e th e prosecutio n tea m neede d thirtee n month s t o presen t it s 
case, i t stresse d ove r an d ove r that , i n essence , the y wer e simpl y provin g 
the existenc e o f a  narcotics-smugglin g an d money-launderin g conspiracy . 
According to Assistant United State s Attorney Rober t Stewart's opening state-
ment for the prosecution , 

The basic story of what occurred i n this case is not very complicated. I t is, stated in 
its simplest terms, the buying and selling of a commodity year in and year out, over 
and over again. [The commodity] was massive amounts of contraband narcotic drugs, 
heroin and cocaine.10 

The prosecutio n se t th e stag e an d establishe d th e existenc e o f the enter -
prise through the testimony o f prominent organized-crime turncoats , includ -
ing Tommas o Buscetta , Salvator e Contorno , Luig i Ronsisvalle , an d Salva -
tore Amendolito. Onl y Ronsisvall e and Amendolito were directly involved in 
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the crime s charge d i n Badalamenti,  bu t the other s could fill  in backgroun d 
about the Cosa Nostra figures and their operations. Hundred s of photographs 
of meeting s amon g th e defendant s an d hundred s o f recording s o f thei r 
often-cryptic conversation s supporte d th e testimon y o f these witnesses . Tw o 
hundred surveillanc e agents , financial  analysts , an d intelligenc e expert s ex-
plained the photographic and audio surveillance. They presented a picture of 
clandestine meetings, coded conversations , an d secretive transactions. 

The prosecution devote d the first few months to establishing the coopera -
tive relationship between th e Sicilia n an d American organized-crim e group s 
and thei r heroin-traffickin g networks . Th e government' s first witness, Tom -
maso Buscetta , describe d th e histor y o f the Sicilia n Mafia , th e Corleones e 
war tha t ha d resulte d i n Badalamentf s ouster , an d th e origins , codes , an d 
practices tha t define d th e America n an d Sicilia n Mafias . Buscett a ha d lon g 
been a n associat e o f Badalamenti's , thoug h h e denied knowledg e o f Badala-
menti's drug trafficking, bu t his contact with the remainder of the defendant s 
was limited . Hi s testimon y wa s mos t valuabl e t o th e prosecutio n fo r th e 
chilling picture i t painted o f the Sicilian Mafia . 

The testimon y o f Salvatore Contorn o an d Luig i Ronsisvalle , coconspira -
tors who had agreed to testify fo r the government, wa s directly relevant to the 
proof o f the drug conspiracy . A  Mafia membe r drive n t o cooperate wit h th e 
government whe n h e wa s marked fo r death  b y the Corleonese family , Con -
torno identifie d five  o f the Ne w York-New Jersey defendants a s having been 
present at a 198 0 drug transaction i n Bagheria , an d he related discussions he 
had hel d wit h Sicilia n Mafi a member s concernin g thei r dru g distributio n 
contacts i n th e Ne w York Cosa Nostra . Ronsisvalle , a  Cosa Nostr a associat e 
who admitte d t o thirtee n murders , testifie d t o a  meetin g i n whic h Sa l 
Catalano an d Giusepp e Ganc i discusse d a  "heroin pipeline " from Sicily . H e 
further testifie d t o having transported heroin for Catalano's organization fro m 
New York to Chicago fo r five thousand dollar s a  trip. Th e defense attorney s 
clashed ove r the question o f impeaching Ronsisvalle . Som e wanted al l of his 
murderous pas t entere d int o evidenc e i n orde r t o discredi t him . Other s 
wanted to keep his murders out in order to avoid tainting all of the defendant s 
with hi s Mafi a violence . Th e murders , thoug h no t thei r details , wer e ad -
mitted. 

The government' s nex t witness was Salvatore Amendolito, wh o described 
a serie s o f money-launderin g venture s generate d b y th e Pizz a Connectio n 
conspiracy. H e initiall y operate d b y converting carton s o f smal l bills , deliv -
ered t o hi m b y defendant Sa l Catalano , int o mone y order s with value s jus t 
below ten thousand dollar s (the amount tha t triggers federal cash-transactio n 
reporting requirements ) throug h a  dozen differen t Ne w York bank accounts . 
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Amendolito would the n wir e the money through Credi t Suisse , Citibank , o r 
Lavoro Bank to various Swis s bank accounts , fro m wher e i t would b e trans-
ferred t o Sicily . A s th e volum e o f mone y expande d t o suitcase s ful l o f 
cash, sometime s i n amount s exceedin g five  hundre d thousan d dollar s pe r 
shipment, Amendolit o starte d personall y t o transport mone y by plane to the 
Bahamas, wher e h e deposited i t with Bahamia n branche s o f Swiss banks fo r 
wire transfer t o Switzerland . Amendolit o identifie d a  number o f defendants , 
particularly Ganci , Castronovo , an d Catalano, a s the sources of the cash. 

Having established th e organizational hierarchy , membership , an d opera -
tions of the Sicilia n Mafi a an d th e Bonanno crime family , an d the nature of 
their joint  drug trafficking conspiracy , th e government proceeded t o demon-
strate eac h defendant' s role . Thi s tas k was mainly  accomplishe d wit h inter -
cepted conversations , thoug h som e physica l evidenc e provide d crucia l sup -
port fo r th e prosecution' s case . A  pharmaceutica l scal e an d a  noteboo k 
recording wha t wer e apparentl y dru g transaction s wer e foun d a t Salvator e 
Mazzurco's house , an d fingerprint  check s made whil e the tria l was in prog -
ress connecte d Mazzurco , Gaetan o Mazzara , an d Sa l Catalan o t o govern -
ment-monitored dru g and money shipments. 11 

The government' s cas e relie d upo n nin e volume s o f transcribe d inter -
cepted conversations , seventy-seve n volume s o f telephon e tol l records , an d 
the testimon y o f a  hos t o f FB I an d loca l polic e agent s wh o ha d spen t year s 
following, photographing , an d listenin g t o th e defendants . T o presen t th e 
wiretaps to the jury , the government hired four actors , known i n the court as 
the "pizza players, " to read the intercepted phon e calls . Fo r months, th e jury 
listened t o th e reenaction s o f translation s o f crypti c Sicilia n conversations . 
The jur y heard such passages as, 

" . . . I  lost the line because the guy who sews is not around. No w we are waiting 
minute by minute . .  .  because the tailor went up from down there . .  .  therefore, he 
will seek to be able to come up here . .. t o be able to unravel this thing, more than 
anything else because it is becoming moldy." 

"Are you talking about the shirt s that come from Italy ? Or the shirt s from ove r 
there, where they have come from before." 

and, 

"Tomorrow speak with the guy whom you gave me those suits that time . .. as k him 
'What appetit e d o yo u have , wha t appetit e don' t yo u have ? Wha t ar e yo u goin g 
to do?' " 

The governmen t the n ha d t o call agent s (in thei r rol e as expert witnesses ) to 
interpret thes e crypti c conversations . FB I agen t Fran k Tarall o testifie d tha t 
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the code s use d b y the defendant s wer e typica l o f those use d i n th e worl d o f 
drug smuggling , an d h e translate d suc h term s a s "suits " an d "shirts " int o 
the vernacula r o f th e dru g trade . Naturally , th e defens e lawyer s objecte d 
continuously to the agents' inculpatory interpretations . 

The testimon y agains t Gaetan o Badalament i depende d upo n si x crucia l 
phone conversations . Accordin g t o the prosecutors , Badalamenti' s referenc e 
to "the thing of four o r five years ago" supported the government's contentio n 
that Badalament i wa s involved i n a  drug conspiracy of some duration. Simi -
larly, th e prosecutio n contende d tha t Badalamenti' s statemen t t o Sa l Lam -
berti, "Thi s way , thi s mont h o f Marc h w e ca n g o an d collec t a  bunc h o f 
asparagus," referre d t o th e prospectiv e profit s fro m thei r dru g trafficking . 
Most incriminating , however , wa s a series of conversations between Badala -
menti and the New York group, i n which Badalament i referre d t o a prospec-
tive drug shipment to Fort Lauderdale, "The thing where it is hot": 

BADALAMENTI: . . . I  think tha t by the beginning of next week . . . o r they 
will com e wit h twenty-tw o parcel s o r wit h eleve n parcels , whateve r yo u 
guys prefer. .  .  . 

ALFANO: I  don't know about the twenty-two. 
BADALAMENTI: No w there's another thing . I  met the guy with th e shirt s of 

four year s ago .  .  .  bu t there' s a  little problem. .  .  .  There's anothe r gu y 
here that has, there's ten percent acrylic. I  understand littl e about this. 

ALFANO: But te n percen t is no t bad . 
BADALAMENTI: Th e cos t over here i s about forty-five cents.  And ove r there 

it will cost about sixty cents. .  .  and the price is good. 

The government constructed an overwhelming case against the defendant s 
with hundred s o f encoded conversation s lik e this one, plu s the testimony of 
informants an d surveillance agents. 

The Defens e 
The defens e attorneys , especiall y thos e representin g th e mino r defendants , 
were confronte d wit h th e formidabl e tas k o f maintainin g distinc t identitie s 
for their clients and preventing them from fadin g int o a morass of conspiracy 
and guil t by association. Thei r strategie s were diverse and sometimes contra -
dictory. Gaetan o Badalament i an d Mazzurc o testifie d i n thei r ow n defense ; 
five defendants struggle d t o provid e innocen t explanation s fo r th e prosecu -
tion's evidence agains t them throug h th e testimony o f friends, relatives , an d 
associates. The othe r defendants relie d upo n cross-examination s and defens e 
summations to raise reasonable doubts about their guilt. 
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Gaetano Badalamenti' s defens e cam e first.  Whe n h e too k th e stand , 
however, h e refuse d t o answe r man y question s pu t t o hi m bot h i n direc t 
examination b y his own lawyer, Michae l Kennedy , an d i n cross-examinatio n 
by Assistant United State s Attorney Louis Freeh. Badalament i claimed (albei t 
without foundatio n i n Unite d State s law ) tha t pendin g charge s i n Ital y 
justified hi s selective refusal t o answer questions. H e denied tha t the govern-
ment's recorde d phon e conversation s concerne d drugs , statin g tha t h e ha d 
never bee n involve d i n dru g smuggling . Badalament i woul d no t respond , 
however, t o hi s attorney' s inquir y a s to wha t th e conversation s di d involve , 
answering, "Mr . Kennedy , I  wil l no t explai n fo r tw o reasons . I  have neve r 
betrayed an d I  will never betray my secrets. The othe r i s that i t would caus e 
me har m i n Italy. " Similarly , o n cross-examinatio n Badalament i said , "I f I 
am th e depositor y o f a secret , ther e i s no on e who ca n ge t i t out o f me. S o 
many hav e tried , al l differen t ways , tortur e included . . . . I t i s not drugs . I 
cannot explain what it is." Badalamenti refuse d t o answer many other govern-
ment questions about hi s Mafia past , referrin g onl y evasively to his defeat i n 
the Corleones e wa r i n Sicil y an d refusin g t o answe r question s tha t coul d 
implicate him a s a Mafia member . I n respons e to Freeh's question "Ar e you 
now o r hav e yo u eve r bee n a  membe r o f L a Cos a Nostra? " Badalament i 
answered, "Yo u know , i f I  wer e t o sa y yes , I  woul d hav e bi g problem s i n 
Italy." Judge Leva l instructe d th e jur y tha t Badalamenti' s silence s coul d b e 
held against him, a s he had waived his Fifth Amendmen t right s by taking the 
stand. Afte r th e conclusion o f the trial , Badalament i wa s convicted o f crimi-
nal contempt for his refusal t o answer Freeh's questions. 

Mazzurco, th e onl y othe r defendan t wh o testified , asserte d tha t a  ledge r 
offered b y the government a s evidence of recorded dru g transactions actuall y 
referred t o preciou s stones , an d tha t a  balanc e beam  scal e o f a  typ e com -
monly used i n drug transactions actually was a pasta scale. The remainde r of 
his testimon y wa s equall y incredible , includin g hi s claim s tha t h e wa s no t 
involved wit h a  heroi n packag e wrappe d i n tissu e pape r bearin g hi s pal m 
print an d tha t h e ha d n o relationshi p wit h th e dru g deale r Emanuel e Ada -
mita, wh o ha d Mazzurco' s phon e numbe r i n hi s addres s book . Michae l 
Kennedy go t Mazzurc o t o admit , "I t wa s a  tabo o fo r anyon e t o b e i n 
touch with Mr . Badalamenti. " Kennedy advanced the theory that Mazzurco' s 
contact with Badalament i wa s not for the purpose of drug dealing, bu t was to 
further a  Sicilian Mafi a plo t against his client. 

Following these two disastrous appearances , n o othe r defendants too k th e 
stand. Catalano' s cas e was undermined b y a witness who, whe n aske d abou t 
the Mafi a famil y i n hi s hom e village , responded , "Mafia—What' s that ? I 
don't eve n kno w wha t i t is ! I s i t somethin g tha t on e eats? " An accountan t 
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testified tha t Greco had been with him examining pizzeria properties in New 
Jersey rathe r tha n testin g batche s o f heroi n i n Italy , a s th e governmen t 
claimed. Thi s alib i was completely discredited whe n severa l entrie s support -
ing it in the accountant's date book were shown to be fabricated . 

The othe r defendants ' affirmativ e defense s wer e similarl y marre d b y im -
plausible testimon y o r b y witnesse s wit h crimina l record s o r immigratio n 
problems. Th e majorit y o f the defendants relie d o n attacks on the credibilit y 
of the governmen t witnesses , challenge s t o the government' s interpretation s 
of the thousands of cryptic phone conversations that provided the bulk of the 
evidence agains t them , an d thei r lawyers ' summations. Ultimately , non e o f 
these defense tactic s proved successful . 

The defens e attorney s frequentl y clashe d wit h on e another . Thei r mos t 
extreme conflic t occurre d whe n Kenned y claime d i n hi s closin g statemen t 
that a series of encoded phon e calls referred no t to drug dealing but to a plot 
involving defendan t Mazzurc o t o murde r hi s client , a  position tha t enrage d 
Mazzurco and Joseph Benfante , hi s lawyer. Throughou t the trial , the defen -
dants hindere d eac h other' s case s wit h objection s an d contradictor y argu -
ments. 

The Verdic t an d Sentencin g 
The jur y retire d t o begin deliberation s o n Februar y 25 , 1987 , accompanie d 
by the 120-pag e indictment, 35 0 pages of charges and instructions, 410 pages 
of evidentiar y chart s an d summarie s prepare d b y th e government , an d th e 
59-page verdic t sheet . Th e jur y too k onl y si x day s t o arriv e a t it s verdicts . 
Vito Badalamenti , Gaetano' s son , wa s th e onl y defendan t acquitte d o f al l 
charges. Fiftee n defendant s wer e convicte d o f al l charges . Mazzurc o an d 
Salvatore Lamberti were convicted of drug trafficking an d RICO conspiracies 
but cleare d o f th e continuin g crimina l enterpris e charges . Salamon e wa s 
found no t guilt y o f th e RIC O an d narcotic s conspirac y charge s bu t wa s 
convicted o f currency-reporting violations. 

Judge Leval sentenced te n o f the defendants t o between twenty and thirty -
five years, five to between twelv e and fifteen years, an d fou r t o five years or 
less. H e also imposed significan t fines,  includin g $125,00 0 fo r Badalament i 
and $1.15 million fo r Salvatore Catalano. I n addition, i n a novel application 
of the Victim an d Witnes s Protection Act , Judg e Leval ordere d eigh t defen -
dants collectivel y t o pa y $3. 3 millio n t o a  fun d fo r th e rehabilitatio n o f 
drug addicts. 
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The Appeal 
Fifteen o f th e eightee n convicte d defendant s appeale d thei r convictions . 
The Secon d Circuit' s consolidate d opinion , United  States  v . Casamento, 12 

addressed te n o f the appellants ' arguments i n detail. 13 With th e exception o f 
the sufficienc y o f evidence appeals , o n whic h Giusepp e Trupiano' s convic -
tions were completely overturne d an d Fran k Castronovo' s continuin g crimi -
nal enterpris e convictio n wa s overturned , th e cour t foun d tha t Judg e Leva l 
had eithe r been correc t i n hi s rulings or had mad e harmless errors . Three of 
the Second Circuit' s holdings will be examined below. 

1. Th e atmospher e an d siz e o f the trial : The appellant s argue d tha t th e 
courtroom atmospher e created by the mass joinder, b y the media attention i t 
attracted, an d b y the violenc e tha t occurre d durin g th e proceeding s mad e a 
fair tria l impossible. Rejectin g this argument, th e Second Circui t wrote, "We 
will presum e th e jur y followe d [Judg e Leval's ] admonition s an d avoide d 
exposure t o new s report s abou t th e trial, " and , i n evaluatio n o f th e trial' s 
violence, "Whethe r th e sudde n absence s o f Mazzar a an d Alfan o fro m th e 
courtroom ma y possibl y hav e mad e th e jur y mor e incline d t o believ e tha t 
these two defendants, an d b y association, th e res t of the defendants, le d lives 
of violence is a matter of conjecture." 14 

The cour t furthe r rejecte d th e argumen t tha t th e tria l wa s s o lon g an d 
complex that the jurors, unable to assimilate the evidence, had no alternative 
but t o rel y uncriticall y o n th e government' s summar y boo k an d charts . 
Despite th e fac t tha t th e juror s reache d thei r verdict s i n onl y si x days , 
the cour t foun d tha t th e handfu l o f not-guilt y verdict s demonstrate d th e 
jury's abilit y t o evaluat e criticall y th e evidenc e agains t eac h defendant . 
Further, th e cour t determine d tha t a  "lengthy , multi-defendan t narcotic s 
conspiracy tria l [is ] no t beyon d th e ke n o f th e ordinar y juror , sinc e [the ] 
purchase an d sal e o f har d drug s i s basically a  simpl e operation." 15 Finally , 
the cour t foun d tha t th e not-guilt y verdict s disposed o f the appellants ' argu -
ment tha t spillove r prejudic e ha d tainte d th e jur y results ; i f the jur y coul d 
distinguish thos e charge s wher e i t faile d t o find  guilt , thi s implie d tha t it s 
evaluations o f eac h charg e wer e unaffecte d b y it s analyse s o f th e othe r 
charges. 

Further, th e cour t rejecte d th e argumen t tha t conflict s amon g the defen -
dants ha d exacerbate d th e spillove r prejudice , concludin g tha t "severanc e i s 
not necessarily warranted eve n i f the defendants ar e hostile or attempt to cast 
the blam e o n eac h other." 16 Th e cour t concluded , "Difference s [i n tria l 
strategies] will almost inevitabl y occu r i n multi-defendan t trials , an d t o hold 
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that they require severance would effectively ba n this type of trial; we decline 
to impose such a  ban/'17 

Though the appellate panel declined to impose a ban on mass trials, i t did 
set out guidelines to control the size of future trials . I n the future, wher e the 
trial judge determines that the time for presentation o f the government's case 
will excee d fou r months , th e prosecuto r mus t file a  motio n demonstratin g 
that a  joint  tria l i s more conducive t o a fair administratio n o f justice than a 
series o f smaller trials ; in case s with mor e tha n te n defendants , th e govern -
ment's burde n o f justificatio n i s particularl y heavy . Th e court' s discussio n 
concluded with a plea: 

[T]he judge is to be commended for the fairness, patience , and sound judgement he 
displayed throughou t the conduct o f this most extraordinary proceeding . Neverthe -
less, we offer the guidance outlined in the preceding paragraphs in the hope that we 
will no t soo n be again presente d wit h the transcrip t o f a seventeen mont h tria l in 
which more than thirty persons were named as defendants.18 

2. Sufficienc y o f evidence: The sufficiency-of-evidenc e appeal s achieve d 
some success . Defendan t Giusepp e Trupiano' s conviction s wer e completel y 
overturned; the cour t hel d tha t the government' s sol e evidence agains t him , 
a conversatio n i n whic h h e considere d Alfano' s reques t t o "tak e a  walk " i f 
Alfano coul d sen d hi s "daughte r o r someon e t o sta y wit h m y wife," 19 wa s 
legally insufficien t t o prov e beyon d a  reasonabl e doub t tha t Trupian o wa s 
aware o f an d participate d i n th e conspiracy . Th e cour t als o overturne d 
Castronovo's conviction o n the continuing crimina l enterpris e charge , hold -
ing that the evidence did not show that he had controlled the activities of five 
other members of the conspiracy. 

3. Th e restitutio n penalties : The appellants ' sole other succes s lay i n th e 
Second Circuit' s overturnin g o f th e restitutio n penaltie s impose d o n eigh t 
defendants. Th e court concluded tha t the Victim and Witness Protection Act 
limited restitutio n order s t o victim s whos e damage s coul d b e attribute d di -
recdy t o action s o f specifi c defendants . Consequently , defendant s i n dru g 
cases coul d no t b e ordere d t o pa y restitutio n t o dru g rehabilitatio n center s 
that serve the general public. 

Conclusion 
Ultimately, Badalamenti  wa s mos t significan t fo r layin g t o res t th e long -
standing debat e ove r Cos a Nostra' s involvemen t wit h dru g trafficking , fo r 
demonstrating th e drug-smuggling alliance between th e Sicilia n an d Ameri -
can organized-crim e families , an d fo r illustratin g th e internationa l scop e of 



The Pizza Connection I  14 3 

their operations . Student s o f Cosa Nostr a an d eve n forme r famil y member s 
turned state' s witnesses have time and again recounted th e injunction agains t 
drug dealing . Fo r example , forme r Lo s Angele s famil y underbos s Jimm y 
Fratiano testifie d tha t th e drug-dealin g ba n i s one o f the Cos a Nostr a rule s 
whose violation i s punishable b y death. Likewise , i n th e Commissio n case , 
Tommaso Buscett a confirme d th e ba n o n dru g dealing; as recently a s 1993 , 
Salvatore Gravano repeated thi s assertion. 

It seems likely that differences o f opinion abou t the propriety of traffickin g 
in drug s hav e caused substantia l conflic t an d disruptio n withi n Cos a Nostr a 
since the lat e 1970s . Som e observers believe, fo r example , tha t the civi l war 
within the Bonanno family wa s sparked by commission sponsorshi p of Philip 
Rastelli, wh o ha d committe d t o shutting dow n th e dru g dealin g establishe d 
by bos s Carmin e Galante . Anothe r theor y hold s tha t Pau l Castellan o wa s 
assassinated becaus e h e wa s inten t o n enforcin g th e dru g ba n withi n th e 
Gambino famil y b y imposin g a  death  sentenc e upo n Joh n Gotti' s brother , 
Gene, an d close friend, Angel o Ruggiero. 

Organized crime' s involvemen t i n dru g dealin g merit s extensiv e study . I f 
there i s a Cosa Nostr a ba n o n drugs , i t clearly ha s been frequentl y violate d 
over many years . I n 1986 , the President' s Commission o n Organize d Crim e 
concluded tha t dru g dealin g i s th e nor m rathe r tha n th e exceptio n i n th e 
contemporary Mafia. 20 Badalamenti  lend s support to this conclusion. 

The Pizz a Connection cas e demonstrated th e significant development s i n 
the internationalizatio n o f bot h crim e an d la w enforcemen t tha t hav e oc -
curred i n recen t years. Fo r the first time, th e Sicilian Mafi a wa s shown to be 
active in the Unite d States ; more broadly, the prosecution expose d the sort of 
sophisticated internationa l structur e that is required to sustain ongoing, large-
scale drug trafficking . Th e investigatio n o f thi s Unite d States-Sicilia n con -
nection le d t o th e forgin g o f ne w internationa l cooperatio n amon g la w 
enforcement agencies . Th e investigatio n wa s trul y multinational : polic e o f 
three countries—the Unite d States , Switzerland , an d Italy—were integra l to 
the operation , th e Spanis h polic e cooperate d i n th e final  seizur e o f Badala -
menti, an d th e Turkis h polic e provide d Unite d State s investigator s wit h 
background informatio n o n the Mediterranean morphin e trade. 

In monitorin g an d recordin g th e communication s o f th e Badalamenti 
defendants, thes e polic e agencie s employe d a  wid e rang e o f sophisticate d 
surveillance tools , suc h a s conceale d vide o cameras , pe n registers , eaves -
dropping devices , an d computer-aide d telephon e tracin g systems . Th e con -
spirators showed astonishment that their international payphone-to-payphon e 
calls ha d bee n tapped . Contemporar y Cos a Nostr a member s mus t operat e 
under th e assumptio n tha t thei r cummunication s ar e no t secur e agains t 
modern-day high-tech governmen t eavesdropping . 
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More tha n an y othe r case , Badalamenti  demonstrate s ho w formidabl e a n 
opponent t o organize d crim e la w enforcemen t ha s become . Remarkabl e 
changes i n la w enforcemen t methods , commitments , an d technolog y oc -
curring ove r th e las t thre e decade s wil l mak e i t impossibl e fo r organize d 
crime t o operate i n it s traditional way . 

Notes 

1. United  States  v  Santana, 50 3 F2d 710 (2d Cir 1974) . 
2. A  late r prosecution , United  States  v  Adamita,  8 8 C R 21 7 (SDN Y 1989 ) 

(known popularl y a s "Pizza Connectio n II") , charged fourtee n additiona l individual s 
with participatio n i n th e Pizz a Connectio n conspiracy . Th e trial , i n which presidin g 
judge Sprizz o harshl y criticize d th e prosecutio n fo r th e unsupporte d breadt h o f it s 
charges, was a setback for the government. Seve n of the defendants wer e acquitted by 
Judge Sprizz o a t the conclusio n o f the government' s case ; two were acquitted b y the 
jury; four wer e convicte d o f heroin distributio n an d conspirac y t o distribute heroin , 
and one was convicted of conspiracy to distribute heroin . 

3. Th e indictment contained sixteen counts: count one charged al l the defendant s 
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Prosecution's Openin g Statement , Assistan t 
United State s Attorney Rober t Stewar t 

May it please the court, counsel , ladie s and gentlemen o f the jury: 
As his Honor said a few minutes ago, my name i s Robert Stewar t and I  am one of 

the attorneys for the government . 
The indictmen t i n thi s cas e charge s 3 5 defendants , 2 2 o f whom ar e her e today , 

with conspirac y t o violat e th e narcotic s law s an d relate d offense s involvin g th e 
importation an d distribution o f narcotic drugs between the years 197 5 and 1984 . The 
case involves a number o f individuals i n addition t o the 3 5 who are charged an d th e 
22 wh o ar e actuall y here . Yo u wil l hea r a  numbe r o f names  durin g th e cours e o f 
this trial. 

Certainly th e cas e involve s a  numbe r o f event s ove r a  relativel y lon g perio d o f 
time. Ye t the basic story of what occurred i n thi s case i s not very complicated. I t is, 
stated i n it s simplest terms , th e buyin g and sellin g of a commodity yea r i n an d yea r 
out, ove r and over again. 

What I  wan t t o d o i n th e nex t hou r an d perhap s 1 5 minute s is , first  o f all , t o 
describe t o you th e basi c natur e o f the busines s operatio n whic h i s at the hear t an d 
the cor e o f thi s case ; secondly, t o identif y fo r yo u eleve n individual s wh o ar e abso-
lutely essentia l t o this case and aroun d who m al l majo r event s in thi s case occurred ; 
thirdly, t o go over the indictmen t wit h yo u i n a  bi t more detail,  identifyin g wha t al l 
the charge s are , identifyin g wh o al l o f the defendant s are , som e o f the principa l co -
conspirators, an d to describe for you what the role and what the function wa s of each 
of thos e defendant s an d co-conspirator s i n thi s particula r narcotic s operation ; an d 
finally, t o review with you very briefly some of the evidence which you will be hearing 
during the coming weeks and months . 

First, a s to the basic elements o f the business operation , th e buying and selling of 
a commodity, a  commodity which came from overseas . All that happened in this case 
was that a group of individuals in the New York-New Jersey metropolitan are a forme d 
a join t busines s venture . The y go t thei r friend s an d associate s t o com e togethe r a s 
investors in the business venture and they called u p some other friends an d associate s 
overseas and the y said t o those people overseas "Can yo u suppl y u s with a  commod-
ity?" And th e associate oversea s called som e of his friends an d associates . Som e they 
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asked "Can yo u provide us with ra w material?" Others, they said "Can yo u manufac -
ture th e ra w materia l int o th e commodity? " And stil l other s the y aske d t o transpor t 
that commodit y t o America an d t o delive r i t t o the peopl e wh o wer e the customer s 
in America . 

When th e oversea s supplie r ha d don e al l thos e things , gotte n th e ra w material , 
gotten i t manufacture d int o th e commodit y an d ha d i t transported t o th e peopl e i n 
America, th e people here sold the commodity a t wholesale to their customers. 

Now the y ha d a  bi g pil e o f mone y i n fron t o f them , 5's , 10's , 20's , 50's , $10 0 
bills. N o checks , n o ban k accounts . Jus t cash . An d the y di d tw o thing s wit h tha t 
money. Par t of it, a  good part of it, the y put into their pockets, because that was their 
profit, an d i t was a very, very handsome profi t indeed . Wha t remaine d the y sent back 
to the oversea s supplier s wh o ha d provide d the m wit h th e commodity , becaus e the y 
had purchased tha t commodity almost always on credit or what in the trade is referred 
to as consignment. 

When thos e dollar s go t bac k acros s th e ocea n int o th e hand s o f th e oversea s 
supplier he did four things with that money. Par t of it he gave to the person or persons 
who provide d th e ra w material , par t o f i t h e gav e t o th e perso n o r person s wh o 
manufactured tha t ra w materia l int o th e final  commodity , par t o f i t h e gav e t o th e 
people who transported tha t commodity t o the customers i n America , an d the res t of 
it he put in his pocket. 

That wa s al l tha t happene d i n thi s case , mont h in , mont h out , yea r i n an d yea r 
out, throughou t the nine years that are charged i n the indictment . 

What make s thi s particula r busines s operatio n unusua l an d uniqu e and , indeed , 
the subject of this prosecution i s that the commodity in question was massive amounts 
of contraband narcoti c drugs, heroin an d cocaine , an d secondly , that the individuals , 
every one o f the peopl e who was involved i n th e proces s o f buying and sellin g these 
commodities, wer e member s o r associate s o f th e Mafia , th e Mafi a i n Sicil y o r th e 
Mafia i n the United States . 

Because the y wer e member s o f the Mafi a an d becaus e the y wer e traffickin g i n a 
contraband dru g the y wen t t o grea t length s t o concea l wha t i t wa s tha t the y wer e 
doing, an d s o you wil l no t se e one o f these defendant s pic k u p the telephon e i n hi s 
office—and al l o f th e defendant s ha d legitimat e businesse s an d the y al l ha d tele -
phones i n thei r legitimat e businesses—yo u wil l no t se e the m pic k u p thos e tele -
phones an d cal l a n oversea s supplie r an d sa y "Sen d m e 2 2 kilogram s o f cocain e 
next week." 

What yo u ar e goin g t o se e instea d ar e peopl e standin g o n stree t corner s i n th e 
dead o f winter, shiverin g and shakin g for a n hou r waiting for a  pay telephone cal l t o 
come from somebod y i n Sicil y or somebody i n Illinoi s o r somebody i n Brazi l who is 
also going to be using a pay telephone. 

And whe n th e cal l finally  come s you'r e no t goin g t o hea r ordinar y intelligibl e 
sentences of a person ordering a commodity on terms and price and conditions. Wha t 
you wil l hea r i s people talking in code s about shirt s and shoe s and pant s and th e old 
pants and th e ne w pants and th e architec t an d th e enginee r an d th e work over ther e 
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and plants and potatoes and cheese, anythin g but what they are really talking about, 
which is heroin and cocaine and kilograms and dollars and cents. 

You wil l b e i n a  unique positio n becaus e yo u wil l hea r these conversation s over 
pay telephones and you will know what the codes are. As a matter of fact, by the end 
of this case you will know the codes better than many of the defendants, because they 
had great difficulties durin g the course o f the conspiracy keepin g the codes straight, 
and consequentl y no t infrequentl y yo u wil l se e a  perso n standin g ou t o n a  stree t 
corner and never getting the call because somebody ha s made a mistake in the code 
and the call i s going to another telephone somewhere halfway around the world. But 
you will have the benefit of knowing what the codes are and of understanding exactly 
and precisely wha t i t is that these people are doing i n their telephone conversation s 
and in their other movements. 

The evidenc e wil l demonstrat e tha t there are two basic themes to this case . On e 
of thos e theme s involve s th e dynamic s o f smuggling , th e smugglin g o f massiv e 
quantities of heroin and cocaine into the United States on a protracted and systematic 
basis an d th e smugglin g o f massiv e amount s o f Unite d State s currenc y ou t o f th e 
United States to the overseas suppliers. Indeed , during just part of 1982 and 1983 just 
one o f the oversea s operation s locate d i n Sicil y earmarke d ove r a ton an d a  half of 
pure heroin fo r consignment t o the cor e group individuals who were importin g the 
drugs and distributing the drugs here i n the Ne w Yor k metropolitan area . Tha t ton 
and a half of heroin, pure heroin, had a wholesale value of over $333 million, a  third 
of a billion dollars, in the space of a little over a year. 

Between th e year s 198 0 an d 198 3 th e evidenc e wil l demonstrat e tha t ove r $4 0 
million wa s smuggled ou t o f th e Unite d State s int o Switzerlan d fo r distribution t o 
some of the suppliers in Sicily, and that does not count money that was smuggled out 
of the United States to pay for other overseas suppliers in Brazil. 

Smuggling, then , i s one of the basic themes of this case. The second basic theme 
of this case involves the dynamics o f the Mafia , a  secret criminal organizatio n both 
there an d i n th e Unite d State s whic h provide d th e cemen t tha t hel d togethe r th e 
components of this conspiracy year in and year out throughout the nine years charged 
in this indictment. 

It was the Mafi a organizatio n disciplin e an d protoco l an d rule s o f orde r whic h 
enabled th e co-conspirators i n thi s case to deal wit h one another a third of the way 
around the world from each other , t o enter into agreements which althoug h havin g 
no abilit y t o enforce thei r contract s i n th e la w were nevertheles s bindin g upo n th e 
members and associates of the secret society, agreements involving millions of dollars 
in cash and millions of dollars in product. 

It was the Mafia discipline which enabled members to take a package containing a 
million dollars in cash or a million dollars in heroin and go in the dead of night and 
walk dow n a  dar k alle y t o mee t wit h somebod y confiden t tha t the y woul d no t b e 
ambushed and robbed by the person that they were going to meet because there was 
a code of honor among these people that bound them to honor their obligations. 
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That wa s the disciplin e an d th e organizatio n tha t mad e thi s conspiracy possible , 
that brough t thes e people togethe r an d tha t hel d the m togethe r yea r i n an d yea r ou t 
and gav e them a  very , ver y distinct  advantag e ove r any othe r competito r tha t lacke d 
that basic organization . 
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Testimony o f Tommaso Buscett a 

Q. Mr . Buscetta , di d yo u com e t o hav e conversation s wit h member s o f L a Cos a 
Nostra? 

A. Yes . 
Q. I n th e cours e o f thos e conversation s di d yo u lear n abou t th e structur e an d th e 

function o f La Cosa Nostra ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Ca n you tell us what that was? 
A. Th e organization wa s divided u p into families . 
Q. Wha t do you mean by "families," sir? 
A. Th e group was called families becaus e we are or we were brothers. These familie s 

adopted the name of the village where they were located o r of a small town where 
the famil y wa s located . Th e famil y consiste d o f a  cap o o r boss , sott o cap o o r 
deputy boss, consigliere or counselor, capodecin e and soldato or soldier. 

Q. Mr . Buscetta , i n that structure, what position did you have when you first joined? 
A. Soldier . 
Q. Yo u told us that the boss or capo was Gaetano Filippone ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Mr . Buscetta , you said that you were a soldier in this organization, i s that correct? 
A. Yes . 
Q. A s a  soldier , di d yo u com e t o lear n wha t you r dutie s an d responsibilitie s wer e 

within the organization ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Ca n you tell us what duties and responsibilitie s you had as a soldier? 
A. Ther e i s no t a  grea t dea l o f differenc e betwee n a  soldie r an d a  boss . Th e onl y 

difference lie s i n knowin g ho w t o dea l wit h peopl e durin g a  conversation , som e 
people speak better and som e people speak not so well and as in everything, ther e 
has to be a boss, bu t ther e i s no difference betwee n th e boss and th e soldie r a s to 
dignity or conduct of the man . 

Q. A s a  soldie r i n th e Mafi a famil y yo u wer e par t of , ca n yo u tel l u s wha t yo u 
understood your responsibilities and duties to be? 

A. M y responsibilities were limited. Eve n my very conduct. 
A. (Continuing ) An d I  ha d t o wai t unti l order s wer e give n t o m e b y th e bos s 

through m y cap o decin e a s t o whethe r I  wa s t o cooperat e o r participat e i n an y 
particular undertaking . 
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Q. Wha t do you mean tha t your conduct was limited, Mr . Buscetta ? 
A. I' m sorry , I  don't understan d you r question. Yo u say "my conduct was limited/' I 

didn't say my conduct was limited. 
Q. I  thin k yo u sai d tha t yo u ha d limite d responsibilitie s an d yo u ha d t o wai t fo r 

orders from you r boss or capo decine? 
A. Tha t i s correct. 
Q. Now , a s a  soldier , di d yo u receiv e instruction s o r informatio n abou t th e wa y i n 

which you were to comport yourself as a member of the Mafia ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Yo u receive d thos e afte r yo u becam e a  member , shortl y afte r yo u becam e a 

member? 
A. A s a matter o f fact, thes e qualities were required als o before becomin g a  member 

of the organization . 
Q. Pleas e continue. 
A. I  was reminded t o behave i n th e appropriat e manner , t o be silent , no t to look at 

other men' s wive s o r women , no t t o stea l an d especiall y a t al l time s whe n I  was 
called I  had to rush, leavin g whatever I  was doing. 

Q. Mr . Buscetta , yo u said that you had to be silent, i s that correct? 
A. Yes . 
Q. I s ther e a  particula r wor d tha t wa s use d b y th e organizatio n t o describ e tha t 

concept? 
A. Omerta . 
Q. Ca n yo u tel l u s whethe r omert a applie d withi n th e organizatio n o r a s to peopl e 

outside the organization ? 
A. Mainl y withi n th e organization , bu t i t ca n b e applie d als o outsid e th e organi -

zation. 
Q. Wha t woul d happe n s o far as you know , Mr . Buscetta , s o far as you were told, i f 

you violated one of those principles that you jus t described? 
A. Death . 

* *  * 

Q. Mr . Buscetta , le t m e no w retur n t o th e tim e shortl y afte r yo u too k th e oat h 
and becam e a  membe r o f L a Cos a Nostr a a s yo u described . I  woul d lik e t o 
ask you , sir , i f ther e cam e a  tim e whe n someon e mor e senio r i n th e famil y 
than yo u tol d yo u wha t you r obligation s wer e a s a  membe r o f tha t L a Cos a 
Nostra. 

A. Yes . 
Q. An d how was that information passe d on to you? 
A. B y voice. Nothin g is written i n the Mafia . 
Q. Ca n yo u tel l u s wha t tha t perso n tol d yo u abou t you r obligation s a s a  ma n 

of honor? 
A. Ther e ar e man y suc h things . Th e mai n one s ar e th e maximu m silence , secrec y 
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also between husban d and wife or brothers, an d no leak of information fro m the 
Mafia outside. 
There wa s another thing . A  person o f the Mafi a coul d abstai n fro m talkin g but 
when he talked he had to tell the truth. 

Q. You r last answer, can you tell us a little more fully what you were told concerning 
your obligation to tell the truth? 

A. A  man of honor must tell the truth to another man of honor. H e may also abstain 
from talking. Shoul d h e no t tel l th e truth , the n h e ma y be subjec t to expulsio n 
or death. 

Q. Wit h respect to silence, omerta , as you described it, Mr. Buscetta, what were you 
told, i f anything, tha t you could say to people who were outside the Mafia abou t 
the existence of the Mafia? 

A. Nothing . On e cannot say anything. 
Q. Mr . Buscetta , wer e yo u tol d shortl y afte r yo u becam e a  membe r o f th e Mafi a 

anything about the identity of other members of the Mafia and how you could be 
introduced to them? 

A. Yes . 
Q. Ca n you explain to us what you were told and what you understood? 
A. I t was explaine d t o m e tha t there wer e man y families , familie s i n th e sens e o f 

Cosa Nostr a or Mafia, i n the area of Palermo and that if I were to meet some of 
their members I needed an introduction b y somebody else , I  could not introduce 
myself by myself to these people. 
May I continue? 

Q. Pleas e continue. 
A. T o continue answering your question, I  may have access to any family in the area 

of Palerm o throug h a n introductio n b y m y boss , I  can neve r introduc e mysel f 
alone, and I shall always follow the directions of the capodecine. 

Q. Mr . Buscetta, you said that you had to be introduced to another man of honor by 
another person, i s that correct? 

A. Tha t is correct. 
Q. An d how would tha t introduction tak e place or how were you told that such an 

introduction must take place? 
A. I  was introduced as Cosa Nostra, or the same thing, Stes a Cosa. 
Q. An d what did those words mean when they were used for such an introduction? 
A. Tha t I belong to a family. 
Q. An d what did it mean with respect to the other persons who were present during 

the introduction? 
A. I f there were two or three men o f honor and another person who was not a man 

of honor, fo r me, I  was introduced a s "This is our friend," for the other person, 
who was not a man of honor, the introduction was "This is my friend," and it was 
understood, therefore , wh o was and who wasn't. 

Q. Wh o was and who wasn't what, sir? 
A. Wh o was a man of honor and who was not a man of honor. 
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Q. Yo u sai d tha t yo u learne d thes e thing s shortl y afte r yo u becam e a  membe r o f a 
particular family, i s that correct, Mr . Buscetta ? 

A. Tha t is correct. 
Q. An d were you told why these rules existed? 
A. Fo r the secrecy of Cosa Nostra , o f Mafia . 
Q. Mr . Buscetta , yo u sai d tha t yo u becam e a  membe r o f a family . Di d tha t famil y 

have a name? 
A. Yes , Porta Nuova . 

* *  * 

Q. An d what were you told about how the capo of your family was selected? 
A. Throug h a  vote. 
Q. A  vote of whom? 
A. W e voted, includin g himself. Al l the members of a family voted . 
Q. An d di d yo u com e t o lear n whethe r th e sam e procedur e fo r electin g a  cap o 

applied i n other families ? 
A. Whereve r there i s Cosa Nostr a i t is the same in every place. 
Q. An d how did you come to learn tha t information, Mr . Buscetta ? 
A. Withi n m y own family and then through contacts with members of other families . 
Q. Mr . Buscetta , ca n yo u tel l u s i f durin g th e cours e o f you r membershi p i n th e 

Porta Nuov a famil y yo u cam e t o lear n wha t th e function s an d dutie s o f th e 
capo were? 

A. Yes . 
Q. Mr . Buscetta , ca n yo u tel l u s ho w i t wa s tha t yo u cam e t o acquir e tha t infor -

mation? 
A. B y the members of my own family . 
Q. Ca n you also give us an approximate time, how soon after yo u became a member 

you became familiar wit h the duties and responsibilitie s of the capo? 
A. Immediatel y after . 
Q. Now , Mr . Buscetta , ca n yo u tel l u s wha t th e dutie s an d responsibilitie s o f th e 

head of the family were ? 
A. Th e dutie s were to deal with al l matter s pertaining to the various members of the 

family i n th e bes t possibl e way , t o dea l an d interac t wit h member s o f othe r 
families, wit h othe r families , an d alway s t o hav e a  goo d wor d i n respec t t o 
the weak. 

Q. Yo u told us about a position o f the underboss,  o f the sotto capo. 
A. Yes . 
Q. Ca n yo u tell us if you came to learn ho w the underboss was selected? 
A. Th e underbos s i s chosen b y the boss and h e is not elected . 
Q. Ca n you tel l us , Mr . Buscetta , ho w you came to come by that information ? 
A. Withi n th e family . I n th e famil y ther e ar e th e youn g an d th e ol d member s an d 

the old members instruct the young ones one day after th e other . 
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Q. An d i n you r cas e i s that ho w yo u cam e t o lear n th e informatio n tha t yo u hav e 
disclosed to us today about the structure of La Cosa Nostra ? 

A. Yes . 
Q. Mr . Buscetta , yo u described the position o f consigliere or counselor . 
A. Yes . 
Q. I  woul d lik e t o as k yo u i f ther e cam e a  tim e whe n yo u receive d informatio n 

about th e dutie s an d function s o f th e perso n wh o ha d tha t jo b i n th e famil y 
as consigliere. 

A. Yes . 
Q. An d how did you obtain that information ? 
A. Alway s within the family . 
Q. Wha t wa s th e function , s o fa r a s yo u understoo d it , o f th e consiglier e withi n 

the family ? 
A. Th e wor d itsel f describe s th e function . Consiglier e counselor , i s somebody wh o 

gives advice. H e is elected, jus t like the boss, and no boss will take the responsibil -
ity of a decision unles s he has called i n the consigliere. 

Q. Ho w many consigliere would there be or were there in your family ? 
A. Three . 
Q. Yo u also described the position of capodecine, i s that correct, sir ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Di d yo u com e t o lear n wha t th e functio n o f th e capodecin e wa s withi n th e 

family? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Ho w did you come to learn that information ? 
A. Fro m the capodecine himself . 
Q. An d what did the capodecine tell you about his job? 
A. N o ma n o f hono r ha s an y particula r tas k t o carr y ou t withi n a  family . Onl y h e 

is—there i s no specific jo b that somebody mus t do. Only I  am a t his orders and I 
must carry them out when he gives them. 



Appendix C 

Testimony o f Agent Fran k Tarall o 

MR. MARTIN : You r Honor , a t thi s tim e th e governmen t offer s Agen t Tarall o a s a n 
expert in narcotic s activities. 

THE COURT : Yo u ma y procee d i n askin g you r questions . I f ther e ar e objection s 
I'll rule . 

Q. I n you r 2 4 year s wit h DEA , FB N [Federa l Burea u o f Narcotics ] an d th e Lo s 
Angeles Police Department, sir , youV e engaged i n undercover negotiations to buy 
and sel l narcotics, i s that correct? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. YouV e engaged i n such negotiation s both face to face and on the telephone ? 
A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Now , ca n yo u tel l u s i f i n you r fac e t o fac e negotiation s i n 2 4 year s o f you r 

experience th e person s who hav e been offerin g t o sel l o r sel l drugs t o you o r buy 
drugs fro m yo u hav e use d certai n term s o r pattern s o f speec h whic h you'v e 
observed to be common? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. An d ca n yo u describ e th e patter n o f speec h whic h you'v e observe d t o b e con -

ducted while in those discussions? 
A. Yes , th e pattern s ar e deceptive . Instea d o f usin g direc t definition s o f a  drug , fo r 

instance, there would be another word used i n it s place. 
Q. An d in conversations you've had have you had occasion to yourself use the words 

"heroin" or "cocaine" or other drugs? 
A. O n a  few occasions I  forced tha t issue. 
Q. Wha t do you mean by that, sir ? 
A. Tha t I  would o n purpos e mentio n th e wor d "heroin " or "cocaine" depending o n 

what negotiation I' m in . 
Q. An d did you receive any instructions o r advice on those occasions when you used 

those terms? 
A. O n thos e occasions I  would receiv e some admonishment tha t I  shouldn't us e the 

word, i t i s dangerous, th e polic e ma y b e around , th e polic e ar e listenin g s o us e 
these other words, these other codes. 

Q. An d that was in face to face negotiations ? 
A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Now , yo u sai d tha t the patter n o f speaking would b e to use words other than th e 

words for drugs? 

155 
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A. That' s correct . 
Q. I n the 24 years that you have been a  law enforcement agen t in conversations tha t 

you have had i n undercover situations in which you were either purchasing drugs 
or selling drugs, did th e parties with who m yo u were negotiating use other code d 
terms to describe substances or objects other than drugs? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Ca n you tell us what those other items would be? 
A. Th e other items were money. 
Q. Instea d o f using a specific amoun t o f money, you'r e saying that some other word 

would be used? 
A. Som e other word or some minimizing of the amount would be used. 
Q. Coul d you give us an example of a minimized amount ? 
A. Well , I  would say 100,00 0 and somebody would say 1. 
Q. S o that i n you r discussion s tha t you'v e ha d i n referrin g t o $100,000 , yo u woul d 

use the, o r the other individual would use the word "one"? 
A. That' s correct . 
Q. An d you would understand wha t he was referring to? 
A. Yes , sir. 
Q. I n thes e conversations , di d yo u als o us e ambiguou s word s t o refe r t o person s 

and places? 
A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Coul d yo u describe conversations you can recal l i n which persons or places were 

referred t o in such a  way? 

The Court: Just a moment. Yo u asked him whethe r he used ambiguous terms. 
Mr. Martin : I'm sorry . 

Q. I  mean t t o as k yo u whethe r yo u hear d narcotic s dealer s wit h who m yo u wer e 
negotiating use words to refer to persons or places other than naming those persons 
and places? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Coul d you give us an example ? 
A. Yes . Instead o f explaining, fo r instance : We're going to meet at MacDonalds, th e 

person would say: We're going to meet over there by that place, do you remember? 
Instead o f usin g th e person' s rea l name , nickname s wer e give n t o people . An d 
these were, i t went both ways. I  would also be given a nickname and use the same 
type of code. 

Q. Coul d yo u tel l u s wha t understandin g yo u ha d o f suc h term s whe n the y wer e 
being used? 

A. Well , i n the face to face conversation , i t would b e explained: Meet me over here 
but call me beforehand. An d when I  called: Oh, yeah , remembe r I  told you mee t 
me over here. Yes , I do. I'l l see you there. And that's the type of dialogue. 

Q. Thes e patterns of speaking, ca n you tel l us approximately how many times in the 
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24 years you've bee n involve d i n undercove r activity , you'v e hear d conversation s 
like that where codes are used? 

A. I' d have to say well over 500 . 
Q. An d ca n yo u tel l u s i f based o n you r experience , whe n dealin g wit h narcotic s 

dealers it is common practic e to use codes? 
A. Ver y common practice . 
Q. Now , I'v e been askin g you i n thi s last series of questions about conversations you 

had durin g undercove r negotiation s whic h yo u wer e involve d i n fac e t o face . 
Let m e as k you , sir , di d yo u als o engag e i n undercove r activitie s whil e usin g 
the telephone? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. An d di d yo u observ e the sam e pattern o f conversations use d b y narcotics dealer s 

on the telephone ? 
A. Yes . I heard the same patterns. 
Q. Coul d yo u compar e the degree to which suc h code s were used o n th e telephon e 

as compared wit h face to face discussions ? 
A. Th e conversations on the phone were as deceptive as face to face. 
Q. Wer e you ever admonished abou t being careful ho w you spoke on the phone? 
A. O n severa l occasions. 
Q. Di d yo u receiv e instruction s abou t usin g pa y telephone s durin g th e cours e o f 

your undercove r negotiation s wit h thos e peopl e wh o wer e offerin g t o sel l t o 
you narcotics ? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. An d can you tell us what instructions you received ? 
A. I  was told to be very guarded whe n I  spoke to a person on the phone, t o use other 

than th e direct words involving drugs, no t to divulge locations , no t to divulge the 
person's identity . 

Q. An d were you also given instructions about using pay telephones? 
A. Yes , I was. 
Q. Ca n yo u tel l u s i f i t wa s a  commo n practic e amon g person s who m yo u wer e 

negotiating with t o buy drugs or whom yo u wer e negotiating with t o sell drugs to 
have them tel l you to use the pay phone? 

A. Yes , it was common. 
Q. An d i n th e 2 4 year s you'v e bee n involve d i n narcotic s investigations , hav e yo u 

observed person s who you wer e investigatin g fo r narcotic s activit y usin g pay tele-
phones? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. I s that true in the United State s as well as in Italy? 
A. Yes , sir. 
Q. An d when you made—were you sometimes, i n the course of undercover negotia -

tions, given telephone numbers ? 
A. Yes , sir. 
Q. An d were you given instructions to make telephone calls to such a number? 
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A. Yes , sir. 
Q. An d whe n yo u mad e tha t telephon e call , di d yo u determin e tha t tha t telephon e 

number was located i n a bar, a  restaurant or was a pay phone? 
A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Ca n yo u tel l u s i f that was a common wa y of communicating i n th e undercove r 

negotiations you were involved in ? 
A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Now , i n th e fou r year s tha t yo u wer e assigne d t o Italy , di d yo u als o mak e 

observations o f individual s wh o wer e th e target s o f you r investigation s usin g 
pay telephones? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. An d i n th e wiretap s tha t you'v e listene d to , bot h i n Ital y and th e Unite d States , 

have yo u hear d th e participant s i n thos e wireta p conversation s makin g call s ove r 
pay phones? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. An d have you heard quarters and other money being dropped int o a phone? 
A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Now , le t me ask you, sir , i n the 2 4 years that you hav e been a  law enforcemen t 

agent, bot h i n term s o f your undercove r activitie s an d negotiatin g wit h narcotic s 
dealers an d i n term s o f the wiretap s tha t yo u listene d t o i n Ital y an d th e Unite d 
States, ca n yo u tel l u s i f yo u hav e hear d certai n commo n word s whic h ar e 
repeatedly commonly use d to refer to narcotics? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Woul d you tell us what some of those words are? 
A. Th e majorit y o f th e word s use d i n narcotic s sale s an d transaction s ar e "shirts, " 

"shoes," "suits," "sweaters," "cars," "ovens," "pieces," "clothes," "things," "stuff." 

Q. Goo d morning, Mr . Tarallo . 
A. Goo d morning . 
Q. Whe n w e broke yesterday for the day I  had asked you a  question abou t commo n 

terms which you had heard in the 24 years of narcotics enforcement i n undercover 
activity, o n Title Ill' s i n the Unite d State s and Ital y and also on the 8  major case s 
which yo u reviewe d i n you r positio n a s a  supervisor i n Ne w Yor k between 198 2 
and 1984 . 
Do you recal l that, sir ? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. An d when we broke, I  was writing down some of those terms on a chart. 
A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Befor e I  continue, le t me just ask you i f it would also be fair to say that the terms 

"boy" and "girl " are very commonly use d in narcotics— 

* *  * 
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The Court : Don' t lead . Pleas e don't lead . 

Q. Ca n yo u tel l us any other terms that are commonly used ? 
A. Othe r commo n term s i n th e Unite d State s ar e th e expressio n o f "boy " o r "girl " 

that would depict various types of narcotics. 
Q. An d in your experience does "boy" depict one type of narcotics and "girl" another? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Ca n you tell us which? 
A. "Boy " depicts heroin. "Girl " depicts cocaine. 
Q. Agen t Tarallo , le t m e as k you whethe r o r no t i n you r experienc e a s a  narcotic s 

agent, yo u hav e hear d th e wor d "pants " used t o refe r t o narcotic s commonl y o r 
frequently i n your 24 years? 

A. I'v e heard tha t expression, yes . 
Q. Agen t Tarallo, yesterday you described fo r u s that i n your experience as a narcot-

ics agen t i n th e Unite d State s an d i n Ital y an d overseas , yo u ha d als o hear d 
different word s used t o describe sums of money. Coul d yo u tel l us , based on you r 
experience i n the Unite d State s and Ital y i n th e wiretaps that you've hear d i n th e 
United State s an d Ital y an d i n th e wiretap s you'v e supervise d fro m '8 2 t o '8 4 i n 
the New York area, wha t terms are most commonly use d to describe money? 

A. Mos t common term s i s the minimizatio n o f an amount , goin g from a  large su m 
to a  smal l sum . Instea d o f saying 100,00 0 yo u sa y 1 . That i s the mos t common . 
The other s are less descriptive such a s "paper," "documents," names of vegetables, 
"lettuce." These are the more common ones . 

Q. An d i n term s o f minimization , coul d yo u giv e u s example s o f term s use d t o 
describe amount s o f money tha t you'v e heard , tha t hav e bee n minimize d i n th e 
way you described? 

A. Minimize d i n forms of l' s or 2's or in cents. 6 0 cents. 90 cents. 
Q. Agen t Tarallo, I'v e written o n tha t char t nex t to you unde r the word "Money" 60 

cents, 9 0 cents , on e dollar , 1 , 2 , documents , paper , lettuce , vegetables . Tha t 
chart is marked 3685-4 . Those are the terms which you've most commonly heard ? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Yesterda y yo u als o describe d fo r u s a  commo n practic e tha t yo u wer e familia r 

with of narcotics dealers and suppliers in their conversations or face to face or over 
the telephone to refer to persons and places by other types of words. D o you recal l 
that, sir ? 

A. Yes , sir. 

Q. Agen t Tarallo, t o be clear , ca n yo u tel l u s in th e conversation s tha t you'v e bee n 
involved i n or overheard, whe n person s used the terms 60 cents or 90 cents, wha t 
monetary value were they actually referring to? 

A. Usuall y in the thousands. 

* *  * 
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Q. S o would 60 cents be 60,000? 
A. That' s correct . 
Q. An d 90 cents would be 90,000? 
A. That' s correct . 
Q. An d you told us that one dollar would often b e $100,000? 
A. That' s correct . 
Q. Thes e are terms that you've personally heard? 
A. Terms  that I've heard throughout my career. 
Q. O n the chart, Agent Tarallo, I've written at the bottom X cents equals X thousand 

dollars and belo w that one dollar equal s $100,000 . I s that a  correct interpretatio n 
of the codes that you've heard employed ? 

A. Includin g jus t unit numbers such as 1  o r 2 without dollars or cents. 
Q. An d 1  or 2 would refer to 100,00 0 or 200,000? 
A. Dependin g on the conversation an d the undercover situation . 
Q. A  momen t ag o I  aske d yo u abou t description s o f person s tha t you'v e hear d 

employed i n the course o f your 2 4 years. Coul d yo u give us some descriptions of 
terms tha t you'v e hear d tha t hav e bee n use d t o refe r t o peopl e withou t usin g 
their names? 

A. Nickname s ar e adopted , chang e o f first  name s ar e used , referencin g suc h a s 
"him," "they," "those." These type of examples. 

Q. An d by nicknames, wha t type of nicknames have you heard? 
A. I f a person ha s re d hai r the y said : Did yo u tal k to red ? A person i s distinctive i n 

his form o f dress : Have yo u talke d t o th e gentleman ? Thes e ar e jus t nicknames . 
And they depict, usually , some characteristic of the person. 

* *  $ 

Q. Agen t Tarallo , wit h respec t t o description s tha t yo u hav e hear d employe d t o 
indicate a place or location, ca n you tell us if you've observed a common practic e 
among narcotic s dealer s when talkin g face t o face o r on telephone s t o describe a 
place without giving its specific nam e or identification ? 

A. Yes , sir. 
Q. Base d on you r knowledge and experience , Agen t Tarallo, ca n you tel l us , first of 

all can you tell us what you mean by drug paraphernalia? 
A. I' m talking about weighing scales, glassine bags, blenders. Things of that sort. 
Q. Ca n yo u tel l u s based o n you r experience an d knowledg e a s a narcotics agen t a t 

what level of narcotics distribution thos e articles are used? 
A. A t the distribution leve l from wholesal e through the retail level. 
Q. An d at the importation level , are such narcotics paraphernalia used ? 
A. Ver y rarely. 
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Brief for Defendant-Appellan t 
Giovanni Cangialosi , Unite d State s 
Court o f Appeals for the Second Circuit , 
Gerald DiChiara , Attorne y 

Point I : Joint Trial Wa s Manifestly Prejudicia l S o As 
to Abridge Cangialosi' s Righ t to a Fair Tria l 
As in the case of all co-defendants , al l pre-trial and trial applications of CANGIALOSI 
requesting severance were denied. 

There i s something inherentl y wron g wit h a  joinde r o f defendants s o that i n a 
government presentatio n o f some 1 2 to 13 months on its direct cas e a mere 3  to 4 
days are spent on evidence relating to an individual defendant . Ye t this is the position 
that CANGIALOS I as well as a few other defendants wer e in. 

CANGIALOSI i s alleged to have been a  messenger between the heroin supplier s in 
Sicily and the heroin receiver s in America. H e is only alleged to have filled this role 
once whe n he comes to America on March 15 , 1984 and was arrested returnin g to 
Sicily on April 8, 1984 . 

The evidenc e consiste d primaril y o f association an d circumstantial typ e evidenc e 
from whic h i t was argued b y the government tha t CANGIALOS I wa s aiding i n th e 
fulfillment o f some futur e planne d shipmen t b y acting a s a messenge r betwee n 
the parties. 

It is submitted tha t the evidence and the inferences to be drawn from evidenc e as 
it related to the question of guilt or innocence were very close and hotly contested . 

An analysi s of the jury' s verdic t show s tha t ther e was some divisio n amongs t the 
jurors regarding CANGIALOSI' S rol e and involvement: 

Racketeering Act: 
Proved Not  Proved 

ITTA: G. Sores i call to MAZZURCO, S. 
LAMBERTI and CANGIALOS I on 3/30/8 4 at X 

11:57 a.m. (G X 8172) 

ITTA: G. Sores i call to GANCI , G . LAM-
BERTI, MAZZURCO , CANGIALOS I on 3/26 / X 
84 at 12:03 p.m. (G X 8183) 

J6J 
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There i s no logica l wa y to accoun t fo r th e abov e tw o findings by the jur y unles s 
that there was a compromise i n th e jur y room . Th e entiret y o f the conversations ar e 
reproduced i n th e Appellants ' Join t Appendi x an d a  stud y o f the m indicate s the y 
appear, fo r the most part, t o deal with the same subject matter . 

Both call s were received ove r a pay phone o n the Souther n Stat e Parkway involv-
ing almos t th e identica l parties . Eithe r CANGIALOS I wa s involve d i n th e narcotic s 
transactions or he wasn't . 

Although jurie s often compromis e and thi s is an accepted fac t i n our jur y system, 
it i s importan t t o not e th e closenes s o f th e verdic t whe n determinin g th e effec t o f 
prejudice an d whether i t was harmless or not. 

General Principles of  Severance 

It is clear that in order to demonstrate tha t a Trial Court's denial o f severance was 
an abuse of discretion, a  defendant mus t establish tha t a joint trial subjected hi m no t 
only to some prejudice, bu t to compelling prejudice agains t which the Distric t Cour t 
could no t afford protection . 

* *  * 

There i s a strong argument tha t no one in a  seventeen mont h tria l covering all of 
the various acts of so man y people could possibly receive a fair trial . The people who 
were particularl y prejudice d i n thi s situatio n wer e thos e wh o ha d ver y limite d role s 
and against whom there was very little evidence. 

In point , t o hav e t o b e subjecte d t o a  tria l wher e th e Governmen t i s allowed t o 
open o n th e Galant e murde r whic h wa s later foun d inadmissable ; to be joine d wit h 
some co-defendant s wh o believe d tha t i t wa s i n thei r bes t interes t t o brin g t o th e 
attention o f th e jur y evidenc e o f numerou s murder s ove r an d ove r again ; t o b e o n 
trial whe n PAU L CASTELLAN O wa s murdered ; t o hav e a  co-defendant , GAETAN O 
MAZZARA, b e brutall y murdere d afte r th e jur y ha d viewe d hi m i n Cour t fo r ove r a 
year; to hav e a  co-defendan t tak e th e stan d an d the n refus e t o answe r questions ; t o 
have massiv e amount s o f arm s recovere d from  co-defendant s presente d t o th e jury ; 
and, finally, during summations t o sequester the jur y because another co-defendant , 
PIETRO ALFANO , wa s also gunned down, mus t weigh very heavily when determinin g 
if any defendant coul d possibly receive a verdict based upon th e evidence alone. 

In CANGIALOSI' s case , th e prejudice directl y aimed a t him s o far outweighe d th e 
evidence against him tha t i t is inconceivable tha t the resultant verdict can be claimed 
not to have been affected b y it. 

Direct Prejudice 

CANGIALOSI wa s denie d a  fai r tria l becaus e h e wa s irreparabl y prejudice d b y 
inflammatory an d antagonisti c argument s advance d i n summatio n b y Michae l Ken -
nedy, counsel for co-defendant, GAETAN O BADALAMENTI . 
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After th e shooting o f ALFANO , th e Court shoul d hav e protecte d CANGIALOSI' S 
right to a fair tria l by pursuing CANGIALOSI' S reques t to either sever his case from tha t 
of hi s co-defendant s o r t o preclud e th e prejudicia l unsupporte d argumen t o f co-
counsel. Eve n a t that lat e dat e i n this maratho n o f mega-trials and in spite of what 
would hav e bee n a n enormou s judicia l waste , a  man' s righ t t o a fai r tria l mus t be 
paramount to the Court's desire to avoid a mistrial. 

Kennedy's argument during summation resulte d in the labeling of CANGIALOSI as 
the "messenge r o f death," who m i t was argued wa s carrying a  death warran t fo r the 
defendant, GAETAN O BADALAMENT I and his family. 

This alleged death  warran t consiste d o f a scrap of paper with the following word s 
written in Italian on it: 

THE INTERPRETER : Th e first word, dottore , mean s doctor . I t is followed b y the 
letter E  capitalized. Abov e i t there i s a word tha t to this interprete r appear s to be 
Francia which mean s France . 

MR. STEWART : And below that word? 
THE INTERPRETER : Anniza . Thi s interprete r doesn' t recogniz e tha t a s an Italia n 

word. Phoneticall y i t probabl y mean s i n Nizza , Nizz a whic h woul d b e Nice , 
the city. 

MR. STEWART : I n France ? 
THE INTERPRETER : Correct . 
MR. STEWART : Ther e i s another grou p o f words i n th e top right portio n o f the 

notepaper, i s that correct? 
THE INTERPRETER : Yes , Nipote, NIPOTE , mean s nephew , niece . I t can also be 

grandson or granddaughter. 
MR. STEWART : All right. 
THE INTERPRETER : I t is followed b y the capital lette r E , and the following word , 

again, the interpreter does not recognize this as an Italian word . 
MR. STEWART : Excus e me . When yo u say the capital lette r E , you'r e referrin g to 

the English E , not the Italian E? 
THE INTERPRETER : Correct , the capital letter E, E in Italian. I t could be the initia l 

for a  prope r name , th e name fo r a city , o r something lik e that . An d Azzurico 
phonetically for this interpreter ma y mean i n Zurich, th e City in Switzerland. 

MR. STEWART : I n the bottom left-han d portio n o f the sam e sli p of paper ther e are 
two more words, is that correct? 

THE INTERPRETER : Nipoti , NIPOTI . Thi s i s the plura l o f nephew , niece . Tha t 
would b e nephews , nieces , grandchildren , grandsons , granddaughters . I t may 
mean one of all those. And then the word America. (Tr . 27010, 27011 , 27012. ) 

Based upo n thi s counse l fo r GAETAN O BADALAMENT I argue d no t only tha t thi s 
was a warrant for the death o f GAETAN O BADALAMENT I an d his family bu t without 
any factual suppor t he identified th e sender of the note as GUISEPPE GANCI , a  prime 
mover i n the Government's presentatio n o f the evidenc e an d one of the few people 
involved i n th e cas e wh o had direc t contac t wit h a  dru g transactio n whic h was 
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videotaped b y the Government , presente d t o the jur y an d include d anothe r non-
present defendant, BENN Y ZITO. 

The simple fact is that this argument was not supported by the evidence presented 
including the so-called non-testimony of GAETANO BADALAMENT I nor can its impact 
be minimize d b y Kennedy's disclaime r tha t CANGIALOS I ma y have no t known the 
contents or intent of the note. 

The prejudic e suffere d b y CANGIALOS I a s a resul t o f Kennedy's argumen t t o the 
jury was underscored by the very real fact that it was made on the heels of the PIETR O 
ALFANO shooting . 

During summations , PIETR O ALFANO , a  co-defendant an d relativ e o f GAETAN O 
BADALAMENTI, wa s gunned dow n in Manhattan, no t very far from th e Courthouse, 
itself. This fact and occurrence was known by a substantial par t if not all of the jury. 

The sam e jur y tha t fo r seventeen month s ha d viewed GAETAN O BADALAMENT I 
and hi s co-defendant relative s seate d a s a group i n the Courtroom an d referred t o 
repeatedly a s the "BADALAMENT I GROUP " (Tr. 40773) . 

The members included in this group were GAETAN O BADALAMENTI , SA M EVOLA , 
VINCENZO RANDAZZO , EMANUEL E PALAZZOLO , VIT O BADALAMENTI , GUISEPP E 

TRUPIANO, GUISEPP E VITAL E AN D PIETR O ALFAN O (Tr . 39617) . (Emphasi s Added ) 
The commo n threa d runnin g throughou t th e BADALAMENT I GROUP' S defens e 

was that the y wer e being hunte d b y the Sicilian Mafia . Unfortunately , fo r CANGIA -
LOSI, h e apparently was viewed as an expendable pawn to hammer home this theory. 

In Kennedy' s summation , CANGIALOSI , wh o was not even mentione d o r referred 
to unti l th e twelfth mont h o f trial, wa s transformed fro m a  bi t player wit h a  ver y 
limited alleged rol e by the Government and who seemed to blend with the woodwork 
of the Courtroom, int o a representative of the Sicilian Mafi a an d a focal poin t of the 
BADALAMENTI defense . 

Kennedy's argumen t abou t CANGIALOS I an d the note wa s not supported b y the 
evidence, prejudicia l an d denied CANGIALOS I th e right to a fair trial . Th e Govern-
ment in its rebuttal in a backhanded fashion whil e appearing to attack the baselessness 
and prejudicial impac t and smear effect o f Kennedy's argument maintained it s theme 
in order to discredit CANGIALOSI' S defense (Tr . 40916). 

What wa s so tragic abou t th e problem wa s that i t was avoidable. I f the Distric t 
Court had intervened whe n requeste d to do so by CANGIALOSI'S counsel , th e resul-
tant prejudice to Cangialosi would not have occurred. 

The mornin g afte r th e ALFAN O shooting , CANGIALOSI' S counse l havin g gotte n 
wind o f Kennedy's intentio n an d anticipating tha t Kenned y woul d see k to capitalize 
on th e ALFAN O shootin g t o furthe r th e BADALAMENT I Theor y a t the expens e of 
CANGIALOSI, move d for an Order severing CANGIALOSI' S cas e or, in the alternative, 
precluding argument that was unsupported by the record regardin g the scrap of paper 
found on CANGIALOSI (Tr. 39324) . 

Prior to , durin g an d after Kennedy' s argument , numerou s mistria l application s 
and request s for severance wer e denied. Althoug h co-counsel' s righ t to comment on 
the evidenc e generall y shoul d b e broadly interprete d an d permitted i n fairnes s the 
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Court mus t utiliz e it s discretion an d tempe r argumen t whic h i s so obviously unsup -
ported by the evidence and so prejudicial t o a co-defendant's rights . 

* *  * 

Kennedys Summation 

KENNEDY: .  .  .  Bu t ther e ar e peopl e ou t t o kil l him . Ther e ar e Sicilia n heroi n 
dealers, the winners of the war, who are looking all over the world for him. .  .  . 

So began the argument that would lead to the antagonistic description o f CANGIA -
LOSI as the Messenger o f Death. 

Initially, Kennedy' s ton e an d argumen t appeare d sof t bu t a s the summatio n pro -
gressed and grew in fever and pitch so did the resultant prejudice t o CANGIALOSI . 

KENNEDY: What' s Ganci' s agenda? We don't lear n tha t unti l Mr . CANGIALOSI , th e 
messenger, appear s on the scene and Mr . CANGIALOSI , th e messenger , i s given a 
message, I  suggest, b y GANCI . 

Let m e tel l yo u somethin g abou t th e messenger . I  am no t suggestin g t o yo u 
that thi s messenge r understand s anythin g abou t thi s siniste r message . I  am sug -
gesting to you a s a matte r o f fact h e probabl y doe s not kno w anything abou t thi s 
sinister message , otherwis e h e wouldn' t hav e ha d t o writ e i t down . Also , yo u 
wouldn't want your messenger to know. 

What does GANC I tell in this message to the Sicilian heroin dealers? The doctor 
is in Nice. The nephew is in Zurich. The nieces and nephews are in America. 

« *  * 

MR. DICHIARA : You r Honor , onc e agai n I  rene w m y applicatio n fo r a  mistria l 
which I  made at the time that PIETR O ALFAN O was shot and I  requested the Court 
to prohibi t Mr . Kenned y fro m arguin g wha t h e jus t argued t o the jur y abou t th e 
contents of the message and the inten t of that message because now my client has 
suddenly bee n tranforme d int o a  messenger o f death an d whethe r h e knows i t or 
not, th e prejudic e t o m y client , I  think i s insurmountabl e i n thi s typ e o f a  cas e 
considering th e fac t tha t tw o of the defendant s i n thi s cas e are n o longe r presen t 
and we know the reason. I  believe the jury knows the reason . 

THE COURT : You r Motion i s denied. 

* *  * 

MR. KENNEDY : .  .  . 

Let me ge t back to the dangerous dance . This  Government  Exhibit  778H  was 
gotten off  the person  of  Mr. CANGIALOS I when  he was arrested in  April. I  suggest 
it came out of a  meetin g that he attended o n the 30t h day of March. It  was  given 
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to him by Mr. GANCI . And  it is  a death warranty calling  to the attention of  the 
Sicilian heroin dealers  that  the  doctor, GAETAN O BADALAMENTI , is  in Nice— 
thank God,  at  that time  he wasnt, thei r information wa s several months dated — 
that ENZ O RANDAZZO , th e nephew, wa s in Zurich, an d the nieces and nephews 
are in America. 

. .  .  There wasn' t any deal. They wanted a meeting, GANC I wanted to find out 
where GAETAN O BADALAMENT I wa s so he coul d execut e thi s deat h warrant . I 
wish it were not so. 

In lat e February—tha t wa s the last cal l fro m GAETAN O BADALAMENTI , th e 
last cal l to New York; he is still i n touch wit h PIETR O ALFANO—w e know fro m 
the telephon e calls , particularl y th e midwester n calls , bu t w e kno w tha t AU-
GUSTINO BADALAMENT I has  been killed in  Germany,  another  one of  BADALA -
MENTI'S relatives  killed  in this  dreadful war. GAETAN O BADALAMENT I i s out o f 
touch then . N o more contact . 

We kno w there' s tha t meetin g o n th e 30t h wit h PIETR O ALFANO . PIETRO 
ALFANO does  not  leave  with  CANGIALOSI . He's  picked  up at the  airport with 
CANGIALOSI, but  there  is no evidence that they  had a meeting.  As a matter  of 
fact, the  evidence is that  MAZZURC O went  off  with CANGIALOSI , trying  to talk 
CANGIALOSI into  a  meeting  with  PIETR O ALFANO . Tha t didn' t happen . (Tr . 
40599, 40600.) (Emphasis Added) 

* *  « 

PIETRO ALFAN O i s the onl y on e who keeps i n touch . Th e nex t thin g tha t 
happens is in March and in March GANC I sends what I say is the death warrant to 
the Sicilian heroin dealers . 

GANCI has somehow gotten informatio n th e doctor is in Nice. The nephew— 
this is how they called him on the calls—the nephe w is in Zurich and the nieces 
and the nephews are in America. I t is all in Sicilian—it i s this bottom, one down 
here—but thi s ha s been translate d formall y fo r us by the translators an d that' s 
what it says. 

This is the most sinister of all because i t proves that GAETAN O BADALAMENT I 
was right. Al l he could do was probe. He couldn't tel l them wher e he was and he 
had t o li e abou t i t and , i f he hadn't , h e wouldn' t b e on tria l her e today . (Tr . 
40651,40652.) 

The implication s of Kennedy's argumen t are clear, PIETR O ALFAN O is a casualty 
of the BADALAMENT I Mafia War and CANGIALOSI was tied directly into this war since 
he was cast in the roll of the messenge r carryin g the death warran t for the BADALA -
MENTI family . N o number o f disclaimers about whethe r CANGIALOS I did or did not 
have knowledg e coul d eras e th e prejudice an d antagonism o f this argumen t mad e 
eight days after the shooting of PIETRO ALFANO . 



Teamsters International : 
United States  v.  International 
Brotherhood of  Teamsters 
(Complaint filed June 1988 ; Settlement signe d Marc h 1989 ) 

Introduction 
United States  v . International Brotherhood  of Teamsters is the Department of 
Justice's mos t ambitiou s labo r racketeerin g sui t an d perhap s th e mos t far -
reaching effor t a t institutiona l refor m throug h litigatio n eve r attempted. Th e 
civil RIC O sui t charge d Cos a Nostr a member s an d th e Teamsters ' genera l 
executive boar d (GEB ) wit h runnin g th e nation' s larges t unio n a s a  racke -
teering enterpris e i n whic h unio n official s obtaine d mo b suppor t fo r thei r 
union career s and th e mo b obtained al l kinds of opportunities fo r siphonin g 
money ou t o f the unio n an d it s employers . Ultimately , th e sui t was settled , 
with th e Teamster s agreein g t o a  three-perso n trusteeshi p that , ove r th e 
course o f three years , purge d almos t tw o hundred corrup t official s fro m th e 
union and , i n 1991 , supervise d th e first  direc t GE B election . Afte r th e 
election, a n independen t revie w boar d (IRB ) wa s establishe d t o continu e 
investigating and monitorin g the union . 

Background 
Charges tha t th e Internationa l Brotherhoo d o f Teamster s Unio n (IBT ) wa s 
tied t o organize d crim e wer e mad e a s earl y a s th e 1940 s an d 1950s . Th e 
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1958 repor t o f th e Senat e Selec t Committe e o n Imprope r Activitie s i n th e 
Labor Managemen t Fiel d ("McClella n Committee" ) reveale d widesprea d 
contacts wit h organize d crim e b y union presiden t Jimm y Hoffa . Th e shar p 
exchanges betwee n th e committee' s chie f counsel , Rober t Kennedy , an d 
union presiden t Jimm y Hoff a dre w nationa l attention. 1 Les s wel l remem -
bered i s the 1958-196 0 three-person Boar d of Monitors that was imposed on 
the unio n vi a a  consen t agreemen t whic h resulte d fro m a  lawsui t filed  b y 
thirteen rank-and-fil e Teamster s fro m th e Ne w Yor k are a wh o allege d tha t 
Hoffa ha d stacke d th e 195 6 union conventio n wit h illega l delegates i n orde r 
to guarantee hi s election a s president.2 I n th e end , du e t o union stonewall -
ing, thi s trusteeshi p failed . Hoff a an d th e GE B continuall y frustrate d th e 
board by refusing t o bring charges against corrupt unio n official s an d litigat -
ing virtually every Board o f Monitors decision. These tactics, combined wit h 
in-fighting o n th e boar d itself , resulte d i n th e collaps e o f th e trusteeshi p 
in earl y 1961 . Shortl y thereafter , th e unio n reelecte d Jimm y Hoff a a s pres-
ident. 

When Rober t Kennedy became attorney genera l o f the Unite d States , h e 
made convicting Hoffa a  top Justice Department priority . I n 1964 , Hoffa wa s 
finally convicte d o f pensio n frau d an d jur y tamperin g an d sentence d t o 
prison. Th e presidenc y passe d t o Hoffa' s hand-picke d successor , Fran k Fitz -
simmons. Severa l year s later , afte r hi s releas e fro m prison , Hoff a bega n 
campaigning t o regai n contro l o f th e unio n o n a  platfor m o f freein g th e 
union fro m mo b domination. H e disappeared i n 1975 , the presumed victi m 
of a mob assassination. 

Throughout th e 1960 s and 1970s , leadin g Teamste r official s joine d wit h 
mob figures to devise ways to defraud th e IBT. Som e of these methods were 
related t o the multibillion-dolla r Centra l State s Pension Funds , manage d by 
mob associat e Alle n Dorfman . Th e funds , i n effect , functione d a s a  "mo b 
bank," providin g organize d crim e wit h extensiv e loan s fo r venture s i n La s 
Vegas and for other criminal activities. 3 

In 1981 , after Fran k Fitzsimmon s died o f cancer, Ro y Williams assume d 
the unio n presidency . I n 1982 , th e Senat e Permanen t Subcommitte e o n 
Investigations hear d testimon y abou t widesprea d corruption , racketeering , 
and violenc e i n th e Teamster s Union . Charle s Allen , a  self-confessed kille r 
and enforcer wh o worked fo r Teamster loca l officials a s well as for importan t 
Cosa Nostr a figures  suc h a s Russel l Buffalin o an d Ton y Provenzano , ex -
plained hi s role to Senator Warren Rudman : 

SENATOR RUDMAN : Wha t was your job , your responsibility , wha t were you 
supposed to do? 
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MR. ALLEN : I  actually di d anythin g tha t I  was told t o do , fro m murde r t o 
selling drugs , fro m extortio n t o beatin g u p people , hijacking . Whateve r 
they told me to do, I  did.4 

These hearing s als o reveale d ho w th e Teamster s attempte d t o bribe Nevad a 
Senator Howard Cannon t o oppose the trucking deregulation bill. 5 

Roy Williams wa s convicted o f attempting t o bribe Senato r Canno n an d 
sentenced t o a  long prison term . Facin g the prospec t o f spending the res t of 
his lif e i n jail , h e decide d t o cooperat e wit h th e government . H e provide d 
valuable testimon y t o the President' s Commission o n Organize d Crim e an d 
in a n extraordinar y depositio n i n th e civi l RIC O sui t tha t i s the subjec t o f 
this chapter . I n hi s deposition , William s explaine d ho w hi s caree r i n th e 
Teamsters was orchestrated al l the way to the presidency by Nicholas Civella, 
head o f th e Kansa s Cit y Cos a Nostr a crim e family . I n 1981 , William s 
became president only with the consent of other Cosa Nostra leaders, includ -
ing th e "commission." 6 I n 1982 , William s wa s convicte d o f attemptin g t o 
bribe a United State s senator and resigned the presidency. 

Williams' successor , Jacki e Presser , wa s th e so n o f Bi g Bil l Presser , a n 
associate o f the Clevelan d Cos a Nostr a crim e family . Jacki e Presse r himsel f 
was allegedl y involve d wit h organize d crime . Unlik e Williams , Presse r re -
fused o n Fift h Amendmen t ground s t o answe r an y question s whe n h e wa s 
deposed by the President's Commission on Organized Crime. While the civil 
RICO suit was pending, Presse r was indicted fo r arranging a no-show job for 
his frien d an d sometim e bodyguard , Ton y Hughes . I n Jul y 1988 , befor e 
either crimina l o r civi l charge s wer e resolve d agains t him , Presse r die d o f a 
heart attack. 7 

In United  States  v . Salerno  (th e Commissio n case) , forme r Clevelan d 
underboss Angel o Lonard o testifie d tha t th e Cos a Nostr a commissio n ap -
proved an d insure d th e election s o f Williams an d Presse r t o th e Teamster s 
presidency. I n 1986 , the President's Commission o n Organized Crime, draw-
ing o n Ro y Williams' s testimony , brande d th e Teamster s th e unio n "mos t 
controlled" b y organize d crim e an d calle d fo r a  civi l RIC O sui t t o b e 
brought agains t th e union' s genera l executiv e board. 8 A s th e President' s 
Commission found , 

The leaders of the nation's largest union, the International Brotherhood of Teamsters 
(IBT), hav e bee n firmly under th e influenc e o f organized crim e sinc e th e 1950s . 
Although many of the hundreds of IBT locals and joint councils operating throughout 
the country are not criminally infiltrated , organize d crim e influences a t least 3 8 of 
the largest locals and a joint council in Chicago, Cleveland, Ne w Jersey, New York, 
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Philadelphia, St . Louis , and other major cities . Forme r Teamster President Roy L. 
Williams told th e Commission , "Ever y bi g [Teamster ] loca l unio n .  . .  ha d some 
connection with organized crime. 

Criticism als o came fro m withi n th e unio n fro m Teamster s fo r a  Demo -
cratic Unio n (TDU) . Begu n i n 197 6 a s a  rank-and-fil e refor m movement , 
TDU initiall y focuse d o n th e nee d fo r bette r contracts , safe r workin g condi-
tions, an d mor e union democracy . Soon , it s energies also included exposin g 
corruption an d demanding an end to mob ties with the union . 

As rumor s flew  aroun d Washingto n tha t th e Justic e Departmen t wa s 
contemplating a  RIC O sui t agains t th e Teamsters ' genera l executiv e board , 
more tha n tw o hundre d congressme n sen t a  petitio n t o th e Justic e Depart -
ment urgin g tha t n o suc h sui t b e brought . Thi s forma l appea l b y s o man y 
members o f Congres s t o th e Justic e Departmen t wa s unprecedented . Afte r 
the sui t wa s filed,  man y labo r leader s denounced i t as a  siniste r attemp t b y 
the Reaga n administratio n t o destro y th e labo r movement—b y attackin g 
the Teamsters , wh o ironicall y ha d endorse d Reagan' s candidacie s i n 198 0 
and 1984 . 

The Lawsui t and Settlemen t 
Despite intens e politica l opposition , th e government di d mov e forward wit h 
a civil RICO sui t against the IBT . A  jurisdictional disput e between Rudolp h 
Giuliani, th e Unite d State s attorney fo r th e Souther n Distric t o f New York, 
and Dave Margolis, the head of the organized crime and racketeering section 
of th e Departmen t o f Justice , wa s resolve d i n favo r o f Giuliani . Rand y 
Mastro, a n assistan t Unite d State s attorney working for Giuliani , drafte d th e 
complaint, whic h was filed in June 1988. 

The Complaint 

The complain t name d a s defendants (1 ) the Internationa l Brotherhoo d o f 
Teamsters; (2) the Cosa Nostra commission; (3) twenty-six Cosa Nostra mem-
bers and associate s (including Anthony Salerno , Matthe w Ianiello , an d An -
thony Provenzano) ; (4 ) the IBT s genera l executiv e board ; an d (5 ) eightee n 
present and former member s o f the IBTs general executiv e board (includin g 
the president , Jacki e Presser , an d th e genera l secretary-treasurer , Weldo n 
Mathis). Th e RIC O enterprise , labele d "th e Teamster s Internationa l Enter -
prise," was defined a s "the Teamsters Internationa l Unio n an d variou s o f its 
area conferences , joint  councils , local s an d benefi t funds. " Th e first  RIC O 
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count charge d tha t th e organized-crim e defendants , aide d an d abette d b y 
the unio n defendants , "unlawfully , wilfully , an d knowingl y acquire d an d 
maintained, directl y an d indirectly , a n interes t i n an d contro l o f the Team -
sters International Enterpris e throug h a  pattern o f racketeering activity. " The 
second RIC O count alleged a  conspiracy (i.e. , an agreement) to do what was 
alleged in the first RICO count . 

The racketeering activities allegedly committed b y the mob and aided and 
abetted b y th e unio n defendant s wer e (1 ) defraudin g th e unio n members ' 
intangible right s to select their own leaders , to their benefit fro m leaders ' fair 
and hones t performanc e o f their duties , an d t o be informe d abou t th e Cos a 
Nostra contro l ove r their leaders ; and (2 ) depriving the unio n an d th e unio n 
members o f mone y tha t wa s unlawfull y diverte d fro m th e union s an d it s 
members to the defendants . 

The complain t furthe r allege d tha t th e defendants ' racketeerin g activit y 
involved extorting union members ' democratic right s by creating a climate of 
intimidation an d fear . I n suppor t o f tha t allegation , th e governmen t re -
counted Teamster s violence, beginnin g with the 196 1 Provenzano assassina -
tion of a union rival , Anthony Castellitto , and including the "disappearance" 
of Jimmy Hoffa. Accordin g to the complaint, th e climate of intimidation an d 
fear wa s reinforce d b y th e unio n defendants ' repeate d appointment s o f per -
sons with know n crimina l historie s and/o r crimina l record s t o unio n office s 
and unio n employmen t and t o the defendants' ope n association wit h persons 
with known crimina l historie s and/or records . 

In addition to creating and/or tolerating a climate of fear and intimidation , 
the union defendant s wer e charged wit h creatin g or tolerating pervasive cor -
ruption: 

The Teamster International Unio n officer defendant s have consistently failed t o take 
action t o ri d th e Teamster s Internationa l Unio n an d variou s o f it s affiliated Are a 
Conferences, Join t Councils, Local s and Benefit Fund s of corruption. Thes e defen-
dants have repeatedl y allowe d corrup t unio n official s t o remain i n office , faile d t o 
investigate charges of union corruption , an d failed t o redress demonstrated instances 
of pervasive and long-standing corruption. 

From the government's perspective , th e advantage of the civil RICO suit was 
that n o ne w FB I investigation s wer e necessary . Th e entir e cas e wa s con -
structed fro m th e recor d o f pas t conviction s an d governmen t reports . Sinc e 
this wa s a  civi l suit , onc e th e complain t wa s filed  th e historica l recor d 
could be supplemented wit h depositions obtained from Angelo Lonardo, Roy 
Williams, and others . 
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As a remedy , th e governmen t aske d fo r th e remova l o f any IB T genera l 
executive boar d member s foun d t o hav e committe d RIC O violations , th e 
appointment o f a  truste e t o overse e th e union' s executive , collective-bar -
gaining, and/o r politica l activities , an d ne w election s designe d t o protec t 
against the possibility of corruption. The IBT moved to dismiss the complaint 
on three grounds: (1) the complaint violated IBT members' First Amendment 
rights to free association ; (2) federal labo r la w preempted RICO ; and (3 ) the 
complaint faile d t o stat e a  RIC O claim . I n th e alternative , th e defendant s 
sought t o hav e al l IBT-affiliate d loca l union s an d council s joine d a s defen -
dants. Judg e Davi d Edelstei n denie d thes e motions , a s wel l a s th e govern -
ment's motion fo r summary judgmen t against certain defendants , an d se t the 
case for trial.9 

Many o f the mo b defendants , alread y i n jai l on relate d crimina l charges , 
signed settlement agreements, promising not to have anything to do with the 
union. Sinc e mos t o f the m wer e facin g lon g jai l terms , a s a  resul t o f th e 
Commission cas e and othe r prosecutions , an d sinc e they could no t claim t o 
have an y legitimat e rol e i n th e union' s affairs , ther e wa s n o poin t i n con -
testing th e suit . Mountin g lega l fee s an d poo r prospect s o f ultimate succes s 
also le d a  numbe r o f th e unio n defendant s t o sig n agreement s wit h th e 
government promising to be bound by whatever final relief the court entered. 

The Consent  Decree 

On Marc h 13 , 1989 , th e governmen t an d th e remainin g defendant s 
(including the GEB) entered int o a consent decree. The defendants admitte d 
"that ther e hav e bee n allegations , swor n testimon y an d judicia l findings  o f 
past problem s wit h L a Cos a Nostr a corruptio n o f variou s element s o f th e 
IBT."10 The y agree d "tha t ther e shoul d b e n o crimina l elemen t o r Cos a 
Nostra corruptio n o f any par t o f the IBT. " They accepte d th e principl e tha t 
"it is imperative that the IBT, as the largest trade union i n the free world , be 
maintained democratically , wit h integrit y an d fo r th e sol e benefi t o f it s 
members without unlawful outsid e influence. " 

The consen t decree provided fo r three court-appointed officer s t o oversee 
union operations : a n independen t administrator , a n investigation s officer , 
and a n election s officer . Judg e Edelstei n filled  thes e position s wit h forme r 
federal judg e Frederick Lacey, former assistant United State s attorney Charles 
Carberry, and labor lawyer Michael Holland . The independent administrato r 
(Lacey) was empowered t o take disciplinary action , includin g suspensio n o r 
termination o f membershi p rights , agains t an y corrup t unio n official s (in -
cluding th e genera l president ) an d t o vet o appointment s o f unio n official s 
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and expenditures of any union fund s use d to further racketeerin g activity. H e 
was investe d wit h al l th e disciplinar y power s o f th e genera l president . Th e 
investigations office r (Carberry ) was given broad powe r to investigate corrup-
tion an d brin g disciplinar y charge s befor e Administrato r Lacey . Th e decree 
authorized th e elections officer (Holland ) to supervise a direct, rank-and-file , 
secret-ballot election fo r the union's top officers . 

Resistance to the Suit 

Jackie Presser's death i n July 198 8 triggered a  scramble for the presidenc y 
among variou s Teamste r vice-presidents . Th e GE B eventuall y electe d Wil -
liam McCarthy , a  long-time union officia l fro m Boston . 

Almost before the ink was dry on the consent decree, the union, especiall y 
President McCarthy , bega n a  campaign o f resistance t o the court-appointe d 
officers. Variou s IB T local s wer e encouraged t o attack th e consen t orde r by 
filing lawsuits in Chicago, Cleveland , Ne w Jersey, and elsewhere.11 The suits 
sought t o forc e th e governmen t t o defen d th e jurisdictio n o f th e consen t 
decree over Teamster locals all over the country. I n response, the government 
moved t o hav e al l matter s pertainin g t o th e IB T cas e brough t befor e th e 
District Court for the Southern Distric t of New York. Judge Edelstein granted 
that motion, concludin g that nationwide jurisdiction i n the Southern Distric t 
would promot e judicia l econom y an d avoi d possibl e inconsisten t interpreta -
tions of the consent decree.12 This crucial decision kept the government fro m 
having t o contes t a  multitud e o f lawsuit s around th e country . I t mean t tha t 
the court-appointe d officer s woul d no t b e paralyze d b y litigation , a s thei r 
predecessors had been i n the late 1950s . 

The unio n oppose d al l sorts of expenditures by the officers (whos e salaries 
and expenses the union wa s paying) and tried to limit their authority at every 
turn. Fo r example , th e IB T refused t o pay for offic e spac e for th e investiga -
tions office r i n Ne w Yor k City , arguin g tha t th e decre e onl y provide d fo r 
office spac e in Washington, D.C . Lace y applied to the court to force the IBT 
to provid e th e offic e space . Judg e Edelstei n hel d tha t prope r investigativ e 
efforts implie d a  broa d readin g o f th e investigation s officer' s authorit y an d 
approved th e Manhatta n office . Subsequently , Lace y ha d t o petitio n th e 
court t o forc e th e IB T t o fun d th e election s officer' s staffin g requests ; onc e 
again, Judge Edelstein ruled in his favor . 

Lacey als o face d resistanc e wit h respec t t o communications betwee n th e 
court-appointed officer s an d th e membership . I n orde r to disrupt the flow of 
information t o the ran k and file  about the independen t administrator' s find-
ings an d sanction s fo r corruption , th e GE B threatene d t o discontinu e th e 



174 /  Teamsters  International 

International Teamster,  a monthly newsletter . Sidin g with the administrator , 
the cour t foun d tha t th e consen t decre e mandate d continuatio n o f th e 
monthly publication . I n orde r t o educat e th e membershi p an d promot e 
union democracy , Judg e Edelstein als o ordered tha t the court's decisions and 
the independent administrator's reports be made available to union members . 

Electoral Reform 

The consent decree provided for the first direct, rank-and-fil e secret-ballo t 
election o f th e IBT s presiden t an d GEB . Th e federa l prosecutor s believe d 
that, ultimately , th e mo b coul d onl y b e purge d fro m th e unio n i f the ran k 
and file  had th e opportunit y t o participate i n fre e an d fai r election s o f thei r 
representatives. The y conclude d tha t thi s goa l coul d bes t b e achieve d b y a 
direct an d secre t electio n o f nationa l officer s (a s oppose d t o th e highl y 
controllable "delegat e system") . TDU ha d bee n campaignin g fo r jus t such a 
direct election since the mid-1970s. 

Trustee Holland initiate d a  three-step process. First , th e IBT locals would 
hold secret-ballo t elections for delegates to the IBT convention. Second , th e 
delegates woul d nominat e candidate s fo r office . Third , th e ran k an d file 
would vote in a nationwide direct, secret-ballo t election. 13 

This electora l refor m generate d muc h controvers y an d conflict . Th e gov-
ernment and the IBT disagreed on the election officer' s authorit y to supervise 
the IB T election . Th e IB T argued tha t th e ter m "supervise " in th e consen t 
decree merely mean t monitorin g th e IB T electoral proces s for fraud and , i n 
the even t o f any fraud , suggestin g remedia l action . Th e Teamster s too k th e 
position tha t th e electio n office r ha d n o authorit y t o propos e rule s fo r th e 
upcoming election . A s for the rules that were proposed, th e IBT objected t o 
Holland's plan for alternate delegates, widespread dissemination o f campaign 
literature through the International Teamster,  an d secret ballots. 

The Association for Union Democrac y (AUD), a civil rights organization, 
also criticized th e propose d electio n rules . Th e AU D objecte d t o Holland' s 
proposal that the local unions maintain contro l over such election matter s as 
printing ballots , decidin g th e eligibilit y o f potential candidates , runnin g th e 
election, an d storin g and countin g the ballots. I n it s amicus brief, th e AU D 
argued that local officials wer e just as influenced b y Cosa Nostra as the GEB 
and could no t be trusted to conduct fair elections . I n a rare decision overrul -
ing on e o f hi s appointees , Judg e Edelstei n agree d wit h th e AU D an d 
amended th e propose d electio n rule s t o provid e fo r mor e stringen t supervi -
sion by the elections officer . 

The 199 1 electio n wa s vigorousl y conteste d b y thre e seriou s candidate s 
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and a  few mino r ones. H A t the unio n nominatin g convention , Ro n Carey , 
who carrie d th e refor m banner , obtaine d th e suppor t o f only 1 5 percent o f 
the delegate s (wh o wer e mostl y establishe d offic e holder s o f the mor e tha n 
six hundre d locals) ; 8 5 percen t vote d fo r on e o r th e othe r o f th e tw o old -
guard candidates . Moreover , th e delegate s vote d no t t o mak e som e o f th e 
changes i n th e unio n constitutio n require d b y th e consen t decree . Judg e 
Edelstein hel d thi s vot e to be void an d declare d th e consen t decree  bindin g 
on the IBT via its own constitution . 

Despite widesprea d apprehension s abou t intimidatio n an d vote r fraud , 
Carey, who ran with TDU support , wa s elected president , drawin g almost 50 
percent o f th e vot e i n th e direc t secret-ballo t election. 15 Th e loc k o n th e 
union hel d by a ruling elite allied with Cosa Nostra appeared to be broken.16 

Carey immediatel y too k th e followin g reformativ e steps : (1) h e remove d 
thirty-nine unio n official s wh o wer e earnin g multipl e salarie s fro m th e 
union's payroll ; (2 ) he sol d th e union' s jet s an d allocate d th e proceed s t o a 
union organizin g fund; (3 ) he created the Ethical Practice s Committee and a 
Human Relation s Commission; and (4 ) he imposed trusteeships over a num-
ber of corrupt locals . However , ultimat e refor m i s far from guarantee d sinc e 
many local unions remain i n the hands of the old guard. 

Investigative Efforts 

Under th e consen t decree , th e investigation s office r wa s authorize d t o 
investigate corruption an d bring disciplinary actions before the administrator . 
The charges resulted from informatio n supplie d b y the FBI , investigation s of 
books an d record s o f the variou s locals , interview s o f unio n officers , swor n 
testimony, previou s information supplie d b y IBT members, an d a  systematic 
review of old criminal cases. 17 

Judge Lacey served a s the trie r of fact an d sentencin g authorit y o n almos t 
two hundre d charge s brough t b y Carberr y agains t Teamste r member s an d 
officials.18 Thes e include d havin g a n associatio n with , an d membershi p in , 
Cosa Nostra, 19 failure t o investigate corruption, 20 embezzlement, 21 assault, 22 

and refusa l t o testify a t the disciplinary hearings. 23 

In most cases, Lacey found tha t the investigations officer ha d met his "just 
cause" burden i n provin g th e charges. 24 Som e unio n member s an d officer s 
sought and obtaine d settlemen t agreements ; others resigned . Lacey' s punish -
ments varie d according  t o th e seriousnes s o f th e misconduct . H e expelle d 
some officer s fro m th e unio n fo r associatin g wit h Cos a Nostr a mem -
bers. Lace y stated , "Ther e i s only on e jus t and reasonabl e penalt y t o be im -
posed whe n a  Unio n Office r .  .  .  see s fit  t o hobno b wit h mo b bosse s an d 
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underlings—permanent debarmen t fro m th e ver y unio n tha t h e ha s 
tainted."25 Official s wh o faile d t o mee t thei r responsibilit y t o investigat e 
corruption wer e als o expelled. 26 Som e official s wh o refuse d t o testif y i n 
response to the investigations officer's reques t for information wer e suspended 
for varying periods.27 In addition, Lace y placed nine locals under trusteeship. 

One o f the mor e importan t confrontation s betwee n Judg e Lacey and th e 
GEB concerne d th e administrator' s authorit y t o interpre t th e IB T constitu -
tion. A t the behest of then-IBT Vice-Presiden t Theodore Cozza , wh o face d 
disciplinary charge s fo r knowingl y associatin g wit h member s o f organize d 
crime, th e board, assertin g that the consent decree did not give the adminis-
trator authorit y t o interpre t th e IB T constitution , passe d a  resolutio n tha t 
limited the type of conduct that could be disciplined, i n effect circumscribin g 
the authorit y o f th e court' s appointe d officers . Judg e Edelstei n rejecte d th e 
resolution, rulin g tha t th e consen t decre e gav e th e administrato r th e sam e 
disciplinary power s a s the genera l presiden t an d GEB , includin g th e powe r 
to interpret the IBT constitution.28 

Some year s later , Judg e Edelstei n woul d reflec t tha t th e "IB T [has ] em -
barked o n a  fierce  campaig n t o avoi d th e reform s tha t i t agree d t o i n th e 
Consent Decree . I n ove r three year s of constant litigatio n i n thi s Court an d 
the Court o f Appeals, th e IB T repeatedly ha s sought to advance it s cause by 
arguing for a narrow, restrictiv e interpretation o f the Consent Decree." 29 

Independent Review  Board 

With th e certificatio n o f th e 199 1 electio n result s an d th e accessio n o f 
Ron Care y t o the IB T presidency , th e refor m proces s entere d a  ne w phase . 
The term s o f th e independen t administrato r an d th e investigation s office r 
expired; they were replaced b y an independen t revie w board (IRB) , designe d 
to continue supervision o f the IBT. (The elections officer's authorit y extend s 
to the 199 6 election. Hollan d ha s been replace d b y Amy Goldstein, a  labor 
lawyer from Ne w York City.) Unde r th e consen t decree , th e IR B consists of 
three members , on e appointed b y the government, on e by the IBT , an d th e 
third by both parties . The government chose Lacey, while the IBT picked E . 
Harold Burke , Carey' s forme r campaig n manager . Burk e ha s sinc e bee n 
replaced b y Gran t Crandall , a  labo r lawye r fro m Wes t Virginia . Th e tw o 
parties coul d no t agre e o n th e thir d membe r an d thu s Judg e Edelstei n 
confirmed th e administrator' s recommendatio n o f William H . Webster , for -
mer director of both the FBI and the CIA and a former federa l judge. 30 

The IR B ha s th e sam e investigativ e dutie s an d responsibilitie s a s th e 
general presiden t an d th e GEB . I t ca n investigat e corruption , issu e writte n 
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reports, an d hol d adjudicator y hearing s i n whic h bindin g decision s ar e ren -
dered. On e importan t differenc e betwee n th e IR B and th e court-appointe d 
officers, however , i s the scope of the IRB's involvement. Whil e the indepen -
dent administrator ha d the power to veto major contract s and appointments , 
the IR B i s no t authorize d t o overse e th e day-to-da y operation s o f th e IBT . 
Also, th e IR B mus t giv e th e GE B a n opportunit y t o ac t befor e i t hold s 
a hearing. 

Conclusion 
For decades , th e IB T serve d a s a  Cos a Nostr a powe r base , providin g mo b 
leaders with money , jobs , an d politica l clout . Th e Cos a Nostr a commissio n 
and other leaders controlled man y locals and played a major rol e in choosing 
the IB T presidents . Influenc e i n th e IB T wa s use d t o contro l th e massiv e 
Central State s Pensio n Fun d an d t o obtai n favore d position s i n local s 
throughout th e country . Teamste r affiliatio n gav e some Cos a Nostr a mem -
bers a  legitimat e statu s tha t the y coul d parla y int o politica l power . Th e 
marriage betwee n th e mo b an d th e Teamster s wa s th e subjec t o f man y 
commissions, hearings , books , an d exposes , bu t unti l th e mid-1980 s thi s 
relationship seemed indissoluble . 

The constructio n o f th e civi l RIC O sui t demonstrate s th e enormou s 
power an d flexibility  tha t th e RIC O statut e provide s th e government . Th e 
Department o f Justic e converte d crimina l conviction s int o a  followu p civi l 
RICO. The Department of Justice was able to bring about an extensive purge 
of mobsters an d thei r allie s unde r th e speed y procedure s use d b y the court -
appointed officers , wh o could exercise extensive powers to review IBT records 
and compe l testimony . Moreover , unde r th e extraordinar y authorit y grante d 
to the court-appointed officers , consortin g with mobsters became an "offense " 
punishable b y expulsio n o r suspension . Mos t importantly , th e governmen t 
was able to break organized crime' s lock on the GEB and presidency through 
election reform . 

The civi l RIC O sui t agains t th e IB T may wel l constitut e th e mos t ambi -
tious institutiona l refor m litigatio n i n America n history . Th e challeng e o f 
purging Cos a Nostr a an d it s allie s fro m centra l headquarter s an d it s si x 
hundred far-flun g locals , with 1. 6 millio n members , i s truly min d boggling . 
Given th e ambition o f the suit , i t is not surprising that no one is yet ready to 
declare complete success. 

It would be naive to think that Cosa Nostr a wil l simply cede its power and 
prerogatives i n th e IBT . Man y local s remai n unde r th e influenc e o f orga -
nized crime . I t wil l tak e continuing effor t an d a  majo r commitmen t b y th e 
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Carey regim e t o purg e th e mo b fro m al l thes e powe r bases . Th e Loca l 56 0 
case demonstrate s al l to o clearl y ho w entrenche d th e mo b i s i n som e unio n 
locals an d ho w har d i t i s t o dislodge , eve n wit h th e assistanc e o f a  court -
appointed truste e wh o ha s bee n o n th e jo b fo r years . Althoug h Care y ha s se t 
up a n ethica l practice s committe e an d ha s place d a t leas t tw o local s int o 
trusteeship, h e ha s draw n criticis m fo r no t workin g quickl y o r aggressivel y 
enough.31 Unlik e th e court-appointe d officers , th e Care y administratio n ha s 
many prioritie s othe r tha n purgin g organize d crime . Th e dange r i s that, ove r 
time, th e goa l o f riddin g th e IB T o f al l organized-crim e influenc e wil l b e 
abandoned befor e th e jo b i s done . 

The RIC O sui t an d Ro n Carey' s electio n offe r th e possibility  tha t th e 
decades-old allianc e betwee n th e Teamster s an d Cos a Nostr a ma y b e broken , 
but whethe r tha t possibilit y become s a  realit y wil l no t b e clea r fo r years . 

Chronology of  the United State s v. IB T Litigation: Partial 
List of  Most Important Reported Decisions 
United States  v  IBT, 70 8 F Supp 138 8 (SDNY 1989) . (The district cour t denied th e 

defendants' motio n t o dismis s th e complain t a s well a s the government' s motio n 
for summary judgment . 

United States v  IBT, 8 8 Cir 4486 (DNE 1 4 March 1989 ) (Consent Order). 
United States v  IBT (Election Officer Order), 723 F Supp 203 (SDNY 1989 ) stay and 

certification denied , 72 8 F  Sup p 92 0 [SDN Y 1989] , affd  93 1 F2 d 17 7 [2 d Ci r 
1991]. (Th e distric t cour t approve d broa d supervisor y power s fo r th e election s 
officer, grante d the election officer' s staffin g requests , and created a $100,000 fun d 
for the operating expenses of the court-appointed officers. ) 

United States  v  IBT, 72 8 F  Sup p 103 2 (SDN Y 1990) , affd  90 7 F2 d 27 7 (2 d Ci r 
1990). (Th e distric t cour t grante d th e government' s reques t t o exercise it s powers 
under th e Al l Writ s Ac t to preclude collatera l suit s by subordinate entitie s o f the 
IBT in any other forum. ) 

United States  v  IBT,  90 5 F2 d 61 0 (2 d Ci r 1990) . (Th e appeal s cour t affirme d 
one-year suspension s o f certai n unio n official s an d recognize d th e independen t 
administrator's ability to disregard a  GEB resolution limitin g his powers.) 

United States  v  IBT, 74 2 F Sup p 94 (SDNY 1990) . (The distric t court approved th e 
promulgation o f campaign literatur e i n the unio n magazine , provide d candidate s 
with acces s t o membershi p lists , applie d final  electio n rule s t o Canadia n locals , 
and mandate d tha t th e election s office r supervis e ever y face t o f th e unio n 
election.) 

United States  v  IBT, 74 5 F  Sup p 90 8 (SDN Y 1990) , affd,  94 1 F2 d 129 2 (2 d Ci r 
1991). (Th e distric t cour t determine d tha t th e union' s interes t i n riddin g al l 
organized-crime influenc e outweighe d a  unio n official' s right  t o associat e freel y 
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United States  v  IBT, 75 4 F Supp 33 3 (SDNY 1990) . (The district court affirmed th e 
two-year suspension s o f certain unio n official s an d hel d tha t a  preponderanc e o f 
evidence standard to sustain charges , rathe r than a  clear and convincing standard , 
was no t arbitrar y an d tha t th e officials ' failur e t o investigat e allege d misus e o f 
union funds coul d provide evidence of intent to defraud th e union o f its funds. ) 

United States  v  IBT, 111  F  Sup p 113 3 (SDNY 1991) , affd,  97 0 F2 d 113 2 (2d Ci r 
1992). (Th e distric t cour t affirme d th e independen t administrator' s suspensio n o f 
a unio n officia l an d allowe d th e administrator' s determinatio n tha t a n officia l 
brought reproac h upo n th e unio n b y invokin g th e Fift h Amendmen t durin g 
a deposition. ) 

United States  v  IBT, 78 7 F Supp 34 5 (SDNY 1992) . (The district court affirmed th e 
lifetime suspensio n o f a  unio n busines s agen t o n assaul t an d embezzlemen t 
charges.) 

United States  v  IBT,  80 3 F  Sup p 76 1 (SDN Y 1992) . (Th e government' s motio n 
seeking the promulgation o f rules for the operation o f the IRB was granted.) 

United States  v  IBT, 80 3 F Supp 806 (SDNY 1992) , aff'd 1 2 F3d 36 0 (2d Cir 1993) . 
(The distric t cour t approve d th e choic e o f William Webste r a s the thir d membe r 
of the IRB, over the objections o f the IBT. ) 
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Congressional Petitio n t o Justice Departmen t 

Congress of the Unite d State s 
Washington, D C 2051 5 

December 10 , 198 7 

The Honorable Edwin Meese, III 
Attorney General 
U.S. Departmen t of Justice 
Main Justice Building 
Room 5111 
Washington, D.C . 2053 0 

Dear Attorney General Meese: 

Numerous pres s article s hav e state d tha t th e Departmen t o f Justice i s preparing 
civil suit s unde r th e Racketee r Influence d an d Corrup t Organization s Ac t (RICO ) 
with the intention of imposing federal trusteeships over the International Brotherhood 
of Teamsters, th e Laborers ' International Unio n o f North America , th e Hote l Em -
ployees and Restaurant Employees Internationa l Unio n an d the International Long -
shoremen's Association . W e ar e concerne d ove r th e accurac y o f thes e report s and 
seek clarificatio n o f th e Department' s effort s thu s fa r and informatio n regardin g its 
future intentions . W e ar e als o writin g t o expres s ou r seriou s reservation s regardin g 
both th e utilit y an d equit y o f imposin g federa l contro l ove r privat e institutions . 
This concern i s intensified i n these circumstance s sinc e th e historic positio n o f this 
government i s one o f minimal interventio n i n the interna l affair s o f labor organiza-
tions. 

Congress has enacted numerous laws which ensure that unions function a s demo-
cratic institutions. I n addition to the full panoply of criminal statutes, laws including 
the Labor-Management Relations Act, the Labor-Management Reporting and Disclo-
sure Ac t an d th e Labor-Managemen t Racketeerin g Ac t ensur e bot h tha t union s 
function a s democrati c institution s an d tha t thos e wh o abus e unio n offic e ma y be 
effectively prosecute d and promptly removed from positions of trust. 

This legislatio n ha s been carefull y drafte d t o deal wit h specifi c problem s withi n 
the labor movement without unduly intruding into the operation of private organiza-
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tions. Thus, we are very troubled by reports that the Department of Justice has chosen 
a broad an d unprecedente d enforcemen t strateg y tha t must , o f necessity, undermin e 
the abilit y o f a  unio n t o perfor m it s statutory function s a s the collectiv e bargainin g 
representative of its members. Labo r unions i n this society serve as a counter-balance 
to th e institution s o f governmen t an d corporation s an d affor d worker s a  vehicl e fo r 
exercising a  voice i n th e determinatio n o f national polic y a s well a s their wage s and 
working conditions . T o functio n properly , union s mus t b e independen t o f govern -
ment o r corporat e contro l i n orde r t o reflec t an d represen t th e interest s o f thei r 
members. Th e impositio n o f trustee s t o administe r a n internationa l unio n b y th e 
government is , on it s face, inherentl y destructiv e o f the ability of workers to represen t 
and spea k for themselves through thei r unions . Th e exercis e of such authorit y by the 
government t o essentiall y remov e on e o f th e majo r participant s i n th e democrati c 
process, establishes a precedent which strikes at the very foundation o f our democracy. 

We strongl y an d wholeheartedl y suppor t enforcemen t o f the la w to ri d union s o f 
those individual s wh o misus e thei r positions . W e canno t support , however , th e 
abandonment o f the carefully constructe d networ k of law which achieve s the desired 
goals with limited government intervention i n favor of a broad effort whic h sweeps out 
the fundamental right s of the rank-and-file unio n membe r a s well as the wrongdoers. 

In conclusion , w e woul d appreciat e suc h informatio n a s yo u ma y appropriatel y 
share regardin g th e effort s o f you r agenc y i n thi s area . Further , w e would urg e th e 
Department t o conside r carefull y th e option s availabl e t o i t an d t o rejec t thos e tha t 
are inconsisten t wit h th e overal l nationa l goa l o f fosterin g a n independen t an d 
democratic union movement . [Signe d by 264 members of Congress] 
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Association fo r Unio n Democracy , Lette r t o 
Members o f Congress 

Association fo r Unio n Democracy , Inc . 
YWCA Buildin g 
30 Third Avenue 

Brooklyn, N.Y . 1121 7 
(718) 855-665 0 

August 4, 198 8 

Dear Congressman 

You wer e liste d a s a  signato r o n a  lette r signe d b y 26 4 member s o f Congres s 
criticizing in advance the recent RICO suit filed by the Department of Justice against 
officials o f the Teamsters union and members of La Cosa Nostra. Interventio n by the 
government i n thi s instance , yo u insist , "i s inherentl y destructiv e o f th e abilit y o f 
workers to represent and speak for themselves through their unions." The actuality is 
quite different i n my opinion. Existin g law has proven inadequate to assist members 
of unions dominate d b y organized crime . Th e governmen t sui t aims to take power 
out of the hands of racketeers and their abettors and restore the right of members to 
control thei r ow n unions . Fro m thi s standpoint , th e actio n o f Justic e shoul d b e 
applauded a s a  welcome , eve n overdue , actio n b y governmen t t o en d racketee r 
infiltration of a major union. 

I am not writing, however , t o argue the merits of the government's case. Choice s 
are admittedly difficult , an d differences o f opinion ar e inevitable eve n amon g parti-
sans o f a  strong, democratic , fre e labo r movement . A s a  private citize n I  can onl y 
express an opinion, hopin g that my views can somehow affec t events . A s a member 
of Congress , you , however , ar e endowe d wit h enormou s powe r t o determin e th e 
policies our country wil l follow. I f you are convinced that the Department of Justice 
is acting improperly i n it s method o f addressing racketteering and anti-democracy i n 
the Teamster s unions , yo u hav e a  mora l an d politica l responsibilit y t o g o beyon d 
expressing a n opinio n an d t o tak e actio n tha t wil l hel p t o comba t racketeerin g i n 
unions effectively an d properly. 
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I pose two questions: 1 ) In exercising your legislative powers, ho w do you  propose 
to eradicat e th e racketee r combin e i n th e Teamster s union ? I t i s apparent tha t pas t 
law enforcement effort s hav e resulted i n thi s or that individua l corrup t unio n officia l 
being sen t t o jail , onl y t o b e replace d b y a  twin . I n th e meantime , th e members ' 
democratic right s are continually violate d b y a powerful an d ruthles s criminal enter -
prise operating on a national scale . 

2) How do you  propose t o defend th e right s of those courageou s member s o f the 
Teamsters unio n wh o hav e bee n fighting  agains t organize d crim e contro l o f thei r 
union an d wh o hav e bee n victimize d fo r thei r efforts ? I n thi s connection , I  cal l 
attention t o th e enclose d lette r o f John Kuebler , a  membe r o f Teamsters Loca l 28 2 
here i n Ne w York . H e fough t agains t a  corrup t loca l officialdom ; h e impelle d la w 
enforcement authoritie s to act and send a crooked official t o jail. But Kuebler himself, 
after thi s servic e t o hi s unio n an d t o th e public , los t hi s jo b becaus e o f fraudulen t 
actions o f hi s union' s officials . H e appeale d t o th e Nationa l Labo r Relation s Boar d 
which uphel d hi s claim, an d vindicate d hi s charges . I t ordered th e offendin g unio n 
to pay him hi s lost wages. 

Ten year s have passed. Th e NLR B has failed t o enforce it s own decision; Kueble r 
has not collected one single cent . 

John Kueble r i s only on e exampl e o f the hundred s o f union member s wh o hav e 
turned t o the NLR B fo r hel p afte r sufferin g retaliatio n fo r thei r refor m activity . Th e 
NLRB has proven impoten t to provide defense an d recours e for union reformer s wh o 
face racketeers . Legislativ e oversigh t o f NLR B policie s an d correctio n o f remedia l 
deficiencies ar e obviousl y essential . Yo u wer e move d t o spea k ou t o n behal f o f th e 
rights o f the Teamste r establishment . Wha t d o yo u hav e t o sa y fo r thos e wh o hav e 
been victimized b y the union's officials ? 

Reformers lik e John Kueble r hav e littl e money t o donate to campaigns backed by 
PAC's; they hav e n o politica l clout . Bu t i n thei r union s the y d o carr y o n th e battl e 
for American democrac y tha t we all cherish. Don' t you think tha t now is the time to 
come to their assistance ? 

Sincerely yours , 

Herman Benso n 
Executive Directo r 

Association fo r Unio n Democrac y 
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Deposition o f Roy Williams 

Q. Mr . Williams: Did you know a man named Nick Civella? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Whe n did you first meet Nick Civella? 
A. 1952 . Late in '52 or early '53 
Q. Wha t were the circumstances? 
A. Kansa s City operate d wit h a n easter n judge , a  western judge , an d a  central—I 

mean a  presidin g judge . Durin g tha t tim e ther e was— I kno w seve n an d ther e 
could b e eigh t differen t democrati c club s becaus e a t that tim e Kansa s City and 
Jackson Count y wa s basically democrat . I  was the hea d o f the Teamster s Club. 
Civella was the head of the North En d Political Club . Bil l Cirman, wh o was the 
mayor of Independence, wa s the chairman of the Eastern Democratic Club. And 
a man by the name of Moran, Tim, I  believe, Moran , was the head of the Central 
Club. An d ever y tim e ther e wa s an electio n com e up , yo u wouldn' t wan t your 
man to run for auditor. You' d want him t o run here. Thi s clu b would wan t his 
man to run. And anyway, you could have as many as seven or eight people. 

I was appointed b y our group as the chairman o f our club. Nic k Civell a was 
the chairman of his club. I f there was an argument as to who we thought we could 
win with , i t came to our committee, th e four of us , an d we determined wh o we 
thought w e coul d wi n with . An d w e ha d th e authorit y t o direc t th e club s t o 
withdraw their particular candidate for the particular political jo b and put the one 
in that we suggested. 

Q. Afte r you first met Mr . Civell a i n connection wit h this political club , ho w long 
did you know him? 

A. I  knew him starting in 195 2 or early '53, and I knew him till he died sometime in 
'81 or early '82. I'm not sure. 

Q. Afte r yo u me t Nic k Civell a i n 1952 , di d ther e com e a  tim e late r whe n yo u 
learned what position, i f any, he had in organized crime? 

A. Well , there again, you're calling my attention to dates, and I'm not sure. The first 
time that I thought that he was mixed up with some group was after the Apalachin 
meeting, an d I  believe th e Apalachin wa s in Ne w York. I' m no t sure. H e and a 
man b y th e nam e o f Falard o wer e arreste d a t that Apalachi n meeting , an d th e 
papers in Kansas City played it up big. That was my first impression that he might 
be a head of an undesirable group. 
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Q. Wa s that Apalachin meeting in the late 1950s ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Afte r tha t Apalachi n meeting , di d yo u mee t wit h Mr . Civell a an d discus s th e 

Apalachin meeting? 
A. No t to—well, I  met with him, but it wasn't solely to discuss the Apalachin. 
Q. A t the time you me t him afte r the Apalachin meeting , di d he tel l yo u anythin g 

about what happened at the Apalachin meeting? 
A. Civell a told me that, among other things, territory and cooperation was discussed. 
Q. Wha t did he tell you about territory and cooperation? 
A. Civell a sai d tha t h e ha d Kansa s Cit y a s hi s territory . H e ha d workin g relation s 

with other areas. H e had friends in Wisconsin, h e had friends in Chicago, he had 
friends in Cleveland, an d he had friends in New Orleans. 

Q. Di d he say he had friends in New York? 
A. No , h e never mentioned Ne w York. 
Q. Di d he say anything about how they had divided up the territories? 
A. No , h e did not , othe r than jus t what I  said that Nick told me . H e didn't tell m e 

about anybody else. 
Q. Ho w did he refe r to these other people with whom h e had met at the Apalachin 

conference? 
A. M y people are my friends. 
Q. Di d yo u lear n whethe r o r not Nic k Civell a ha d been arreste d a t this Apalachin 

meeting? 
A. That' s what the papers said. 
Q. Di d you discuss that with Mr. Civella? 
A. No , I  did not. 
Q. Wa s there anyone else present at the time you had this conversation with Mr. Ci-

vella? 
A. No , sir. 
Q. Di d Mr . Civell a sa y anythin g t o yo u abou t ho w yo u coul d benefi t fro m hi s 

friends? 
A. No . 
Q. Di d Mr . Civell a sa y anythin g t o yo u abou t ho w hi s friend s migh t b e o f hel p 

to you? 
A. Late r but not at that meeting. 
Q. Di d Mr . Civell a sa y anything t o you abou t helpin g yo u i f you wen t int o other 

areas of the country? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wha t did he tell you in that regard in his conversation? 
A. H e told me i f I went into areas that I thought there would be some problems, t o 

get ahold of him and he would get ahold of his friends. 
Q. Di d ther e late r com e a  tim e whe n yo u di d contac t Mr . Civell a an d as k fo r 

his help? 
A. Twice . 
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Q. Ca n you describe those? 
A. Onc e wa s i n Sa n Francisc o a t a  ba d strike . I  didn' t kno w anybod y i n Sa n 

Francisco. I  was sent in there by Mr. Hoffa , an d when I got to this meeting, I  had 
kind of a hostile president of that union. I  always went in alone. I  started to meet 
him, an d Hoff a tol d m e t o break u p the strike . I  started th e meeting . I  noticed 
some people standing around the room with topcoats on, neve r sat down. Plent y 
of seats but didn't si t down. Th e meetin g wa s over. I  got a  vote o n th e strik e to 
where it ended and the meeting broke up and everybody left, includin g the people 
with the trench coats. 

Q. Befor e you went to San Francisco, had you gone to Mr. Civella to tell him about 
your trip? 

A. I  just said yes , I  contacted hi m an d told hi m I  was going, an d h e sai d he' d get 
ahold of his friends. 

Q. Wha t wa s the secon d occasio n i n whic h yo u aske d for Mr . Civella' s hel p with 
his friends? 

A. I n New Orleans, Louisiana. Hoff a called me and wanted me to meet him in New 
Orleans at the hote l acros s from th e airport. I  went to New Orleans . I  told Nick 
that I was going to New Orleans with Hoffa , an d the oi l worker s was wanting to 
go int o th e Teamster s Union . Whe n the y foun d out—whe n th e cit y father s or 
whoever it is—they ha d already rented a hall. Whe n they found out it was James 
R. Hoff a tha t wanted to rent the rooms or meeting hall , the y refused to give it to 
him. Ther e was quite a  few Teamster members there that had no place to meet. 
I'm a veteran. I  contacted the Veteran's Administration, an d they let us use their 
hall just outside of New Orleans. 

Hoffa conducted the meeting. Th e weather was warm. There again, there was 
other chairs to sit in, bu t there was maybe five or six people standing around the 
outside. They didn't have trench coats. They said nothing, nor neither did they sit 
down, an d there was no problems at that particular meeting except one man that 
kept coming to the front and arguing and so forth. And he got hit in the head with 
a mallet, an d Jimmy Hoffa said , "Sergean t of arms, pleas e remove this object on 
the floor so we ca n continu e th e meeting. " The sergean t o f arms come an d got 
him, too k hi m outside . Abou t 2 0 minute s h e wa s back in , an d I  have to say he 
acted like a gentleman when he came back in. 

Q. Whe n approximately did this meeting in New Orleans take place, i f you recall? 
A. I  don't recall. 
Q. D o yo u kno w whethe r thes e me n wh o wer e i n th e bac k o f th e roo m i n th e 

meeting hall in New Orleans were Teamsters? 
A. No , sir . I  thin k h e wa s a n oi l worke r an d wa s probabl y sen t ther e b y th e oi l 

workers' people. 
Q. Mr . Williams, I  wasn't referring to the man who was removed. 
A. I  thought that's what you said. 
Q. Th e me n i n th e bac k o f th e room , sir , d o yo u kno w whethe r o r no t the y 

were Teamsters? 
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A. No , I  do not. 
Q. Di d you recognize them to be Teamsters? 
A. I  didn't even pay any attention whether they were Teamsters, oi l workers , or who 

they were . I  jus t kno w the y stoo d u p i n th e bac k o f th e roo m lik e the y did — 
certain people done in San Francisco. 

Q. Wer e there any seats in the meeting hall? 
A. Lot s of them. 
Q. Wer e there seats in the meeting hall in San Francisco? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Whe n approximately was this meeting in San Francisco, i f you recall? 
A. I  don't recall. 
Q. Mr . Williams, directing your attention to the period after this discussion you had 

with Nic k Civell a abou t th e Apalachi n meeting , di d ther e com e a  tim e whe n 
you receive d a  threa t fro m tw o me n wh o identifie d themselve s a s friend s o f 
Nick Civella? 

A. Well , first I have to go back just a little bit. 
Q. Certainly . 
A. A s I said earlier, th e pension fun d wa s instituted i n '55 . We started paying small 

pensions in '57. I  started getting a lot of conversation from Nick that he wanted to 
support particular loans. 

Q. Whe n was this, sir? 
A. Sir ? 
Q. Whe n was this that you got those requests? 
A. Sometim e late r i n th e late r par t of '5 8 whe n th e pension s starte d gettin g a  few 

dollars, an d I  put up with that and refused t o do any of these things that he was 
asking me to do regarding the pension fund. I  told him how it was set up and how 
it was to be operated and so forth, about the A and O committee and so forth. 

One nigh t when I' m coming out of a meeting—we wer e in the old building. 
116 West Linwood i s where our office was , and we kind of shared with McGilley 
Funeral Home. O n Sundays if we had big meetings and they had no funerals, w e 
used their lot and vice versa. 

Q. Wha t city was this in? 
A. Kansa s City. 
Q. Wha t happened next? 
A. Whe n I  come ou t to get i n m y car , ther e wa s two me n standing , on e o n eac h 

side. The y said , "Ge t in , Mr . Williams , an d park your car over in the other lot. 
Take the keys because we intend to bring you back." They shoved me in a big car, 
in the middle, between the two of them. About a half a block they put a blindfold 
on me . I t seemed lik e abou t 2 0 minute s w e stopped . The y too k m e insid e o f a 
building. The y sa t me o n a  chair. Th e plac e wa s dark. A t least i t was to me . I 
couldn't see nothing. An d they took the blindfold off . 

There was a great big light over my head that showed around about ten feet of 
my stool that I was sitting on. The y told me that I was brought there for a reason. 
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That I was going to have to cooperate closer with Nick Civella. I  didn't recognize 
any o f them. I  knew non e o f them. I  didn't know ho w man y wa s in th e room. 
The acoustics in the ceiling sounded similar to a basketball court or something. I 
don't know how many people was in the room because I couldn't see nobody. 

They threatened my family, name d my two children. They were both young at 
that time. M y oldes t daughte r was twelve. M y youngest daughter was six. The y 
said i f I  didn't cooperate, the y were going to kill m y children, m y wife, an d you 
will b e the last to go. D o you understand what we're talking to you about? I said 
yes. The y aske d m e i f I  was going to cooperate wit h Nic k closer , an d I  said I'l l 
have to think about it . The y pu t the blindfold bac k on me , too k me back to my 
car. I  got in my car and went home. 

And I  don't know— I can' t describ e th e feelin g I  had. I  mean, i t jus t neve r 
happened t o me . I  com e fro m a  famil y o f 1 3 o n a  farm . I  ha d a  sixt h grad e 
education, an d I  never knew there was these kinds of people i n th e world . S o I 
didn't sa y nothin g t o m y famil y becaus e I  didn' t wan t t o excit e them . I  went 
looking for help. 

Q. Th e room where these two men took you, could you see anything in the room? 
A. Nothing . 
Q. Wh y was that, sir? 
A. Becaus e it was dark. There was no lights on other than the one over my head. 
Q. Wa s the light over your head a bright light? 
A. Rea l bright . I t looked lik e i t was sort of a  spotlight, an d I  only presum e tha t i t 

covered about ten feet around my stool that I was sitting on. 
Q. Whe n yo u sa y you went for help after you receive d thi s threat, wh o did you go 

speak to? 
A. I  went to talk to Tom Flynn first. 
Q. Wh o was Tom Flynn at that time? 
A. To m Flynn at that time was an assistant to Van Tobin—no, excus e me. H e was 

a director of the central conference— I mea n the eastern conference a t that time 
because he left as assistant to Tobin in 195 2 so I had forgotten that. Bu t anyway, I 
went to him because I knew him real well. H e sent me to Jimmy Hoffa. 

Q. First , what did Mr. Flyn n say to you when you went to speak to him? 
A. H e said , " I think yo u shoul d g o tal k t o Jimmy. " He didn' t wan t t o mak e an y 

comments at that time. 
Q. Di d you then go see Mr. Hoffa ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wha t happened when you went to see Mr. Hoffa ? 
A. I  told Mr. Hoff a what happened, an d he said, "Roy, it's a bad situation." He said, 

"You can run, but you can't hide. Yo u could quit. Yo u still can't hide. M y advice 
to you is to cooperate or get your family killed." 

Q. Di d Mr . Hoff a sa y anything to you about whether he was aware of Nick Civella 
and his friends? 

A. Mr . Hoff a said , "Roy , ther e ar e ba d people . An d the y wer e her e a  lon g tim e 
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before you and I  come, an d they'l l be here a long time after we'r e gone." He said, 
"They're eithe r infiltrate d int o ever y loca l union , bi g loca l union , ever y con -
ference, pensio n funds , eve n th e AFL-CIO. " An d h e says , "They'r e ba d an d 
certainly I  think you should g o cooperate with them." He says, "I'm tie d tigh t as I 
can be." 

* *  * 

Q. Subsequentl y di d Mr . Civell a tel l yo u wha t kin d o f cooperatio n h e wante d 
from you ? 

A. H e wanted m e to vote for som e loans tha t h e was interested i n i n La s Vegas. H e 
told m e o n on e particula r loa n tha t h e wante d me— I believ e i t was Argent. H e 
told m e tha t h e wante d m e to follow Plug' s lead . Tha t wa s the nicknam e fo r Bil l 
Presser who had take n ove r the chairmanship with Fitzsimmon s o f the health an d 
welfare an d pension—excuse me . No t health and welfare . Pension . 

Q. I n addition t o the Argent loan, di d Mr . Civell a tel l you he wanted you to support 
other loans? 

A. I  don't kno w whether h e wanted m e t o do that othe r than t o follow Th e Plu g or 
Fitzsimmons. H e didn' t wan t any—m e t o oppose an y o f the loan s tha t Fitzsim -
mons or The Plug or Bill Presser recommended . 

Q. Wha t were some of the loans that were recommended i n this manner? 
A. Well , we had an executive committee by that time. The executive committee was 

attended b y Fran k Ranney , Fitzsimmons , Bil l Presser , an d I  believe Joe Morgan . 
And anybod y requirin g a  loa n o f an y descriptio n wen t t o se e thi s particula r 
executive committee . Th e auditor s wer e there , th e lawyer s wer e i n there , th e 
actuaries. Al l o f the m includin g th e asse t manage r wa s al l i n thes e meetings . 
They'd giv e us a book. W e me t every three months , an d they' d giv e us a book so 
thick. O n th e first  pag e i t identifie d th e fac t tha t the y ha d looke d a t it . The y 
recommended approval , recommende d hold , o r recommended tha t i t be denied . 
98 percen t o f th e tim e w e wen t alon g wit h th e recommendation s o f th e com -
mittee. 

Q. Mr . Williams , afte r yo u receive d thi s threat , ho w woul d yo u characteriz e Nic k 
Civella's influence, i f any, over you within th e Teamsters? 

A. Well , t o be right frank abou t it , i f I didn't want to get killed, I  was his boy. And I 
characterized th e fac t tha t I  cooperated wit h him , bu t I  never ha d t o oppose an y 
of these loan s because the y were recommende d b y the executiv e committe e afte r 
they had al l met . 

* *  * 

Q. Ho w did i t come about that Nick Civella gave you money in 1974 ? 
A. I  thin k h e ha d jus t gotte n th e Argen t loa n o r somethin g t o tha t effect . I  don' t 

know wha t els e i t woul d hav e been . H e jus t tol d m e thi s wa s my share . Now , I 
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believe i t was the Argent Corporation an d the Haciend a owne d by— I forge t his 
name now. A little lawyer. 

Q. Wa s that Allen Glick who was the owner of Argent? 
A. Alle n Glick, yeah. 
Q. Ha d the Argent Corporation sought a loan for the Stardust Casino? 
A. I  think it was for the Stardust and possibly for the Hacienda. I' m not sure. 
Q. Ho w big a loan had the Argent Corporation sought? 
A. I  believe it was something around 60 million dollars. 
Q. Ha d you voted in favor of that loan? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Ha d yo u ha d an y discussion s prio r t o you r vot e o n tha t loa n applicatio n wit h 

Mr. Civell a abou t whether Mr. Civell a wante d you to support that loan applica-
tion? 

A. H e told me to follow The Plug's lead on that application. 
Q. Again , who was The Plug that you just referred to? 
A. Bil l Presser. 
Q. Di d you follow Bill Presser's lead on that application? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Di d you vote in favor of that application? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Whe n did you start to receive money from Mr. Civella? 
A. Sometim e in 1974 . 
Q. Wha t was the first occasion on which you received money from Mr. Civella? 
A. I  don't know, sir. 
Q. Wh o gave you the money on this first occasion? 
A. Nic k Civella. Othe r times it was delivered by Sam Ancona. 
Q. Ho w much money did you receive on the first occasion? 
A. Fiftee n hundred as I stated a while ago. 
Q. Ho w long did you continue to receive money each month? 
A. Righ t afte r I  wa s electe d genera l president , I  cam e bac k hom e i n Jun e an d 

resigned m y positio n a s presiden t o f Loca l 4 1 an d presiden t o f th e Teamster s 
counsel. Me t Nick out at the ballpark. I t was at a motel there close to the ballpark, 
and I told him that—and Nic k was very sick at that time. Th e fact of the matter, 
I think h e die d tha t year. I'rr t not sure . Bu t I  told hi m I  didn't want to take the 
money anymore. I  was going to take over the Teamsters International Unio n and 
I didn't nee d th e mone y an d I  would rathe r no t hav e it . An d I  never receive d 
anymore from him, and he died shortly after that. 

Q. Ho w often did you receive this money after this first $1500 payment in 1974 ? 
A. I  thought I said earlier every month. 
Q. Ho w much money did you receive each month? 
A. 150 0 sometimes, 120 0 sometimes, 130 0 sometimes, 1,00 0 sometimes , bu t it was 

made up later so it averaged out 150 0 a month. 
Q. Mr . Williams , I' d lik e t o refe r yo u t o you r testimon y a t th e depositio n i n th e 
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Salerno case starting on Page 12 9 and going on to Page 130 , starting at Line 1 8 on 
Page 12 9 and continuing unti l Page 130 . 

Q. Mr . Williams , I  ask you to read beginning at Line 1 8 on Pag e 12 9 continuing on 
to Page 13 0 down to Line 6. 

THE WITNESS : O n 1 8 th e prosecuto r a t th e hearing—Lin e 1 8 no w I' m talkin g 
about—where h e aske d me , "A s Internationa l vic e president , member s o f th e 
executive board,  di d you become aware that other member s o f the board kne w of 
your ties to Nick Civella?" My answer i s this. I  said, "Yes. " "How did you becom e 
aware?" "Because I  made no bones about it. " 

Q. An d the answer continues doesn't it , Mr . Williams ? 
A. Yes . 
Q. What' s the rest of the answer after "becaus e I  made no bones about it"? 
A. " I was controlled b y Nick , an d I  think everybod y kne w i t because Hoff a tol d m e 

that Nick was in the hierarchy o f the so-called organize d crim e group. And whe n 
he threatened me , why that's when I  became his boy." 

Q. Now , a t th e depositio n i n th e Salern o cas e d o yo u recal l bein g aske d thos e 
questions and giving those answers about being controlled b y Nick Civella? 

A. I  saw it on the tape that I  said I  became his boy. 
Q. Yo u do recall giving that testimony; correct, sir ? 
A. Yes , I do. 



Appendix D 

Deposition o f Angelo Lonard o 

Q. Yo u testifie d earlie r abou t Milto n Rockman . Directin g you r attentio n t o Mr . 
Rockman, wha t rol e i f an y di d h e hav e wit h th e Clevelan d L a Cos a Nostr a 
family? 

A. Well , h e was an associate of ours. H e was not a member. 
Q. A s an associate what activities was he involved in? 
A. Mostl y the unions, Teamsters union. 
Q. Wa s ther e anyon e i n particula r i n th e Teamster s unio n tha t Mr . Rockma n 

dealt with? 
A, Well , h e dealt with Bill Presser and Jackie Presser. 
Q. Di d Mr. Rockman ever tell you what type of relationship he had with Bill Presser 

and Jackie Presser? 
A. The y were very very close and he could control them. 
Q. Mr . Lonardo, have you ever heard of a man named Frank Fitzsimmons? 
A. Yes . 
Q. D o you know what position i f any he held with the Teamsters union? 
A. H e was president of the union. 
Q. O f the international union? 
A. O f the whole thing, yeah. 
Q. Di d ther e come a  point i n time whe n h e cease d t o be president of the interna -

tional union of the Teamsters? 
A. Yes , he died. 
Q. Directin g you r attentio n t o th e perio d a  fe w month s befor e Mr . Fitzsimmons ' 

death. Di d yo u hav e an y conversation s wit h Milto n Rockma n abou t Mr . Fitz -
simmons? 

A. Yes , we did. 
Q. Ca n you describe those conversations please? 
A. Well , Mr . Rockma n sai d i t looks likes Fitzsimmons i s going. H e says don't look 

like he'l l las t too much longer . H e says it looks like we better start getting ready. 
He sai d Nic k Civell a ha d alread y talke d t o hi m abou t Ro y William s i n cas e 
Fitzsimmons die s an d tha t Nic k Civella , wh o happene d t o b e th e bos s o f th e 
Kansas City LCN, say s that Roy Williams was his man and that he could control 
him. 
And Maishe said "Well, I'l l talk to the Pressers in Cleveland and we'll get together 
later, you know." And Jackie agreed, and I believe Bill Presser was still living at the 
time—he was—and he agreed that Roy Williams would be all right. 

194 
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Q. Afte r you had these conversations with Maishe Rockman, what did you do next? 
A. Well , w e though t bes t wa s to ge t read y an d tal k t o peopl e i n Chicag o an d th e 

people in New York. We went to Chicago first and met with Joey Aiuppa, the boss 
of Chicago, and Jack Cerone who was the underboss. 

Q. Wh o went to Chicago? 
A. Jac k Licavoli, I  and Maishe Rockman, Milto n Rockman. 
Q. Ho w soo n afte r thes e conversation s yo u ha d wit h Maish e Rockma n di d you g o 

to Chicago? 
A. I t wasn't too long. 
Q. Wh o arranged for the trip to Chicago? 
A. I  think Jack White ha d somebody from Cleveland cal l Jackie Cerone's son to tell 

him that we were coming in to see him, to see Jackie Cerone and Joey Aiuppa and 
what day would be best for us to come there. 
And Jackie Cerone's son, he made the appointment with his dad, and he got word 
back to this fellow i n Cleveland and he told Jack about it . W e went, w e got a car 
and the next day or two, whenever it was, and we went to a suburb of Chicago. 

Q. Whe n you say that you said you should "get ready" what did you mean by that? 
A. T o get ready so we could have the delegates ready to vote for Roy Williams. 
Q. Whe n you went to the suburb of Chicago where did you go? 
A. W e wen t t o a  restauran t there . I  don't remembe r th e nam e o f it . I t was in th e 

outskirts of Chicago, and we met with Joey Aiuppa and Jackie Cerone there. 
Q. A t tha t poin t i n tim e wha t positio n i f an y di d Jacki e Ceron e hol d i n L a Cosa 

Nostra? 
A. H e was the underboss. 
Q. O f what family? 
A. I n the Chicago family. 
Q. An d at that time what position if any did Joey Aiuppa hold in La Cosa Nostra? 
A. H e was the boss. 
Q. O f what family? 
A. Chicag o family. 
Q. Whe n yo u go t t o th e restauran t di d yo u hav e discussion s wit h Aiupp a an d 

Cerone? 
A. Yes , we did, but before we started to talk, Joey Aiuppa, h e thought we were there 

to talk about family business . An d he knew Maishe wasn't Italian and he was not 
a member. H e asked Maishe, yo u know, i f he would excuse himself and walk out 
for a little bit and come back. 

Q. An d did Rockman leave at that point? 
A. Yes , he did. 
Q. Afte r Rockma n lef t th e meetin g di d yo u hav e discussion s wit h Aiupp a an d 

Cerone? 
A. Yes , I  did. 
Q. Wha t was discussed? 
A. I  says to Joey Aiuppa and Jack Cerone, I  says "What we are here for mostly i s to 

talk about Fitzsimmons is dying and talking about getting Roy Williams to run." 
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We tol d the m tha t Maish e Rockma n kne w mor e abou t this unio n stuf f than 
any on e o f u s did , an d w e though t h e shoul d hav e stayed , yo u know . H e said , 
well, Joe y Aiuppa apologize d fo r excusing Maishe , h e say s he didn' t know what 
we were there for, an d he says Til apologiz e to Maishe when he comes back in." 
He says "I thought it was for something else concerning family matters." 

So w e sai d no , i t was about Ro y Williams , i f i t would b e al l righ t with yo u 
fellows after Fitzsimmons dies if you go along with Roy Williams. 

Q. Di d you tell Aiuppa and Cerone anything about Nick Civella? 
A. W e told hi m tha t Nick Civell a wa s interested i n Ro y Williams runnin g because 

he controlle d Ro y William s an d h e kne w hi m ver y well , tha t h e woul d liste n 
to him. 

Q. Wha t position i f any did Nick Civella hold in La Cosa Nostra at that time? 
A. H e was the boss of the Kansas City LCN. 
Q. Di d you tell Aiuppa and Cerone anything about Jackie Presser during this conver-

sation? 
A. Yeah , w e als o tol d hi m tha t Ro y William s promise d t o Jacki e Presse r tha t h e 

would have control of the central states. 
Q. Wha t did Aiuppa and Cerone tell you in this conversation? 
A. Well , the y sai d that they would g o along with Ro y Williams; they were satisfie d 

with everything. 
Q. Di d they tell you what they would do for Roy Williams? 
A. Tha t they would line up the delegates, whatever they had to do they would have 

everybody ready. 
Q. Afte r thi s conversation, di d there come a  point i n time when Maish e Rockma n 

returned to the table? 
A. H e did. 
Q. Whe n Maishe Rockman returned to the table was there any further discussion? 
A. Yeah , well , Joe y Aiuppa apologized to Maishe for excusing him and Maishe told 

him, h e says , "afte r all , I  knew more about this than either one or Jack" and he 
says " I coul d hav e explaine d i t better " bu t h e say s "a s lon g a s everythin g i s 
straightened out, no use talking about it any more." 

Q. Whe n Maish e Rockma n returne d t o th e tabl e wa s h e informe d o f wha t ha d 
been discussed? 

A. H e was. 
Q. Wha t was he told? 
A. H e wa s tol d tha t w e discusse d abou t Ro y William s runnin g fo r th e president , 

presidency. An d w e tol d hi m everythin g els e an d h e wa s satisfie d wit h wha t 
went on. 

* *  * 

Q. Di d there come a time when you went to New York? 
A. Yes , there was. 
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Q. Wh o went to New York? 
A. Milto n Rockman , I , an d Joh n Tronolon e me t u s a t th e airport . H e arrive d 

about—well, w e arrived there about five minutes before he did. 
Q. Ho w lon g afte r th e mee t you' d ha d outsid e Chicag o wa s you r arriva l i n Ne w 

York? 
A. Abou t a week later. 
Q. Wher e did you go? 
A. 116t h Street to the social club. 
Q. Wh o did you see there? 
A. Ton y Salerno. 
Q. Wa s there anyone else there at the time? 
A. Well , Fis h was there, Fis h Cafaro, h e was around there. Pep e was there. 
Q. Di d you have a meeting at that point? 
A. W e did. 
Q. Wh o did you meet with? 
A. Ton y Salerno. 
Q. Di d you have any discussions at that point with Mr. Salerno ? 
A. Well , we had told him that since Fitzsimmons was dying we were getting ready. 
Q. Wha t did you say to him, Mr . Salerno ? 
A. Tha t we were getting ready and we'd—we had talked—Maishe had talked to Roy 

Civella and Roy Civella was interested in getting—Carl Civell a was interested in 
getting Roy Williams in there and we had told him—I tol d him we had talked to 
Chicago and Chicago was well satisfied wit h Roy Williams and they were getting 
ready with their delegates if he would be interested. 

He said that would be all right . H e said Nick knows him and he could control 
him, it' s all righ t with us . An d we also told him that about Jackie Presser getting 
the central states and Roy Williams. 

Q. Whe n you just mentioned Nick , t o whom were you referring? 
A. Nic k Civella. 
Q. An d when you just said Chicago, t o whom were you referring? 
A. Joe y Aiuppa and Jackie Cerone. 
Q. What , i f anything, did Tony Salerno say to you after you told him this? 
A. H e said that he would get ahold of Sammy Provenzano and that he would talk to 

him in lining up the delegates. 
Q. I n support of whom? 
A. Ro y Williams. 
Q. Wha t position i f any did Sammy Provenzan o hold at that time in the Teamsters 

union? 
A. I  think he was president of his local there , something . H e was also internationa l 

vice-president. 
Q. Ar e you familiar with a man named Tony Provenzano? 
A. I  know of him or heard of him. I  didn't know him. 
Q. Wha t position i f any did Tony Provenzano hold in La Cosa Nostra at that time? 
A. H e was a capo, had been a capo in the Genovese family. 
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Q. D o you know if there was any familial relationshi p between Sammy Provenzan o 
and Tony Provenzano? 

A. The y were brothers. 
Q. Wha t was your understanding of what Tony Salerno meant when he said that he 

would contact Sammy Provenzano to line up the delegates? 
A. H e said that he would talk to him and get ready with the delegates. 
Q. Afte r thi s meetin g i n Ne w Yor k wit h Ton y Salern o di d yo u retur n t o Cleve -

land? 
A. Yes , we did. 
Q. Di d there come a time thereafter when Frank Fitzsimmons died? 
A. Ther e was. 
Q. D o you know who then became president of the Teamsters? 
A. Righ t after that Roy Williams ran and he got elected. 
Q. Afte r Ro y Williams becam e presiden t o f the Teamster s internationa l di d some-

thing happen to him? 
A. Well , Ro y William s go t indicte d an d a  coupl e o f month s afte r tha t w e says , 

well, look s lik e mayb e h e migh t ge t convicted , bette r star t getting read y fo r the 
next president. 

* *  * 

Q. Di d you meet with Tony Salerno? 
A. Yes , we did. 
Q. Di d you have discussions during this meeting? 
A. W e did. 
Q. Wha t did you discuss at this meeting? 
A. Well , we told him what we came there for, to see how he felt about Jackie Presser 

running fo r president o f the Teamsters union , an d we told hi m tha t we already 
had been to Chicago and first they objected to him and then they agreed that they 
would go along. 

And Tony say s "well, wh y did they object to Jackie Presser first?" So we told 
him that Jackie Cerone had said that they heard that he was an informant. 

And he didn't tell us where they heard it from but that's what he heard, and it 
come from a reliable source and at first they didn't go along with it , bu t the next 
day Maishe got the call and he agreed to go along with Jackie Presser. 

Q. I n thi s conversatio n wit h Ton y Salern o di d yo u sa y anythin g abou t Milto n 
Rockman's relationship with Jackie Presser? 

A. Yeah , we did. We told him that Maishe controlled Jackie Presser and Jackie would 
listen to anything he would tell him to do. 

Q. Wha t did Tony Salerno say to you in this conversation? 
A. Well , a t first,  whe n w e starte d t o talk , h e sai d "i f yo u hav e an y troubl e i n 

Chicago," he says, "let me know, I'l l talk with them." 
But we tol d hi m tha t the y agree d an d tha t the y woul d g o alon g wit h Jackie 
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Presser. H e says, "Well , a s far as I'm concerned, Ti l go along with i t too. I'l l start 
doing th e sam e thin g I  di d fo r Ro y Williams . I  wil l ge t hol d o f Samm y Pro , 
Sammy Provenzano and tell him to get ready with the delegates." 

Q. Afte r the meeting did you go back to Cleveland? 
A. Yes , we did. 
Q. Di d there come a point thereafter when something happened to Roy Williams? 
A. Well , Ro y Williams got convicted. 
Q. Wh o succeeded Roy Williams as Teamsters president, i f you know? 
A. Jacki e Presser. 
Q. Afte r yo u returne d t o Cleveland , di d yo u hav e an y conversation s wit h Maish e 

Rockman about Jackie Presser? 
A. Oh , w e talked abou t Jackie Presser a few times . I  know one tim e h e tol d Jackie 

Presser—Jackie Presser said to him "thanks for all the help I'm getting from you." 
He said "Don't thank me," he said "thank Chicago and New York and Angelo, i f 
you get elected, h e would be responsible for you getting the job." 

Q. B y "the job" to what are you referring? 
A. Presiden t of the Teamsters union. 

* *  * 

Q. Returnin g for a moment and directing your attention t o the discussions that you 
had about Roy Williams and Jackie Presser becoming president of the Teamsters. 
Why were you interested in who became president of the Teamsters? 

A. S o we'd have somebody there in case we needed any favors with the central states 
or we also used to get favors putting men to work in the union. 

Q. Wha t kind of favors would you get from the Teamsters union? 
A. Well , puttin g differen t me n t o work there an d i f we neede d an y loan s fro m th e 

Central States ' Pension Fund, something big, you had control of it. 
Q. Wha t about union charters? 
A. Charters . 
Q. Ca n you recal l any example of when a  La Cosa Nostra member wanted a union 

charter from the Teamsters? 
A. Well , Tony Salerno had said to Maishe, h e said "Maishe, when you get back will 

you talk to Jackie Presser if you could ge t a friend o f mine a charter here in Ne w 
York in the Teamsters local?" So Maishe said yeah, and he gave Maishe the name 
I guess and Maishe took care of [it] with Jackie. 

Q. Whe n was that in time, when did that conversation occur? 
A. Durin g one of the trips we had made to see Tony. 
Q. Whe n was that approximately? 
A. 198 1 or early '82, something like that. 
Q. Di d yo u eve r hav e an y conversation s wit h Milto n Rockma n abou t Harol d 

Friedman? 
A. Well , afte r Jacki e Presse r too k hi s dad' s plac e Maish e wa s thinkin g o f puttin g 
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Harold Friedman wit h Jackie. S o he went down to see Jackie Presser and he told 
him, h e says "I think you should put Harold Friedman on that job/' 

He sai d " I already did . I  know yo u wer e goin g t o tel l m e t o do i t and I  got 
Harold Friedman in there with him." 

Q. Di d Milton Rockman tell you why he wanted Harold Friedman in that position? 
A. Well , tha t he knew him and he knew him very well to talk to and could handle 

him and get favors done over him, too. 
Q. Wha t position was it that Harold Friedman got that you were just describing? 
A. H e was vice-president of that local, join t council 41. 
Q. Wa s that in Cleveland? 
A. I n Cleveland. 
Q. I n terms of favors from the Teamsters union, i n addition to charters, unio n jobs 

and loans from th e Centra l States ' Pension Fund , wer e there an y other kinds of 
favors that you got from the Teamsters union? 

A. I  didn't, no. 
Q. Di d you ever get any favors in terms of vending or skimming in connection with 

the Teamsters union? Not you personally. L a Cosa Nostra members or associates. 
A. Well , we got the loan for Allen Glick at the Stardust Hotel in Las Vegas. 

* *  * 

Q. I' d like to direct your attention t o the period jus t after you became underbos s of 
the Cleveland La Cosa Nostra family in 1976 . Di d you have any discussions with 
Maishe Rockman at that point about the Stardust? 

A. Yes , I  did. 
Q. Ca n you tell me the substance of the conversations? 
A. Well , h e told me how the money was coming from Vegas and how it got started. 
Q. Wha t did he tell you on that subject? 
A. H e says that Allen Glic k ha d gone to see Frank Balistrieri fro m Milwauke e wh o 

was the boss there and Allen Glick had asked Frank Balistrieri i f he could do him 
a favor and he said "Well, i f I could I will." 

He said "Could you get some other people in that pension fund to go along for 
a loan fo r the Stardus t for me?" And he said "I'l l see that you get something out 
of it." 

Q. Whe n you say "in that pension fund" to what are you referring to? 
A. Fro m the Teamsters pension fund, t o get money to loan. S o Frank Balistrieri says 

"well, I  got Frank Ranny on there as a trustee." He says "he's my man, h e says I 
could tal k t o him. " He say s "I'l l ge t ahol d o f Nic k Civell a t o ge t ahol d o f Roy 
Williams" and he says "I'll get Nick Civella t o talk to Cleveland wher e he knows 
the people in Cleveland to talk to Bill Presser." 

And he went over and see Nick Civella about it and he said, Yeah, I  could talk 
to Roy and get ahold of Maishe and meet with Maishe and Maishe—Nick Civella 
had talked t o Maish e abou t talking t o Bil l Presser , an d h e say s OK, h e says , a s 
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soon a s I  get bac k t o Clevelan d I'l l tal k t o m y brother-in-la w an d I'l l ge t back 
to you. 

Q. Wha t position i f any did Frank Balistrieri hold in La Cosa Nostra at that time? 
A. H e was the boss of the Milwaukee family. 
Q. Wha t position i f any did Nick Civella hold in La Cosa Nostra at that time? 
A. Bos s of Kansas City. 
Q. Wha t position i f any did Roy Williams hol d i n regar d to the Teamsters Central 

States' Pension Fund at that time? 
A. H e was a trustee. 
Q. Wha t position i f any did William Presse r hold in connection wit h the Teamsters 

Central States ' Pension Fund at that time? 
A. H e was a trustee. 
Q. Wha t positio n i f any did Fran k Ranne y hol d i n connectio n wit h th e Teamsters 

Central States ' pension fund at that time? 
A. Trustee . 
Q. Th e Maishe who you were just referring, wh o was that? 
A. Milto n Rockman. 
Q. Wha t did Milton Rockman tell you if anything about the contacts made with Roy 

Williams and Bill Presser? 
A. Well , afte r Maishe had talked to Civella he come back to Cleveland, h e talked to 

Johnny Scalis h abou t i t and Johnny says to him, h e say s "how much mone y d o 
them guy s need ? Ho w muc h d o the y wan t t o make? " He say s "wh y don' t yo u 
mind your own business, leav e it alone?" 

So Maishe told him "Johnny, we could make money there." And [ Johnny] said 
"I don't care what you could make." 

So finally Maishe finally convinced him. S o Johnny says, "listen, you go ahead 
do what you have to, in case you get into any trouble over that, don't you come to 
me for help because I'm not going to give you no help." 

And he said OK. An d from there he went down and talked to Bill Presse r and 
naturally Bil l Presse r went along with Maish e an d he took care of the loan, an d 
they got it. 

Q. Whe n you say "they got it" what do you mean? 
A. Alle n Glick, go t the money for the Stardust from the pension fund. 
Q. Wha t pension fund? 
A. Th e Teamsters' pension fund. 
Q. Wha t position i f any did Johnny Scalish hold with La Cosa Nostra at that time? 
A. A t that time he was the boss of the Cleveland LCN. 
Q. An d these conversations with Milton Rockman , was there any discussion o f why 

Bill Presser or Roy Williams approved the loan? 
A. Well , the y knew that we would get a piece of—at th e time I didn't. This was told 

to me later on. Afte r I  got to be underboss—that we would get 1 0 percent of the 
Stardust, each member, plu s the skim money. 

Q. Wh o would get 10 percent of the Stardust? 
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A. Clevelan d woul d ge t 10 , Chicag o woul d ge t 1 0 I  think. I  think the y go t 10 , I 
don't know. 

Q. Whe n you say Cleveland and Chicago, to whom are you referring? 
A. An d Kansas City also. I  mean Milwaukee, too. 
Q. Whe n yo u sa y Cleveland, Chicago , Kansa s City an d Milwaukee , t o whom are 

you referring? 
A. TotheLCN . 
Q. I n thes e conversation s yo u ha d wit h Maish e Rockma n afte r yo u becam e th e 

underboss of the Cleveland L a Cosa Nostra family i n 1976 , was there any discus-
sion o f whether an y Teamsters official s ha d receive d payoff s i n connectio n wit h 
this loan? 

A. Well , Ro y Williams was getting $1500 a month and Bill Presser was getting some-
thing. 

Q. Di d Milton Rockman tell you this? 
A. Yeah . He also told Jack Licavoli, too. 
Q. Di d Milton Rockman tell you who was paying Roy Williams $1500 a month? 
A. NickCivella . 
Q. An d Milton Rockman told you that? 
A. Yeah . 
Q. Di d Milton Rockman tell you who was paying off Bill Presser? 
A. H e was taking care of it. 
Q. Who ? 
A. Maish e was. 
Q. Takin g care of Bill Presser? You have to answer yes or no. 
A. Yes , he did. 
Q. Wha t interes t di d the Clevelan d L a Cosa Nostr a famil y ge t i n connectio n wit h 

the Stardust after this loan was approved for Allen Glick? 
A. Well , w e wer e suppose d t o hav e 1 0 percen t o f th e Stardust , an d w e go t th e 

skim money. 
Q. Ho w much skim money—how often did you get skim money? 
A. Monthly , every month. 
Q. Ho w much skim money did you get every month? 
A. I t was an average of $40,000 a  month for each city , fo r Milwaukee, Kansa s City 

and Cleveland. 
Q. Eac h city got a separate 40,000? 
A. Yeah . 
Q. Di d the Cleveland L a Cosa Nostr a family continue t o get this skim money after 

Roy Williams was elected president of the Teamsters? 
A. Yes , we did. 

* *  * 

Q. Mr . Lonardo , befor e th e brea k I  was askin g yo u question s abou t ski m mone y 
from the Stardust casino. D o you recall that questioning? 
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A. Yes , I  do. 
Q. Wh o among the La Cosa Nostra families collected the skim money? 
A. Yo u mean who got it? 
Q. Yes . 
A. Wh o split it up? 
Q. Yes . 
A. I t was Kansas City first. Kansas City, Milwaukee and Cleveland. 
Q. Wh o i f anyon e collecte d th e ski m mone y fo r th e Clevelan d L a Cos a Nostr a 

family? 
A. Milto n Rockman. 

Q. Now , I  direct your attention to your testimony yesterda y about the Cleveland La 
Cosa Nostr a family helping certain individual s get Teamsters' jobs. D o you recall 
that testimony? 

A. Yes . 
Q. Beside s the testimony you'v e already given about Harold Friedman, Nic k Nardi , 

Roy Williams an d Jackie Presser , d o you kno w anyone wh o obtaine d a  job with 
the Teamsters through the Cleveland La Cosa Nostra family? 

A. Yes , I  do. 
Q. Who ? 
A. Beside s what I said yesterday, i t was Carmine Parise. 
Q. Wh o is Carmine Parise? 
A. He' s th e busines s agen t fo r th e truc k driver s unio n tha t work s wit h th e Plai n 

Dealer. 
Q. I s that a Teamsters union? 
A. Yes , it is, Local 436. 
Q. Ho w did Mr. Parise obtain that job, i f you know? 
A. Well , ther e was a fellow by the name o f DePalma, h e passed away, who was the 

business agent, an d Carmine Paris e went to Jack Licavoli and asked Licavoli i f he 
could talk for him in regards to getting DePalma's job. 

And Jack says, "Well , I'l l see what I could do for you." And he talk to Maishe 
and Maishe talked up for Carmine Paris e and he got the jo b as business agent to 
replace DePalma. 

Q. Ho w did you learn that? 
A. Throug h Jack and through Milton Rockman. 
Q. Hav e you ever heard of an individual name d Babe Triscaro? 
A. Yes . 
Q. Wh o is Babe Triscaro? 
A. H e was president of the Local 436. 
Q. Di d there come a time when Babe Triscaro ceased to be president of Local 436? 
A. Yeah , he died. 
Q. Wh o succeeded Babe Triscaro, i f anyone? 

* *  * 
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A. Hi s son-in-law, Sa m Busacca . 
Q. Wha t rol e i f any did th e Cleveland L a Cosa Nostr a famil y pla y i n Sa m Busacc a 

becoming the president of Teamsters Local 436? 
A. Well , Johnn y Scalis h ha d tol d Maish e t o talk for Sa m Busacc a t o ge t that jo b so 

Sam Busacca could keep on taking care of Babe Triscaro's wife financially. 
Q. Wa s there any familial relationshi p between Sa m Pistol and Babe Triscaro? 
A. Sa m Pisto l was Babe's son-in-law. 
Q. Wha t steps if any did Johnny Scalish take on Sam Pistol' s behalf ? 
A. Well , he talked to Maishe to see that Sam Busacca would get Babe's job. 
Q. Wha t was the result? 
A. H e got it. 
Q. Ho w do you know that? 
A. Oh , I  know it. 
Q. Fro m whom? 
A. Well , I  know it personally and I  know it through Maish e and everybody else. 
Q. Wha t position i f any did John Scalis h hold i n La Cosa Nostra at that time? 
A. H e was the boss. 
Q. O f what family ? 
A. Clevelan d family . 
Q. Whe n did this occur, approximately ? 
A. Well , i t was just right after Bab e died. I  don't know what year Babe died, aroun d 

1975. Somewher e around there . I  don't quite remember . 
Q. Wa s there a Teamsters local that Sam Busacca became the president of ? 
A. Yes , it was. 
Q. Wh o wa s i t fro m th e Clevelan d L a Cos a Nostr a famil y i f an y wh o deal t wit h 

Jackie Presser? 
A. Milto n Rockman . 



Appendix E 

United States  v . International  Brotherhood  of 
Teamsters, Appeal o f Disciplinary Action s 
(July 30 , 1992) 

MCLAUGHLIN, Circui t Judge: 
Appellant ("Parise") is the former Secretary-Treasurer of International Brotherhood 

of Teamsters ("IBT" ) Loca l 473 , an d th e forme r Presiden t o f Joint Counci l 41 , a n 
IBT affiliate. Bot h organizations are headquartered in Cleveland, Ohio . H e asks us to 
review an order of the United State s District Court for the Southern Distric t of New 
York (David N. Edelstein , Judge),  upholdin g disciplinary sanctions imposed on him. 

For the reasons set forth below, we affirm the order of the district court. 

Background 
The cas e law within ou r circuit swells with decisions emanating from the Teamsters 
Litigation. Ou r earlie r decision s exhaustivel y discus s th e genesi s o f th e Consen t 
Decree settling the government's charges against the IBT and its officials. See  United 
States v . International  Bhd.  of  Teamsters,  931 F.2 d 177 , 180-8 1 (2 d Cir . 1991); 
United States  v . International  Bhd.  of  Teamsters,  90 5 F.2 d 610 , 612-1 3 (2 d 
Cir. 1990) [hereafte r Friedman  &  Hughes]. Accordingly , w e need recoun t only those 
provisions o f th e Consen t Decre e tha t ar e necessar y t o understan d th e curren t dis-
pute. 

Pursuant t o th e Consen t Decree , th e Investigation s Office r serve d charge s o n 
Parise on Jul y 30 , 1990 . Th e charge s accused Paris e of bringing reproac h upo n the 
IBT, i n violatio n o f the IB T constitution, b y (1) assaulting, threatenin g and harass-
ing Jerry Jones, a Local 473 member; and (2) refusing to testify about his involvement 
in a  beatin g Jone s suffere d a t th e hand s o f Fran k Costanzo , anothe r Loca l 47 3 
member. 

The Independent Administrator scheduled a hearing on the charges for December 
18, 1990 . Befor e th e hearin g began , however , Paris e and the Investigation s Office r 
signed a  settlemen t agreemen t t o resolv e th e charge s (th e "Propose d Agreement") . 
Under the Propose d Agreement , Paris e would b e suspended fro m th e IB T for three 
months, beginning on January 8, 1991 . 

In the Propose d Agreement, Paris e stated, i n two paragraphs that lie a t the heart 
of this appeal , hi s understandin g o f the authority o f the Independen t Administrato r 
and the district court: 
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7. I  agree that this agreement will be submitted to the Independent Administrator 
for his review and approval. I f approved by the Independent Administrator, I  under-
stand he will submit it to the district court for that court to enter as an order. 

8. I  understan d th e Investigation s Office r make s n o representatio n a s t o th e 
determination o f th e Independen t Administrato r o r th e cour t wit h respec t t o thi s 
agreement. 

Without holdin g a  hearin g o r makin g an y factua l findings,  th e Independen t 
Administrator approved the Proposed Agreement. H e then submitted the Agreement 
to the district court for its approval. The court refused to do so, advising the Indepen-
dent Administrator tha t "In light of the severit y o f the charges against Mr. Parise , I 
find th e term s o f th e . . . agreemen t unacceptable . I  a m returnin g th e . . . 
agreement unapproved." 

With th e agreemen t thu s unravelled , th e Independen t Administrato r schedule d 
a hearing. 

The schedule d hearin g wen t forwar d o n Apri l 9 , an d th e Investigation s Office r 
presented a compelling cas e against Parise . Perhap s the mos t damaging evidence o n 
the first charge wer e th e tap e an d transcrip t o f a  conversatio n betwee n Paris e and 
fellow unio n membe r Jerr y Jones . Upse t wit h Jones ' allege d attempt s t o stee r a n 
upcoming IBT election free from his influence, Paris e fired a verbal fusillade at Jones. 
In various diatribes laced with colorful , mach o expletives, Paris e threatened to "bust 
[ Jones'] head" and "have somebody give [ Jones] a . .  .  beating." He further told Jones 
that he would "never work again," and would not "get a .  .  .  jo b anyplace Teamsters 
are at. " Parise conclude d "[T]h e da y afte r [th e election ] win , lose , o r dra w you'r e 
fucked and I want you to know it." 

The Investigations Officer presented convincing evidence on the second charge as 
well. Specifically , h e introduce d th e transcrip t o f a  deposition i n whic h Paris e had 
relied on his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination t o refuse to testify 
about Frank Costanzo's assault on Jones. 

Beginning hi s defens e case , Parise' s counse l move d t o suspen d th e hearing , ar -
guing that , despit e th e distric t court' s disapprova l o f th e Propose d Agreement , a n 
associate of the Independent Administrator told him that the Agreement had resolved 
all charges against Parise. Counsel claimed that the associate told him that the district 
court's approva l woul d onl y b e require d i f th e cour t sough t t o impos e contemp t 
sanctions when Paris e later failed t o comply wit h the Agreement . Th e Independen t 
Administrator expressly rejected this claim: 

It has never been m y position tha t Judge Edelstein's signature was not necessary for 
approval o f any agreements that have been entered int o by the investigations office r 
and counse l fo r the responden t i n an y charge an d ther e hav e bee n man y o f them. 
That's why I forward them automatically to Judge Edelstein. 

Accordingly, th e Independent Administrator denied counsel's motion and ordered 
the hearing to continue. 
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Parise the n testified . Unabl e t o challeng e th e tap e an d transcrip t o f hi s phil -
ippic agains t Jones , h e delivere d ad  hominem  attack s o n Jones , claimin g 
that he had "urinate d of f the docks" in Cleveland , "antagonize d people " and "spen[t ] 
a grea t dea l o f .  . .  tim e i n saloon s an d comin g bac k fro m lunc h hal f tanke d 
and jus t botherin g everybod y an d anybody. " Paris e als o attempte d t o down -
play hi s failur e t o testif y a t th e deposition , claimin g tha t thi s decisio n wa s mad e 
"against [his ] bette r judgmen t [becaus e he ] listene d t o [his ] lawyers. " H e als o test -
ified tha t h e di d no t kno w abou t Costanzo' s attac k o n Jone s unti l th e da y afte r 
the incident . 

The Independen t Administrato r determine d tha t th e Investigation s Officer' s evi -
dence "conclusivel y proved " tha t Paris e ha d "violentl y threatened " Jones , an d tha t 
Parise woul d likel y hav e carrie d ou t th e threat s ha d Jone s no t recorde d them . H e 
further foun d tha t Parise' s invocatio n o f his Fift h Amendmen t privileg e agains t self -
incrimination a t hi s depositio n "preclude d th e Investigation s Officer' s authorize d 
scrutiny int o possibl e corrup t an d dishones t activitie s i n Parise' s local. " H e ordere d 
Parise suspended fo r twenty-fou r month s fro m th e IB T and it s affiliates, bu t allowe d 
Parise credit for his self-imposed three-mont h suspension . Finally , he determined tha t 
because Parise had committed act s of union misconduct , Loca l 478 could no t pay his 
legal fees to defend th e charges. 

Parise sough t revie w o f th e Independen t Administrator' s decisio n i n th e distric t 
court. O n Octobe r 24 , 1991 , the district court issued an orde r finding that there was 
"overwhelming evidence " to support the charges against Parise , an d a n "ampl e basis" 
to impose a twenty-four mont h suspension . Th e court , therefore , affirme d th e Inde -
pendent Administrator's decision, an d Paris e now appeals. 

Parise renews his claim that the Proposed Agreement took effect despit e the district 
court's explici t rejectio n o f it . Alternatively , h e contend s tha t th e distric t cour t erre d 
in refusin g t o approv e th e Propose d Agreement . Finally , h e argue s tha t th e distric t 
court erre d i n affirmin g th e Independen t Administrator' s decisio n suspendin g hi m 
from IB T membership for twenty-four months , and preventing Local 473 from payin g 
his attorney's fees. 

Discussion 

L The  Effect of  the Proposed Agreement 
Parise claim s that , becaus e o f hi s settlemen t wit h th e Investigation s Officer , th e 

district cour t wa s not empowered t o rejec t th e Propose d Agreement . I n hi s view, th e 
Proposed Agreemen t became effective whe n the Independen t Administrator signed it ; 
and i t wa s thereafte r submitte d t o th e distric t cour t fo r th e sol e purpos e o f bein g 
"so ordered." 

[1] Paris e relies upon Paragrap h 7  of the Proposed Agreement : 
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I agree that this agreement will be submitted to the Independent Administrator for his 
review and approval.  I f approved b y the Independen t Administrator , I  understand he 
will submit  it  to  the  District  Court  for  that court  to  enter  as an  order,  (emphasis 
added). 

Parise interpret s thi s paragrap h t o mea n tha t whil e th e Independen t Administrato r 
could revie w the Propose d Agreement , th e district court's rol e was to "rubber stamp " 
it. We disagree. 

Paragraph 8  of the Proposed Agreement explodes Parise's argument : 

I understand th e Investigation s Office r make s no representatio n a s to the determina -
tion of the Independent Administrator or the court with respect to this agreement. 

II. The  District Court's  Review of the Proposed Agreement 

[2] A cour t mus t scrutiniz e a  propose d settlemen t befor e givin g i t a  judicia l 
imprimatur. .  .  .  The district court must ensure that the agreement "does not put the 
court's sanctio n o n an d powe r behind a  decree tha t violates Constitution, statute , o r 
jurisprudence." We hold tha t the district court appropriately exercised it s authority i n 
refusing t o approve the Proposed Agreement . 

[3] Th e Investigation s Officer' s charge s against Parise were serious. They accuse d 
Parise o f assaulting , harassing , an d threatenin g t o bea t Jones , an d refusin g t o testif y 
about Costanzo's attack on Jones. Judge Edelstein, wh o has scrupulously overseen the 
Teamsters Litigatio n sinc e it s inception an d ha s rule d o n score s o f the Independen t 
Administrator's application s o f th e Consen t Decree , wa s i n th e bes t positio n t o 
determine whethe r th e Propose d Agreemen t impose d a  punishmen t commensurat e 
with th e charge s agains t Parise . W e se e n o reaso n t o distur b th e distric t court' s 
decision tha t th e severit y o f the charge s agains t Paris e require d a  suspensio n greate r 
than the three months envisioned i n the Proposed Agreement . 

Parise also contends that , i n reviewin g th e Propose d Agreement , th e cour t faile d 
to defe r t o th e "findings " o f th e Independen t Administrator , a s require d b y ou r 
decision i n Friedman  &  Hughes. The difficult y wit h thi s argument , however , i s that 
it rests on th e fals e premis e tha t the Independen t Administrato r actuall y mad e "find -
ings" when h e approved th e Propose d Agreement . Ther e ar e no such findings  in th e 
record. The Proposed Agreement itsel f does not refer to any "findings." Nor did Parise 
make any admissions i n the Proposed Agreement that could be construed a s findings. 
Thus, becaus e the Independent Administrator did not make any findings in conjunc -
tion wit h th e Propose d Agreement , th e distric t cour t owe d n o deferenc e t o th e 
Administrator's decision to approve the Agreement . 
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III. The  Decision of the Independent Administrator 

[4] Th e Independen t Administrato r conclude d tha t th e evidenc e agains t Paris e 
warranted a twenty-four month suspension from the IBT. He further ruled that Local 
478 could no t pay Parise's attorney's fees for his defense. Th e distric t court affirme d 
the Independent Administrator's decision in its entirety. On appeal, Parise claims that 
the evidence against him did not warrant such a severe punishment. Onc e again, we 
are not persuaded. 

The district court must give "great deference" to the decisions of the Independent 
Administrator. Consisten t wit h Friedman  &  Hughes,  th e distric t cour t reviewe d 
the Independen t Administrator' s decisio n t o determin e whethe r i t wa s arbitrar y o r 
capricious, and concluded that it was not. 

Our standard of review is not so clearly defined. Friedman  &  Hughes permitted us 
to affirm a  district court decision tha t is supportable unde r "any reasonable standard 
of review." The district court's decision here certainly fell within the realm of reason. 
Thus, w e agai n leav e th e questio n o f th e precis e standar d o f appellat e revie w t o 
another day. 

Parise's threats of physical and economic harm resonated throughout his conversa-
tion with Jones. And, as the Independent Administrator noted after listening to Parise 
testify a t the April 9  hearing , Paris e was not a man given t o idle threats , an d would 
likely have harmed Jones i f the conversation wer e not taped. Moreover , prio r to the 
April 9 hearing, Paris e had refused to testify about Costanzo's assault on Jones. Parise 
did not contest any of the Investigations Officer's evidence against him. I n sum, there 
was a plethora of evidence to support the charges against Parise, and a sufficient basi s 
to suspend him from the IBT for twenty-four months. 

In challenging his suspension, Paris e contends that the Independent Administrator 
should have imposed a punishment closer to the three-month suspension provided in 
the Propose d Agreement . W e disagree . Th e Independen t Administrato r base d hi s 
approval o f the Propose d Agreement o n factor s different from those tha t led hi m t o 
determine that Parise deserved a suspension of twenty-four months. The Independent 
Administrator did not review the evidence agains t Parise before the Apri l 9  hearing. 
He was not given the tape and transcript of Parise's threats against Jones until the very 
morning o f th e Apri l 9  hearing . Afte r considerin g th e damnin g evidenc e agains t 
Parise, th e Independen t Administrato r determine d tha t a  harsher sanction wa s war-
ranted than that delineated in the Proposed Agreement. 

[5] Finally , th e Independent Administrator did not err in ordering Local 478 no t 
to pay Parise's attorney's fees. A  union official ma y obtain reimbursement of his legal 
expenses only when his actions inure to the benefit of the union. Here , the Indepen-
dent Administrator found tha t Parise had brought reproach upo n the IBT , an d thus 
had violated th e IB T constitution. I n so doing , Paris e obviously acte d i n a  manner 
that did not inure to the benefit of the IBT. 
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Conclusion 
We hol d tha t th e distric t cour t (1 ) ha d th e authorit y t o revie w th e Propose d 
Agreement, and (2) did not err in withholding approval. We also hold that the district 
court did not err in (3) affirming the Independent Administrator's decision suspending 
Parise from IB T membership for twenty-four months , an d (4) preventing Loca l 47 3 
from paying Parise's attorney's fees. 

AFFIRMED. 



n 

The Dappe r Don : 
United States  v.  Gotti 
(Trial: February 1992 ) 

Introduction 
United States  v . Gotti  wa s th e culminatio n o f a  determine d governmen t 
effort to convict a mob boss who, in the public mind, had come to symbolize 
the powe r an d persistenc e o f organize d crime . The  prosecution' s succes s 
depended in part, however, upo n the cooperation of a mob defector who, on 
the basis of his record, warranted the most serious government attention and 
societal condemnation . The  Gotti conviction was attributable to many other 
important, an d ye t controversial , decisions , includin g th e tria l judge' s dis-
qualification o f th e defens e lawyer s wh o ha d represente d Gott i (wit h grea t 
success) and other members of his crime family for years and the decision by 
the judg e t o sequester th e jur y from th e beginnin g o f the tria l an d t o keep 
their identities anonymous. 

Background 
In the lat e 1980s , wit h th e Cos a Nostr a crim e familie s aroun d th e country 
decimated an d mos t o f th e visibl e famil y bosse s convicte d o r killed , Joh n 
Gotti stoo d ou t a s th e mos t visibl e bos s stil l i n power . Hi s persona l styl e 
seemed calculated to call attention to himself.1 Flamboyan t and vocal, Gott i 
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enjoyed th e statur e o f a  fol k her o i n hi s neighborhood , th e Howar d Beac h 
section of Queens, New York, and was featured i n the national media . Thus , 
it i s no t surprisin g tha t th e FB I an d th e Justic e Departmen t sough t t o 
prosecute Gotti for a fourth tim e in less than a  decade. 

Prior t o th e cas e discusse d i n thi s chapter , Gott i ha d bee n prosecute d 
three previou s time s during th e 1980s , bu t ha d escape d convictio n o n eac h 
occasion. I n 1984 , the Queens distric t attorney charged Gotti , the n a  Gam-
bino crim e famil y soldier , wit h violentl y attackin g an d beatin g a  ma n wh o 
had honke d hi s hor n a t him . Becaus e o f the victim' s positiv e identificatio n 
and testimon y befor e th e gran d jury , th e cas e seeme d ver y strong . I n th e 
interim between the indictment and the trial (a little over one year), however, 
Gotti ha d becom e bos s of the Gambin o crim e family . Afte r th e victim rea d 
about Gotti in the papers and received threatening phone calls, he stated that 
he n o longe r wishe d t o testify a t trial , n o doub t fearin g retaliatio n fro m th e 
Gambino famil y mor e tha n punishmen t fo r contempt . Th e Queen s distric t 
attorney continued th e prosecution despite the victim's recalcitrance. Durin g 
the trial , th e victi m first  invoke d th e Fift h Amendmen t whe n questione d 
about the alleged assault. Afte r receiving immunity (for any possible perjury) , 
he nevertheles s state d tha t h e coul d no t identif y hi s attackers . No t surpris -
ingly, th e judg e grante d a  defens e motio n t o dismis s th e charge s i n Marc h 
1986. 

In 1985 , the Unite d State s attorney fo r th e Easter n Distric t o f New York 
charged Anniell o Dellacroc e (Gambin o famil y underboss) , Gotti , an d eigh t 
members an d associate s o f th e Gambin o famil y wit h violation s o f RICO . 
Gotti wa s charge d wit h seve n predicat e offenses , thre e o f whic h wer e fo r 
crimes fo r whic h h e ha d alread y bee n convicted : tw o hijacking s an d at -
tempted manslaughter. 2 

The prosecutio n face d problem s throughou t thi s trial . Bruc e Cutler , 
Gotti's defense lawyer , use d the government witnesses ' criminal background s 
and lac k o f direct knowledg e o f Gotti's crime s t o effectively impeac h them . 
Moreover, a t leas t on e o f th e juror s wa s bribe d t o vot e i n Gotti' s favo r 
(and wa s successfully prosecute d i n 1992) . I n an y event , al l th e defendant s 
were acquitted.3 

Four year s later , th e Manhatta n distric t attorney charge d Gott i with con -
spiracy to assault and with assaul t (by shooting) of a Carpenter's Unio n vice -
president who , accordin g t o th e distric t attorney , wa s bein g punishe d fo r 
setting fire to a restaurant that was owned by a Gambino soldier . Th e distric t 
attorney ha d buil t a  stron g cas e base d o n tape-recorde d conversation s fro m 
the Gott i headquarters , th e Queen s Berge n Hun t an d Fis h Club . Jame s 
McElroy, a  defecto r fro m th e Westie s (a n Iris h gan g associate d wit h th e 
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Gambino family) , testifie d fo r th e government tha t Gott i ha d hire d the m t o 
carry out the attack. However , onc e again the victim was unwilling to testify 
against Gotti . I n fact , h e electe d t o testif y i n Goth' s behalf ! Th e defens e 
team of Gerald Shargel l and Cutler successfully focuse d o n McElroy's crimi-
nal record and forced hi m int o many inconsistencies . I n addition, th e audio-
tapes were difficult t o understand. Gott i was again acquitted . 

The Investigatio n 
These thre e setback s di d no t discourag e la w enforcemen t agencies , whic h 
continued t o concentrate on Gotti . The FBI , which had formed a  Gambino 
crime famil y squa d i n 1979 , place d Gott i unde r intens e ope n an d cover t 
electronic surveillance. 4 Despit e hi s elaborat e securit y precautions , th e FB I 
successfully bugge d th e mai n roo m o f Goth' s headquarters , th e Ravenit e 
Social Clu b i n Manhattan' s Littl e Italy . Th e FB I plante d it s mos t fruitfu l 
bug, however , i n a n apartmen t tw o flights  upstair s fro m th e socia l club , 
where Gott i conducte d hi s mos t confidentia l an d importan t business . Th e 
surveillance als o involve d th e us e o f telephot o lense s an d videotape s t o 
record numerou s "walk-talks " among Gambin o member s (walk s around th e 
neighborhood t o avoi d governmen t eavesdropping) . Altogether , almos t five 
hundred hour s o f taped conversation s wer e intercepted , recorded , an d ana -
lyzed. 

The Indictmen t 
Andrew Maloney , th e U.S . attorne y fo r th e Easter n Distric t o f Ne w York , 
brought th e nex t prosecutio n agains t Gotti . Th e initia l indictmen t charge d 
John Gott i (boss) , Fran k Locasci o (consigliere) , Salvatore Gravan o (un -
derboss)5 and Thomas Gambin o (capo ) with thirteen count s of racketeering, 
murder, illega l gambling, loansharking , an d obstruction o f justice. I n the fall 
of 1991 , however, th e tria l o f Thomas Gambin o wa s severed an d Salvator e 
Gravano decided to become a government witness. 

Thereafter, Gott i an d Locasci o wer e charged wit h conductin g th e affair s 
of an enterprise (the Gambino crime family) through a pattern of racketeering 
activity (murders and other crimes). The new indictment laid out the table of 
organization o f th e Gambin o crim e famil y an d allege d tha t i t operate d 
through crew s who reporte d t o capo s who , i n turn , reporte d t o th e bosses . 
The indictment charged that the "methods and means by which the members 
of the enterpris e furthere d it s criminal activitie s were the actua l an d threat -
ened use of violence, includin g murder. " 
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The core of the thirteen counts in the superseding indictment was a RICO 
charge based on twelve predicate acts, includin g conspiracies to murder and 
the murders of Paul Castellano, Thomas Bilotti, Rober t DiBernardo, Liborio 
Milito, and Louis DiBono; conspiracy to murder Gaetano Vastola; and illegal 
gambling, loansharking , an d obstructio n o f justice . Th e indictmen t als o 
included bribery and tax charges. 

Pretrial Development s 
Before trial, the government achieved three major successes: the disqualifica-
tion of Gotti's long-time defense attorneys , th e conversion of Salvatore Gra-
vano into a  government witness , an d the sequestration o f the jury . Whil e a 
variety o f factor s contribute d t o Gotti' s conviction , thes e victorie s provide d 
the prosecution with significant advantages as the trial commenced. 

Defense Attorney  Disqualifications 

Immediately following the indictment, th e government moved to disqual-
ify thre e o f th e Gambin o crim e family' s long-standin g defens e lawyers — 
Bruce Cuder , Joh n Pollok , an d Geral d Shargell—o n th e ground s tha t be-
cause o f seriou s conflict s o f interest , the y coul d no t functio n a s defens e 
counsel withou t prejudicing the defendants' case, th e government's case, or 
both. In an important pretrial ruling, Judge Glasser granted the government's 
motion.6 Later , th e governmen t als o succeede d i n disqualifyin g Georg e 
Santangelo, another attorney on the defense team. 

The prosecutor s argue d tha t th e attorney s ha d a  disqualifyin g an d 
nonwaivable conflic t o f interes t i n tha t (1 ) thei r receip t o f under-the-tabl e 
payments woul d mak e the m war y o f vigorousl y defendin g thei r client s fo r 
fear that the government would retaliat e against them,7 (2) their acceptance 
of benefactor payments from the leaders of the Gambino family to represent 
lower-level member s would be offered a s proof of the existence o f an enter-
prise, makin g th e lawyer s witnesse s agains t thei r clients, 8 an d (3 ) Cutler' s 
previous representation of a potential government witness would compromise 
the range of his cross-examination . I n addition, th e government urge d that 
allowing these lawyers to remain in the case would unfairly disadvantage the 
government, because , a s participant s i n severa l intercepte d conversations , 
the lawyers would become unsworn witnesses able to rebut the government's 
interpretations of those conversations during the course of the trial. 

Judge Le o I . Glasse r grante d th e government' s motion , rejectin g th e 
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defense contentions that (1) there was no conflict o f interest, (2 ) if there was 
a conflic t o f interest , i t could b e edited ou t of the evidence , an d (3) in any 
event, the conflict was waivable. 

The counse l disqualificatio n ma y b e mor e importan t fo r it s symboli c 
significance tha n fo r it s impac t o n th e qualit y o f Goth' s an d Locascio' s 
defense. Alber t Kriege r an d Anthon y Cardinale , th e tw o lawyer s wh o re -
placed the original team , wer e highly qualified an d represented their clients 
vigorously. Nevertheless , i n it s successful motion s t o disqualify th e origina l 
defense attorneys , th e government displayed a new level o f aggressiveness in 
dealing with organized crime. 

Gravano Plea  Agreement 

The mos t extraordinary even t i n th e Gott i cas e was Salvator e Gravano' s 
decision to become a  witness for the government. Gravan o was the highest-
ranking member o f a  New Yor k Cosa Nostr a famil y t o become a  turncoat. 
The defection o f Goth's most trusted aide dealt a major blow to the defense 
and further undermined the edifice of Cosa Nostra solidarity. 

Gravano was charged with three murders. Unde r the plea agreement, h e 
admitted t o sixteen  additiona l murder s an d t o participatin g i n extortion , 
robberies, burglaries , loansharking , fraud , assaults , an d kickbac k schemes , 
though he emphatically denied ever being a drug dealer.9 

Ironically, Gravano' s success in organized crime enabled him to negotiate 
an extremely favorable plea bargain. I n exchange for his agreement to testify 
against Gotti, Locascio , and others, the U.S. attorne y agreed to recommend 
him for the Witness Securit y Progra m and to allow him to plead guilty to a 
single RIC O count , carryin g a  maximum sentenc e o f twenty years. 10 Sen -
tencing woul d b e delaye d unti l h e ha d finished testifying a s a  government 
witness.11 

Cooperation agreement s lik e thi s on e rais e questions abou t th e witness' s 
reliability. I n effect , throug h th e cooperatio n agreement , th e governmen t 
"purchases" a defendant's testimon y b y granting th e defendant/witnes s sub -
stantial leniency or even immunity . I f the defendant takes the offer, h e must 
testify full y an d truthfully. I f he does not , th e government reserve s the right 
to cancel th e bargain. Suc h agreement s rais e the possibility tha t defendant s 
will provid e th e testimon y tha t th e governmen t desires . O f course , th e 
defendants facin g suc h a  witnes s ca n expos e th e cooperatio n agreemen t 
(which federa l prosecutor s disclos e a s a  matte r o f course ) an d subjec t th e 
witness to grueling cross-examination wit h respect to his deal. Whethe r that 
will always be enough to protect against the possibility of perjured or shaded 
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testimony can be debated.12 Moreover, the fact that the judge will ultimately 
sentence th e witnes s arguabl y create s an incentiv e fo r the witnes s t o testif y 
truthfully. 

Though the prosecutors clearly had a strong interest in Gotti's and Locas-
cio's convictions, Gravano' s stature in organized crime and record of ruthless 
violence rais e ethical question s about the plea agreement . Ar e some defen -
dants so evil that the government should not grant them substantial lenienc y 
in orde r to convic t othe r criminals ? Doe s th e decisio n t o gran t substantia l 
leniency tur n o n ho w critica l th e cooperatin g witness' s testimon y is ? I f so, 
how valuable must the testimony be, and how can that be determined before 
the fact? 

Jury Anonymity and  Sequestration 

Arguing tha t th e Gambin o family , an d Gott i i n particular , ha d bee n 
involved in jury tampering in the past and that they therefore posed a risk to 
the safet y o f th e juror s and t o th e government' s interes t i n a  tamper-proof 
jury, the government moved for an anonymous jury . The defendants unsuc-
cessfully argued that the jury would be disposed to convict them if it believed 
the men on trial posed a threat to their lives. Juror s were only referred to by 
number. Neithe r th e tria l judge , th e prosecutors , th e defens e lawyers , th e 
defendants, no r the U.S. marshal s knew the jurors' names. Furthermore , the 
trial judge prohibited the press from sketching or photographing the jurors. 

Judge Glasser also granted th e prosecution's motion , ove r defense objec -
tions, t o sequeste r th e jur y throughou t th e trial . I n orde r t o counterac t 
possible prejudice against the defendants, th e jurors were told that sequestra-
tion wa s necessar y t o guar d agains t th e jury' s possibl e contaminatio n b y 
publicity. Consequently , th e jurors were housed at a secret location to which 
they wer e escorte d b y arme d U.S . marshal s drivin g buse s wit h tinte d 
windows. 

The U.S . marshal s controlle d acces s to the jurors . The y di d no t permit 
the jurors to see visitors and only occasionally allowed them to take escorted 
trips out o f their secre t hotel . Marshal s monitore d call s to and from famil y 
members and examined all incoming and outgoing mail.13 

The Trial 
The six-week trial began i n February 1992 . U.S . attorne y Andrew Maloney 
headed th e prosecution team , bu t he actually onl y mad e the opening state-
ment and a portion of the rebuttal summation. Assistan t U.S. Attorne y John 
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Gleeson carried the lion's share of the government's responsibilities . Anthon y 
Cardinale an d Alber t Kriege r represente d th e defendants . Le o Glasser , a n 
experienced distric t court judge , presided over the trial. 

The Prosecutions Case 

The prosecution primaril y based it s case on recordings of Goth's conversa-
tions and o n Gravano' s testimony . However , i n orde r t o prove the existenc e 
of the RIC O enterprise , th e government (ove r defense objection ) als o called 
FBI agents to give "expert testimony" on th e organization , rules , an d activi -
ties of Cosa Nostra generally and the Gambino crime family specifically . 

The governmen t introduce d tap e recording s fro m fou r differen t location s 
that ha d bee n intercepte d ove r a n eight-yea r period . Thes e tap e recording s 
linked Gott i an d Locasci o t o th e Gambin o crim e famil y an d t o a  rang e o f 
predicate crimes, includin g the murders of Liborio Milito and Rober t DiBer-
nardo. 

The jury also heard Gott i pronouncing a  death sentence on DiBono: 

Louie DiBono . .. I  sat with this guy. I saw the papers and everything. He didn't rob 
nothin\ Yo u know why he's dying? He's gonna die because he refused t o come in 
when I  called. H e didn't do nothing else wrong. .  .  .  He's gonna get killed because 
he, he disobeyed coming. 

Gravano prove d t o b e a n extremel y effectiv e witness . Hi s nin e day s o f 
testimony covered the nature, organization , an d goals of the Gambino crim e 
family an d th e role s tha t h e an d th e defendant s ha d playe d i n perpetratin g 
crimes t o furthe r th e interest s o f the enterprise , an d h e gav e a n accoun t o f 
his and Gotti' s on-the-scene orchestration o f Paul Castellano's assassination . 

Gravano tol d hi s stor y wit h impressiv e comman d ove r fact s an d details . 
He describe d th e secre t ritual s tha t initiate d hi m int o Cos a Nostra . H e 
testified abou t the structure of the Gambino crime family, an d it s operations. 
According t o Gravano , Joh n Gott i heade d th e famil y an d carrie d th e titl e 
"boss"; Gravano serve d a s the underboss ; Joe "Piney" Armone functione d a s 
consigliere y and while Armone was in jail , Gotti' s codefendant, Fran k Locas-
cio, acted as consigliere. Gravan o identified th e twenty-one capos who super-
vised th e soldier s an d associate s an d outline d th e organizatio n o f the Gam -
bino family' s fou r hundre d mad e members . H e testifie d a s t o ho w cas h 
moved u p the chain o f command fro m "crews " to the "boss." Gravano stated 
that h e himsel f provide d Gott i wit h approximatel y $1. 2 millio n pe r year , 
mostly from hi s manipulations of the construction industry . 

Gravano emphasize d th e importanc e o f murde r a s a  disciplinar y 
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mechanism i n th e Gambin o family . Th e routin e natur e o f capita l punish -
ment fo r famil y member s i s indicate d b y th e languag e use d t o describ e a 
murder contract—" a piec e of work." Gravano recounted Gotti' s order to kill 
Louis DiBono ("Di B") and described the murder itself: 

[Di B] came downstairs. H e said hello. H e sat down. Then ol d man Paruta go t up 
and I told him to get Di B a cup of coffee. H e got up. In the cabinet there was a . 380 
with a silencer. He took the gun out, walked over to Di B, and shot him twice in the 
back o f the head . M e and Eddi e picke d hi m u p and pu t hi m i n th e bac k room, 
locked i t up. We left th e office. W e locked the office u p and I  went and me t with 
Angelo and I told him it was done. 

The Defense 

Not surprisingly , neithe r Locasci o no r Gott i chos e t o testify , considerin g 
the certaint y tha t the y woul d b e impeache d wit h thei r prio r crimina l activi -
ties. The defendants attempte d t o call several peripheral witnesses , includin g 
Gravano's personal trainer and his hypnotist, bu t Judge Glasser rejected the m 
as irrelevant to the charges in the case. Ultimately , the defendants only called 
a singl e witness , a  ta x lawye r wh o claime d t o hav e advise d Gott i tha t sinc e 
he was under indictment , h e did not have to file a tax return! 

The defendants ' majo r defens e strateg y wa s thu s t o discredi t Gravan o 
and th e othe r witnesses . Gravan o wa s subjecte d t o day s o f intens e cross -
examination, bu t he proved unflappable. Th e defense attempted to show that 
Gravano was lying about the conspiracy to kill Castellano in order to enhance 
his valu e a s a  governmen t witness , an d the y unsuccessfull y trie d t o revea l 
inconsistencies i n hi s accoun t o f th e Castellan o assassination . Th e defens e 
sought to simplify th e case by arguing to the jury that the prosecution shoul d 
stand o r fall o n the credibility o f its account of the Castellano murder , bu t i t 
was successful neithe r i n thi s effort no r i n it s attacks on the testimony abou t 
Castellano's assassination . 

Judgment, Sentence, and  Appeal 

The jur y convicte d Gott i an d Locasci o o f substantiv e an d conspirac y 
violations o f RICO and variou s predicate acts . Judge Glasser sentenced eac h 
defendant t o life imprisonmen t an d othe r priso n terms , t o run concurrently , 
and to $250,000 in fines. 

The defendant s raise d man y issue s o n appea l t o th e Secon d Circuit , 
including (1 ) disqualificatio n o f defens e counsel ; (2 ) admissio n o f exper t 
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testimony; (3) jury instructions; (4) prosecutorial misconduct ; (5) jury seques-
tration; (6 ) failur e t o seve r Locascio , an d (6 ) ne w tria l motio n base d o n 
nondisclosure of additional crimes committed by Gravano. The appeals court 
rejected al l o f thei r arguments. H Her e w e summarize fou r appellat e issues . 

Attorney Disqualification 

The appeal s cour t first  deal t wit h th e argumen t tha t b y disqualifyin g 
their attorney s o f choice , Judg e Glasse r ha d violate d th e defendants ' Sixt h 
Amendment right s to be represented b y the counse l o f their choice . Follow -
ing well-settled precedent , th e court was of the opinion tha t 

[t]he accused does not have an absolute right to counsel of her own choosing. . . . I n 
deciding a motion for disqualification, th e district court recognizes a presumption in 
favor o f the accused's chosen counsel , althoug h thi s presumption ca n be overcome 
by a showing of an actual conflict [o f interest] or potentially serious conflict. 

The cour t nex t found tha t mor e tha n th e defendant' s right s to a  fair tria l 
are a t stak e i n guaranteein g tha t th e defendant' s lawye r doe s no t hav e a 
conflict o f interest . Th e cour t ha s "an independen t interes t i n ensurin g tha t 
criminal trial s ar e conducte d withi n th e ethica l standard s o f the professio n 
and that legal proceedings appear fair to all who observe them." 

Turning to the facts o f the case, the Second Circui t panel held tha t Judge 
Glasser had not abused his discretion i n disqualifying Cutle r because Cutler's 
acceptance o f benefactor payment s coul d hav e been use d a s evidence o f the 
existence o f the Gambin o enterprise . I n languag e highl y critica l o f Cutler' s 
legal ethics , th e cour t note d tha t Cutle r ha d functione d a s house counse l t o 
the Gambino crime family, havin g accepted fees from Gott i for the represen-
tation o f othe r member s o f th e family , an d tha t thi s practic e raise d seriou s 
ethical questions . 

Although we are cognizant o f the righ t of the accused t o obtain representation , we 
are also conscious of the institutional interest in protecting the integrity of the judicial 
process. I f an attorne y wil l no t perfor m hi s ethica l duty , i t i s up t o the court s to 
perform i t for him. Bruc e Cutler had no place representing John Gotti i n this case, 
and the district court properly determined that he should be disqualified. 

Admissibility of  FBI Agent's Expert  Testimony 

The defendant s claime d tha t the y wer e unfairl y an d unconstitutionall y 
prejudiced b y the testimony o f FBI agent Lewis Schiliro , wh o testified a s an 
expert witnes s o n th e natur e an d functio n o f th e organized-crim e families . 
The defens e argue d tha t th e existenc e an d natur e o f Cos a Nostr a an d th e 
Gambino crim e famil y an d th e allege d crimalit y o f it s members wer e issue s 
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of fac t an d no t subject s o n whic h exper t testimon y wa s appropriate . 
Moreover, th e defens e argue d tha t Agen t Schilir o wa s n o "expert " i n th e 
legal sense of the term and that by qualifying hi m as an expert, Judge Glasser 
enabled the government to introduce the theory of its case to the jury through 
the mouth o f one of its own operatives , thereb y subjecting th e defendants t o 
extreme prejudice . 

Under th e Federa l Rul e o f Evidenc e 70 2 (advisor y committe e note) , 
expert testimony i s permissible whe n "th e untraine d layma n woul d [not ] be 
qualified t o determine intelligently and to the best possible degree the partic-
ular issu e withou t enlightenmen t fro m thos e havin g a  specialize d under -
standing of the subjec t involve d i n th e dispute." The cour t found tha t whil e 
popular image s o f organize d crim e aboun d i n ou r society , "juror s ar e no t 
well verse d i n th e structur e an d method s o f th e organize d crim e families. " 
Therefore, th e subjec t matte r o f th e structur e an d organizatio n o f Cos a 
Nostra i s appropriat e fo r exper t testimony . Havin g cleare d tha t hurdle , th e 
court ha d n o difficult y holdin g tha t Agent Schiliro , wit h seventee n year s in 
the FBI and five in organized-crime control , qualified a s an expert . 

Jury Instructions—The RICO  Pattern  Requirement 

RICO make s i t a  crime t o conduc t th e affair s o f an enterpris e throug h a 
pattern o f racketeering activity . Th e statut e define s a  pattern o f racketeerin g 
activity as any two federal o r state predicate offenses committe d withi n a  ten-
year period. Ove r the years , al l o f the federa l circui t court s have been asked 
to conside r whethe r th e tw o predicate act s have t o furthe r th e affair s o f the 
enterprise o r merely be "related" to the affairs o f the enterprise . Th e defens e 
lawyers argue d tha t Judg e Glasse r shoul d hav e instructe d th e jur y tha t i t 
could no t find the defendants guilty if it found tha t the racketeering acts were 
committed solel y for the individual' s own purposes , no t to further th e affair s 
of th e enterprise . Th e appeal s cour t mad e shor t wor k o f thi s argument , 
reaffirming it s interpretation o f RICO as requiring only that the offenses wer e 
made possible by virtue o f the defendant' s positio n i n the enterprise o r were 
related to the activities of the enterprise. 

Gotti als o argued tha t the trial judg e should hav e instructed th e jur y tha t 
RICO require s th e tw o racketeerin g act s t o b e relate d t o on e another . Th e 
Second Circuit , agai n looking to its own precedents , rejecte d thi s interpreta -
tion o f RICO , instea d takin g th e loose r vie w tha t th e predicat e act s upo n 
which a  RICO violation rest s need no t be directly relate d t o one anothe r so 
long a s bot h ar e relate d t o th e RIC O enterpris e i n suc h a  wa y tha t the y 
become indirectly connected to each other . 
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Prosecutorial Misconduct 

The appellat e cour t judge s wer e clearl y concerne d wit h U.S . Attorne y 
Maloney's rebutta l summation , i n which he stated, 

Let me conclude with this. I  may be insulting some of you. I  hope I'm not . I f you 
accept the proo f o f what you ar e dealing with here , th e boss of a murderous and 
treacherous crime family, an d his underboss, you would be less than human, i f you 
didn't feel some personal concern. 

At that point , Judg e Glasser sustaine d th e defendants ' objectio n bu t rejecte d 
their motio n fo r mistrial . Th e appellat e cour t labele d Maloney' s commen t 
indefensible bu t hel d tha t i t wa s harmles s erro r i n ligh t o f bot h Judg e 
Glasser's strikin g o f th e commen t an d th e overwhelmin g evidenc e agains t 
the defendants . 

Postscript 

The government' s attac k o n th e Gambin o crim e famil y di d no t en d 
with th e conclusio n o f the Gott i trial. 15 I n th e prosecutio n agains t Thoma s 
Gambino, whic h wa s severed fro m th e origina l Gott i indictment , Gambin o 
was convicte d o f racketeerin g charges . Th e Manhatta n Distric t Attorney' s 
Office brough t a  crimina l restraint-of-trad e sui t agains t Thomas an d Josep h 
Gambino an d thei r truckin g companies , whic h fo r decade s ha d dominate d 
the Ne w York City garment industry . Th e cas e ended wit h a  plea bargain i n 
which th e Gambin o brother s agree d t o sel l of f a  substantial portio n o f thei r 
trucking interest s an d pa y fines  o f $1 2 million . I n a  subsequen t crimina l 
case, Thomas Gambino was convicted o f managing racketeering activities in 
Connecticut fo r th e Gambin o famil y an d sentence d t o five years' imprison -
ment. A  drug-smugglin g an d racketeerin g cas e i n whic h Gravan o testifie d 
against Joseph and John Gambin o resulte d i n a  deadlocked jur y (except for a 
conviction fo r a  singl e coun t o f bai l jumping ) i n Jun e 1993 ; they subse -
quently agreed to a plea bargain . 

Conclusion 
Though th e campaign agains t the Gambino famil y continues , U.S.  v . Gotti 
was undoubtedly it s highlight. I t pitted Cosa Nostra's arrogant, vibrant , cocky 
strongman agains t th e government' s tenaciou s crim e contro l apparatus . A s 
long as Gotti was on the scene, playing to adoring audiences in his neighbor-
hoods an d attractin g nationa l headline s a s "th e Dappe r Don, " al l o f th e 
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successes of the 1980 s might have been undermined. Organize d crime might 
still hav e maintaine d it s indestructibl e image . Goth' s convictio n an d lif e 
sentence mus t b e see n a s an immensel y importan t psychologica l victor y fo r 
law enforcement . Th e publi c ma y no w b e convince d tha t Cos a Nostr a i s 
neither invincible nor inevitable . 

The defectio n o f Salvatore Gravan o bear s specia l comment . Whil e ther e 
were a  strin g o f mo b turncoat s i n th e 1980s , a s we hav e note d throughou t 
this book, Gravano' s defection , lik e Gotti's conviction, capture d th e public' s 
attention an d impresse d th e message that organized crime is unraveling. Th e 
combination o f mor e effectiv e la w enforcement , bette r prosecution , an d 
draconian penalties , couple d perhap s wit h change s i n attitude s an d value s 
among member s o f the mob , ha s brought abou t the collaps e o f the code of 
loyalty tha t fo r decade s ha d enable d Cos a Nostr a t o flourish.  Gravan o wa s 
one o f th e pillar s o f th e Gambin o crim e family , th e mos t powerfu l Cos a 
Nostra organizatio n i n the country . Hi s defection fro m th e very core of Cosa 
Nostra canno t b e dismissed a s an aberration , bu t rathe r mus t be understoo d 
as a symptom of fundamental change . 

Reality ofte n follow s belief . A s the publi c perceptio n o f organized crim e 
changes, s o wil l th e reality . A s lon g a s businesspeopl e an d othe r citizen s 
believed tha t Cos a Nostr a wa s omnipotent , the y woul d no t cooperat e wit h 
law enforcement bu t would instea d acced e to organized crime' s demands. I f 
they com e t o believ e tha t Cos a Nostr a i s vulnerable t o governmen t attack , 
they wil l b e mor e willin g t o resis t it s demand s an d avoi d makin g corrup t 
accommodations.16 

Notes 

1. Ther e has been a steady stream of popular literature on John Gotti. Se e John 
M. Cummings , Goombata:  The  Improbable Rise  and Fall of John Gotti  and His 
Gang. (Brown , 1990) ; Douglas Fieden, Sleeping the Good Sleep: The Life and Times 
of John Gotti  (Random House , 1990) ; Gene Mustain an d Gerry Capeci, Mob Star: 
The Story of  John Gotti  (Dell, 1989) ; John H . Davis , Mafia Dynasty: The  Rise and 
Fall of the Gambino Crime Family (Harper Collins, 1993) ; Howard Blum, Gangland: 
How the FBI Broke the Mob (Simon and Schuster, 1993) . 

2. Gott i had served prison time before the cases considered in this chapter. In the 
late 1970s , he was convicted o f attempted manslaughter , an d i n the 1960 s he was 
convicted of hijacking. 

3. I n additio n t o thes e problems , th e FB I becam e outrage d whe n a n assistan t 
U.S. attorne y identifie d Willi e Bo y Johnson, a  long-tim e associat e an d frien d o f 
Gotti's, as an FBI informant. Despit e the fact that Johnson refused t o testify fo r the 
government, the FBI feared for his life. He was murdered in August 1988. 
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4. I n the past, Gott i was able to find out about law enforcement surveillanc e fro m 
a corrup t Ne w Yor k Cit y polic e officer , Willia m Peist . Peist' s cousin , Pete r Maris , 
was an associat e o f the Gambin o famil y (mor e specifically , o f the crew captained b y 
Joseph "Butch " Corrao) . Peis t receive d periodi c payment s fo r hi s service s t o th e 
Gambino crim e family . H e recentl y ple d guilt y t o racketeerin g charge s an d wa s 
sentenced t o eight years in prison along with Joseph Corrao. 

5. Th e supersedin g indictmen t state d tha t Fran k Locasci o becam e actin g un -
derboss after th e death o f Frank Decicci o and the incarceratio n o f Joseph Armone i n 
1987. I t also alleged tha t Gravan o becam e consigliere  followin g th e incarceratio n o f 
Joseph N . Gall o i n 1989 . B y 1991 , however , electroni c surveillanc e reveale d tha t 
Gravano and Locasci o had switched places . Throughout thi s chapter, w e will refer to 
Gravano as the underboss and Locascio as the consigliere. 

6. United  States  v  Gotti, 111  F Supp 55 2 (EDNY 1991) . 
7. I n an intercepte d conversation , Gott i himsel f noted his lawyers' conflicts o f in-

terest: 

LOCASCIO: And , the y [Cutle r an d othe r defens e lawyers ] ain' t go t th e ball s t o d o 
what they supposed to do. 

GOTTI: They can' t come in . Right . 
LOCASCIO: They ain' t got the balls with doing what they're supposed to be— 
GOTTI: Don't you kno w why? .  . .  You don't wanna d o i t because, yo u cocksucker , 

you kno w an d I  kno w tha t the y kno w tha t you'r e takin g th e mone y unde r th e 
table. Ever y tim e yo u tak e a  client , anothe r one , on e o f u s on , you'r e breakin g 
the law. 

8. Th e followin g quotatio n wa s offered a s proof of Gotti's benefactor payment s to 
lawyers on behalf of his subordinates: 

I paid a  hundred thirty-fiv e thousan d fo r their appeal. Fo r Joe Gallo and "Joe Piney's" 
appeal, I  paid thousand s o f dollars to [attorney ] Pollock . Tha t was not for me . . . . I 
gave [lawyers ] thre e hundre d thousan d i n on e yea r [an d they ] didn' t defen d me . I 
wasn't eve n mentione d i n non e o f these fuckin g [indictments] . I  had nothin g t o do 
with none of these fucking people . 

9. Afte r th e trial , th e prosecutor s wer e tol d tha t Gravan o ha d committe d severa l 
other murder s an d the y passe d thi s informatio n alon g t o th e defens e team . Th e 
government argue d tha t thi s informatio n wa s unreliable ; i n fact , tw o o f Gravano' s 
alleged victim s were stil l alive ! The defense' s motio n fo r a  new trial was denied, an d 
the denial was upheld o n appeal . Afte r Gambin o was convicted i n a subsequent trial , 
information abou t Gravano's drug dealing surfaced, despit e his testimony that he had 
never deal t i n drugs . Th e judg e i n th e Gambino  tria l als o denied th e motio n fo r a 
new trial. 

10. Unde r Rul e 1 1 o f th e Federa l Rule s o f Crimina l Procedure , th e ple a 
agreement betwee n Gravan o an d th e governmen t neede d th e approva l o f th e tria l 
court before taking effect . 
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11. A s of February 1994 , Gravan o ha d testified i n a t least four cases , and h e stil l 
had not been sentenced . 

12. Fo r a n excellen t discussio n o f thi s proble m an d cooperatio n agreement s 
generally, se e Graha m Hughes , Agreements  for  Cooperation in Criminal  Cases,  45 
Vanderbilt Law Review 1-69 (1992) . 

13. Thes e securit y precaution s pai d of f whe n a  routin e searc h o f a  packag e tha t 
Juror Numbe r 3  was sending t o he r husban d reveale d severa l piece s o f paper listin g 
the names , addresses , an d telephon e number s o f five of the sitting juror s and a  not e 
stating her belief that an FB I agent was coaching a government witness on the stand. 
Judge Glasser dismissed the juror . 

14. United  Stated  v  Locascio and  Gotti,  6  F3d 92 4 (2d Ci r 1993) , cert , denied , 
114S.Q. 1645(1994) . 

15. Se e John H. Davis , Mafia Dynasty: The Rise and Fall of the Gambino Crime 
Family (HarperCollins, 1993) . 

16. O n Apri l 27 , 1994 , th e U.S . Suprem e Cour t turne d dow n John Gotti' s final 
appeal. On Septembe r 26 , 1994 , Judge Glasser sentenced Samm y "the Bull" Gravano 
to five years in prison. 



Appendix A 

United States  v . John  Gotti  et  al. y 
Indictment 

THE GRAN D JUR Y CHARGES : 

Introduction t o All Count s 

The Enterprise 

1. Th e member s an d associate s o f the Gambin o Organize d Crim e Famil y o f La 
Cosa Nostr a ("th e Gambin o Family" ) constituted a n "enterprise, " that is , a  group of 
individuals associated i n fact . Th e Gambino Famil y was an organized crimina l grou p 
that operated i n the Eastern Distric t of New York and other parts of the United States . 
It engaged in , an d it s activities affected , interstat e commerce . Th e Gambin o Famil y 
was referre d t o b y it s member s i n variou s ways , includin g a s a  "borgata, " a  "cos a 
nostra," a "family" and "this thing of ours." 

2. Th e Gambin o Famil y operated throug h group s of individuals heade d b y "cap-
tains," wh o wer e als o referre d t o a s "skippers, " "caporegimes " an d "capodecinas. " 
These groups , whic h wer e referre d t o a s "crews," "regimes" and "decinas, " consisted 
of "made" members o f the Gambin o Family , wh o were also referred t o as "soldiers," 
"friends o f ours" and "good fellows," and associates of the Gambino Family . 

3. Eac h captain wa s responsible for supervising the criminal activitie s of his crew, 
and provided crew members and associates with support and protection. I n return, th e 
captain receive d a  share of the earnings of each of the crew's members and associates. 

4. Abov e th e captain s wer e th e thre e highest-rankin g member s o f the Gambin o 
Family. Th e hea d o f the Gambin o Famil y wa s known a s the "Boss. " He was assisted 
by an "Underboss " and a  counselor, wh o was known a s the "Consigliere." With thei r 
assistance, th e Bos s wa s responsibl e fo r settin g policy , resolvin g dispute s amon g 
members o f the Gambin o Family , resolvin g disputes betwee n member s o f the Gam -
bino Famil y and member s o f other crimina l organizations , an d approvin g al l signifi -
cant actions by members of the Gambino Family , includin g murders . 

5. Th e Boss , Underbos s an d Consiglier e o f th e Gambin o Family , wh o wer e 
sometimes referre d t o collectivel y a s th e "administration, " supervised , supported , 
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protected an d discipline d th e captains , soldier s and associates , an d regularl y receive d 
reports regardin g thei r variou s activities . I n retur n fo r thei r supervisio n an d protec -
tion, th e Boss , Underbos s an d Consiglier e receive d par t o f th e illega l earning s o f 
each crew. 

6. Th e Gambin o Famil y wa s par t o f a  nationwid e crimina l organizatio n know n 
by variou s names , includin g th e "Mafia " an d "L a Cos a Nostra, " whic h operate d 
through entitie s know n a s "Families. " Th e rulin g bod y o f thi s nationwid e organi -
zation wa s know n a s th e "Commission, " th e member s o f whic h include d th e 
Bosses o f th e five  Ne w York-base d Families , includin g th e Bos s o f th e Gambin o 
Family. 

7. Fro m tim e t o time, th e Gambin o Famil y would propos e a  lis t of associates to 
be "made, " that is , t o become member s o f the Gambin o Family . Thi s lis t would b e 
circulated t o th e othe r Familie s base d i n th e Cit y o f Ne w York . Upo n becomin g 
"made," each membe r woul d tak e a n oat h o f "omerta," vowin g neve r t o revea l an y 
information abou t the Gambino Family , it s members or its associates. 

The Defendants 

8. Th e defendan t JOH N GOTT I wa s a  captai n i n th e Gambin o Famil y unti l 
December 16 , 1985 , whe n th e Bos s o f the Gambin o Family , Pau l Castellano , wa s 
murdered. Afte r th e murde r o f Castellano , JOH N GOTT I becam e th e Bos s o f th e 
Gambino Family . 

9. Th e defendan t FRAN K LOCASCIO , als o know n a s "Franki e Loc, " has bee n a 
member of the Gambino Famil y for approximately 3 5 years. After th e death o f Frank 
DeCicco o n Apri l 13 , 1986 , an d th e incarceratio n o f Josep h "Piney " Armon e o n 
December 22 , 1987 , LOCASCI O becam e th e Actin g Underbos s o f th e Gambin o 
Family. 

10. Th e defendant SALVATOR E GRAVANO , als o known as "Sammy" and "Samm y 
Bull," ha s bee n a  membe r o f th e Gambin o Famil y fo r approximatel y 1 3 years . 
Following the incarceration o f Joseph N. Gall o on Ma y 30 , 1989 , GRAVAN O became 
the Consigliere of the Gambino Family . 

11. Th e defendant THOMA S GAMBIN O has been a captain i n the Gambino Famil y 
since at least as early as 1985. 

The Purposes, Methods  and Means  of  the Enterprise 

12. Th e principal purpose of the enterprise was to generate money for its members 
and associates . Thi s purpose was effected throug h variou s criminal activities , includ -
ing th e operatio n o f illega l gamblin g businesses , th e extortionat e extension s an d 
collections o f credit , an d th e generatio n o f incom e fro m variou s businesse s throug h 
illegal means , includin g th e exploitation o f the Gambino Family' s corrupt control  of 
union officials . Amon g th e method s an d means  b y whic h th e member s o f th e 



The Dapper Don I  227 

enterprise furthere d it s crimina l activitie s wer e th e threatene d an d actua l us e of 
violence, includin g murder . 

13. Th e members and associates of the enterprise engaged in conduct designed to 
prevent governmen t detectio n o f their identities , thei r illega l activitie s and the pro-
ceeds of those activities . Tha t conduc t include d th e cultivation o f corrupt source s of 
confidential la w enforcement informatio n an d a commitment to murdering persons , 
particularly othe r member s o r associate s o f organize d crim e families , wh o wer e 
perceived a s potentia l witnesse s agains t member s o f the enterprise . Th e member s 
and associate s of the enterpris e als o took steps to obstruct ongoing investigations int o 
and prosecution s arisin g ou t of the criminal activitie s o f the members o f the enter -
prise. 

14. Th e Gambin o Famil y provide d lawyer s fo r member s an d associate s who 
became involved in criminal prosecutions . Significan t decisions in such prosecutions, 
including a decision to plead guilty , require d the approval of the Gambino Family . 

Count One : Racketeerin g 

* *  * 

16. Fro m i n or about Januar y 198 5 u p to and including the date of the filing of 
this Indictment , th e defendant s JOH N GOTTI , FRAN K LOCASCIO , SALVATOR E GRA-
VANO and THOMA S GAMBINO , togethe r with others , comprising the leadership of and 
being employe d b y and associated wit h th e Gambino Family , whic h enterpris e en-
gaged in , an d th e activitie s o f whic h affected , interstat e commerce , unlawfully , 
wilfully an d knowingly conducte d an d participated , directl y an d indirectly , i n the 
conduct o f the affairs o f that enterpris e throug h a  patter n o f racketeering activity . 
Each o f th e defendant s participate d i n th e affair s o f th e enterpris e throug h th e 
commission of multiple racketeering acts, as set forth below . 

Introduction to  Racketeering Acts One and Two 

17. Th e members o f the Gambino Famil y wer e constantl y concerne d tha t thei r 
fellow member s an d associates migh t becom e informant s o r witnesses agains t the m 
if face d wit h lon g priso n sentences . A s a result , fro m a t leas t a s earl y a s Apri l 
1982 throug h an d includin g Decembe r 1985 , there wa s a rul e impose d b y Pau l 
Castellano, th e Bos s o f th e Gambin o Family , tha t an y membe r o r associat e o f 
the Gambin o Famil y wh o was found t o be involved i n narcotic s traffickin g woul d 
be murdered . 

18. Durin g April, May and June of 1982, court-authorized electroni c surveillance 
was conducted i n the home o f Angelo Ruggiero , a  member of the Gambin o Famil y 
and JOH N GOTTI' S clos e associate . Conversation s intercepte d durin g tha t perio d 
revealed extensiv e narcotic s trafficking b y members of JOHN GOTTI'S crew , includin g 
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Angelo Ruggiero, Gene Gotti and John Carneglia. I n September of 1983, those three 
individuals an d othe r member s o f JOH N GOTTI' S cre w wer e indicte d fo r variou s 
offenses, includin g heroin trafficking. I n May of 1984, pursuant to court order, copies 
of the narcotics-related conversation s intercepte d i n Ruggiero' s home (th e "tapes" or 
the "Ruggerio tapes") were provided to Ruggiero and his co-defendants. 

19. Afte r th e copie s o f th e tape s wer e provide d t o Ruggiero , Pau l Castellan o 
repeatedly demanded that Ruggiero provide copies to him. 

20. Durin g 1985 , Aniell o "Neil" Dellacroce was the Underbos s of the Gambin o 
Family. H e too k step s t o protec t Ruggier o fro m havin g t o provid e th e tape s t o 
Castellano. Dellacroce , Ruggier o and JOH N GOTT I were concerned about turning the 
tapes over to Castellano because they included conversations about narcotics traffick -
ing and references to Commission meetings. 

21. I n or about late 1985 , Paul Castellano obtained copies of the Ruggier o tapes. 
22. O n Decembe r 2 , 1985 , Aniell o "Neil " Dellacroc e die d o f natura l causes . 

Between tha t date and Decembe r 16 , 1985 , Pau l Castellano informe d JOH N GOTT I 
of Castellano' s intentio n t o brea k u p GOTTI' S cre w an d t o reassig n it s member s t o 
other crews in the Gambino Family. 

Racketeering Act  One:  Conspiracy  to  Murder  and 
Murder—Paul Castellano 

A. Conspiracy  to Murder 

23. Betwee n December 2, 198 5 and December 16 , 1985 , JOH N GOTT I and others 
conspired to murder Paul Castellano. 

24. I n furtherance o f the conspiracy , an d i n orde r t o accomplis h it s objectives , 
the defendan t JOH N GOTT I an d hi s coconspirator s committe d an d cause d t o b e 
committed the following overt acts: 

a. O n Decembe r 16 , 1985 , arrangement s wer e mad e fo r a  meeting wit h 
Paul Castellano a t Sparks Steakhouse, 21 0 Eas t 46th Street , Ne w York , Ne w 
York. 

b. O n December 16 , 1985 , the defendant JOH N GOTT I went to the vicinity 
of Sparks Steakhouse. 

c. O n Decembe r 16 , 1985 , Anthon y Rampin o wen t t o th e vicinit y o f 
Sparks Steakhouse. 

d. O n Decembe r 16 , 1985 , Pau l Castellano was murdered as he arrived at 
Sparks Steakhouse. 

B. Murder 

25. O n or about December 16 , 1985 , the defendant JOH N GOTTI , togethe r with 
others, knowingly, wilfully and intentionally murdered Paul Castellano. 
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Racketeering Act Two: Murder—Thomas Bilotti 

26. O n or about Decembe r 16 , 1985, JOHN GOTTI , togethe r wit h others , know -
ingly, wilfully an d intentionally murdere d Thomas Bilotti . 

Racketeering Act Three: Conspiracy  to Murder and 
Murder—Robert DiBernardo 

A. Conspiracy  to  Murder 

27. Betwee n Decembe r 16 , 198 5 and June 5 , 1986, JOH N GOTT I an d SALVATOR E 
GRAVANO, together with others , conspired to murder Rober t DiBernardo . 

B. Murder 

29. O n or about Jun e 5 , 1986 , JOH N GOTT I an d SALVATORE GRAVAN O togethe r 
with others, knowingly, wilfull y an d intentionally murdere d Rober t DiBernardo . 

Racketeering Act Four: Conspiracy  to Murder and 
Murder—Liborio "Louie" Milito 

A. Conspiracy  to  Murder 

30. Betwee n Januar y o f 198 8 and March 8 , 1988 , JOH N GOTT I an d SALVATORE 
GRAVANO, together with others , conspired to murder Libori o "Louie" Milito. 

B. Murder 

32. O n o r abou t Marc h 8 , 1988 , JOH N GOTT I an d SALVATOR E GRAVANO , 

together with others , knowingly , wilfull y an d intentionally murdere d Libori o "Louie" 
Milito. 

Racketeering Act Five: Solicitation  of Murder— 
Louis DiBono 

33. I n or about lat e 1989 , the defendant SALVATOR E GRAVANO , wit h the intent 
that Joh n Gott i authoriz e an d direct th e murder o f Louis DiBono , solicited , re-
quested, importune d an d otherwise attempte d t o cause Joh n Gott i t o engage in 
such conduct . 

* *  * 

* *  * 
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Racketeering Act Six: Conspiracy to Murder and 
Murder—Louis DiBono 

A. Conspiracy  to  Murder 

34. Betwee n Februar y 198 9 and Octobe r 4 , 1990 , JOH N GOTTI , FRAN K LOCAS -
CIO an d SALVATOR E GRAVANO , togethe r wit h others , conspire d t o murde r Loui s 
DiBono. 

35. I n furtherance o f the conspiracy , an d in order t o accomplish it s objectives, 
the aforesai d defendant s an d their coconspirator s committe d an d caused t o be com-
mitted the following over t acts: 

a. I n o r abou t lat e 1989 , SALVATOR E GRAVAN O aske d JOH N GOTT I fo r 
permission to murder Louis DiBono. 

b. I n or abou t lat e 1989 , JOHN GOTT I authorize d th e murder o f Louis 
DiBono. 

c. O n or about October 4, 1990 , Louis DiBono was murdered. 

Racketeering Act Seven: Conspiracy to Murder— 
Gaetano u Corkyy Vastola 

37. Betwee n April 28 , 198 9 and April 26 , 1990 , JOH N GOTTI , FRAN K LOCASCI O 
and SALVATOR E GRAVANO , togethe r wit h others , conspire d t o murde r Gaetan o 
"Corky" Vastola. 

Racketeering Act Eight: Illegal Gambling Business — 
New York 

39. Fro m i n o r abou t Januar y 198 5 through Decembe r 1990 , JOH N GOTTI , 
FRANK LOCASCI O an d SALVATOR E GRAVANO  knowingl y an d wilfull y conducted , 
financed, managed , supervised , directe d and owned an illegal gambling business , in 
violation o f the laws of the Stat e of New York, which busines s involve d Rye  or more 
persons who conducted, financed, managed,  supervised , directe d an d owned al l or 
part of the business and remained i n substantially continuou s operatio n for in excess 
of thirty days and had gross revenues of $2,000 or more in a single day. 

Racketeering Act Nine: Illegal  Gambling Business — 
Connecticut 

40. Fro m i n or about Decembe r 198 5 throug h Decembe r 1990 , JOH N GOTTI , 
FRANK LOCASCIO , SALVATOR E GRAVAN O an d THOMA S GAMBIN O knowingl y an d 

* *  * 
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wilfully conducted , financed,  managed , supervised , directe d an d owne d a n illegal 
gambling business , i n violatio n o f the law s o f the Stat e o f Connecticut, whic h 
business involve d five  or more person s wh o conducted , financed,  managed , super -
vised, directe d an d owne d al l or part of the busines s an d remaine d i n substantially 
continuous operatio n fo r i n excess of thirty days and ha d gros s revenues of $2,000 or 
more i n a single day , i n violation o f Title 18 , Unite d State s Code , Section s 195 5 
and 2 . 

Racketeering Act  Ten:  Loansharking  Conspiracy 

A. Extortionate  Extensions of Credit 

41. Fro m i n or about Decembe r 198 5 throug h Decembe r 1990 , 
FRANK LOCASCIO , SALVATOR E GRAVAN O a n d THOMA S GAMBINO , 

others, conspired to make extortionate extensions of credit. 

B. Extortionate  Collections  of  Credit 

42. Fro m i n or about Decembe r 198 5 throug h Decembe r 1990 , JOH N GOTTI , 
FRANK LOCASCIO , SALVATOR E GRAVAN O a n d THOMA S GAMBINO , toge the r wi t h 

others, conspire d t o use extortionat e mean s to collect an d attemp t t o collec t exten -
sions of credit. 

Racketeering Act Eleven:  Obstruction of Justice— 
The Thomas Gambino Trial 

43. Betwee n Jun e 22 , 198 9 and November  30 , 1989 , th e cas e United  States  v. 
Thomas Gambino, 8 9 CR 431 (JBW) (the uGambino case") , was an officia l proceed -
ing pending in the Unite d State s District Court for the Eastern Distric t of New York. 

44. Betwee n November  8 , 198 9 and November  30 , 1989 , JOH N GOTTI , togethe r 
with others , knowingl y an d wilfully intimidate d an d corruptly persuade d othe r 
persons wit h inten t t o preven t th e testimon y o f such othe r person s in the Gambino 
case. 

Racketeering Act  Twelve:  Obstruction of Justice— 
The Castellano Murder Investigation 

45. Fro m i n or about Octobe r 198 8 throug h an d includin g Ma y 1990 , a  grand 
jury was conducting an investigation int o the murders of Paul Castellano and Thomas 
Bilotti (the "Castellano murder investigation") . 

46. Betwee n November  198 9 an d Ma y 1990 , JOH N GOTTI , FRAN K LOCASCI O 

and SALVATOR E GRAVANO , togethe r wit h others , knowingly , wilfull y an d corruptl y 

JOHN GOTTI , 

together wit h 
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endeavored to influence, obstruc t and impede the due administration of justice with 
respect to the Castellano murder investigation. 

Count Two : Racketeering Conspirac y 

* *  * 

48. Fro m in or about January 198 5 up to and including the date of the filing of 
this Indictment, th e defendants JOH N GOTTI, FRAN K LOCASCIO , SALVATOR E GRA -
VANO and THOMA S GAMBINO , togethe r with others, comprising the leadership of an d 
being employe d b y and associated wit h the Gambino Family , conspire d to conduct 
and participat e i n the conduct o f the affair s o f that enterprise throug h a  pattern of 
racketeering activit y b y agreeing t o commi t an d actually committin g th e act s of 
racketeering with which each such defendant is charged in Count One. 

Racketeering Act  Thirteen:  Bribery  of  a Public  Servant 

49. I n addition , JOH N GOTTI , FRAN K LOCASCI O an d SALVATOR E GRAVAN O 

conspired to conduct and participate in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise by 
agreeing on or about January 17, 1990, to confer a benefit upon a public servant with 
the agreemen t an d understandin g tha t suc h publi c servant' s opinion , judgment , 
action, decision and exercise of discretion as a public servant would thereby be influ-
enced. 

Count Three : Conspiracy to Murder— 
Robert DiBernard o 

* *  * 

51. Betwee n December 16 , 198 5 and June 5, 1986 , JOH N GOTTI and SALVATOR E 
GRAVANO, togethe r with others , for the purpose of maintaining and increasing their 
positions i n th e Gambino Family , a n enterpris e engage d i n racketeerin g activity , 
conspired to murder Robert DiBernardo. 

[Counts Fou r throug h Twelv e ar e as follows : Coun t Four , Murder—Rober t 
DiBernardo; Coun t Five , Conspirac y t o Murder—Libori o "Louie " Milito ; Coun t 
Six, Murder—Libori o "Louie" Milito; Count Seven, Conspirac y to Murder—Louis 
DiBono; Count Eight , Murder—Loui s DiBono ; Count Nine , Conspirac y to Mur-
der—Gaetano "Corky" Vastola; Count Ten, Illega l Gambling Business—New York; 
Count Eleven , Conspirac y t o Obstruct Justice ; Count Twelve , Obstructio n o f Jus-
tice—The Thomas Gambino Trial.] 



The Dapper Don I  233 

Count Thirteen : Conspiracy to Defraud the 
United State s 

75. Betwee n i n or about Januar y 198 5 and the date of the filing of this Indict -
ment, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New 
York an d elsewhere , th e defendant s JOH N GOTT I an d FRAN K LOCASCIO , togethe r 
with others, conspired to defraud the United States by impeding, impairing , obstruct -
ing an d defeating th e lawful function s o f the Department o f the Treasury i n the 
ascertainment, computatio n and collection of income taxes from JOH N GOTTI . 

76. A s part of the conspiracy, an d in order to further its objectives, th e defendant 
JOHN GOTTI , wit h the assistance o f his coconspirators , (a ) took step s to conceal his 
true employment and source of income, tha t is, his position as Boss of the Gambino 
Family; (b ) took step s t o creat e th e fals e impressio n tha t h e was employed a s a 
salesman fo r a  constructio n company , a  plumbin g salesma n an d a salesma n o f 
zippers, hanger s an d other garment-relate d items ; (c) took step s to create th e false 
impression tha t an associate of the Gambino Famil y was employed as a salesman of 
zippers, hangers and other garment-related items ; (d) conducted and arranged for the 
conduct of financial transactions in ways designed to conceal the true amount of his 
income; (e ) received incom e fro m numerou s source s i n ways designe d t o concea l 
those sources of income; and (f) failed to file any income tax returns. 
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United States  v . Salvatore  Gravano, 
Plea Agreemen t 

Pursuant to Rule 1 1 of the Federa l Rule s of Criminal Procedur e and the Sentenc -
ing Reform Ac t of 1984 , notice is given to the Court that the United State s Attorney's 
Office fo r th e Easter n Distric t o f Ne w Yor k (th e "Office" ) an d th e attorne y fo r 
SALVATORE GRAVAN O have engaged i n discussions and agree to the following : 

1. SALVATOR E GRAVAN O wil l waiv e indictmen t an d plea d guilt y t o a  [RIC O 
charge]. Th e charg e t o which GRAVAN O agree s to plea d guilt y carries , amon g othe r 
sanctions, a  maximu m ter m o f imprisonmen t o f 2 0 year s an d a  maximu m fine  o f 
$250,000. Th e guilt y ple a wil l b e i n satisfactio n o f all crimina l act s by SALVATOR E 
GRAVANO that have been disclosed to the Office a s of the date of this agreement. 

2. Th e partie s agre e tha t th e sentencin g cour t wil l b e informe d o f al l crimina l 
activity engage d i n b y SALVATOR E GRAVANO , an d tha t suc h informatio n ma y b e 
considered b y the probatio n departmen t i n preparin g th e presentence repor t and th e 
court in imposing sentence. 

3. SALVATOR E GRAVAN O wil l cooperat e full y wit h th e Office , agent s o f th e 
Federal Burea u o f Investigation ("FBI") , an d othe r la w enforcement agencies , a s the 
Office ma y require. This cooperation will include, but is not limited to, the following: 

a. SALVATOR E GRAVAN O agrees to be fully debriefed concernin g his knowl-
edge of , an d participatio n in , an y crimina l activitie s abou t whic h th e Offic e 
may inquire . Thi s debriefin g wil l b e conducte d b y th e Office , agent s o f th e 
FBI, an d othe r la w enforcement  agencies , a s th e Offic e ma y require . Al l 
documents tha t ma y b e relevan t t o suc h activitie s an d tha t ar e i n th e posses -
sion, custod y o r contro l o f SALVATOR E GRAVAN O wil l b e furnishe d t o th e 
Office; 

b. SALVATOR E GRAVAN O agree s t o testif y i n an y proceedin g a s requeste d 
by the Office , eithe r i n the Easter n Distric t o f New York or elsewhere. I n thi s 
regard, th e Office wil l make a good faith effor t t o complete GRAVANO' S obliga -
tion to testify withi n tw o years of the date of this agreement. However , i t is the 
intent of the parties that such obligation continues beyond that two-year period 
provided the government has acted in good faith i n making its request; 

c. SALVATOR E GRAVANO  consent s t o reasonable adjournment s o f his sen-
tence, as requested by this Office . 
4. N o informatio n disclose d o r testimon y give n b y SALVATOR E GRAVAN O durin g 

the cours e o f hi s cooperatio n wil l b e use d agains t him , excep t a s provided i n para -
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graphs 2  and 6  o f this agreement . Th e Offic e will , however , infor m th e sentencin g 
court of the nature and extent of SALVATOR E GRAVANO' S conduct and activitie s with 
respect to this case and al l other information i n its possession relevan t to sentencing. 

5. Th e Offic e agree s that , excep t a s provide d i n paragraph s 1 , 2  an d 6 , n o 
criminal charge s wil l be brought agains t SALVATOR E GRAVAN O i n the Unite d State s 
District Cour t fo r th e Easter n Distric t o f Ne w Yor k fo r hi s heretofor e disclose d 
participation i n crimina l activity . Thi s agreement , however , cover s only those crimi-
nal acts that have been disclosed to the Office a s of the date of this agreement . 

6. SALVATOR E GRAVAN O mus t a t al l time s give complete , truthfu l an d accurat e 
information an d testimony, an d mus t not commit, o r attempt to commit, an y furthe r 
crimes whatsoever. Shoul d i t be judged by the Office tha t SALVATOR E GRAVAN O has 
intentionally give n false , misleading , o r incomplete informatio n o r testimony, o r has 
committed o r attempted t o commit any further crimes , o r has otherwise violated an y 
provision o f thi s agreement , SALVATOR E GRAVAN O shal l thereafte r b e subjec t t o 
prosecution fo r an y federa l crimina l violatio n o f whic h th e Offic e ha s knowledge , 
including, bu t not limited to , perjury an d obstruction o f justice. 

7. I f th e Offic e determine s tha t SALVATOR E GRAVANO  ha s cooperate d fully , 
provided substantia l assistanc e to law enforcement, an d otherwis e complie d wit h th e 
terms o f thi s agreement , th e Offic e wil l file a  motio n wit h th e sentencin g court , 
setting fort h th e natur e an d exten t o f hi s cooperatio n wit h th e Office , includin g it s 
investigative and prosecutiv e value , truthfulness , completenes s and accuracy . Suc h a 
motion wil l permi t th e court , i n it s discretion , t o impos e a  sentenc e belo w th e 
applicable sentencin g guideline s range . I n thi s connection , i t i s understood tha t th e 
Office's determinatio n o f whethe r SALVATOR E GRAVAN O ha s provide d complet e 
cooperation an d substantia l assistance , an d th e Office' s assessmen t o f th e value , 
truthfulness, completeness , an d accurac y o f the cooperation , shal l b e binding upo n 
him. Th e Offic e canno t an d doe s no t mak e a  promis e o r representatio n a s to wha t 
sentence will be imposed upo n the aforementioned ple a of guilty. 

8. Thi s agreemen t i s subject t o the approval o f the Court . Th e rul e provides tha t 
such approva l ma y b e give n a t th e tim e SALVATOR E GRAVAN O enter s hi s ple a o f 
guilty, an d th e Office agree s to recommend tha t th e Cour t approve the agreement a t 
that time. 

9. I f SALVATORE GRAVAN O requests, the Office wil l make application and recom -
mend tha t he and, i f appropriate, othe r individual s be placed i n the Witness Securit y 
Program operated b y the Unite d State s Marshal Service . 

10. Thi s agreemen t i s limite d t o th e Unite d State s Attorney' s Offic e fo r th e 
Eastern Distric t o f Ne w York , an d i t canno t bin d othe r federal , state , o r loca l 
prosecuting authorities . I t i s furthe r understoo d tha t thi s ple a agreemen t doe s no t 
prohibit th e Unite d States , an y agenc y thereof , o r an y thir d part y fro m initiatin g o r 
prosecuting an y civi l proceeding s directl y o r indirectl y involvin g SALVATOR E GRA -
VANO, including , bu t no t limite d to , proceeding s b y th e Interna l Revenu e Servic e 
relating to potential civi l tax liability. 



Appendix C 

United States  v . Gotti  and  Locascio, 
Attorney Disqualificatio n Rulin g 
by Judge Leo Glasse r 
(January 21 , 1992) 

GLASSER, Distric t Judge: 
The governmen t ha s move d thi s cour t fo r a n orde r disqualifyin g Georg e San -

tangelo from representin g any of the defendants i n this case at trial. This motion, lik e 
the motio n previousl y mad e t o disqualif y Geral d Shargel , Bruc e Cutle r an d Joh n 
Pollok, i s based upo n th e assertion tha t counsel' s continue d participatio n woul d give 
rise to conflict s o f interes t which canno t b e waived o r remedie d sav e by an orde r o f 
disqualification. Defendant s hav e cross-move d fo r a n orde r disqualifyin g Assistan t 
United State s Attorney John Gleeson from prosecutin g this case on behalf of the gov-
ernment. 

I: Th e Government' s Motio n t o Disqualif y 
George Santangel o 
The government predicates it s motion o n the assertion tha t Santangelo' s "presence at 
counsel table would needlessly deprive the government o f a fair trial , create a conflic t 
of interest that cannot be waived or remedied by measures other than disqualification , 
and compromis e the integrit y o f these proceedings by fostering a n appearance o f im-
propriety." 

[1] A  review of the government's proffer yield s two bases upon which a motion fo r 
disqualification ma y be predicated: 1 ) that Santangelo is answerable to defendant Joh n 
Gotti, th e alleged leade r of the Gambino Family—th e "enterprise " on which count s 
1 and 2  of the indictment are bottomed; and 2 ) that Santangelo's presence at this trial 
would offend D R 5-10 2 of the Model Code of Professional Responsibility . 

A. Santangelo's  Connection to  Counts 1 and 2 
The governmen t contend s tha t Santangel o i s "hous e counse l t o th e Gambin o 

Family." I n addressin g th e motion , th e cour t shal l us e th e phras e "answerabl e t o 
Gotti" rather than "hous e counsel." The difference i s purely semantic: in either case, 
the pernicious effec t upo n th e constitutional interes t i n the rendition o f just criminal 
verdicts is the same, whether Santangelo is the recipient of "benefactor payments " (an 
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allegation no t vigorously advance d b y the prosecution) o r whether h e simply answers 
to Gotti rathe r than t o Locascio. 

Evidence o f Santangelo' s subservienc e t o Gott i woul d b e relevan t to establishin g 
that Gotti i s the head o f an "enterprise " as that term i s used in the RICO statute. Th e 
evidence the government proffer s i n suppor t of its claim i s the testimony i t represents 
will b e give n b y Salvator e Gravan o a s wel l a s th e tap e recording s o f conversation s 
intercepted throug h authorize d electroni c surveillance . 

Gravano ha s no w chose n t o cooperat e wit h th e prosecution . Th e governmen t 
states that Gravan o wil l testif y tha t shortl y afte r th e defendants wer e arraigned, Gott i 
told Gravan o tha t h e (Gotti ) would assig n Santangel o t o represen t eithe r Gravan o o r 
Locascio. Suc h a n "assignment " o f counse l b y Gott i fo r hi s co-defendan t woul d 
clearly be probative of the existence of the charged RIC O enterprise . 

That i t mattere d littl e whic h defendan t Santangel o woul d represent—that , i n 
effect, th e clients were fungible—may b e readily inferred b y the jury from excerpt s of 
intercepted conversation s i n which Gott i i s heard to decree that lawyers (both his and 
others') wor k withi n certai n parameter s prescribe d b y him , an d tha t thei r concer n 
must be not only for thei r ostensible clients but for other s in the Gambino Famil y as 
well. See , e.g. , Unite d State s v . Gotti , 77 1 F.Supp . a t 558 . Gravan o wil l furthe r 
testify tha t Gotti' s insistenc e tha t lawyer s representing th e Famil y marc h i n lock-ste p 
contributed t o hi s ow n decisio n t o cooperat e wit h th e government . Evidenc e o f 
Santangelo's eleventh-hour appearance may warrant the jury to believe that Gravano's 
testimony in this regard rings true. 

The Intercepted  Conversations 

The governmen t contend s tha t ther e i s other evidenc e fro m whic h a  jur y coul d 
readily conclud e tha t a  crimina l associatio n exist s betwee n Santangelo' s client s an d 
Gotti, an d tha t Gotti i s the fina l arbite r o f Santangelo's decisions . Accompanying the 
government's motio n i s a transcript o f a lawfully intercepte d conversatio n fro m Apri l 
18, 199 0 amon g Gotti , Bruc e Cutler , an d others . Havin g reviewe d th e tap e o f tha t 
conversation (an d havin g compare d i t wit h th e government' s transcript),  th e cour t 
finds that th e conversatio n pertain s primaril y t o th e then-pendin g civi l RIC O cas e 
United State s v . Loca l 1804- 1 referre d t o above . Gotti , a  name d defendan t i n tha t 
case, wa s represente d b y Cutle r an d th e firm  o f Hoffma n &  Pollok . Santangel o 
represented Anthony Ciccone (whom the government describes as a Gambino Famil y 
captain), Anthony Pimpinell a (characterize d a s a Gambino soldier) , and John Potter , 
a union official . 

The essenc e o f the relevan t portio n o f the conversatio n i s Gotti's insistenc e upo n 
knowing about, an d ultimatel y approving of , al l legal activity in the case not onlyNon 
his own behalf , bu t also on behal f of others. Gott i ordain s the response the attorney s 
must make to government assertion s of the existence of a Mafia, a  Cosa Nostra , o r a 
Gambino Crime Family : there are to be no concessions, an d there i s to be no finger-
pointing. Cutle r acknowledge s hi s complianc e wit h Gotti' s edict s i n thi s regard , 
assuring Gott i tha t h e me t wit h th e lawyer s "thre e time s t o tel l the m you r cred o i n 
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life. .  . .  But I made the m understand : no concessions, everythin g is denied, every -
thing is fought down to the wire." 

In a n elaboration o n his "credo," Gotti i s heard t o suggest to Cutler tha t "ther e 
ain't nothing" on the tapes as far as he is concerned, an d "if there is, it's a mystery to 
me, I  know nothing. .  .  .  Maybe .  .  .  talk to myself a little when I'm talking on that 
tape." After commentin g unfavorabl y abou t a portion of a brief which he demands to 
have deleted, Gott i goes on to say: 

Yeah, bu t you see, Bruce, thes e thing s I  gotta see before w e submit. Ho w many 
times w e gotta g o through thi s .  . .  you know wha t I  mean? Ho w many time s we 
gonna go through this? I don't want nothin' submitted. .  .  . 

During a  discussio n i n whic h Cutle r attempt s t o explai n th e "legalese " o f a 
particular brief , Gott i says : "But I don't wan t it . Sinc e whe n hav e I  agreed to that?" 
The conversation then proceeds as follows: 

CUTLER: In other words, you and your friends are friends. It' s not the Mafia, it' s not 
the Gambin o Family , it' s not anything. That' s wha t h e means , it' s not in you r 
language, it' s not written stron g enough. I  agree with it . I agree with you. I  agree 
with you. 

GOTTI: Okay, but here's what I'm saying. 
CUTLER: It' s not a concession. 
GOTTI: Liste n t o me. Anything that' s pu t in o n m y behalf, I  wann a se e it first, 

anyway. Who the fuck i s he to take a liberty? 

* *  * 

CUTLER: .  . .  what I  told him in the meeting is , John, whe n yo u write this , i f you 
ever say anything abou t anythin g lik e the Mafia, whateve r the hell i t is . .  .  yo u 
say "the government says it," not us say it. 

GOTTI: And I say "No!" No matter what the fucking tap e says, I didn't say anything. 
CUTLER: I  understand that . 
GOTTI: That's what I wanna read ! 

Shortly thereafter , Gott i declares , " I don't wan t nothin ' put in that they send out 
unless I love it and see it. I wanna see it. I don't give a fuck wha t anybody else feels." 
As the preceding excerp t indicates , Gott i insist s on exerting equally absolut e control 
over the submissions of attorneys representing not him but his associates: 

GOTTI : I  wanna, I  wanna see that,— 
CUTLER: Fro m no w on — 
GOTTI : —no t gonna be one word in that I don't see. 
CUTLER: Yo u got it, John . 
GOTTI: You understand? 
CUTLER: You got it, you got it. 
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GOTTI : An d tha t goe s fo r eithe r Georg e an d them , yo u kno w wha t I  mean . I' m 
involved i n this. .  .  . 

In discussin g Gotti' s obdurat e insistenc e upo n seein g al l submissions , Cutle r 
advises Gott i tha t h e hasn' t ye t see n a  particula r brie f b y Santangelo . Whe n Gott i 
upbraids Cutler for this oversight, th e following exchange ensues: 

CUTLER: .  .  .  Bu t wit h George , Johnny , it' s different . Wit h Georg e Santangelo , I 
never eve n hav e to worry. I  bet there' s no t eve n th e slightes t iot a o f a phrase lik e 
he says , yo u understand . Wit h George , I  mean , wit h Joh n Pollok , I  have t o b e 
more vigilant, an d you're a thousand percen t right . An d I  will. .  .  . 

GOTTI: You tell them anythin g with m y fucking meter — 
CUTLER: I  will . 
GOTTI : —o r anythin g that touches me even i n perimeter , I  wanna see it first. 

* *  * 

CUTLER: John, an d I'm , an d I' m no t putting George in this category because George 
is no t tha t way . Bu t a  majorit y o f these lawyers , wh o yo u loo k at , ar e know n a s 
erudite, professorial , ah , egghea d types . Wil l no t pu t i n th e brie f word s t o th e 
effect "G o fuck yourself!" I know you can't do that. Bu t they will not put in a brief 
"and we dispute the existence of the Mafia. " I  say it all the time. They won' t write 
it down, the y jus t won't write i t down. 

GOTTI: So don't le t them do our work then. Don' t do my fuckin' work ! 

Gotti's adaman t stan d o n seein g everything tha t relate s t o him directly , o r tha t i s 
being done o n hi s "meter, " supports an inferenc e tha t Gott i i s the benefacto r payin g 
for th e lega l representatio n o f others . Becaus e i t i s fairl y clea r tha t th e Apri l 1 8 
conversation relate s to the civi l RIC O cas e i n whic h Santangel o represente d others , 
an inferenc e tha t Gott i pai d Santangelo' s fe e woul d advanc e the government' s asser -
tion that Santangelo i s "house counsel" to the Gambino Family . 

To the exten t tha t a  jury may conclude tha t Santangel o i s "house counsel" to the 
Gambino Famil y and i s answerable to Gotti, th e proffered testimon y of Gravano and 
the tape-recorde d conversation s ar e immediatel y probativ e o f on e o f th e element s 
necessary t o th e first  two count s o f the indictmen t i n thi s case . Thus , Santangelo' s 
relationship t o Gott i an d t o Gotti' s associate s i s properly th e objec t o f proo f b y th e 
government i n it s case in chief. But , a s with Cutler , Shargel , an d Pollok , Santangel o 
cannot presen t himsel f a s counsel fo r th e defendant s whe n hi s relationshi p t o thos e 
defendants i s itsel f a n issu e unde r th e consideratio n o f th e jury . Hi s presenc e a t 
counsel tabl e coul d readil y serv e a s a  signa l t o the jur y tha t th e cour t discount s th e 
government's proo f o n thi s point—tha t th e cour t doe s no t believ e thi s evidence . 
Moreover, Santangel o coul d no t argu e agains t th e existenc e o f th e charge d RIC O 
enterprise without becoming an unswor n witness . 
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B. DR  5-102  of the Model Code 
of Professional Responsibility 

Disciplinary Rule 5-102(A ) reads in pertinent part: 
If, afte r undertaking employment i n .  . .  pending litigation , a  lawyer learns or it 

is obvious that he .  . .  ought to be called as a witness on behalf of his client, h e shall 
withdraw from the conduct of the trial. .  .  . 

It ha s ofte n bee n note d tha t th e Mode l Cod e o f Professiona l Responsibility , 
although lackin g the force o f statute, provide s guidance o n th e standard o f conduct 
lawyers should observe. 

In view of these clarion call s to professionalism an d to the observance o f ethical 
standards, an d i n ligh t o f the plai n impor t o f DR 5-102(A) , Santangel o shoul d no t 
have undertaken to represent Locascio in this case when he became aware, whether 
at the outset or shortly thereafter, tha t he ought to be called as a witness on his client's 
behalf i n respons e t o th e governmen t proo f regardin g th e existenc e o f a  RIC O 
enterprise. Indeed , th e fac t tha t Santangel o ma y b e calle d a s a  witnes s raise s th e 
selfsame issues that compelled the earlier disqualifications i n this case. 



PART in 





A Post-1980 Bibliograph y o f 
Organized Crim e 

Introduction 
Part 3  includes fou r organized-crim e bibliographie s fro m 1980. * A s we emphasize d 
in th e preface , scholarshi p o n organize d crim e i s difficul t t o carr y out . Dat a ar e 
neither reliable nor readily available. There is no ongoing government data collectio n 
and n o opportunity fo r participan t observation . Th e explosio n o f government activit y 
in th e 1980 s ha s generate d a n enormou s amoun t o f ra w materia l tha t ha s scarcel y 
been mined . I t ha s als o generate d a  stead y strea m o f popula r books , articles , an d 
government hearings and reports . 

The strik e forc e case s sectio n o f thi s bibliograph y list s al l o f th e indictment s 
obtained b y the fiftee n federa l strik e forces between 198 1 and 1989 . The strik e force s 
were disbande d i n 1989 , an d thei r resource s wer e merge d int o th e variou s Unite d 
States attorneys offices . W e obtained th e lis t of cases and attache d synopse s from th e 
Department o f Justice , Offic e o f Racketeering . Sinc e th e lis t wa s prepare d fo r th e 
congressional hearing s calle d t o conside r th e disbandin g o f th e strik e forces , i t i s 
reasonable to conclude that the list is comprehensive. Unfortunately , th e list does not 

* Readers interested in works on organized crime published before 198 0 are directed to two 
earlier bibliographies: Pamela Martin , Organized  Crime:  A  Bibliography  (Cornel l Institut e on 
Organized Crime, 1977) ; Eugene Doleschal, Anne Newton, and William Hickey , A  Guide to 
the Literature  on  Organized Crime:  An  Annotated Bibliography  Covering  the  Years  1967-81 
(National Council on Crime and Delinquency, 1981) . 
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distinguish betwee n Cos a Nostr a an d non-Cos a Nostr a prosecutions ; it also includes 
a number o f prosecutions whic h w e would no t classify a s organized crime . W e have 
deleted some cases that obviously do not provide information abou t Cosa Nostra , bu t 
where we had any doubt, w e included the case. 

We hav e no t attempte d t o compil e a  lis t o f organized-crime case s prosecute d b y 
the ninety-tw o Unite d State s attorney s office s u p til l 198 9 o r thereafter , whe n th e 
strike force s wer e disbanded . Durin g th e year s whe n th e strik e force s existed , the y 
handled mos t of the importan t organized-crime case s in those cities and jurisdiction s 
where they wer e located. Bu t the Unite d State s attorneys ' offices als o handled som e 
cases, especiall y th e Souther n Distric t o f Ne w Yor k (where afte r 198 4 there wa s n o 
strike force). Ther e i s no lis t of organized-crime case s prosecuted b y these offices an d 
no easy way to generate one. Furthermore , w e have not attempted to compile a list of 
state and loca l prosecutions. 

We constructed th e article s sectio n o f the bibliograph y throug h searche s o f data-
bases o f law , sociology , an d criminolog y journals . A  larg e numbe r o f article s o f 
varying quality appea r i n popula r magazine s and newspapers ; we have chosen not  to 
include them here, though particularly useful piece s are directly footnoted i n the text. 

Many o f the book s appearin g i n th e bibliograph y wer e writte n b y journalist s fo r 
the popula r market . W e hav e decided t o include al l o f the titles , a s they provid e an 
important resourc e an d ar e typicall y th e onl y readil y availabl e accoun t o f variou s 
events and personalities . 

The lis t o f governmen t report s an d hearing s wa s draw n fro m th e Congressiona l 
Information Service . Alon g wit h tria l transcript s an d lega l documents , the y provid e 
the mos t usefu l an d complet e sourc e o f informatio n o n Cos a Nostra . W e hav e 
included a  few state government hearings and reports that have come to our attention, 
but we have not attempted to survey this genre systematically. 

A. Organize d Crim e Strik e Forc e Cases , 1981-198 9 
Boston Strike  Force 

United States  v . Gennaro  Anguilo,  No . 83-235-N , D . Mass. , 9/19/83. * Gennar o 
Angiulo an d fou r other s wer e convicte d fo r si x murders , tw o conspiracie s t o 
murder, loansharking , variou s illegal gambling businesses, interstat e racketeering , 
obstruction o f state law enforcement, an d obstruction o f justice. 

United States  v . John  Gregory Ardito, No . 84-47 , D . Conn. , 8/30/84 . Ardit o wa s 
convicted o f obstructin g justic e fo r plannin g t o disrup t th e tria l o f Franci s "Fa t 
Franny" Curcio. 

United States  v . Salvadore  C. Basso,  No. B-85-72 , D . Conn. , 12/12/85 . All defen -

* Many of these prosecutions did not generate judicia l opinions ; they are identified her e by 
indictment number. The first two digits indicate the year of the indictment; the remaining digits 
are th e indictmen t number . W e hav e no t bee n abl e t o determin e th e dispositio n o f some o f 
these indictments. 
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dants ple d guilt y i n thi s RIC O prosecutio n o f th e Connecticu t branc h o f th e 
Genovese family, fo r illega l gambling and unlawfu l collectio n o f debts. 

United States  v . Frank  Cotroni,  No . N-83-47 , D . Conn. , 7/14/83 . Cotron i an d 
Lucchese famil y membe r Michae l Corcion e wer e indicte d fo r heroi n trafficking . 
Following a guilty plea, Corcion e received a  four-year priso n sentence . 

United States  v . Francis  Curcio, No . N-82-4 , D . Conn. , 1/13/82 . Franci s and Gu s 
Curcio were convicted o f loansharking. 

United States  v . Richard  E . Gambale,  No . 84-293 , D . Mass. , 9/18/84 . Si x defen -
dants were convicte d i n a  RIC O prosecutio n chargin g loansharking,  illega l gam -
bling, a  murder conspiracy, an d obstruction o f justice. 

United States  v . Frank  T . Marrapese,  No . 82-049B , D . R.I. , 5/19/82 . Marrapes e 
pled guilt y t o a scheme involvin g fenced recline r chair s stolen i n the Alexandria , 
Virginia, railroa d yards. 

United States v.  Gerard Ouimette, No . 85-D14B , D. R.I. , 2/20/85 . Ouimette, leade r 
of an independen t organized-crime faction , wa s convicted fo r illega l gun dealing . 

United States  v . Amedeo  Santaniello,  No . 88-218 , D . Mass. , 8/3/88 . Seve n defen -
dants pled guilt y i n thi s RIC O prosecutio n o f an illega l lotter y i n western Massa -
chusetts. 

United States  v . Francesco  J . Scibelli,  No . 85-399 , D . Mass. , 10/29/85 . Al l defen -
dants ple d guilt y i n thi s RIC O prosecutio n o f th e Massachusett s branc h o f th e 
Genovese family fo r various gambling offenses . 

United States  v . Anthony  G . Rosetti,  No . 86-2 , D . Conn. , 6/27/86 . Al l defendant s 
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racketeering activities , includin g murder , extortio n o f loca l businesses , arme d 
robbery, labo r unio n payoffs , loansharking , illega l gambling , an d a n attemp t t o 
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were convicted i n this RlCO/theft prosecution . 

United States  v . Joseph  "Little  Caesar7 DiVarco,  No . 83-955 , N.D . 111. , 12/7/83 . 
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United States  v . Salvatore  T . Busacca,  No . 88-283 , N.D . Ohio , 12/5/88 . Busacc a 
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States v . Eugene  Smaldone,  No . 82-215 , D . Colo. , 9/23/82 ; United  States  v . 
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scheme. 
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guilty t o fals e ta x retur n an d conspirac y charge s involvin g a  bankruptc y schem e 
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